
 

 

Sarine Technologies Ltd. 

 בע"מ  שרין טכנולוגיות

  511332207מס' חברה  

 "(החברה)להלן: "

 מסמך רישום 

 

 

)  רישום למסחר בע"מ  ערך בתל אביב  לניירות  מניות   353,672,126של:    "(הבורס ה"להלן:  בבורסה 

"  .נ.ע  ללארגילות   הרגילות)להלן:  מונפקות  "(המניות  במלואן,  מניות    4,190,200מתוכן    ,ונפרעות 

של אופציות   שמימו מ  אשר תנבענהמניות רגילות   52,474,788 ועד  ידי החברה,-רדומות המוחזקות על

(options.שאינן רשומות למסחר )   

הרגילות רשומ  המניות  החברה  סינגפורשל  הראשית  ברשימה  למסחר    ות של   Singaporeבורסת 

Exchange Mainboard (SGX) " :(. בורסת סינגפור)להלן" 

 

   . "SARN", ובאנגלית "שרין" בעברית: בורסהניירות ערך של החברה בסימון 

 

 . U77: סינגפורבורסת ן ניירות ערך של החברה בוסימ

 

 1968-לחוק ניירות ערך, התשכ"ח 3'ה הערך של החברה ירשמו למסחר לפי הוראות פרק   ניירות
  תכונת מלפיכך, דיווחי החברה יהיו בשפה האנגלית ותוכנם יהא בהתאם ל  . "(ערך  ניירות  חוק)"

 . שלה בחו"ל הדיווח
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 נספחים בשפת המקור )אנגלית(  – חלק שני 

A. Annual Report for 2020 

B. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 5, 2021): Extraordinary/ 

Special General Meeting. 

C. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 5, 2021): Annual 

General Meeting. 

D. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 8, 2021): Amendments 

to: Annual Reports and Related Documents. 

E. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 13, 2021): Amendments 

to: Annual Reports and Related Documents. 

F. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 20, 2021): Response to 

SGX Queries.  

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/0CFP2QLVUG90LIVA/77908f3f39c8800be750530cb3e04ed71afdd730e385d8a7c98de56a459248df
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/0CFP2QLVUG90LIVA/77908f3f39c8800be750530cb3e04ed71afdd730e385d8a7c98de56a459248df
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G. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 22, 2021): Responses to 

questions from Shareholders for the AGM scheduled for 27 April 2021. 

H. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 27, 2021): Employee 

Stock Option/ Share Scheme: Disclosure in compliance with Rule 704 (29) - Grant 

of Employee Stock Options. 

I. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 27, 2021): Resolutions 

passed at the Annual General Meeting held today. 

J. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 27, 2021): Resolutions 

passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting held today. 

K. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 28, 2021): Update of 

the Company’s announcement re Cash Dividend/ Distribution. 

L. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 29, 2021): Update on 

Covid-19 Outbreak in India. 

M. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on April 30, 2021): Response to 

SGX Queries. 

N. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on May 3, 2021): Update of the 

Company’s announcement re Cash Dividend/ Distribution. 

O. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on May 5, 2021): Sarine 

Technologies to Present at the 16th Annual Needham Virtual Technology and 

Media Conference. 

P. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on May 6, 2021): HB Antwerp 

and Sarine Enter into a Unique Partnership for Technology Solutions. 

Q. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on May 9, 2021): Press Release: 

Update on Business Conditions. 

R. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on May 9, 2021): Employee 

Stock Option/ Share Scheme::Disclosure in compliance with Rule 704 (29) - 

Grant of Employee Stock Options. 

S. General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on May 10, 2021): Sustainability 

Report for the year ended on 31 December 2020. 

T. General Announcement: Sarine's activities are not affected by current conflict. 

U. General Announcement: Sarine Technologies and Constell Group Announce 

Strategic Collaboration. 

V. General Announcement: Minutes of the AGM held on 27 April 2021. 

W. General Announcement: Press Release: Grib Diamonds adopts the Sarine 

Diamond Journey traceability program. 

X. General Announcement: Press Release: Further Update on Effects of Indian 

Covid-19 on Group. 

Y. Share Buy Back - Daily Share Buy-Back Notice::Daily Share Buy-Back Notice - 

21 June 2021 

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/IELOOSM8LXZOAL60/f7650fa2e147f0a8bd7d578e34659950961915ebe98a847e6892758870958ffc
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/IELOOSM8LXZOAL60/f7650fa2e147f0a8bd7d578e34659950961915ebe98a847e6892758870958ffc
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/4N49YTDG59AIAWTK/1f5bd94d373fbe1de2c724ccf3a845470f0e13951f9d046caf6313d5fd4ad38b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/4N49YTDG59AIAWTK/1f5bd94d373fbe1de2c724ccf3a845470f0e13951f9d046caf6313d5fd4ad38b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/DJLWH1BSVZDN3CMU/7f4acf959186914171eab76db799e807cb263cc08202cc487331d7591defdb1d
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/DJLWH1BSVZDN3CMU/7f4acf959186914171eab76db799e807cb263cc08202cc487331d7591defdb1d
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/NLC8V2AAYNULB3BB/84f23b8158ca9388d3694888b89913a17165fd3ae8db4935decf0ec31a4c4a3f
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/NLC8V2AAYNULB3BB/84f23b8158ca9388d3694888b89913a17165fd3ae8db4935decf0ec31a4c4a3f
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/BB8MC9FUGQUEHTP6/27c4bcfcfb8480c99a1971278025f71ed220e1c84b7eabed55ff934ece18afba
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/BB8MC9FUGQUEHTP6/27c4bcfcfb8480c99a1971278025f71ed220e1c84b7eabed55ff934ece18afba
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/BB8MC9FUGQUEHTP6/27c4bcfcfb8480c99a1971278025f71ed220e1c84b7eabed55ff934ece18afba
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/WMS8LUD4FGHFENOA/754b4598703351c61384a8b5005b0f6abed85f870ed7719c058cb92083b0b9ce
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/WMS8LUD4FGHFENOA/754b4598703351c61384a8b5005b0f6abed85f870ed7719c058cb92083b0b9ce
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/II0LSITHP0IWZC0K/7356670e04ae8883cf0f0f8a95f82e435a39996a4e8f8add06b12cdb2dabf14c
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/II0LSITHP0IWZC0K/7356670e04ae8883cf0f0f8a95f82e435a39996a4e8f8add06b12cdb2dabf14c
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/TBW9K4TPAMU3322S/18c415f87ba835456fc0ac10c4110f5a431441aaed71cce385fcdfb3c789bf15
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/TBW9K4TPAMU3322S/18c415f87ba835456fc0ac10c4110f5a431441aaed71cce385fcdfb3c789bf15
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/TBW9K4TPAMU3322S/18c415f87ba835456fc0ac10c4110f5a431441aaed71cce385fcdfb3c789bf15
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/VRYO2DN9S4UJ6WW3/06800bd8a7858b103faf6778c0dbb786f14a43fa65d8fba45f0272ed3f29d73b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/RO48DCEJ15HKEHID/be08f58f34d45998b4ce5249fbee76372b68aa56c6a12fb9a56fa0f939417a6e
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/RO48DCEJ15HKEHID/be08f58f34d45998b4ce5249fbee76372b68aa56c6a12fb9a56fa0f939417a6e
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/1XM27LJYZ0HI4NEQ/ef63169a3f40857f50c4669992da2c542f3f0abc787e0d1b373739c3ea177f31
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/MWH8JUDPCS9TK5FV/af8880f1e507c345645aacd8105bba8507e70452e1e981edec3697ddbc6317f8
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/MWH8JUDPCS9TK5FV/af8880f1e507c345645aacd8105bba8507e70452e1e981edec3697ddbc6317f8
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 חלק ראשון 

 . Ltd.Sarine Technologies ; ובאנגלית:שרין טכנולוגיות בע"מ: החברה שם .1

 : ישראל. החברה  התאגדות מקום  .2

 .1988 בנובמבר 3: החברה  התאגדות תאריך .3

 :החברה שהנפיקה  הערך ניירות  סוגי .4

 . סינגפורבבורסת  הרשומות למסחר ,  .נ.ע ללאמניות רגילות  4.1

לעובדים,  options)  אופציות  של  ממימושן  שינבעו  רגילות   מניות 4.2  דירקטורים ( שהוקצו 

   .שלה  הבת ונושאי משרה של החברה וחברות 

 .1בורסת סינגפור  :למסחר הערך  ניירות רישום מקום  .5

 :למסחר הרשומה הערך ניירות  כמות .6

 : מניירות ערך כדלקמןהחברה מורכב הון  

מניות רדומות   4,190,200, מתוכן  מונפקות ונפרעות במלואן   מניות רגילות  353,672,126 6.1

חופשיות מחסימה בהתאם לדינים   מניות רגילות כאמור הינן.  החברהידי  -המוחזקות על

   .בסינגפורהרלוונטיים 

( תחת תוכנית האופציות optionsמימוש אופציות )מ   ינבעושרגילות  מניות     52,474,788 6.2

, אשר מיועדות להענקה לעובדים, "(תוכנית האופציות)להלן: "  של החברה 2015משנת  

הרגילות מניות  . הבארץ ובחו"לשלה  בת  ל החברה וחברות  משרה שדירקטורים ונושאי  

האופציות  מנבעו  יש למסחר  מימוש  חסומותותרשמנה  או  מוגבלות  תהיינה  פי -על  לא 

אופציות הניתנות למימוש     52,474,788  מתוך  , נכון למועד מסמך הרישום .  בסינגפורהדין  

האופציות מניות    52,474,788-ל בתוכנית  הנכללות  ערגילות  הוקצו  החברה יד-ל,   י 

למניות  ותאופצי 22,473,161 מומשו  הוקצו יאופצ 30,001,627ואילו    ,שטרם  טרם   ות 

 . להקצותן בעתיד ה וניתן יהי

 ,2015באפריל    20  החברה ביוםהאסיפה הכללית של  ידי  -תוכנית האופציות אושרה על

פי דין, אופציות הניתנות -אישורים הנדרשים עלה קבלת  פיה ניתן להעניק, בכפוף ל-ועל

בת  וחברות  החברה  של  משרה  ונושאי  דירקטורים  לעובדים,  רגילות,  למניות  למימוש 

ובחו"לשלה   האופציות   האופציות .  בארץ  תוכנית  מכוח   למימוש ניתנות המוענקות 

 דין כל ולהוראות  הרלוונטי האופציות הסכם תנאי,  האופציות   תוכנית לתנאי בהתאם

חדש[   פקודתל 102 סעיף לרבות,  הניצעים  על או/ו החברה על החל ]נוסח  הכנסה  מס 

 . הרלוונטיים המס  ודיני( שרלוונטי)ככל  1961 –"א התשכ

 

 . ערך ניירות לחוק  השלישית בתוספת   המנויה 1
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למניות החברה ביום הקובע   של האופציות   מימושבצע  ניתן ללא  לפי תנאי האופציות,  

לאיחוד הון, לפיצול לחלוקת מניות הטבה, להצעה בדרך של זכויות, לחלוקת דיבידנד,  

בנוסף, אם חל יום האקס של אירוע חברה  . (אירוע חברה")להלן: "  הון או להפחתת הון

 ביום האקס כאמור.  יבוצע מימושלפני היום הקובע של אירוע חברה, לא 

 .2005 באפריל 8: סינגפור ת בבורסלמסחר  נה ולראש הערך ניירות נרשמו שבו התאריך .7

 : החברה אודות   פרטים .8

   פרטי התקשרות בישראל  8.1

 .4524075, הוד השרון 4אזור התעשיה נווה נאמן, רחוב החרש מען רשום:  

 . 09-7903501; 09-7903500מספר טלפון ומספר פקסימיליה: 

 בסינגפורפרטי התקשרות  8.2

 Share Registrar  - ה  משרדים בסינגפור. להלן יובאו פרטי ההתקשרות שללחברה אין  

 :של החברה בסינגפור

M & C Services Private Limited 

112 Robinson Road #05-01, Singapore 068902 
Tel : (65) 6228-0530, Fax: (65) 6225-1452  

 :הערך  ניירות סימון  .9

 .U77 :סינגפורת בבורס 9.1

   ."SARN"ובאנגלית  "שרין", בעברית  :בבורסה 9.2

 :החברה של הקשר אנשי .10

 איש הקשר עם גופי הפיקוח והאכיפה של הדין והזר ועם הבורסה ורשות ניירות ערך 10.1

 . , סמנכ"ל הכספים של החברהקסלרביל מר 

 .4524075, הוד השרון 4אזור התעשיה נווה נאמן, רחוב החרש  מען:

 .09-7903501; מספר פקסימיליה: 09-7903518מספר טלפון: 

 .bill.kessler@sarine.comדואר אלקטרוני: 

10.2 Share Registrar 

M & C Services Private Limited 
112 Robinson Road #05-01, Singapore 068902 
Tel : (65) 6228-0530, Fax: (65) 6225-1452  

 : הרגילות המניות  תיאור .11

ערך   ללאמניות רגילות    2,000,000,000הינו  הון המניות הרשום של החברה  :  רשום  הון  11.1

 . "( המניות הרגילות)להלן: " נקוב

, מתוכן מניות רגילות  353,672,126-ון המניות המונפק של החברה מורכב מה:  מונפק  הון 11.2

   .ידי החברה-מניות רדומות המוחזקות על 4,190,200

mailto:bill.kessler@sarine.com
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הניתנות   52,474,788החברה    : רגילות  למניות   למימוש  הניתנות   אופציות 11.3 אופציות, 

 לעיל. 6.2מניות רגילות נוספות, כמפורט בסעיף   52,474,788-למימוש עד ל

 200,190,4מתוכן , מניות רגילות 353,672,126: בבורסה למסחר שיירשמו המניות מספר 11.4

מניות רגילות שינבעו ממימוש     52,474,788וכן    ידי החברה, -מניות רדומות המוחזקות על

 . לעיל 6.2כמפורט בסעיף  אופציות

, הונה של החברה כולל סוג אחד בלבד של מניות ואין למועד מסמך רישום זה לחברה 11.5

 .  של החברה המונפק או  בהון הרשום  מניות מסוג מיוחד מניות בכורה 

היא לא תקצה ולא תנפיק   בורסההחברה מתחייבת כי כל עוד מניותיה רשומות למסחר ב 11.6

בבורס למסחר  הרשום  מזה  שונה  מסוג  הרגילות(  ה מניות  המניות  למעט )דהיינו   ,

הוראות סעיף   ערך1ב)א()46בהקצאה המקיימת את  ניירות  לחוק  הבורסה,   (  והנחיות 

לעת מעת  שיהיו  למסחר   .ככל  רשומות  מניותיה  עוד  כל  כי  החברה  מתחייבת  כן,  כמו 

 בבורסה, כל מניותיה המונפקות תהיינה נפרעות במלואן. 

   :ילותהרגהזכויות הנלוות למניות   עיקרי .12

חוק  )להלן: "  1999-מדינת ישראל וכפופה לחוק החברות, השתנ"ט  י החברה התאגדה על פי חוק

 . יו על פ תקנותהו  "(החברות

 ותזכירלהלן תיאור עיקרי הזכויות הנלוות למניות הרגילות של החברה על פי תקנון החברה  

 "(. ההתאגדות מסמכי" )להלן ביחד: שלה  ההתאגדות

אור כללי, שאינו מתיימר להיות תיאור ממצה או פרשנות מוסמכת של ילהלן הינו ת  האמור

ההתאגדות  לעיון במסמכי  תחליף  מהווה  מקצועי    של החברה  הדין ואינו  ייעוץ  ו/או לקבלת 

תאר  אינו מ . בנוסף, תקציר זהאחר, לרבות ייעוץ משפטי בנוגע לדין הישראלי ו/או כל דין אחר

 SGX  - לרבות ה,  סינגפוראת כלל החוקים החלים על החברה מכוח רישומה למסחר בבורסת  

Mainboard Rules   ו  נורמטיביים   מקורות   או החברה  על  החלים   בעלי   עלאו  /אחרים 

 של ההתאגדות תקנון ראו,  החברה למניות הנלוות הזכויות מלוא בדבר לפרטים  .מניותיה

 .בורסה ב החברה מניות  של למסחר רישומן עם א "במגנ  שיפורסם כפי , החברה

המוטלות ל המניות הרגילות הינן זהות בזכויותיהן ובחובות : כשוויון בזכויות ובחובות 12.1

החברה היא חברה בעירבון מוגבל ובהתאם ההתחייבות של כל אחד מבעלי המניות .  עליה

בעל מניות  ידי  על  המוחזקות  המניות  הערך הנקוב של  כלפי החברה מוגבלת לתשלום 

 . כאמור, בכפוף להוראות חוק החברות

ללית האסיפה הכהחלטת החברה בדבר חלוקת דיבידנד תתקבל על ידי :  חלוקת דיבידנד 12.2

לעמידת החברה במבחני ודירקטוריון החברה  של בעלי מניות החברה, בכפוף להמלצת  

בעל מניה יהיה זכאי להשתתף בחלוקת  כל  החברות.  החלוקה בהתאם להוראות חוק 

 . דיבידנד באופן יחסי למספר המניות המוחזקות על ידו

באופן   :פירוק 12.3 בעלי המניות  בין  פירוק החברה יחולקו נכסיה  יחסי למספר   מקרה של 

 המוחזקות על ידם.  המניות
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תקנון החברה קובע כי הדירקטוריון יהיה   : של השתלטות עוינת  למניעה או עיכוב מנגנון   12.4

ועל עת  בכל  לאמץ  -רשאי,  הבלעדי,  דעתו  שיקול  של פי  מניעה  או  לעיכוב  מנגנונים 

ובעת   היה  כי  הבורסה  כלפי  התחייבה  החברה  רעל(.  )גלולת  עוינת   אימוץ השתלטות 

מניות החברה יהיו רשומות למסחר בבורסה, אזי   ,ידי הדירקטוריון-מנגנונים כאמור על

בבורסה, אלא אם    המניות פי -על  יתאפשרשל מנגנונים כאמור    אימוץימחקו ממסחר 

 דין.

 אסיפה כללית  12.5

החלטות מסוימות של החברה תתקבלנה באסיפה    :סמכויות האסיפה הכללית 12.5.1

זההכללית,   החברה    ובכלל  תקנון  למניות  )שינוי  הצמודות  הזכויות  לרבות 

מיזוג  (החברה החברות),  בחוק  רואה  (כהגדרתו  של  כהונתו  והפסקת  מינוי   ,

החברה בהון  שינויים  החברה,  של  המבקר  דיבידנדהחשבון  חלוקת  ועוד.    , 

הכללית רשא ית להפקיע סמכויותיו של אורגן אחר בחברה  בנוסף, האסיפה 

 . לצורך קבלת החלטה בנושא מסוים, בהתאם להוראות חוק החברות 

המוחזקת  רגילה  כל בעל מניה זכאי לקול אחד עבור כל מניה    :זכויות הצבעה 12.5.2

 . על ידו בכל אסיפה כללית

הכללית 12.5.3 לאסיפה  בהתאם    :זימון  הכללית  לאסיפה  זימון  תפרסם  החברה 

החברות חוק  שלה    להוראות  הערך  ניירות  רשומות  שבה  הבורסה  והוראות 

, לא תימסר הודעה פרטנית לבעלי המניות. הזימון יכלול, בין היתר,  למסחר

 . פרטים בנוגע לסדר יום האסיפה, ההחלטות המוצעות והסדרי הצבעה בכתב

סיפה כללית שנתית תתקיים אחת לכל שנה קלנדארית בתוך תקופה שלא  א 

ממועד קיום האסיפה הכללית האחרונה  (  15)לה על חמישה עשר חודשים  תע

לקבוע   שעשוי  כפי  ישראל,  למדינת  מחוץ  או  בתוך  אם  בין  ובמקום,  במועד 

בדוחות  ן.  הדירקטוריו דיון  יכלול  השנתית  הכללית  באסיפה  היום  סדר 

י  מינוי דירקטורים, מינו ,פי דין-ככל הנדרש על  ן דירקטוריוההכספיים, דיווחי 

ל בהתאם  אחר  נושא  וכל  מבקר,  חשבון  החברוהוראות  רואה  ת.  חוק 

כללית   אסיפה  לכנס  לנכון,  שימצא  אימת  כל  רשאי  בחברה  הדירקטוריון 

מיוחדת ויהא חייב לעשות כן לדרישת דירקטורים ו/או בעלי מניות המחזיקים  

אחד   אחוז  חוק  (  1%)לפחות  להוראות  בהתאם  בחברה,  ההצבעה  מזכויות 

 . החברות

הקובעה 12.5.4 באסיפה    :מועד  ולהצביע  להשתתף  הזכאות  לעניין  הקובע  המועד 

 . הכללית ייקבע על ידי דירקטוריון החברה בהתאם להוראות חוק החברות

: שני בעלי מניות או יותר, הנוכחים באופן אישי או  מניין חוקי ואסיפה נדחית 12.5.5

אחוז  וחמישה  עשרים  לפחות  במצטבר  והמחזיקים  כוח,  מיופה     באמצעות 

נכח  (  25%) לא  לאסיפה.  שנקבע  מהזמן  שעה  בתוך  בחברה,  ההצבעה  מכוח 

בתום שעה מהמועד שנקבע לתחילת האסיפה מניין חוקי, אזי האסיפה תידחה  

מקום  ובאותו  שעה  באותה  הבא,  בשבוע  יום  ומקום  לאותו  מועד  אם  או,   ,
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שיושב הראש  האסיפה הנדחית לא צוין בזימון האסיפה, למועד ולמקום כפי  

.  בהסכמת רוב מחזיקי זכויות ההצבעה הנוכחיםאסיפה הכללית יקבע  של ה

היה   שניתן  עניינים  כלשהי למעט  עניינים כלשהם באסיפה נדחית  יידונו  לא 

במקור.   שכונסה  כפי  באסיפה  בהם  לדון  חוקי  כדין  מנין  נמצא  באסיפה  לא 

הנוכחים  בעלי מניות    ( 2)כל שני  כעברור חצי שעה מהמועד שנקבע לה,  נדחית  ה

באסיפה הנדחית. על אף  יהוו מניין חוקי  ח,  באופן אישי או באמצעות מיופה כו

סעיפים   להוראות  בהתאם  שכונסה  באסיפה  לעיל,  לחוק    63-64האמור 

והתקנות   החברות  חוק  להוראות  בהתאם  יהיה  החוקי  המנין  החברות, 

 . פיו-שהותקנו על

בכתב 12.5.6 ל  :הצבעה  או  החברה  דירקטוריון  להחלטת  חוק  בהתאם  הוראות 

 . החברות, בעל מניה יהיה רשאי להצביע באסיפה באמצעות כתב הצבעה 

החלטות 12.5.7 לקבלת  הנדרש  ברוב    :הרוב  תתקבלנה  הכללית  האסיפה  החלטות 

בעצמם או באמצעות   נוכחים באסיפה  זכויות ההצבעה, אשר  בעלי  רגיל של 

  שלוח או באמצעות כתב הצבעה, אלא אם נדרש רוב מיוחד לפי חוק החברות 

או לפי התקנון. ליו"ר האסיפה לא יהיה קול מכריע או נוסף במקרה של שוויון  

 . בקולות

 החברה דירקטוריון 12.6

על  :  מבנה הדירקטוריון 12.6.1 יעלה  לא  דירקטורים    9מספר הדירקטורים בחברה 

 . דירקטורים 4-מולא יפחת 

כהונה 12.6.2 והפסקת  חיצונייםבחברה  דירקטורים  ה  : מינוי  דירקטורים  ,  )למעט 

על ידי בעלי המניות באסיפה    תופסק וכהונתם    ימונו(  כהגדרתם בחוק החברות

הכללית השנתית של בעלי המניות. תקופת הכהונה של דירקטור תפקע במועד  

הבאה לאחר האסיפה הכללית בה מונה. כהונתו    השלישיתהאסיפה הכללית  

ו  של דירקטור תופסק טרם פקיעתה כאמור בהתאם להוראות חוק החברות א

ככל שמספר הדירקטורים יהא נמוך ממספר הדירקטורים    להוראות התקנון.

או במקרה של דירקטור אשר הפסיק לכהן,    ,בסעיף זה לעילהמקסימלי כאמור  

רשאים הדירקטורים המכהנים להמשיך לפעול בכל עניין, אלא אם פחת מספר  

הנותר רש לא יהיה הדירקטוריון  המינימלי, שאז  אי  הדירקטורים מהמספר 

ו/או לשם כינוס, של    לפעול אלא לשם מינוי דירקטורים נוספים כאמור לעיל,

נוספים. הדירקטוריון רשאי למנות   אסיפה כללית למטרת מינוי דירקטורים 

של   כהונתו  משך  כזה  ובמקרה  בדירקטוריון,  פנוי  מקום  למילוי  דירקטור 

לתום   עד  יהא  שמונה  שלאחהדירקטור  הבאה  השנתית  הכללית  ר  האסיפה 

-הדירקטוריון יהא רשאי להפסיק את כהונתו של דירקטור שמונה על  .מינויו

 ידו.
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 "מ בע אביב בתל ערך לניירות הבורסה  אישור .13

נתנה את אישורה לרישום למסחר של המניות והמניות שתנבענה ממימוש האופציות    הבורסה

 .לעיל( הנרשמות על פי מסמך רישום זה, כאמור לעיל 6)כמפורט בסעיף 

של    אישורב  לראות  אין או    אישור  הבורסהכאמור  זה  רישום  במסמך  המובאים  לפרטים 

לשלמותם, ואין בו משום הבעת דעה על החברה או על טיבם של ניירות הערך הנרשמים על  

 פי מסמך רישום זה.  

 שונות  .14

הצבעה באסיפות כלליות של החברה תיעשה בדרך של קבלת :  הצבעה באסיפות כלליות 14.1

בסמוך ואישורי בעלות למועד הקובע להצבעה באסיפה מבעלי מניותיה.  כתבי הצבעה  

למסלקת הבורסה , תפנה החברה  מניות החברהאסיפה כללית של בעלי  מועד ל  לקביעת

לזכות כל אחד   הרשומה  המניותבבקשה לקבלת היתרה בפועל של    "(המסלקה)להלן: "

מהמסלקה   במועדמחברי המסלקה   כח  ייפוי  בהתאם להוראות , והכל  הקובע ולקבלת 

 . לחלק ב' לחוקי העזר של מסלקת הבורסה 1סעיף ד'

 דיבידנד  14.2

דיבידנד 14.2.1 על:  תשלום  ישולם  המניות  -הדיבידנד  לבעלי  ויחולק  החברה  ידי 

יורוקליר ובהתאם  בנק  דולר סינגפורי, באמצעות חשבון המסלקה בטבע  מב

 להוראות חוקי העזר של המסלקה. 

מס   14.2.2 חלומבבמקור  ניכוי  של  דיבידנדקרה  רשות  :  קת  עם  להסכמה  בהתאם 

במקור  בישראל  המיסים תנכה  החברה  לבעלי    20%,  שיחולק  דיבידנד  מכל 

מניותיה )בכפוף לכל דין(, ותפקידו אצל אי.בי.אי ניהול נאמנויות אשר תשמש  

, והיתרה תועבר ישירות לבעלי  "( נאמן המס)להלן: "  כנאמן עבור בעלי המניות 

שהיהמניות.   מניה  בעל  תושב  כל  תושב  נו  או  צד  ישראל  שהינה  מדינה  של 

והינו זכאי לקבלת דיבידנד, יהיה   לאמנה למניעת כפל מס עם מדינת ישראל 

המס   לנאמן  לפנות  מתאימות,  רשאי  אסמכתאות  המס  בצירוף  כי  בבקשה 

מ נמוך  הינו  כאמור  דיבידנד  תשלום  על  נוספים,  .  20%-שיחול    ו ראלפרטים 

 בקישור שלהלן:  ,2021באפריל  27דיווח החברה מיום 

 לחץ כאן לפרטים לעניין ניכוי מס במקור בעת חלוקת דיבידנד

הבורסות 14.3 בין  מניות  לבין  :  העברת  הבורסה  בין  מניות  סינגפורהעברת  ולהיפך   בורסת 

יועברו כי המניות  יצוין   - מ  תעשה בהתאם להוראות חוקי העזר של מסלקת הבורסה. 

The Central Depository (CDP)    )סינגפור בורסת  של  מסלקת )המסלקה  לחשבון 

ב "  Euroclear Bank SA/NA-הבורסה  תנהל   המסלקהכאשר    (,"יורוקליר)להלן: 

 ביורוקליר. מרשם מקביל אשר ישקף את מספר המניות בחשבון המסלקה 

 

 

https://links.sgx.com/FileOpen/Announcement_re_Dividend_Taxation_27_April_2021.ashx?App=Announcement&FileID=663213
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 נספחים בשפת המקור )אנגלית(  – שני חלק

Date Filed Filing Description 

April 5, 2021 Annual Report for 2020  

April 5, 2021  General announcement: Extraordinary/ Special General Meeting.   

April 5, 2021 General announcement: Annual General Meeting.  

April 8, 2021  General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on): Amendments to  

Annual Reports and Related Documents.   

April 13, 2021 General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on): Amendments to  

Annual Reports and Related Documents.   

April 20, 2021  General announcement: Response to SGX Queries.  

April 22, 2021  General announcement: Responses to questions from Shareholders for 

the AGM scheduled for 27 April 2021.  

April 27, 2021 General announcement: Employee Stock Option/ Share Scheme: 

Disclosure in compliance with Rule 704 (29) - Grant of Employee Stock 

Options. 

April 27, 2021 General announcement: Resolutions passed at the Annual General 

Meeting held today. 

April 27, 2021 General announcement: Resolutions passed at the Extraordinary General 

Meeting held today. 

April 28, 2021 General announcement: Update of the Company’s announcement re 

Cash Dividend/ Distribution. 

April 29, 2021 General announcement: Update on Covid-19 Outbreak in India. 

 

April 30, 2021 
General announcement: Response to SGX Queries. 

 

May 3, 2021 
General announcement: Update of the Company’s announcement re 

Cash Dividend/ Distribution. 

 

May 5, 2021 
General announcement: Sarine Technologies to Present at the 16th 

Annual Needham Virtual Technology and Media Conference. 

 

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/2RFP39QLB43SVH5V/8247ba35a7c787dbbcd58caeaaf163b8c42b6dc838621cf2724833b7a6c69d03
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/2RFP39QLB43SVH5V/8247ba35a7c787dbbcd58caeaaf163b8c42b6dc838621cf2724833b7a6c69d03
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/CG4QVR34VDCL65EE/9fb9d81de21f0406bd661ebcb676ec2c2372eeb11713924995263a7faa84af4b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/CG4QVR34VDCL65EE/9fb9d81de21f0406bd661ebcb676ec2c2372eeb11713924995263a7faa84af4b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/IELOOSM8LXZOAL60/f7650fa2e147f0a8bd7d578e34659950961915ebe98a847e6892758870958ffc
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/IELOOSM8LXZOAL60/f7650fa2e147f0a8bd7d578e34659950961915ebe98a847e6892758870958ffc
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/AC3DGDAS461LO6AP/2435631901b216c5a3fb27cd61be0fe7da450d7ef024bff4d154783382ee58a4
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/AC3DGDAS461LO6AP/2435631901b216c5a3fb27cd61be0fe7da450d7ef024bff4d154783382ee58a4
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/AC3DGDAS461LO6AP/2435631901b216c5a3fb27cd61be0fe7da450d7ef024bff4d154783382ee58a4
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/4N49YTDG59AIAWTK/1f5bd94d373fbe1de2c724ccf3a845470f0e13951f9d046caf6313d5fd4ad38b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/4N49YTDG59AIAWTK/1f5bd94d373fbe1de2c724ccf3a845470f0e13951f9d046caf6313d5fd4ad38b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/DJLWH1BSVZDN3CMU/7f4acf959186914171eab76db799e807cb263cc08202cc487331d7591defdb1d
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/DJLWH1BSVZDN3CMU/7f4acf959186914171eab76db799e807cb263cc08202cc487331d7591defdb1d
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/NLC8V2AAYNULB3BB/84f23b8158ca9388d3694888b89913a17165fd3ae8db4935decf0ec31a4c4a3f
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/3R1SCB1FF78TY1S3/008dbc697fdd10debdc276415cb2117b8badf15b330f9968c48de34d75b68cdb
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/BB8MC9FUGQUEHTP6/27c4bcfcfb8480c99a1971278025f71ed220e1c84b7eabed55ff934ece18afba
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/BB8MC9FUGQUEHTP6/27c4bcfcfb8480c99a1971278025f71ed220e1c84b7eabed55ff934ece18afba
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May 6, 2021 
General announcement (posted on the SGXNET on): HB Antwerp and 

Sarine Enter into a Unique Partnership for Technology Solutions. 

May 9, 2021 
General announcement: Update on Business Conditions. 

May 9, 2021 
General announcement: Employee Stock Option/ Share Scheme: 

Disclosure in compliance with Rule 704 (29) - Grant of Employee Stock 

Options. 

May 10, 2021 
General announcement: Sustainability report for the year ended on 31 

December 2020. 

 

May 21, 2021 
General Announcement: Sarine's activities are not affected by current 

conflict. 

May 25, 2021 
General Announcement: Sarine Technologies and Constell Group 

Announce Strategic Collaboration 

May 27, 2021 
General Announcement: Minutes of the AGM held on 27 April 2021 

June 2, 2021 
General Announcement: Press Release: Grib Diamonds adopts the 

Sarine Diamond Journey traceability program. 

June 16, 2021 
General Announcement: Press Release: Further Update on Effects of 

Indian Covid-19 on Group 

June 21, 2021 
Share Buy Back - Daily Share Buy-Back Notice: Daily Share Buy-Back 

Notice - 21 June 2021 

       

 בכבוד רב,      

       

 בע"מ  שרין טכנולוגיות         

 קסלר, סמנכ"ל כספים (זאב אריה ביל ) באמצעות    

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/WMS8LUD4FGHFENOA/754b4598703351c61384a8b5005b0f6abed85f870ed7719c058cb92083b0b9ce
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/WMS8LUD4FGHFENOA/754b4598703351c61384a8b5005b0f6abed85f870ed7719c058cb92083b0b9ce
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/II0LSITHP0IWZC0K/7356670e04ae8883cf0f0f8a95f82e435a39996a4e8f8add06b12cdb2dabf14c
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/TBW9K4TPAMU3322S/18c415f87ba835456fc0ac10c4110f5a431441aaed71cce385fcdfb3c789bf15
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/TBW9K4TPAMU3322S/18c415f87ba835456fc0ac10c4110f5a431441aaed71cce385fcdfb3c789bf15
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/TBW9K4TPAMU3322S/18c415f87ba835456fc0ac10c4110f5a431441aaed71cce385fcdfb3c789bf15
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/VRYO2DN9S4UJ6WW3/06800bd8a7858b103faf6778c0dbb786f14a43fa65d8fba45f0272ed3f29d73b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/VRYO2DN9S4UJ6WW3/06800bd8a7858b103faf6778c0dbb786f14a43fa65d8fba45f0272ed3f29d73b
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/RO48DCEJ15HKEHID/be08f58f34d45998b4ce5249fbee76372b68aa56c6a12fb9a56fa0f939417a6e
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/RO48DCEJ15HKEHID/be08f58f34d45998b4ce5249fbee76372b68aa56c6a12fb9a56fa0f939417a6e
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/1XM27LJYZ0HI4NEQ/ef63169a3f40857f50c4669992da2c542f3f0abc787e0d1b373739c3ea177f31
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/MWH8JUDPCS9TK5FV/af8880f1e507c345645aacd8105bba8507e70452e1e981edec3697ddbc6317f8
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/MWH8JUDPCS9TK5FV/af8880f1e507c345645aacd8105bba8507e70452e1e981edec3697ddbc6317f8
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This Annual Report may contain "forward-looking statements" – that is, statements related to future, not past, events. In this context, forward-
looking statements often address our expected future business and financial performance and typically contain words such as "anticipate", 
"believe", "expect", "foresee", "hope", "intend", "may", "might", "plan", "seek", "target", "will" or "would". Forward-looking statements by their 
nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain, such as expected revenues, margins, expenses and profits; cash flows, 
return on capital, capital expenditures, capital allocation or capital structure; and dividends. Actual results may differ materially. Particular 
uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements include: 
changes in law, regulations and regulatory requirements; global economic and financial conditions, including interest and exchange rate 
volatility, commodity and equity prices and the value of financial assets; diamond industry conditions including rough and polished diamond 
prices and conditions in the financial and credit markets for the industry in which we operate; the impact of potential information technology 
or data security breaches and our exposure to counterparties; the impact of investigative and legal proceedings and legal compliance risks; 
the adequacy of our cash flows and earnings and other conditions which may affect our ability to pay dividend at the planned level or to 
repurchase shares at planned levels; our capital allocation plans, as such plans may change including with respect to the timing and size of 
share repurchases, acquisitions, joint ventures, dispositions and other strategic actions; our success in integrating acquired businesses and 
operating joint ventures; our ability to realise anticipated earnings and savings from announced transactions, acquired businesses and joint 
ventures; global pandemics, as indeed occurred in 2020; and the other factors that are described in "Risk Factors" in this Annual Report for 
the year ended December 31, 2020. These or other uncertainties may cause our actual future results to be materially different than those 
expressed in our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements.

CAUTIONARY
STATEMENT
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Sarine Technologies Ltd. develops, manufactures, markets and 
sells precision technology products for the processing, grading and 
trade of diamonds, utilised throughout the diamond industry value 
chain. Following is a brief profile of our offerings. For additional 
information, please refer to the Business Review section of this 
Annual Report.

Rough Stone Evaluation (the "Upstream”)
We assist diamond mining companies, also termed "producers", 
to evaluate their rough stones. Our DiaExpert® family of platforms 
accurately model a rough diamond's external geometry. The 
revolutionary Galaxy® family of internal inclusion mapping systems 
for rough diamonds, based on patented technology, provides high 
resolution (optionally at microscopic-level), fully automated, fast 
and comprehensive identification and mapping of a rough stone's 
internal features – inclusions, cracks, etc. By utilising these two 
systems and optional software tools, a producer can fully assess 
the intrinsic value of its rough material and provide prospective 
customers with comprehensive information pertaining to the stones 
offered for sale. Disclosing this information, and thus reducing the 
risk associated with buying the offered rough stones lacking full 
knowledge of their characteristics, allows bidders to offer a higher 
premium for the offered goods, thus increasing the producer's 
profitability. In addition, the provision of such data in a digital form 
enables producers to reach a broader group of potential buyers.

Alrosa, the primary Russian producer and largest miner of diamonds 
worldwide in carat terms, Grib, another Russian producer, Lucara, 
a Canadian-based producer operating in Botswana, and Star 
Gems, a leading rough stone secondary wholesaler in Dubai, have 
already adopted these technologies for various categories of their 
rough inventory, subsequently offered for sale via digital tenders. 
We expect other producers and wholesalers to also adopt this 
paradigm, having already evaluated it in 2020 in light of its inherent 
benefits during Covid-19 travel and related restrictions.

Rough Diamond Polishing (the "Midstream")
Our products and services provide industry-leading automated 
solutions for every stage of the rough diamond polishing process, 
from high-precision geometrical modelling and internal inclusion 
and tension mapping of the rough stone, through determining the 
optimally derivable polished gems based on true dollar value and 
market trends, through laser cutting and shaping, to the inline quality 
control of the actual making and faceting of the polished jewel.

Our aforementioned DiaExpert® family of platforms and the 
copyrighted Advisor® software are the de-facto worldwide standard 
for planning the optimal utilisation of rough diamonds. These 
systems assist the manufacturer in the planning, cutting and 
polishing process of the rough stones in order to achieve polished 
gems with the highest possible values based on optimisation of 
the four “C” parameters (Carat, Clarity, Color and Cut) and light 
performance parameters in accordance with market trends and 
prices.

The Galaxy® family of internal inclusion mapping systems for rough 
diamonds allows for the optimisation of the Clarity grade of the 
resultant polished stones, which could only be roughly estimated 
prior to this technology's introduction in 2010. To allow the industry 
to fully benefit from this cutting edge technology, various models 
(see the Business Review section) offer inclusion mapping of 
rough stones across the entire spectrum of sizes – from below 
10 points (0.10 carats) to over 200 carats. To further affordability 
and flexibility, we offer per-use inclusion scanning services at 
wholly-owned or affiliated service centres in all the major diamond 
polishing and trading centres - Mumbai and Surat (India), Antwerp 
(Belgium), Dubai, Gaborone (Botswana), Johannesburg (South 
Africa), Moscow, New York, Ramat-Gan (Israel) and Windhoek 
(Namibia). As of 2019, our Galaxy® systems can be upgraded with 
an add-on hardware kit, which enables the mapping of the internal 
tension (stress) of the rough stone’s crystal structure, reducing 
the risk of damage or breakage during the subsequent cutting and 
polishing stages.

Our third-generation Quazer® 3 green-laser system, integrated with 
our planning systems by way of the Strategist® setup station, is 
the industry’s most cost-effective high-end solution for the laser 

cutting and shaping of rough stones, as well as for the processing of 
CVD-type lab-grown (so called "synthetic") diamonds. The Quazer® 

3’s main advantage is its ability to perform complicated non-linear 
cutting, like pie sawing, with a single setup, giving more accurate 
results and saving significant time. We offer rough diamond cutting 
and shaping services on a per-use basis at our service centres in 
India.

The Instructor® software assists in real-time quality control and 
optimisation of the actual diamond faceting processes. It can 
provide for corrective polishing, when deviations from the original 
planned optimal polishing solution are discerned, by re-analysing 
the semi-polished stone and proposing alternative solutions, 
including utilisation of unique asymmetrical methods. Here too, as 
in planning, conventional 4Cs optimisation can be enhanced by light 
performance optimisation for ultimate polishing results. 

The combination of these technologies has redefined the art 
of diamond polishing into a science. It has raised the optimally 
achievable yield of the polished stones combined weights from 
historically under 40% of the rough stone’s original weight to 
over 50%, a 25% benefit. But no less important, it allows the 
manufacturer to select planning options which best suit actual 
demand at any given time for any specific geographic market (e.g., 
trading off between weight, typically a key criterion in US markets, 
and quality, more emphasised in Asia Pacific (APAC) markets) or 
any individual retailer's needs for specific lines of jewellery, so 
called "programmes". These technologies are equally effective on 
natural and lab-grown diamonds (LGD).

Polished Diamond Grading and Trade (the "Downstream")
Grading
Having pioneered the technology-derived automated grading of a 
polished diamond’s Cut in 1992, and having introduced the industry's 
most accurate system for measuring a polished diamond's actual 
light performance in 2013, the Sarine Light™, we now also provide 
automated grading of a polished diamond's Clarity, a world first, 
and Color. Our Sarine Technology Lab provides the world's first (and 
currently only) artificial intelligence (“AI”) based, technologically-
derived objective and consistent grading of a polished diamond's 
4Cs and light performance, as well as authentication of the 
diamond’s source (natural or lab-grown) and identification of any 
treatments to which it has been submitted. 

We launched the DiaMension® family of products in 1992 for the 
accurate measurement of a polished diamond’s proportions, in 
order to derive its Cut and Symmetry grades. The DiaMension® 
HD (High Definition) and the Instructor® software are today the 
industry’s de-facto standard for measuring proportions and Cut 
grading worldwide. The newest model, the DiaMension® Axiom 
3, based on revolutionary technology with micron level accuracy, 
was originally developed to meet and exceed Tiffany & Company’s 
("Tiffany") most stringent requirements for extra-fine diamond 
quality assessment including symmetry grading. Our polished 
stone proportion measuring and Cut/Symmetry grading systems 
are driven by the Instructor® software package.

The Sarine Light™ introduced in 2013 has today become the most 
widely used system for light performance analysis and grading in the 
Asia Pacific (APAC) market, and has all but become the fifth “C” in 
Japan. We offer light performance grading services independently 
or as a key element in the Sarine Profile™, detailed below. The Sarine 
Light™ enables the automatic, accurate, consistent and quantified 
measurement of a polished diamond’s light performance, in order 
to provide additional criteria by which to appreciate the diamond's 
quality:

o Brilliance - the intense bright light that shines from 
the diamond.

o Sparkle - the dramatic flashes that burst out of the 
diamond.

o Fire - the vivid colours of the rainbow that radiate 
from within the diamond.

o Light symmetry - the equal distribution of the light 
that reflects from the diamond.

CORPORATE
PROFILE
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CORPORATE PROFILE
Since mid-2018, we offer comprehensive polished diamond 4Cs 
grading, utilising our groundbreaking AI-derived technology and 
two dedicated hardware platforms - the Sarine Clarity™ and Sarine 
Color™. The ability to provide technologically-derived automated 
grading of a polished stone's Clarity is an industry first. Clarity 
grading is a very complex multi dimensional classification, derived 
from the number of inclusions, their sizes, types and locations 
as well as other parameters, and has always been a subjective 
and manual labor-intensive process. Typically two graders would 
manually grade each stone, and it is not unusual for a third expert 
opinion to be required. Even so, Clarity grading is not consistent, and 
it is not uncommon to have significant disparities in the prescribed 
grade, often resulting in it being contested. Our tests have shown 
that when a statistically significant reference team of proficiently 
trained graders assesses a stone's Clarity, variances can be spread 
over two or sometimes even three different grades. The utilisation 
of technology enables objective, consistent grading, which, as the 
AI-based algorithms are self-learning, continuously improves over 
time. We are currently working with Tiffany to adapt our automated 
AI-based grading technology to Tiffany’s stringent grading 
guidelines and criteria. We have also entered into a joint initiative 
with China's largest and most important gemmological laboratory 
the National Gemstone Testing Center (NGTC), in order to develop 
automated grading standards for a polished diamond's 4Cs and its 
light performance for the Chinese trade.

In 2020 we announced the next revolution of polished diamond 
grading – e-Grading™. Currently in beta-testing in India, the 
use of our above-mentioned hardware platforms and AI-based 
software, enhanced by unique in-process inter-system control and 
verification software, will allow on-site grading, replacing the need 
to send stones offsite to third-party gemmological laboratories. 
This will bring a number of key benefits to the midstream diamond 
manufacturing industry – significantly less direct costs, virtually no 
indirect costs (e.g., shipping, insurance, etc.), a substantially shorter 
process (minutes to hours vs. days to weeks) and operational 
flexibility (enabling a manufacturer to independently prioritise his 
stones' grading sequence and schedule).  It is our aim to ultimately 
also enable the automated on-site fine-sorting of a diamond’s 
Clarity in accordance with customer-specific sub-grades pertaining 
to the diamond’s actual appearance (e.g., “eye-clean”, “no black 
inclusions”, “no inclusions under the table”), so as to facilitate more 
accurate matching to the retail customer's needs, reducing rejects 
and bolstering profitability. e-Grading™ is uniquely suitable to LGD 
grading, as its lower cost allows application to the lower-valued 
LGD, and what is more natural than grading a stone created by 
technology using technology! 

Retail Trade
We also provide technologically advanced standard-setting 
solutions for key aspects of the polished diamond retail trade, 
whether natural stones or LGD. In today's changing retail world, 
channel and product branding and differentiation, as well as 
providing a captivating digital experience on an online portal, are 
key to a retailer's success. In the 2020 holiday season in the U.S., 
online sales grew by almost 50%, also as a solution to Covid-19 
related impediments to traditional retail channels. The ability to 
tell the polished gem's "story" online, and demonstrate its unique 
features, differentiating it from near-commoditised standard cuts 
and stones, are becoming universal goals amongst e-tailers and in-
store retailers alike. Non-intuitive data, as formulated in the historic 
4Cs, are no longer sufficient for the younger generation of internet 
and social media savvy buyers. 

Our pioneering Sarine Profile™ addresses the retailers' needs for 
differentiation by providing engaging imagery and video information 
pertaining to the offered diamond's appearance, beauty and quality. 
Sarine Profile™, a toolbox of various technologies, allows the 
wholesaler and retailer to display their inventory according to their 
own specific branding goals, as best suited to the merchandise being 
sold and the market in which it is sold. Each user, whether wholesaler 
or retailer, online or brick and mortar, can create its unique branding 
message by utilising various imaging technologies as provided by 
the Sarine Loupe™, at various levels of 3 to 40 times magnification 
and from various simulated distances and perspectives, along with 
light performance analyses and grading, as provided by the industry-
leading Sarine Light™. Other graphic information such as Hearts 
and Arrows depictions, Cut proportions in 2D or 3D, laser inscription 
viewing, etc. can also be presented to the prospective consumer. 
Sarine Profile™ of course also provides the stone’s gemmological 
laboratory report and can accommodate the retailer's promotional 

branding material and even the end-consumer's personalisation 
message (e.g., proposal) to the ultimate recipient of the jewellery. 

Sarine Profile™ is unique in that it caters to the new generation of 
buyers' engrossment with their mobile devices and their passion for 
social media, allowing retailers to connect with them and engage 
them on their media of choice. Doing so enables online transactions 
with a completely new level of confidence. But it also enhances the 
in-store buying experience by empowering the consumer to make a 
truly informed decision.

In 2019 we introduced an additional tool for the jewellery retailer, 
a unique cost-effective technology for the imaging and optional 
creation of virtual derivatives of jewellery pieces – Verto™. Verto™ 
generates high quality video displays, derived from but a handful 
of images captured by any common smartphone. Verto™’s solution 
enables jewellery manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers to 
provide their customers with exceptionally high-quality video 
renditions of offered jewellery items. It also has the capability to 
generate multiple options of the settings and the types, sizes, and 
colours of stones set in the piece, etc. All this with no need for 
capital investment in high-end devices, expensive professional 
photographers or exhaustive manual finishing. The combination of 
the imagery’s high quality, the system’s ease of use, its attractive 
cost and fast delivery creates an offering that is far superior to any 
currently available market alternatives.

In today's conscientious, even "activist", marketplace, responsible 
and sustainable sourcing and manufacturing are also key to a 
retailer's success. The Sarine Diamond Journey™ uniquely provides 
concrete reliable documentation of the rough diamond's provenance 
and its audited journey from rough stone to polished jewel. Critical 
to its unique proposition as a provenance solution is Sarine 
Diamond Journey™'s access to actual verifiable data from end to 
end of the polishing process, enabled by Sarine's uniquely extensive 
presence in the diamond industry's midstream, wherein the critical 
transition from rough to polish occurs. In 2020 just under 19 million 
stones were scanned for inclusion mapping using our systems 
and over 60 million stones were planned using our online Advisor® 
cloud-based software which, optionally, records the actual planning 
stages for the Sarine Diamond Journey™. Thus, we can exclusively 
provide a conclusive certified testimonial of the polished stone's 
derivation, with no need to rely on declaratory information provided 
by the audited parties. The mined rough stone's source data is 
optionally provided by the producer. If not, key data pertaining to its 
weight, form, inclusions, etc. can be derived independently by our 
technologies, and its source verified by official data (e.g., customs 
manifests). Already today Alrosa, the world's largest miner by carat 
volume, and Lucara collaborate with us to provide mine/source 
information for various categories and sizes of their rough stones. 
The rough stone's form is retained in high-resolution mathematical 
model and video formats, for authentication at the manufacturing 
venue and presentation to the consumer. As an option, a realistic 
3D-printed model of the rough stone can be derived from these 
data and provided for the consumer's fascination – the 3D-Origin™. 
Subsequently through various stages of the stone’s processing, to 
the level desired, accurate graphic/video data are collated. Beyond 
offering consumers insight into the sophisticated technology and 
painstaking craftsmanship that went into creating their gem in an 
engaging visual format, the Sarine Diamond Journey™ verifies for 
the consumer where their diamond was mined and how and by 
whom it was polished, even if by multiple parties, reinforcing their 
confidence in the sustainable value of their unique natural jewel. 

Upon the polishing process's completion, proprietary technology for 
“fingerprinting” the polished stone, TruMatch™, can also be engraved 
on the stone without denigrating from its beauty or value. TruMatch™ 
can subsequently be used to singularly verify the identity of the 
polished stone in the retail outlet, whether it is loose or mounted 
in a setting. A so-called digital twin for the authentication of the 
purchased item is readily retrievable, which can also be utilised by 
retailers offering extended warranties, providing cleaning and repair 
services or proposing "buy-up" exchanges, as well as by financial 
institutions or insurers in need of reliable unequivocal identification 
of the item. 
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OUR
MILESTONES 

2020
Sarine introduces concept of e-Grading™ - self-executed 
polished diamond 4Cs grading by value-chain industry players 
(manufacturers, wholesalers and even retailers) on-site at their 
own facilities utilising Sarine's AI-driven cloud-linked technologies. 
By enhancing our technology-based AI-derived 4Cs grading with 
additional functionality for process control and intra-process 
verification, e-Grading™ provides a time-saving, cost-cutting, in-
house automated solution for the 4Cs grading of most polished 
stones, without necessitating the inefficient, time-consuming and 
costly process of sending goods offsite to a third-party grading 
facility (lab).

Sarine announces that it has expanded its collaboration with Clara 
Diamond Solutions Corporation, a subsidiary of mining producer 
Lucara Diamond Corp., to extend provenance traceability to Clara's 
diamonds through the Sarine Diamond Journey™.

Due to Covid-19 impediments ALROSA, the world's largest producer 
by carat volume, expands its digital tenders enabled by Sarine's 
technologies, a safe and efficient alternative distribution channel, 
to their "special" rough stones sized 10.8 carats and up, having 
previously offered only smaller stones through this paradigm (view 
their Digital Stones video to prospective buyers posted publicly and 
viewable at https://youtu.be/rEVXGFks8oA).

Sarine expands its comprehensive diamond traceability Sarine 
Diamond Journey™ solution to diamonds sourced from ALROSA, 
the world’s largest miner of rough diamonds by carat volume. The 
cooperative solution provides global retailers end to end traceability 
from mine to consumer, documenting the sustainable supply chain 
throughout the process from rough to polish for ALROSA sourced 
diamonds, however traded and polished by multiple midstream 
entities. 

Sarine launches a co-branded light performance report with the 
National Gemstone Testing Center (NGTC) of China, China's largest 
gemmological lab, for Yuanyumei (Y & M) Jewelry, a leading high-
end Chinese jewellery designer, manufacturer and wholesaler for 
their Rose D'Amour line.

Following the signing of the peace and normalisation agreements 
with the United Arab Emirates, Sarine opens a Galaxy® service 
centre in Dubai, an evolving key trading centre for rough and 
polished diamonds, in cooperation with TRIGEM DMCC. Dubai, 
already home to a key trading bourse of rough diamonds, which is 
forecast, due to geopolitical and cost base evolution, to emerge as 
the most important global trading hub for rough diamonds second 
to none, is also expected to further expand to become an important 
trading centre for polished diamonds.

2019
Sarine launches the 3D-Origin™, a 3D-printed accurate model of 
the rough diamond from which the polished diamond was derived. 
The 3D-Origin™ model is identical in its geometrical dimensions 
and features to the actual rough diamond, scaled for consumer 
convenience, and is generated as an optional tangible add-on to the 
Sarine Diamond Journey™ rough-to-polish diamond report.

New Art Ltd. (previously CIMA), a leading bridal diamond jewellery 
chain in Japan, is the first customer to adopt the Sarine Diamond 
Journey™, including the 3D-Origin™ option, as a centrepiece of its 
new marketing campaign and consumer experience.

Sarine launches Verto™, an innovative imaging solution that 
generates exceptionally high-quality video displays, derived from 
but a handful of images captured by any common smartphone 
and enables jewellery manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers to 
provide their customers with interactive capabilities to view the 
piece from multiple perspectives and personalise the setting as well 
as the types, sizes, and colours of stones, etc. All this with no need 
for capital investment in high-end devices, expensive professional 
photographers or exhaustive manual finishing. The system’s ease 
of use, its attractive cost and fast delivery creates an offering that is 
far superior to any currently available market alternatives

Sarine signs a strategic framework with the National Gemstone 
Testing Center (NGTC) of China, the leading gemmological 
laboratory in China. The strategic framework aim is to advance 
diamond grading standards in China to the highest level and to 
implement the industry’s most consistent grading, by combining 
Sarine's developments in the areas of artificial intelligence (AI) 
for the grading of a polished diamond's 4Cs to NGTC’s extensive 
gemmological research and diamond testing expertise. The 
cooperation specifically aims to set new standards for light 
performance grading, diamond traceability and fingerprinting as 
well as digital solutions suitable for the retail diamond trade in 
China.

Sarine participates in the key technology panel at the Fourth Dubai 
Diamond Conference (DDC), focusing on technology disruption and 
its positive potential for the diamond industry.

Sarine announces that it is working with Tiffany & Co. (“Tiffany”) 
to adapt its automated AI based grading technology to Tiffany’s 
discriminating grading standards for Color and Clarity. Sarine’s 
automated grading technology substantially removes subjective 
human error and bias from the grading process, thus enabling 
a new level of reliability and consistency. Sarine's and Tiffany's 
cooperation is aimed at refining Sarine's solution to meet Tiffany's 
requirements and "enable the Tiffany Gemological Laboratory’s 
graders to continually employ the best technology available in 
the industry to objectively, consistently and efficiently measure 
and uphold [Tiffany's] demanding grading standards for Tiffany 
diamonds".

Sarine announces cooperation with ALROSA, the world's largest 
diamond miner by carats, implementing Sarine's DiaExpert® 
3D-mapping, Galaxy® inclusion scanning and other technology to 
augment ALROSA’s rough Digital Tenders with detailed information 
pertaining to the offered rough stones. The information is provided in 
standard Sarine Advisor® diamond planning software input format, 
readily usable by clients' personnel to evaluate possible polished 
output solutions, each according to their own needs, preferences 
and price lists, thus empowering the procurement personnel to 
leverage the expertise of the companies' specialist planners in order 
to come up with better informed procurement decisions.
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Sarine develops an add-on for its Galaxy® inclusion mapping system 
to map the internal tension (stress) of a rough diamond – its location, 
structure / direction and estimated magnitude. Having completed 
beta-testing on 15,000 stones, the technology now needs to be 
integrated into the next version of our planning software, Advisor® 
8.0, to be released in mid-2020.

Sarine ends the year with record deliveries of 145 Galaxy® systems, 
bringing its Galaxy® installed base, as of 31 December 2019, to 555. 
Our Galaxy® family of inclusion mapping systems scan 17 million 
stones in aggregate worldwide in 2019 and just over 60 million 
stones are planned on our cloud-based Advisor® software (several 
tens of millions of additional stones are also planned during 2019 
on our earlier offline versions of the Advisor®, from which no online 
reporting is directly available to us).

2018
Sarine sets a new standard in rough diamond planning accuracy, 
efficiency and yield with its introduction of an added-value upgrade 
for existing or new DiaExpert® platforms – the DiaExpert® Edge. 
The DiaExpert® Edge, uses advanced LED technology to achieve 
radically more accurate modelling, capturing even the most minute 
surface features and texture with incredible precision, allowing for 
much faster and efficient planning and increasing the yield and 
beauty of the polished stone with reduced risk. 

Sarine’s wholly owned subsidiary, Sarine Polishing Technologies, 
Ltd., opens the first Sarine Technology Laboratory in Ramat Gan, 
Israel, utilising Sarine's breakthrough artificial intelligence based 
technological solutions for the automated, accurate, consistent and 
objective grading of a polished diamond's Clarity and Color.

Sarine’s wholly owned subsidiary Galatea, Ltd. launches the 
Meteorite™ system for the cost-effective inclusion mapping of very 
small rough stones, under 0.40 carats. 

Leveraging on its extensive presence in the diamond industry's 
midstream (with tens of millions of rough stones polished annually 
utilising its rough planning platforms), Sarine launches the Sarine 
Diamond Journey™, highlighting the provenance of the diamond. 
The rough stone is traced through all its stages from unique rough 
stone to one-of-a-kind jewel. 

Dominion Diamond Mines ULC (“Dominion”), Canada’s largest 
independent diamond producer, introduces an enhanced 
CanadaMark™ website incorporating the new Sarine Diamond 
Journey™. The CanadaMark™ hallmark programme is Dominion's 
strategic initiative to assure the integrity of the supply chain 
of Canadian diamonds from mine to retail. Dominion’s new 
CanadaMark™ documents the polished stone’s audited journey 
from mine to retail and also includes Sarine Profile™ imagery and 
light performance data.

K-Uno, renowned Japanese retailer of bespoke made-to-order 
diamond jewellery becomes the first retailer in the world to adopt 
the new Sarine 4Cs diamond report – the world's first AI-based, 
technology driven, automated grading report.

Berkshire Hathaway’s Borsheims selects the Sarine Profile™ to 
accompany each of Mr. Warren Buffett’s very limited series of 
Signature Diamonds sold at their flagship store during the annual 
Berkshire Hathaway Shareholders Meeting in Omaha, Nebraska. 
Each stone was engraved on-site by Sarine’s DiaScribe™ system with 
Mr. Buffett’s signature, its certificate number and a personalised 
commemoration or message of affection of the buyers’ choice.

Sarine’s wholly-owned Indian subsidiary, Sarin Technologies India 
Pvt. Ltd., opens second Sarine Technology Laboratory in Mumbai, 
India, servicing this key Indian polishing centre. The Sarine 
Technology Laboratory offers reports on the broadest range of a 
polished diamond's parameters, including AI–based, technology-
driven, automated 4Cs grading, diamond authentication, treatments 
verification, light performance and the Sarine Diamond Journey™ 
rough to polish provenance documentation, as well as advanced 
interactive diamond imaging of various magnifications and 
perspectives.

Sarine opens a new Galaxy® service centre for the scanning and 
mapping of internal inclusions in rough diamonds in the Sha Wan 
Jewellery Park in the Panyu District of Guangzhou, servicing the 
rough diamond trade and diamond manufacturers there and in 
China, in general.

Sarine opens a new service centre for the issuing of Sarine Profile™ 
reports for polished diamonds in Tokyo, servicing retailers and the 
polished diamond trade in Japan.

Sarine enters into an agreement with Clara Diamond Solutions 
Corporation (“Clara”), a subsidiary of Lucara Diamond Corp. 
("Lucara"), a Vancouver-based diamond mining producer which 
aims to change the way rough diamonds are sold. Clara proposes 
to sell diamonds directly to jewellery manufacturers via a digital 
platform backed by secure blockchain technology developed 
by Clara. Sarine's Galaxy® inclusion mapping technology and 
its Advisor® rough planning will be applied to the rough stone to 
generate possible cutting and polishing solutions as per polished 
diamond manufacturers' retail customers' pre-defined orders. 
Optimisation of the sorting process in this manner will match 
available rough material with manufacturers' and retailers' current 
market demand, allowing them to search for the exact stone(s) they 
need at the price they want, thus optimising the process, to both 
seller’s and buyer’s benefit.
 

2017
Sarine and GGTL Laboratories (Switzerland) sign a cooperation 
agreement to address the detection of lab-grown diamonds of all 
sizes.

Sarine’s wholly-owned Indian subsidiary, Sarin Technologies India 
Pvt. Ltd., opens a self-owned new facility in Surat, India, “Sarin 
House”, consolidating all the Group's Surat-based activities for the 
Indian diamond manufacturing industry under one roof. Located in 
India's primary diamond manufacturing hub, the facility comprises 
55,000 square feet (5,100 square meters) over six floors, and houses 
approximately 400 staff members. Sarin House is the home for our 
pre- and post-sales Customer Care and Support as well as for the 
Galaxy®, Quazer® and Sarine Profile™ service centres.

K-Uno, renowned Japanese retailer of bespoke made-to-order 
diamond jewellery becomes first retailer in Japan to adopt the 
complete Sarine Profile™ solution.

Aurora Group, an established jewellery chain in Thailand with over 
200 retail stores nationwide, becomes the first customer in Thailand 
to adopt Sarine’s light performance report to enhance customers’ 
experience and confidence.

Sarine releases the seventh generation of its industry-leading rough 
planning software tool. Advisor® 7.0 includes numerous innovations 
that advance rough planning to further streamline the process and 
optimise the yield. Advisor® 7.0 includes Centralised Automated 
Planning (CAP), enabling the definition of automated planning 
paradigms (by shapes, proportions, cut grades, lab specifications, 
etc.) set to run in the background, so staff can quickly filter 
hundreds and even thousands of planning solutions according to 
market demand. Advisor® 7.0 supports customised pricing, directly 
integrating with the manufacturer's proprietary criteria, so that 
pricing of the polished stones adheres to the manufacturer's own 
internal controls. Another key feature analyses the planned stone 
using various criteria, including Sarine Light™, Hearts and Arrows 
and Photo Real, modifiable on a per facet basis, to meet retailers’ 
most stringent demands, beyond the traditional 4C's. Advisor® 7.0 
also provides graphic indications of any internal stress in the rough 
diamond, enabling the planning process to avoid danger during 
subsequent processes, which could endanger the stone's integrity.

Golden Dew, becomes our South Korean launch customer for the 
Sarine Profile™ in its 72 stores and adopts the Sarine Connect™ 
diamond/jewellery search and display app.
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Singapore Exchange Mainboard-listed Soo Kee Group Ltd. (42G:SI), 
extends its adoption of the Sarine Profile™ to China for its Love & 
Co.’s brand’s Lovemarque diamond collection, introducing the first 
fully digital diamond report entirely in Chinese with a powerful visual 
and experiential 'story' of the diamond. The brand aims to establish 
550 points-of-sale in China and Hong Kong by the end of its fifth 
year of operation.

Our Galaxy® family of inclusion mapping systems scan 10 million 
stones in aggregate worldwide, in a single year, in 2017.
 

2016
Sarine’s wholly owned subsidiary, Sarine Color Technologies Ltd., 
announces that it acquired the technology and assets of DiaMining 
Ltd., an established developer of Point of Sale (POS) applications 
for diamonds, gemstones and jewellery, and renames it Sarine 
Connect™.

The Soo Kee Group, Singapore's leading established jeweller, also 
listed on the Singapore Exchange (42G:SI), announces they have 
adopted the Sarine Profile™ diamond display paradigm, including 
Sarine's unique light performance grading, for Love & Co., their 
bridal specialist brand, and will launch the Sarine Profile™ as a 
cornerstone of their in-store and online customer experience.

Sarine announces that it has developed new and groundbreaking 
technology that will provide automated, objective and consistent 
inclusion mapping in polished diamonds and Clarity grading – a 
first for the diamond industry, as well as a system for automated 
objective and consistent Color grading. 

Sarine ends the year with record deliveries of 84 Galaxy® family 
inclusion mapping systems, bringing its Galaxy® installed base, as 
of 31 December 2016, to 299.

2015
Sarine shares held by founding entities are distributed vertically 
to next level, without effecting any change in beneficial holdings. 
Similarly, no change in directors’ beneficial holdings was affected.

HRD Antwerp, the leading Belgian gemmological laboratory owned 
and operated by the Antwerp World Diamond Center (AWDC), and 
Sarine announce plans to facilitate interoperability between Sarine’s 
Advisor® diamond planning software and HRD Antwerp’s EOS Fancy 
bruting and girdling (i.e., shaping) systems.

Gemological Science International (GSI) adopts Sarine’s 
DiaMension® Axiom as a high-end proportion measuring system. 

Gemological Institute of America (GIA) verifies Sarine’s DiaMension® 
Axiom’s unmatched accuracy as per announced specifications and 
adopts Instructor® as a standard software package for polished 
diamond proportion measuring and Cut grade derivation.

Sarine pioneers the Sarine Profile™, offering succinct image and 
video information of a diamond's quality and beauty, to enable 
online transactions with a completely new level of confidence and 
cost effectiveness, and enhancing the in-store buying experience 
by empowering the consumer to make a truly informed decision. 
Sarine Profile™ allows jewellery chains to offer any stone from their 
entire (virtual) inventory, regardless of its availability in a specific 
outlet. The Sarine Profile™ is unique in that it allows each retailer, 
whether online or brick and mortar, to select its preferred imagery 
from a toolbox of options including the various levels of imagery 
produced by the Sarine Loupe™, light performance grading and 
video generated by the Sarine Light™, hearts and arrows graphics, 
Cut proportions graphics, laser inscription viewing and the like.

Sarine Loupe™ service centres open in Los Angeles and Hong Kong 
in collaboration with Brink’s Global Services.

Sarine celebrates 10 million stones being scanned by its Galaxy® 
inclusion mapping solution since the system’s introduction in 2009.

Sarine releases the Advisor® 6.0 planning software, with additional 
features and a new level of intellectual property protection based on 
the utilisation of cloud architecture, constituting an additional layer 
in the penetration barrier to would-be competition to our industry-
leading rough diamond processing solutions. 

Sarine launches the Meteor™ small stone inclusion mapping system, 
for stones ranging from 20 to 89 points, an addressable segment 
of some 50 million stones annually, capable of almost double the 
throughput of previously introduced inclusion mapping systems of 
the Galaxy® family.

2014
The English spelling of the Company’s name is corrected to Sarine 
Technologies Ltd.

Sarine launches the Instructor® 3.0, a new and significantly 
enhanced version of its polished-diamond quality assurance and 
polishing process control software. The new software runs on 
Sarine’s rough and polished diamond modeling platforms and 
significantly improves the accuracy of polished diamond modeling, 
in particular for fancy-shaped diamonds, and the tools provided for 
in-process polishing decisions.

Sarine launches the Quazer® 3, offering a completely new control 
system with unique advantages, including an enhanced fully 
automated pie cutting feature, facilitating accurate sawing of highly 
advanced sawing profiles. The Quazer® 3 supersedes the original 
Quazer® and second generation Quazer® II, introduced in 2005 and 
2010 respectively, both based on green laser technology, which 
themselves pioneered multiple breakthroughs in the sawing, cutting 
and shaping of rough diamonds and became the de-facto standard 
high-end market-leading solutions.

Rapaport’s RapNet® industry-leading web-based platform selects 
our subsidiary’s Sarine Loupe™ as first de-facto standard imaging 
system and provides enhanced seamless integration to the Sarine 
Loupe™ imagery to empower online trade.

DiaMension® Axiom’s accuracy is verified by Tiffany & Co, and 
selected to formalise Tiffany’s new and more robust standards of 
Symmetry. In 2012 Tiffany challenged Sarine to measure the facet 
symmetry features of a polished diamond with unprecedented high 
accuracy, as previously these features could not be determined by 
any existing device and were manually evaluated by gemmologists 
using microscopes. Sarine’s DiaMension® Axiom thus sets a new 
bar for polished diamond analysis and grading.

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd. launches Real View, an upgrade 
to the Sarine Loupe™, adding a stunning rendition of the polished 
diamond’s actual appearance. The enhanced Sarine Loupe™ 
comprises three complementary layers of imaging. The first 
provides a dazzling presentation of the diamond’s appearance (Real 
View), the second a table-only view of the diamond, as inspected 
when using an actual physical loupe (Top Inspection), and the 
third shows minute details of the diamond’s Cut workmanship and 
internal Clarity characteristics (3-D Inspection).

Sarine North America Inc., Sarine’s wholly-owned US subsidiary, 
opens a Sarine Loupe™ service centre for diamond imaging at its 
offices in New York’s Diamond District on 47th Street.

2013
Sarine launches the DiaExpert® Atom rough planning and marking 
system for the smallest of rough diamonds – 0.01 through 0.27 
carats in size, which offers higher processing speeds and more 
competitive pricing than the DiaExpert® Nano system, launched in 
late 2007.

Sarine’s wholly-owned US-based subsidiaries close on the purchase 
of approximately 500 square meters of office in the new International 
Gem Tower in New York City (on 47th Street - Diamond Way) for the 
Group’s North American base.
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Sarine Color Technologies Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Sarine, launches the Sarine Light™ with launch customer CIMA, one 
of Japan’s leading bridal diamond jewellery chains with nearly 60 
outlets nationwide, for certification of the light performance of all its 
solitaire diamonds measuring one quarter carat and up.

Galatea introduces the Galaxy® Ultra system for the inclusion 
scanning of a rough diamond at microscope level magnification. 
The Ultra enables the detection of inclusions with single-micron 
resolution, including the detection of clouds of inclusions of single 
micron size, to determine whether a user can achieve an Internally 
Flawless (IF) Clarity grade.

2012
Sarine launches the Diamond Assay Service (DAS), an online 
subscription service for diamond wholesalers, retailers and 
appraisers, to automatically appraise polished diamonds and their 
potential for re-cutting and re-polishing so as to derive greater value.

Galatea launches the Galaxy® XL system, doubling the size of rough 
diamonds that can be scanned for internal inclusion mapping 
purposes to 32mm, allowing rough diamonds weighing up to 200+ 
(record 220) carats to be processed.

The Gemological Institute of America (GIA) concludes that the 
DiaMension® HD (High Definition) has the necessary accuracy and 
repeatability to be used to evaluate symmetry. The GIA found that 
“[the] DiaMension® HD tested by GIA, demonstrated an apt capacity 
to deliver accurate and repeatable symmetry results” and that 
“improvements in the operation and accuracy … now enable us to 
also measure … symmetry parameters during the grading process”.
Sarin Technologies India Private Limited purchases land measuring 
approximately 2,400 square meters in Surat, Gujarat, India for its new 
facilities for customer service and technical support and training, as 
well as its service centres and other logistics infrastructure.

Sarine launches the Advisor® 5.0 version of its best-selling rough-
diamond planning software to further improve the value of the 
polished diamonds derivable from the rough raw material and the 
software’s productivity and ease of operation.

2011
The American Gem Society Laboratory (“AGSL”) concludes an 
evaluation of the DiaMension® HD and, based on the system’s 
superior performance in 3D modeling of polished diamonds, 
decides to augment its existing DiaMension® systems with the 
newer HD model. 

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Sarine, debuts its light performance system, the Sarine Light™, 
which quantifies a polished diamond’s appearance by accurately 
measuring its light performance characteristics.

Sarine launches the DiaMark® HD system, equipped with a super-
fine laser, complementing the DiaMension® HD and Instructor®.

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Sarine, 
acquires the D-See technology, a revolutionary imaging method 
to capture realistic, accurate and objective imagery of a polished 
diamond, including its internal features. Derived from this technology, 
the Sarine Loupe™ system enables the electronic transmission of 
comprehensive imagery from seller to buyer, providing a means to 
truly assess a polished diamond from a multitude of angles and at 
various magnifications without having it physically in hand.

2010 
The Gemological Institute of America (GIA) concludes an in-
depth comparative evaluation between their internal methods 
of round brilliant diamond Cut grade determination and Sarine’s 
implementation of the Facetware® database in Sarine’s measuring 
systems, which shows highly compatible results between the two 

methods. Following on this achievement, GIA also concluded an 
initial evaluation of the DiaMension® HD system and commenced 
the phased upgrading of their existing DiaMension® systems to the 
newer HD product.

Sarine launches the DiaExpert® Nano 6.5 for the fast processing 
of small rough diamonds from 0.15 to 0.70 carats in weight, an 
enhanced model of the DiaExpert® Nano, introduced in 2007, for 
slightly larger small stones.

Galatea Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Sarine, launches the 
Solaris™ 100 inclusion mapping system for smaller rough diamonds 
from 0.9 to 2.5 carats in weight, based on the same technology 
utilised in the Galaxy® 1000 system, to offer customers who 
specialise in smaller sized rough diamonds the same benefits of the 
Galaxy® system in a more cost-effective package.

Sarine launches the Strategist® saw-plane planning system, which 
integrates the rough planning, and, specifically, its saw-plane 
planning process, and the actual Quazer® sawing process, into a 
computer controlled and coordinated process, to help avoid sawing 
perils such as cracks, fissures and bubbles, and allowing for a safer 
and higher yield laser cutting plan.

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Sarine, acquires light performance technology (LPT) from Overseas 
Diamonds Technology.

2009
Galatea Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sarine, launches the 
Galaxy® 1000 and 2000 systems for the automated inclusion 
mapping of rough diamonds. These systems revolutionise the 
planning and production of diamonds by allowing complete 
optimisation based on Clarity as well as Carat weight and Cut, a 
leap forward from the DiaExpert® Eye. Service centres are opened in 
India and Israel, in which the technology is offered for use at a low 
carat-based fee. An initial system is delivered to a launch customer 
towards year’s end.

Sarine launches the Instructor®, a new software package that runs 
on our polished diamond measuring equipment (DiaMension®, 
DiaMension® Lab Edition, DiaMension® HD and DiaScan® S+), for 
improving the yield and assuring the quality manufacturers can 
attain while polishing diamonds.

Sarine launches the DiaMension® HD, an advanced high-precision 
system, offering even more accurate 3D modelling for the 
measurement of polished and semi-polished diamonds. The 
precise 3D model allows users to evaluate not only the diamond’s 
proportions, but also the stone’s symmetry – including “naturals”, 
facet misalignments, facet junctures, extra facets, and other fine 
cut and symmetry parameters.

2008
Sarine acquires 100% of the issued share capital of Galatea Ltd., 
which then becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. At 
the time of the acquisition, Galatea was in the final testing stages 
of an automatic inclusion (Clarity) mapping system for rough 
diamonds, which is later known as the Galaxy® system.

Sarine acquires 23% of IDEX Online SA, an operator of a B2B 
polished diamond traders’ network, a web portal for news, analyses 
and polished diamond price indices and publisher of a leading trade 
magazine. Shortly after the acquisition, IDEX Online launches an 
attempt to create a polished diamond spot market.

2007
Sarine introduces DiaExpert® Eye for the semi-automated inclusion 
charting of rough diamonds, supporting the need for considering 
inclusions (Clarity) in the planning and production of diamonds.
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After Sarine evaluates the important market niche of small stone 
manufacturers, the DiaExpert® Nano, a unique product for the 
planning and marking of small stones, is launched.

2006
Sarine Color Technologies Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Sarine, introduces Colibri™. Colibri™ is a state-of-the-art colour 
grading product for polished diamonds, which calculates and 
grades the colour of the diamond as well as its fluorescence.

The Group’s subsidiaries, GCI and Romedix, are renamed Sarine 
Color Technologies Limited and Sarine Polishing Technologies 
Limited, respectively. New subsidiaries, Sarin Hong Kong Limited 
and SUSNY LLC, are established.

2005
Sarine launches the Quazer® advanced green-laser system for 
sawing, cutting and shaping diamonds, establishing a new product 
line and climbing another rung on the ladder towards being a one-
stop shop for the diamond manufacturing industry.

We introduce Facetware®, a software upgrade product for the 
Company’s DiaMension® and DiaExpert® product lines (and 
installed base), for the analysis of a polished stone’s Cut grade, in 
cooperation with the Gemological Institute of America (GIA).

8 APRIL 2005 Sarine Technologies Ltd is listed on the Mainboard of 
the Singapore Exchange.

2004
Sarin Technologies India Private Limited is incorporated as a wholly- 
owned subsidiary in India. Sarin India provides pre-sale, post-sale 
and technical support services to our Group’s customers in India, 
Sri Lanka, and neighbouring countries, supplanting our dependence 
on a local distributor.

2001
Sarine acquires the entire share capital of Gran Computer Industries 
(subsequently renamed to Sarine Color Technologies Ltd.), a 
private company incorporated in Israel. The company develops, 
manufactures and markets devices for the identification and 
classification of a diamond’s colour.

2000
Sarine introduces the patented DiaMark®. This product allows the 
DiaExpert® product to automatically inscribe, using laser markings 
on the rough stone’s surface, the optimal sawing plane suggested 
by the DiaExpert® and accepted by the user, making the utilisation 
of the planning solution by the actual stone cutting artisans more 
reliable.

1996
Sarine introduces the use of laser scanning in order to create 
three-dimensional concave modelling of rough stones. The ability 
to accurately complement our modelling with the rough stone’s 
concavities provides the user with a complete and accurate model 
of the rough stone. This feature is complementary to, and increases 
the effectiveness of, the DiaExpert®.

1995
Sarine develops the DiaExpert®, an automated computerised 
planning system for the maximum utilisation of rough stones. 
The diamond manufacturing industry is revolutionised by the 
introduction of this computer-based technology which substitutes 
person-based expertise, and thus contributes to the geographic 
shift of the diamond industry to new centres of manufacture such 
as India, PRC and Africa.

1994
The Company is renamed Sarin Technologies Ltd.

1992
The DiaMension®, a pioneering grading product for determining 
the Cut of polished diamonds, is introduced - an automated 
computerised product for accurately assessing a diamond’s 
proportions, the key parameter in the grading of a diamond’s 
Cut. A significant advancement for the diamond industry, the 
DiaMension® changed the way polished diamonds are bought and 
sold by providing the first-ever accurate means of measuring the 
proportions and deriving the Cut grade.

1989
Our Company changes its name to Sarin Research, Development 
and Manufacture (1988) Ltd.

1988
Our first product, the Robogem™, an automated production system 
for producing polished gemstones from rough gemstones, is 
launched. Robogem™ was sold in limited numbers to semi-precious 
gemstone manufacturers in Israel, Europe and the Far East (India 
and Myanmar).

8 NOVEMBER 1988 Our Company is incorporated in Israel as a 
private company limited by shares under the Companies Ordinance 
(New Version) 1983 of Israel, under the name of Borimer Limited. 
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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT

"We ended 2020 profitably, 
notwithstanding the 
challenging worldwide 
economic business 
conditions, for which 
our management 
deserves full 
credit!"

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Putting 2020 in Perspective while Looking Ahead to 2021

Well, 2020 certainly was not the year we expected it to be! 

The year actually started with positive sentiment, following the challenges our industry had faced from the second half of 2018 through the 
third quarter of 2019.  A sharp drop of some 40% in DeBeers' sights' volumes coupled with rough price reductions in late 2019 eased excess 
inventories, and the industry value chain stabilised during the fourth quarter holiday season of 2019. With the easing in inventory overhang, 
working capital issues in the midstream manufacturing segment of the diamond industry value chain also eased. The Group thus started 
2020 on a positive note. Indeed, we realised increased revenues from all product lines, including delivery of a record 50 Galaxy® family 
systems in the first quarter of 2020, and finished the quarter very profitably. 

And then the outbreak of the Covid-19 coronavirus started impacting business. Initially restricted to China, the lockdowns there somewhat 
disrupted supply of some of our components. More importantly, the efforts in China to contain the virus shut down retail activity, effectively 
eliminating the key Chinese New Year buying season, which in a normal year might have had a ripple effect throughout the value chain. But as 
the pandemic spread elsewhere, lockdowns became the norm globally, severely impairing retail activity on a rolling basis from east to west 
and all but shutting down entire economies worldwide in the second quarter. In India, lockdowns effectively shuttered all midstream polishing 
activity from late March through June, with lingering restrictions continuing into July. This, coupled with travel restrictions, effectively 
curtailed the usual cycles of rough stone buying for much of the year, reducing the number of rough stones entering the pipeline by some 
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30%. Towards year's end, governments eased restrictions and retail 
activity in general recovered, particularly so leading up to the year-
end holiday season. This drove a very strong fourth quarter recovery 
in the diamond industry, especially so in the midstream, which went 
into overdrive in an effort to replenish depleted polished inventories 
and meet wholesale and retail demand. Notwithstanding this late-
year recovery, for the first time since 2009, luxury spending in 
general decreased in 2020 by over 20%, including diamond jewellery 
sales, which retracted from sales nearing US$ 80 billion annually to 
an estimated US$ 62-63 billion. 

Faced with these stark realities, the Group's management took 
decisive actions in the second quarter to significantly cut expenses, 
making avail of Israeli government support where possible. The main 
cost-cutting measures were the cessation of virtually all marketing 
and manufacturing activities (there was no one to sell anything to, 
anyway) and the furloughing of non-essential employees (the Israeli 
government paid them relief pay directly), along with staggered 
pay reductions for all other employees, compensated for by option 
grants. Though the second quarter resulted in a very substantial burn 
of cash and a less substantial loss, due to the inertia of the business 
cycle (e.g., taking delivery of orders placed in the first quarter), the 
profit from the first quarter was sufficient to result in a profitable first 
half year. We also took advantage of Israeli government guaranteed 
Covid-19 relief loans on very favorable terms to augment our cash 
reserves. The third quarter played out quite well, bearing in mind the 
prevailing negative business conditions, ending with a very minimal 
loss and a still negative cash flow, but much less than in the second 
quarter. With the robust industry recovery in the fourth quarter, our 
business improved substantially and we returned to profitability and 
significant positive cash flow, even though our capital equipment 
sales were still lagging. We ended 2020 profitably, notwithstanding 
the challenging worldwide economic business conditions, for which 
our management deserves full credit!

During 2020, notwithstanding the 30% decrease in rough stones 
entering the pipeline, we scanned a new record of just under 19 
million stones through our installed base of Galaxy® inclusion 
mapping systems, 5% more than our record performance in 2019. 
During 2020 we delivered 76 Galaxy® family systems to customers, 
mostly Meteor™ (15) and Meteorite™ (50) models, but also 6 
Solaris™ systems and 5 Galaxy® machines. This is just over half the 
previous year's delivery of 145 systems, the decrease being directly 
attributable to the Covid-19 pandemic disruption. The Group had an 
installed base of 631 Galaxy® family systems as of 31 December 
2020. Following the midstream's fourth quarter robust recovery, and 
carrying on into the initial months of 2021, we have seen utilisation 
of our installed base of scanning systems surge 40% over pre-
pandemic usage to a run rate equating, on an annualised basis, 
27 million stones, with daily peaks of 100,000 stones. To further 
fuel this growth in 2021, we have launched aggressive marketing 
offerings with exceptionally attractive terms targeted for specific 
sub-segments of the midstream. Our new marketing promotions 
are aimed at enabling smaller businesses to acquire our systems 
on extremely cost-effective terms - e.g., a package specifically 
offered to polishers of very small stones a tenth of a carat rough 
and under. We expect these promotions will drive significant sales 
of our Meteorite™ and Meteor™ systems. We are also launching 
an aggressive new initiative aimed at reestablishing substantial 
demand for our Solaris™ model for mid-sized rough stones (from 1 
to 2 carats in weight). 

We estimate that during 2020, again close to a hundred million 
stones were planned utilising our DiaExpert® family of planning 
platforms and our Advisor® software, of which over 60 million 
stones were planned on systems running the online Advisor® 6.0/7.0 
software. This is key as these systems provide the data, which 
are directly retrievable for our unique Sarine Diamond Journey™ 
verifiable provenance/traceability offering. We will continue to 
leverage our technological lead and widen the gap between the 
older discontinued planning software (Advisor® 5.x), which is that 
being infringed upon by the illicit competition. The new Advisor® 
8.0 with enhanced features and superior infringement protection 
will be launched during the year. In addition, we are leveraging our 
best-in-class provenance/traceability solution, the Sarine Diamond 

Journey™, and its expanding adoption by producers and retailers 
alike, as detailed below, to induce midstream players to upgrade to 
our newer solutions. All these steps should continue to contribute to 
the curtailment of the IP piracy in India.

In 2020 we broadened our cooperation with the mining/producing 
upstream of the diamond industry. Our cooperation with Dominion 
Diamond Mines ULC (“Dominion”), Canada’s largest independent 
diamond producer, who were first to adopt our Sarine Diamond 
Journey™ for their enhanced CanadaMark™, has, regrettably, not 
expanded, due to their having sought bankruptcy protection as 
their financial condition worsened during the pandemic. However, 
our collaboration with Lucara, a Canadian miner operating in 
Botswana, renowned for their finds of extremely large rough 
diamonds, has broadened. Beyond providing the rough diamond 
evaluation technology on which the supply side of their Clara 
initiative is based (technology also adopted by Grib, a smaller 
Russian producer), in 2020 Lucara also adopted our Sarine Diamond 
Journey™ to provide verifiable provenance documentation for their 
Clara diamonds. Most importantly, our relationship with Alrosa has 
bloomed. Alrosa's digital tenders initiative, based on our Galaxy® 
and Advisor® technologies, was launched late in 2019, uncannily 
timely right before the pandemic outbreak all but prevented the 
sales of rough diamonds through conventional channels. This 
initiative significantly expanded in 2020, both in the quantities 
and in the size ranges of rough stones tendered by Alrosa, and is 
expected to double in volume in 2021. During 2020 Alrosa partnered 
with Sarine in offering retailers and midstream polishers alike the 
Sarine Diamond Journey™, as a preferred solution for provenance 
and traceability. We have initiated dialogs with additional producers, 
who are now in various stages of evaluating both our rough diamond 
evaluation / digital tenders technology and our unique provenance/
traceability solutions, some already having run successful pilot 
programmes. We expect to be able to announce more on these 
collaborations as 2021 unfolds.  

The Sarine Diamond Journey™ is indeed gaining recognition as the 
industry's most robust solution for polished diamonds provenance 
and traceability documentation. Leveraging on our aforementioned 
growing partnering with producers, as well as on the near-ubiquitous 
utilisation of our industry-leading technologies in the diamond 
industry's midstream, wherein the rough stone is transformed 
into a polished one, we have the unique ability to provide an actual 
verifiable testimonial of the polished stone's derivation, with no 
need to resort to subjective declaratory input. Critically, this is 
done with minimal disruption to the work-flow, causing virtually 
no indirect additional cost and overhead, making it a winning 
proposition. The Sarine Diamond Journey™ concurrently provides 
a captivating video imagery paradigm for showing the consumer 
the entire actual process that his/her very own diamond underwent. 
It can optionally be augmented with a real 3D-printed model of 
the original rough stone for the consumer's fascination. High-
end retailers with a global presence and regional market leaders 
have expressed interest in our unique offering, and successful 
pilot programmes were, indeed, concluded in 2020. Unfortunately, 
additional pilot tests were delayed by the pandemic, though we fully 
expect them to come to fruition in 2021. Retailers in China, Japan, 
other APAC markets and the U.S. have adopted the story-telling facet 
of our Sarine Diamond Journey™ paradigm. 2021 will see leading 
retailers offering the provenance and traceability aspects of the 
Sarine Diamond Journey™ as well. These developments are driving 
midstream suppliers to join our Sarine Diamond Journey™ Official 
Partner Program. They opt to enable us to collect the necessary 
data and imagery during the stone's manufacture and to store them 
in our cloud-based repository. This shortens their response time to 
a retail customer's request to adopt the Sarine Diamond Journey™ 
service. Notably, this process incurs no direct cost and virtually no 
indirect cost to our midstream partners, while creating new sales 
channel opportunities for them. We are remunerated when the 
actual Sarine Diamond Journey™ report is generated at the retailer's 
request. The Sarine Diamond Journey™ may be further augmented 
by our proprietary technologies for “fingerprinting” the polished 
stone, which can easily be ascertained in the retail outlet by our 
TruMatch™ device. 
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Intellectual Property (IP) Infringement
Although the Covid-19 pandemic triggered closures of patent offices 
and courts in various geographies throughout the year, as well as 
causing periodic delays in administrative functions, the Company 
experienced only minor disruptions regarding its ongoing efforts to 
protect and enforce its intellectual property rights. The Company 
filed new patent and divisional applications in various countries 
including Israel, India and the United States, and received grants of 
already pending applications. The enforcement activities against 
the infringements of the Company's technology suffered only 
minor delays, and we were able to instigate new lawsuits in India 
and in Israel against infringing products. The courts in India widely 
adopted the use of video conferencing to hold hearings and move 
matters forward, and our primary lawsuits have progressed quite 
satisfactorily. We expect the courts to render decisions on several 
matters within a few months.

However, we are not only relying on judicial recourse or other 
third-party intervention. We are also leveraging the numerous 
technological and commercial advantages we have. The Advisor® 
version that the infringing parties are using is over five years old, 
while as the newer Advisor® 7.0 release, soon to be replaced by 
Advisor® 8.0, offers incomparably better planning, especially critical 
for larger, high-value stones. We are also leveraging our expanding 
relationships with major producers and retailers, primarily as 
relating to the digital tenders and the Sarine Diamond Journey™, 
to include in the Official Partner Program only suppliers who have 
upgraded to Advisor® 7.0 and are not involved in IP infringement. 
As a further impediment to our illicit competition, we are continuing 
and broadening our aggressive sales promotions of the Solaris™, 
Meteor™ and Meteorite™ systems, so as to tailor cost-effective 
business models to all sizes and types of polishers.

Dividend
The Board of Directors has recommended that a final dividend of 
US 0.5 cent per ordinary share (approximately US$ 1.75 million) be 
distributed for FY2020. This sum is in line with our net profit generated 
this year and demonstrates the Board’s and Management’s faith in 
the Group's business recovery and the new initiatives' potential as 
future growth drivers.

Acknowledgements
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to first and foremost 
thank our truly devoted management team and employees for their 
ongoing support of and commitment to the Group. Without this 
commitment we could not have weathered the Covid-19 pandemic 
afflicted 2020 as successfully as we have. We would also like to 
thank our loyal customers and business partners who enhanced 
their level of partnership with us this past year, as well as our 
conscientious suppliers, who worked with us during these trying 
times, often spreading the pain between our Group and themselves. 
We believe that these long-term relationships will continue to foster 
the means by which we will bring innovation and value to the global 
rough and polished diamond trade in 2021 and beyond, as we strive 
to continue to launch initiatives that benefit all the industry’s value 
chain and its global consumers. Lastly, I thank our loyal shareholders 
for the continued trust they extend to Sarine and its management.

Respectfully Yours,

Daniel Benjamin Glinert
Executive Chairman of the Board 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
During 2020 we further refined our AI-based polished diamonds 
grading capabilities. We continued our long-term collaboration with 
China's leading gemmological institute, the National Gemstone 
Testing Centre (NGTC). This collaboration's initial outcome was 
the launch of a new light performance grading standard for 
China. In 2021 we intend to continue our cooperation as per the 
framework agreement signed in 2019, including issues pertaining 
to our automated AI-based 4Cs grading, our polished diamond 
fingerprinting and the general issue of digitising information 
relating to polished diamonds for more ubiquitous dissemination 
to consumers. Additional customers are also adopting our 
technology-driven 4Cs grading solution, including, as an example, 
Japan's  major television retailer QVC. We are continuing our longer-
term effort to be able to provide advanced fine-sorting of Clarity and 
Color per varied retailer-specific requirements. We expect an initial 
version of fine-sorting on a number of parameters to be launched 
later in 2021. 

Most excitingly, in 2020 we announced our new e-Grading™ initiative 
- our intent to revolutionise the way polished diamond grading is 
done. e-Grading™ is a time-saving cost-cutting on-site solution 
for 4Cs grading, without necessitating the time-consuming and 
costly process of going offsite to a gemmoligical laboratory. The 
systems utilised for the grading process are all cloud linked and the 
grading results are automatically uploaded to the cloud. Thus, the 
4Cs grading results are derived without any human intervention and 
immediately available for online B2B access and subsequent B2C 
consumer report generation. Our new grading paradigm enables 
truly objective and consistent grading at a fraction of the time 
currently required (measured in minutes to hours vs. days to weeks) 
and with none of the indirect costs of shipping, insurance, customs 
handling, etc. associated with having the grading done at an external 
lab. Furthermore, as our e-Grading™ paradigm is implemented by 
the manufacturer's own personnel, with no need for highly skilled 
gemmologists, most likely the direct cost will also be reduced 
compared to that commonly paid to a lab, today often on a par with 
the overall cost of polishing the stone(!). e-Grading™ also offers 
a completely new level of operational flexibility, as the polishers 
can prioritise their stones' sequence of grading to best meet their 
delivery schedules. Late in 2020 we began initial beta-testing of 
this new concept in India. The first half of 2021 will be dedicated to 
the ongoing refinement of the solution and implementation of the 
necessary operational cloud infrastructure. Broader introduction to 
midstream polishers is scheduled for later in 2021. 

Lastly, the continued market acceptance of lab-grown diamond 
(LGD) jewellery in 2020, with nearly half of polled retailers in the U.S. 
intending to offer LGD jewellery alongside their natural diamond 
offerings in 2021, has created, as we have in the past professed, 
a new opportunity for the Group. We have demonstrated that the 
Galaxy® inclusion mapping and Advisor® planning technologies can 
contribute to the optimal utilisation of the manufactured LGD raw 
material. We are now complementing the Galaxy® software with 
pattern recognition capabilities, in order to automatically discern 
between natural and LGD rough material and automatically adjust 
the billing for the scanning service. Our Quazer® 3 has proven to 
be the most cost-effective offering for dicing the LGD wafer into 
the cubes from which the gems are polished. And our AI-based 
e-Grading™ is especially applicable to LGD grading, as it allows 
grading of the less expensive finished LGD gem at a much more 
affordable cost than that charged for grading services by common 
gemmological laboratories. In addition, e-Grading™ also lends 
itself conceptually to LGD grading – a stone created by technology 
should naturally be graded by technology. We will in 2021 extend 
our efforts to penetrate this rapidly growing market and are already 
evaluating possible partnering with leading players in this new 
industry segment.
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DANIEL BENJAMIN GLINERT
Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
Daniel Benjamin Glinert has been an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Group 
since 1999 and is a member of the Nomination Committee. He is also a Director in the Group’s 
subsidiaries Galatea, Sarine Color Technologies, Sarine Polishing Technologies, Sarin India, Sarin 
Hong Kong, Sarine Holdings USA, Sarine North America and Sarine IGT 10H, Sarine IGT 10I and 
Sarine IGT 10JKL. Mr. Glinert holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Sciences (cum laude) from the 
Technion - Israel Institute of Technology. He has just under 50 years of experience in various high-
technology industries (military, semiconductor, medical and industrial applications) in research, 
development and management positions in Israel and the USA. Mr. Glinert founded Interhightech 
Ltd. (then named TICI Software Systems, Ltd.), a founding shareholder of the Sarine Group, in 
1982 and was its CEO and then Chairman since its inception. Prior to that, from 1977 through 1982 
Mr. Glinert worked for E-Systems Inc. (now a division of Raytheon) in the U.S. on a development 
programme for the Israel Air Force, which was awarded the prestigious Israel Defence Award. From 
1972 to 1977 Mr. Glinert served in the Israel Air Force and attained the rank of Major.

AVRAHAM ESHED
Non-Executive Director
Avraham Eshed is a Non-Executive Director of the Group, having been appointed to the Board in April 
2006. Between 2010 and 2014 Mr. Eshed was an Executive Director of the Group. Mr. Eshed has over 
50 years of experience in the diamond and gemstone industries. He is the founder of Gemstar Ltd. 
and Eshed Diam Ltd., and serves as the President of both companies. Mr. Eshed is also a founding 
member of the International Colored Gemstone Association (ICA), where he served as a Director. 
He was President of the Israel Emerald Cutters Association and the Vice President of the Israel 
Diamond Manufacturers Association (IsDMA) as well as a member of its Executive Committee. Mr. 
Eshed has been recognised as an outstanding exporter by the State of Israel and was presented with 
awards by President Ephraim Katzir in 1977 and again in 1989 by President Chaim Herzog. In 2011 
he was recognised and cited as an outstanding exporter to Asia. In 2019 he was recognised as an 
Israel Diamond Industry Dignitary by the Israel Diamond Manufacturers Association for his life-long 
contribution to the industry.

UZI LEVAMI
Non-Executive Director
Uzi Levami is a Non-Executive Director of the Group, as of January 2018, and is a member of the 
Remuneration Committee. Prior to that he had been an Executive Director since December 2008 
and was CEO of the Group from February 2009 through April 2017. He is also a Director in the 
Group’s subsidiary Sarin Hong Kong. Mr. Levami completed his studies towards a Master’s degree 
in Computer Sciences from the Weizmann Institute of Science and holds a Bachelor’s degree in 
Electrical Engineering (cum laude) from the Technion - Israel Institute of Technology. He is one of 
the original founders of Sarine and has a long history of founding high-tech companies - Compulite 
Ltd., Shalev Computer Systems Ltd. and EquipNet Ltd., a start-up spin-off of Interhightech (1982) 
Ltd. Prior to serving as CEO of the Group, Mr. Levami held the position of Director of Business 
Development at MKS Instruments Inc., a publicly-traded US company supplying in excess of $700M 
of capital equipment to the semiconductor industry, after the company he founded, EquipNet Ltd., 
was acquired by MKS. In 1992, while at Shalev Computer Systems, Mr. Levami was personally 
awarded the prestigious Israel Defence Award by then President Chaim Herzog for his endeavours 
on a development project for the Israel Defence Forces. From 1973 to 1980 Mr. Levami served in the 
Israel Army Intelligence Corps and attained the rank of Major.

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

NOTE: - In June 2020, at the virtual Annual General Meeting postponed from April due to the Covid-19 pandemic circumstances, Chan Kam Loon, Yehezkel 
Pinhas Blum and Valerie Ong Choo Lin stepped down from our Board of Directors, after having served as Independent Directors since March 2005. We salute 
and thank them for their long fruitful years of service to the Group.

VARDA SHINE
Lead Independent Director
Ms. Varda Shine is an Independent Director of the Group, having been appointed to the Board in April 
2017. As of Ms. Shine's reelection to the Board in June 2020, she also serves as the Lead Independent 
Director and is the Chairperson of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit and 
Nomination Committees. Ms. Shine has had a career spanning over 30 years in the diamond industry 
at De Beers, culminating with her serving from 2006 through 2014 as the CEO of De Beers' Diamond 
Trading Company, the arm of De Beers which is responsible for the sale of the majority of its rough 
diamonds (US$ 5-6 billion annually) through the sightholder paradigm. During her tenure at DeBeers, 
she attended courses in Advanced Management at Templeton, Oxford, and Marketing Channels at 
Insead. Ms. Shine currently serves as a Board member of the Mineral Development Company of the 
Government of Botswana and as the Senior Independent Director on the Board of Petra Diamonds 
PLC. She is also a Board member and executive mentor at Merryck & Co., working with C-suite 
executives of listed companies, a director at Niron Ltd., a private company, and is the CEO of her own 
company, Sky Ink Ltd., which counsels businesses from concept development through to execution 
and commercialisation. In addition, Ms. Shine is a Trustee of the Teenage Cancer Trust (UK).

NETA ZRUYA HASHAI
Independent Director
Ms. Hashai was elected to our Board of Directors as an Independent Director and appointed 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee and Member of the Remuneration Committee in June 2020. Prior 
to joining our Board, Ms. Hashai served, commencing 2000, as an Audit Partner at Price Waterhouse 
Coopers (PWC) Israel and audited firms publicly traded on the U.S. and Israeli exchanges, as well 
as Israeli subsidiaries of international companies and domestic private firms from many varied 
sectors, including bio-technology and life sciences, industrial manufacturing, retail, finance and 
holding companies. Ms. Hashai has performed these audits in accordance with IFRS, US GAAP 
and US / Israel SOX standards. Ms. Hashai has also worked on IPOs of equity and debt issuances. 
From 2012 through 2018, Ms. Hashai also served as the CEO of PWC Israel’s Trust Company. As 
of January 2021 Ms Hashai serves as the Chief Financial Officer of Raphael Hospitals Ltd., a new 
private hospital organisation in Israel specialising in surgical procedures in various disciplines. Ms. 
Hashai holds a BA in Accounting and Communications and an MBA in Finance Management, both 
from Tel Aviv University, and is a Certified Public Accountant (Israel).

LIM YONG SHENG
Independent Director
Mr. Lim was elected to our Board of Directors as an Independent Director and appointed a Member 
of the Audit and Nominating Committees in June 2020. Mr. Lim is Group Chief Executive Officer 
and an Executive Director of SK Jewellery Group Ltd., a leading Singaporean retail jewellery chain 
with over 60 branches across Singapore, China and Malaysia. Mr. Lim Yong Sheng is one of the 
group's founders, and has been the group's CEO since 2015. Since the group's establishment, Mr. 
Lim has been a critical contributor to the group's growth and continued success. As group CEO, he is 
responsible for the overall strategic planning, management, and business development of the group, 
monitoring the development and performance of the group's operations, driving the operational 
efficiency of the group's work processes, and identifying new opportunities for the group's 
expansion. In particular, the group's brand management and marketing strategy are spearheaded by 
Mr. Lim. Mr. Lim is also a non-executive director of the MoneyMax Financial Group, which is listed 
on the Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange. Mr. Lim holds a Bachelor of Science in Electrical 
Engineering from the National University of Singapore. 

SIN BOON ANN
Independent Director
Mr. Sin was elected to our Board of Directors as an Independent Director and appointed Chairperson 
of the Nominating Committee and Member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees in June 
2020. Mr. Sin has had a legal career in Singapore spanning over 30 years. From 1992 through 2018 
he was with Drew & Napier, one of Singapore's leading legal firms, becoming a partner in 1994. 
Prior to his retirement in 2018, he was the Deputy Managing Director of the Corporate & Finance 
Department and the Co-head of the Capital Markets Practice in Drew & Napier LLC. He has been 
prolific in handling corporate finance transactions, particularly in the area of initial public offerings 
in Singapore. He has also acted as counsel to listed companies on secondary equity offerings 
and debt offerings and has advised companies on regulatory compliance. He also specialised in 
mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Sin is recognised in industry publications as an industry leader and 
for his expertise in capital markets. Between 1996 and 2011 Mr. Sin was a member of the Singapore 
Parliament representing the Tampines GRC. Principle 4 of the Corporate Governance section lists all
of Mr. Sin's other directorships. Mr. Sin holds a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Law (Cum Laude)
both from the National University in Singapore, and a Masters of Law from the University of London.
He is admitted to practice law in Singapore.
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DAVID BLOCK is the Group’s CEO as of May 2017. He is a Director in the Group’s subsidiaries, 
Galatea, Sarin India, Sarine Color Technologies, Sarine Polishing Technologies, Sarine Hong Kong, 
Sarine Holdings USA, Sarine North America, Sarine IGT H, Sarine IGT I and Sarine IGT JKL. Prior 
to his appointment as CEO he was Deputy CEO and Chief Operating Officer (COO) since 2012, with 
responsibility for worldwide operations, worldwide sales, including the network of distributors / 
resellers, and customer care. Prior to that appointment, from June 2009, Mr. Block was Deputy 
CEO and VP of Sales responsible for overseeing the Group’s worldwide sales, including its network 
of distributors / resellers and subsidiaries. Beginning January 2006, for a period of three years, 
Mr. Block was the CEO of Sarin India in charge of the overall management of the operations and 
business in India, responsible for over 70% of the Group’s revenues and the supervision of over 200 
employees. Before being assigned to Sarin India, Mr. Block was a Product Manager responsible for 
all the products aimed at the diamond manufacturing market, commencing 2001. Prior to joining the 
Group, Mr. Block worked at several major Israeli high technology companies in the management of 
large-scale development projects, computer programming, quality assurance and technical writing 
positions. Mr. Block holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from the Kellogg-Recanati 
School of Business, a joint degree from Northwestern University in the USA and Tel Aviv University 
in Israel, and a Bachelor's degree in Computer Science from the Tel Aviv-Jaffa Academic College in 
Israel.

RON BEN-ARI is the Group's Deputy CEO (as of 2018) and Vice President of Product Management, 
responsible for all of the Group's products' definition, marketing and timely development since 2016. 
From 2013 through 2016 he was first the Director, and then Vice President, of Diamond Manufacturing 
Activities for the diamond industry midstream, including the Galaxy® family of inclusion scanning 
solutions, rough diamond planning products, laser sawing and shaping systems, polishing quality 
aids and polished diamond Cut finishing and grading solutions. From 2005 to 2013 Mr. Ben-Ari 
acted as the Product Manager of the rough diamond planning group of products (the DiaExpert® and 
Advisor® product lines) and managed the Galaxy® family of products during their first two years and 
spearheaded their launch, initial marketing drive and acceptance, ongoing development, etc. Prior 
to that, since joining Sarine in 2003, Ron Ben-Ari managed the Quality Assurance team in Sarine, 
responsible for testing all of Sarine’s products. Mr. Ben-Ari holds an MBA from the Kellog-Recanati 
School of Business, a joint degree from Northwestern University in the USA and Tel Aviv University, 
and a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from the IDC College in Israel.

WILLIAM KESSLER has served as the Group’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO) since May 2009. He 
is also a Director in the Group’s subsidiaries, Galatea, Sarin India, Sarine Color Technologies, Sarine 
Polishing Technologies, Sarine Holdings USA, Sarine North America, Sarine IGT H, Sarine IGT I and 
Sarine IGT JKL. He has over 30 years of corporate and Wall Street experience, working with publicly-
traded and private companies in Israel and the United States. From 2006 until 2009 Mr. Kessler 
served as the Principal Finance and Accounting Officer (CFO) of XTL Biopharmaceuticals Ltd. 
(Nasdaq: XTLB; LSE: XTL and TASE: XTL) and was previously its Director of Finance commencing 
January 2006, having served as a financial consultant to XTL during 2005, when he spearheaded 
the process of listing XTL for trading on the Nasdaq. From late 2003 through 2005, he also served 
as a financial consultant to Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nasdaq: KERX), following the relocation 
of its headquarters to New York, after having served as their Controller in Israel from 2001 until 
September 2003. From 1996 to 2000, Mr. Kessler served as Chief Financial Officer for Interhightech 
(1982) Ltd. (founded by Mr. Glinert, the Group’s current Chairman), one of the founding groups of 
Sarine. While on Wall Street, he worked as a research analyst at Wertheim Schroder & Co., covering 
media and entertainment companies. Mr. Kessler holds a Bachelor’s degree (magna cum laude) in 
Economics and Mathematics from Yeshiva University and an MBA from Columbia University, both 
in NY, USA.

KEY 
MANAGEMENT
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KEY MANAGEMENT
ABRAHAM MEIR KERNER is the Group’s Vice President of Research and Development since 
2009 and was its Chief Technological Officer since 2004. He is primarily responsible for developing 
our technological base, as well as overseeing the development of new products. Prior to 2004, Mr. 
Kerner was our R&D manager for nearly a decade, having joined the Group in 1995. Prior to joining 
the Group Mr. Kerner worked for companies related to the Group, where he accumulated 15 years 
of engineering experience and was involved for ten of those years in the development of precision 
motion control systems and accurate measuring machines for diamonds. Between 1989 and 1995 
Mr. Kerner worked for Shalev (founded by Mr. Levami, the Group’s non-executive director) and 
then Interhightech (founded by Mr. Glinert, the Group’s current Chairman, into which Shalev was 
merged in 1993) on the original DiaMension® and the DiaCenter™, the first automated computerised 
centering system for rough diamonds for bruting (a now discontinued product of the Group). From 
1986 through 1989 while at Shalev, Mr. Kerner participated in the Group’s original development 
project – the Robogem™, an automated system for planning and shaping non-diamond gemstones. 
Before that, from 1980 through 1986 Mr. Kerner worked for another of Mr. Levami’s start-ups – 
Compulite. Mr. Kerner holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from the Technion - Israel 
Institute of Technology.

OREN BEN-KOHAV joined Sarine in 2017 as the Group’s Vice President for Global Operations. 
He is responsible for Sarine's procurement, production, customer care, Information Technology 
(IT), including the Management Information Systems (MIS), and the operation of our global service 
centres. In this role, Oren is focusing on improving and optimising the services the Group provides 
its customers, along with implementing customer-centric paradigms. Prior to joining Sarine, from 
2010 through 2017, Oren served as the Executive Director of Customer Operations and the Israeli 
branch COO for McKesson (Nasdaq:MCK), supporting McKesson’s customer services for its digital 
imaging and diagnostic solutions, used by cardiologists and IT professionals working for hundreds 
of healthcare providers and imaging centres worldwide. From 2002 to 2010 he served as a Director of 
Product Operations at Medcon, an Israeli healthcare IT company, responsible for customer support 
and implementation teams, providing services globally to their customers and resellers. From 1999 
to 2002 Oren led the project management and information services groups in Gamatronic, a publicly 
traded Israeli company (TASE:GAMT) and was responsible for executing large scale projects for 
governmental customers, both military and civilian. Mr Ben-Kohav holds a Bachelor’s degree in 
Business Management, with specialisation in information systems, from Touro College in New York.

TZAFRIR YEHUDA ENGELHARD has been the Group’s Vice President of Business Development 
since 2017, responsible for development of new business lines and strategic cooperation with other 
parties. Tzafrir earlier served as the Group’s Vice President of Business Development Polished 
Diamonds Trade from 2013 through 2016, and the Director of Business Development since 2010. 
During 2009 (cut short for personal reasons), Mr. Engelhard was the CEO of Sarin India in charge 
of the overall management of the operations and business in India, and, specifically, the launch of 
Sarine’s first Galaxy® inclusion mapping service centre there. Prior to that, Mr. Engelhard served as 
a Product Manager, responsible for several of the Group’s products. Prior to joining Sarine, from 
2007 to 2008, Mr. Engelhard worked at eTouchware, a software company that provides solutions for 
secure and efficient file transfers over the Internet, and, from 2004 to 2007, at Cognitens Ltd. (later 
purchased by Hexagon Metrology Inc.), a company that developed and sold high precision non-
contact measurement devices to the worldwide automotive market. Mr. Engelhard holds an MBA 
from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, with specialisation in marketing strategy, and a Bachelor’s 
degree in Optomechanics Engineering from the Technion – Israel Institute of Technology.

WILLIAM WEISEL is the Group’s General Counsel, having joined the Company in mid-2016. In his 
role, Mr. Weisel is responsible for the Group’s legal matters, with an emphasis on its core business 
transactions, new business development, intellectual property protection and employment issues. 
Prior to his employment by Sarine, Mr. Weisel served in Israel from 2007 to 2014 as VP & General 
Counsel of Lumenis Ltd. (Nasdaq: LMNS), a global medical device manufacturing company, from 
2001 to 2004 as VP & General Counsel of Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd. (Nasdaq: GILT), a global 
satellite telecommunications company, from 1999 to 2001 as General Counsel of ADC Teledata 
Israel Ltd., a telecommunications hardware manufacturer and from 1992 to 1999 as General Counsel 
of Scitex Corporation Ltd. (Nasdaq: SCIX), an innovator and manufacturer of digital printing graphics 
equipment. From 1982 to 1986 William practiced law as a litigator in Los Angeles, California at the 
firm of Jeffer, Mangels, Butler & Marmaro. In addition, since 2013 Mr. Weisel has been a lecturer 
at the Haifa University Graduate School of Management and teaches a course called “Business & 
Law Convergence” to MBA students. Mr. Weisel is the author of an article entitled “Deal Breaker to 
Deal Maker” published in 2015 by The Legal 500 in its publication, GC–General Counsel Magazine. 
Mr. Weisel holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in political science from the University of California, Los 
Angeles (UCLA) and a Juris Doctor (JD) degree from Loyola University School of Law in Los Angeles. 
Mr. Weisel is admitted to practice law in California and Israel.
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YOAV EFRAT was the Managing Director of Sarin India from mid-2017 until year-end 2020 (see 
note below). Prior to his relocation to India, Mr. Efrat served for two years as the Group's Director of 
Programme Management, responsible for global operations of Sarine’s trade and retail solutions. 
From 2011 through 2015 Mr. Efrat was the Product Manager responsible for Sarine's line of diamond 
manufacturing products, working closely with manufacturers and gemmological labs. During these 
two periods, Mr. Efrat garnered a wealth of knowledge relating to polished diamonds and their retail 
branding as well as to the Indian manufacturing sector and its processes, economics, etc. Prior to 
joining Sarine, from 2008 to 2011, Mr. Efrat managed communications projects at R.T.Com, including 
development and set-up of satellite networks for governmental agencies. Mr. Efrat also possesses 
extensive experience in software development, having worked at Paieon Medical Inc. as the lead 
software / system engineer from 2005 to 2008. Mr. Efrat holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer 
Science from Ben Gurion University, and an MBA from Bar-Ilan University, with specialisation in 
marketing.

Note: Mr. Efrat's contractual employment as Sarin India's Managing Director ended year-end 2020. Mr. Ben 
Finkelstein, whose brief bio immediately follows this paragraph, will assume Mr. Efrat's responsibilities in 2021 
upon receipt of the necessary authorisations from the appropriate authorities in India.

BEN FINKELSTEIN has been designated as the next Managing Director of Sarin India to assume 
this role in 2021. Prior to his designated reassignment, Mr. Finkelstein served for four years as a 
Product Manager, responsible for Sarine’s polished diamonds wholesale and retail trade-related 
solutions and services. During this period, Mr. Finkelstein garnered a wealth of knowledge relating 
to polished diamonds and their retail branding. Prior to joining Sarine, from 2013 to 2016, Mr. 
Finkelstein was a Project Manager at Signature-IT, where he defined and managed e-commerce and 
product-line projects. Mr. Finkelstein also has experience as a professional Olympic coach - from 
2009 through 2013 he was part of Israel's team to the London 2012 Olympic Games. During this 
period the professional athlete he coached in windsurfing won the world championship three times! 
Mr. Finkelstein holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Engineering from the Ruppin College in Israel.

BEENITA RITESH CHAURASIA is the Vice President of Sales, Sarin India, having been appointed 
to this position in 2010. Ms. Chaurasia is responsible for all pre- and post-sale activities relating to 
the Group’s products in India. Prior to this appointment, Ms. Chaurasia had been employed by Sarin 
India since 2004, initially as a junior sales person and over time with ever increasing managerial 
responsibilities. Prior to her employment with Sarin India, from 2001 through 2003 she was employed 
by Pyramid Exports in various positions pertaining to business administration, manufacturing 
administration and exports of cosmetics, skin care and personal care and perfumery products to 
international markets. She holds an MBA with distinction, having finished first in her class, from 
the Jamnalal Bajaj Institute of Management Studies (Mumbai University), with a specialisation 
in marketing. She also holds a Master’s degree in Commerce from Mumbai University, also with 
distinction. Ms. Chaurasia holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce from K.P.B Hinduja College in 
Mumbai.

RAN ZISKIND is General Manager of Sarine’s subsidiary, Galatea Ltd. acquired in 2008. Ran 
has been its General Manager since 2004, having been one of its founding entrepreneurs. Mr. 
Ziskind is in charge of the ongoing development and manufacturing activities at Galatea on the 
Galaxy® family of inclusion mapping and tension detection systems. Prior to founding Galatea, 
Ran accumulated 12 years of experience in high-tech industries at various positions, from design 
engineer to management. Between 2001 and 2003 Mr. Ziskind served as the General Manager of 
Atomic Hydrogen Technologies Ltd., a company which develops equipment for the semiconductor 
industry. Prior to that, from 1997 through 2001, Mr. Ziskind worked for Eureka, a company that did 
subcontracting of mechanical design services. At Eureka he held a plurality of positions, from 
Design Engineer to Project Manager. Mr. Ziskind is a graduate of the Mechanical Engineering 
programme from Zur Teffen, an academic institute founded by the world-renowned industrialist, 
Mr. Stef Wertheimer, and holds a Bachelor’s degree in Chemistry and Management from the Open 
University of Israel.
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SUDHIR NARASINGA RAO has been Vice President of Finance, Sarin India, since July 2012. 
He has over 30 years of corporate finance experience, working with local conglomerates and 
multinational companies in India. From January 2000 through June 2012, Mr. Rao served as Director 
of Finance (and on the Board of Directors) of Firmenich Aromatics (India) Private Limited, an Indian 
subsidiary of a Swiss multinational company in the flavour and fragrance industry, where he led the 
finance and accounting team. He was part of the core team which set up the first chemical plant in 
India for the Firmeinch group in the special export zone in the state of Gujarat (where Surat, India’s 
primary diamond manufacturing industry hub, is also located). Prior to that, from 1998 through 1999 
he served as General Manager of Finance for Mphasis (India) Limited, a software development 
company, now a part of the Hewlett Packard group, where he was also part of the core team which 
set up the start-up company in India. From mid-1987 through 1998 Mr. Rao served as Divisional 
Manager of Finance for KEC International Limited, a tower manufacturer and transmission line 
turnkey project contractor, where he began his career as a management trainee. Mr Rao is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and holds a Bachelor’s 
degree in Commerce from Mumbai University.

GILAD HASSID was appointed Vice President Operations of Sarin India in mid-2018. Prior to that 
Mr. Hassid was Head of Operations of Sarin India commencing 2013. In these roles he is and was 
responsible for post-sales services provided to our customers in India as well as the operation of 
Sarin India’s Galaxy® and Quazer® service centres. During 2018 Mr. Hassid was responsible for the 
establishment of the Sarine Technology Lab in India, which became operational in May 2018. From 
2015 through 2017 he led the “Sarin House Surat” building project to completion and relocated all 
the activities in Surat to one location at Sarin House. Prior to joining Sarin India, Mr. Hassid served 
in several sales and marketing executive/management positions in Europe, India and Israel. From 
2011 to 2013, he was the CEO of Yes Imported Solutions India, importing architectural solutions 
from Italy and Switzerland to India.  From 2008 to 2011 he was the CEO of Barkan Mounts Italy 
and Europe Division Manager, distributing throughout Europe mounting solutions for TV and other 
consumer electronics. From 2005 till 2008 Mr. Hassid managed the regional sales teams in Israel for 
Motorola Israel Mirs Communications division. From 1999 through 2005 he held sales and marketing 
positions in Tnuva Israel. Mr. Hassid holds a Bachelor’s degree in Marketing and Economics from 
the Academic Institute Rishon Le-Zion, Israel.

NOY ELRAM is the Managing Director of Sarin Hong Kong as of June 2018, with responsibility for 
expanding the penetration of Sarine’s polished diamond solutions for retailers and suppliers in the 
Asia-Pacific region excluding India. Mr. Elram has just under 20 years of experience in development, 
integration and providing customer support and service for complex solutions in various industries 
in various territories globally. Between 2014 and 2018 Noy served as Head of Professional Services 
for Verint (Nasdaq:VRNT), stationed in Singapore, providing pre- and post-sales support to the 
Singaporean law enforcement authorities, while building and training the local teams to provide 
on-site services. Prior to that, from 2012 to 2014, Noy worked in Israel as Lead Software Engineer 
analysing and implementing security protocols at Verint. From 2006 to 2011 Noy managed the 
R&D at Marvell Semi-Conductors (Nasdaq: MRVL), developing full system solutions for the mobile 
cellular industry. Mr. Elram started his career at Intel Corporation (Nasdaq: INTC) in 2001, as a real-
time, embedded, mobile network protocol developer. Noy holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer 
Science from the Academic College of Tel Aviv–Yafo in Israel.

Rough Diamond Scanning and Planning Sequence
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FINANCIAL     
HIGHLIGHTS
(US$ '000) 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenues  72,524  58,644  58,504  51,323 40,968

Gross Profit  50,289  39,346  38,568  29,584 27,070

Net Profit  17,980  5,764  7,602  (1,372) 2,365

Gross Profit Margin 69.3% 67.1% 65.9% 57.6% 66.1%

Net Profit Margin 24.8% 9.8% 13.0% -2.7% 5.8%

Cash and Investments  37,987  29,117  28,853  29,474 27,555

EPS (US cents, fully diluted)  5.14  1.64  2.17  (0.39) 0.68

Dividend Per Share (US cents)  4.50  3.50  3.00 0.80 0.50

EBITDA  25,070  12,931  13,661  5,496 8,794
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MANAGEMENT'S 
BUSINESS, OPERATION & 

FINANCIAL REVIEW
The Diamond Industry
Diamonds have long been entwined in culture as symbols of love, commitment and eternity. Advertising campaigns by key diamond industry 
players have consistently reinforced these notions among consumers. This consumer demand drives an extensive industry of mining, 
polishing, grading and wholesale and retail trading, on which our Group capitalises.

Rough Stone Evaluation (the "Upstream”)
Rough diamonds are extracted from the earth in extremely varied qualities and sizes. Of the average 125-140 million carats mined annually, 
only 25-30% are considered gem quality and are polished for gem-set jewellery purposes. Within the gem quality rough diamonds segment, 
qualities further differ significantly as discerned by the stones’ actual shapes (e.g., cubes, octahedrons or dodecahedrons as symmetrical 
forms are worth more than amorphous stones), their internal characteristics, if visibly discernable (e.g., internal grain direction, internal 
strain [“tension”], internal imperfections [“inclusions”], etc.) and their assessed colour. Sizes of the mined rough diamonds can range from 
fractions of a carat up to hundreds and even thousands of carats (the Cullinan Diamond was the largest gem-quality rough diamond ever 
found, weighing 3,106.75 carats - 621.35 gr). Typically 5% or so of a mine’s output is over 2 carats (0.4 gr.) in weight, a further 7-8% is between 
1.5 and 2 carats and nearly 90% of a mine's output is stones below 1.5 carats in weight.    

We assist the so-called upstream diamond mining companies, also termed "producers", to evaluate their rough stones as per their varied 
qualities. Our DiaExpert® family of platforms, accurately model a rough diamond's external geometry. The revolutionary Galaxy® family of 
internal inclusion mapping systems for rough diamonds, based on patented technology, provides high resolution (optionally at microscopic-
level), fully automated, fast and comprehensive identification and mapping of a rough stone's internal inclusions and tension. By utilising 
these two systems and associated software tools, a producer can more fully assess the intrinsic value of its rough material and provide 
prospective customers with comprehensive information pertaining to the stones offered for sale. Disclosing this information, and thus 
reducing the risk associated with buying rough stones lacking full knowledge of their characteristics, allows bidders to offer a higher 
premium for the offered goods, thus increasing the producer's profitability. In addition, the provision of such data in a digital form enables 
producers to reach a broader group of potential buyers, without necessitating any travel, a critical issue during periods of Covid-19 related 
travel restrictions.

Alrosa, the main Russian producer, and largest miner of diamonds worldwide in carat terms, Grib, another Russian producer, and Lucara, 
a Canadian-based producer operating in Botswana, utilise our technologies for certain categories of their rough production, subsequently 
offering them for sale via digital tenders or other focused sale paradigms. The scope of these tenders offered by existing customers is 
expected to significantly grow in 2021 and additional key producers will also be adopting this paradigm in 2021. Rough stone secondary 
wholesalers also use this business model – e.g., in late 2020 Stargems concluded the largest tender on record in Dubai, by value of goods 
sold, after introducing this practise.

Rough Stone Polishing (the “Midstream”)
Rough diamonds go through a prescribed series of processes, commencing with their evaluation, as discerned from their external and 
internal inspections, through planning, sawing (colloquially referred to as "cutting"), shaping (sometimes, if round, referred to technically 
as “bruting”), polishing (faceting) and fine-polishing, to turn them into retail-ready polished gems. Traditionally, an elite group of artisans, 
mostly within families, executed these processes manually.

Sarine has revolutionised the diamond polishing/manufacturing industry, often referred to as the “midstream”, by introducing computer-
based technologies to automate many of the processes of this highly specialised expertise. 

The cost of rough diamonds is high. They are typically paid for upon receipt. Yet it often takes six to twelve months to sell the polished 
output, often on credit terms. The cost of financing this cycle adds to the direct expense incurred by the complexity of the process (and 
the errors and accidents incurred along the way) driving polishers to normally realise only single digit margins. Hence, any yield increases, 
cost savings, cycle shortening or risk reduction benefits are critical and have significant impact on the manufacturers’ profits. The diamond 
industry’s midstream’s turnover was valued at approximately US$ 17.0 billion in 2019 (the latest full year for which data are available), with 
added value of some US$ 4.5 billion.

Sustained by these basic industry value-chain economics, our Group has been successful over the years in introducing innovative, reliable 
and efficient yield-increasing, cost-cutting, time-saving and risk-reducing technologies. The global diamond industry has readily adopted 
these technologies, many of which have become de-facto industry standards. The combination of these technologies, as described below, 
has redefined the art of polishing diamonds. They have pushed the optimally achieved yield of the polished stone(s) weight from under 40% 
of the rough stone’s original weight to over 50%, a benefit in excess of 25%. Our solutions also allow the manufacturer to produce goods 
which best suit actual market trends at any given time, e.g., trading off between Carat weight and Clarity grade quality, to best respond to 
North American or Asia Pacific demand. Notably, these technologies are applicable to both natural and lab-grown diamonds (LGD). 
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Historically, the Group has focused on the following products and services for the analysis, assessment, optimal planning, sawing, shaping 
and polishing of rough diamonds for the midstream manufacturing segment of the diamond industry:

• The Galaxy® family of internal inclusion identification and mapping of rough diamonds with the various models, the Meteorite™, 
Meteor™, Solaris™, Galaxy® and Galaxy® XL systems, covering a broad range of sizes of rough diamonds from below 10 points (0.1 
carat) to over 200 carats in weight. In addition, the Galaxy® Ultra offers high resolution microscopic-level inspection for very high 
quality stones. Commencing in 2019, the Galaxy® systems can also be equipped with optional hardware allowing the mapping of the 
internal stress (“tension”) of a rough diamond, allowing for its safer planning, cutting and polishing. The Galaxy® family of products 
generate a significant recurring revenue stream (just over 40% of overall Group sales in 2020), due to the unique business model we 
have implemented based on an ongoing per-carat use charge (for very small stone sizes the per-carat use fee is replaced by a flat 
monthly charge for machine utilisation). 

• The Advisor® software and the DiaExpert® family of platforms for planning the optimal utilisation of rough diamonds - DiaExpert®, 
DiaExpert® Atom, DiaExpert® Nano, DiaExpert® XL, DiaExpert® Eye, DiaExpert® Edge, DiaScan® S+, DiaMobile® XL / XXL and DiaMark® 
Z for varying sizes and qualities of rough stones from hundreds of carats down to several points; 

• The third-generation Quazer® 3 green-laser system and its Strategist® setup station -  the industry’s most cost-effective high-end 
solution for the laser cutting and shaping of rough diamonds; and

• Our Instructor® software and DiaMension® family of platforms, which assist in the real-time quality control and optimisation of the 
actual diamond faceting. These also provide for corrective polishing, when deviations from the original planned optimal polishing 
solution are discerned, by re-analysing the semi-polished stone and proposing remedial solutions, including utilisation of unique 
asymmetrical resolutions.

We believe that our introduction of technology to the diamond polishing industry has converted it from an artisan-based industry to a 
technology-driven one. Today, the diamond industry midstream is concentrated in India. Though polishing facilities can also be found 
in China, Vietnam and the southern African countries (mainly Botswana, Namibia and South Africa), India is by far the leading diamond 
manufacturing centre, accounting for some 90% of all stones polished worldwide by stone count and some 80% by value. Due to the 
resources which have been invested in the development of domestic polishing industries, Botswana has become the second most important 
polishing centre globally.

Sarine has a market presence in both established and emerging diamond manufacturing centres. A key strategic decision was the 
establishment in 2004 of Sarin Technologies India Private Limited, our wholly-owned Indian subsidiary. Having taken direct responsibility for 
the pre- and post-sales operations in the diamond industry centres of Mumbai and Surat, we now have better feedback from and more direct 
support of the marketing of our products in the key Indian market. In 2009, we opened a service centre in Surat, India, which provides our 
customers in India with Galaxy® inclusion mapping and Quazer® laser cutting services. In the beginning of 2012 we opened a second service 
centre in India - in Mumbai. In 2017 we opened “Sarin House”, a wholly-owned state-of-the-art new facility in Surat, India, consolidating all 
the Group's Surat-based activities for the Indian diamond industry under one roof. Located in India's diamond manufacturing hub, the facility 
comprises 55,000 square feet (5,100 square metres) over 6 floors, and houses approximately 400 staff members.

Sarine has also taken the requisite steps to strengthen its presence in the Southern African markets. The appointment of an agent in South 
Africa in 2005 was followed by expansion in 2008 into the strategic Botswana market (whose importance has grown markedly since DeBeers 
relocated its activities there from London) and the appointment of a dedicated agent in Namibia in early 2012. During 2011 and 2012 service 
centres for automated inclusion mapping and planning services were opened in all these countries, as well.

Diamond Grading
Because of the high value of polished diamonds, adhering to the established standards of quality, as measured by a diamond’s 4Cs (Carat, 
Clarity, Color and Cut) is important. The results obtained from the typically manual grading inspection of a diamond often vary, depending 
on the level of expertise of the gemmologist conducting the evaluation. As a result of the subjectivity inherent in manual inspections, 
technology has evolved as a major contributor to the standardisation of a diamond’s grading, and the Group has been at the forefront of 
developing and introducing polished diamond grading technologies for thirty years.

We pioneered the first technology ever for grading a polished diamond in 1992, with the launch of the DiaMension®, which introduced 
automated grading of a polished diamond’s Cut. Following the DiaMension®, the DiaMension® HD (High Definition) was introduced in 2009 
and is today the industry’s standard for measuring proportions and grading Cut worldwide. The Axiom™ 3, our newest development, is 
based on revolutionary technology with micron level accuracy. The first generation of the Axiom™ was developed in 2015 to meet (it actually 
exceeds) Tiffany & Company’s most stringent requirements for Cut and Symmetry grading. Our polished diamond proportion measuring and 
Cut/Symmetry grading systems operate using our proprietary Instructor® software, which was the first proportion and Cut grading software 
to be evaluated and adopted by the Gemological Institute of America (GIA) in 2004, having been certified as being accurate and compliant 
to the GIA's standards in excess of 98% of the tested cases.

Next, in 2013, we introduced the Sarine Light™, the industry's most accurate system for measuring a polished diamond's actual light 
performance. This system has become the accepted standard for light performance grading of higher quality stones in the Asia Pacific 
(APAC) market. Our light performance grading has been adopted by the National Gemstone Testing Centre (NGTC), China's largest 
gemmological testing laboratory, which introduced a new grading standard for China based on it in 2020. Our light performance standard 
has also had broad success in Japan and has virtually become the fifth C in that market. 
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In 2018, we launched the world's first system for the automated grading of a polished diamond's Clarity, along with the introduction of leading-
edge technology for the automated grading of Color. Our groundbreaking automated grading of a polished diamond is driven by artificial 
intelligence (“AI”) algorithms and is realised on two unique devices - the Sarine Clarity™ and Sarine Color™. Clarity grading has always been, 
and is still, done manually. As it is a very complex multi-dimensional classification, based on the number of inclusions, their sizes, types 
and locations within the polished stone, and other parameters, the subjective judgment call is complex. The norm is that two gemmologists 
grade each stone, and it is not unusual for a third expert opinion to be required. Even so, Clarity grading is not consistent, and it is not 
uncommon to encounter significant variations in grading, often resulting in the grading being contested. Tests have shown that a statistically 
meaningful reference team of proficiently trained graders assesses the same stone's Clarity across up to two (occasionally even three) 
different grades. Utilising technology enables much more consistent grading, and, as the AI-based software is self-teaching, consistency 
continually improves over time. It is our aim to augment our grading with the fine-sorting of a diamond’s Clarity and Color in accordance with 
various industry-accepted sub-grades pertaining to the diamond’s actual appearance (e.g., “eye-clean”, “no black inclusions”, “no inclusions 
under the table” for Clarity and issues such as "tinge" and "milkiness" for Color). Already today our Sarine Technology Labs in Israel and 
India provide the world's first technology-based, AI-driven, objective and consistent grading of all of a polished diamond's 4Cs. Our labs also 
apply cutting-edge technology to ascertain whether the diamond is natural or lab-grown and whether treatments have been applied to them.

In 2020 we introduced the concept of e-Grading™. By enhancing our technology-based AI-derived 4Cs grading with additional functionality 
for process control and intra-process verification, we are implementing a completely new grading paradigm we have named e-Grading™.  
e-Grading™ will provide manufacturers and other industry players with a time-saving cost-cutting in-house solution for the 4Cs grading 
of polished diamonds, without necessitating the inefficient and costly process of going offsite to a gemmoligical laboratory (hence the 
“e-Grading™” term, just like e-Learning is from the comfort of your home). The systems utilised for the grading process are all cloud linked 
and the grading results are automatically uploaded to the cloud. Thus, the 4Cs grading results are derived without any human intervention 
and are immediately available for online B2B access and subsequent B2C consumer report generation. Intra-process automated verification 
of the polished diamond at each station will ensure reliable and accurate data flow, optionally verifiable by our TruMatch™ fingerprinting. 

Currently in beta-testing, our new grading paradigm enables truly objective and consistent grading at a fraction of the time currently required 
(hours or a day max vs. weeks) and with none of the indirect costs of shipping, insurance, customs handling, etc. associated with having the 
grading done at an external third-party lab. Furthermore, as our e-Grading™ paradigm will be implemented by the polisher's own personnel, 
it most likely will also reduce the direct cost to the polisher, typically today on a par with the overall cost of the actual polishing of the 
diamond(!). Furthermore, this paradigm enables a completely new level of operational flexibility, as well – the polisher can prioritise the 
stones sequence of grading to best meet delivery schedules. Because of its significantly lower cost, e-Grading™ is especially applicable to 
the grading of LGD, as the value of LGD is far less than natural diamonds, and the current grading by labs is simply prohibitively expensive 
(~10% of the value of the polished gem). Furthermore, what is more natural than grading by technology a stone created by technology.

e-Grading™ also seamlessly connects with our diamond provenance traceability offering, the Sarine Diamond Journey™, the only provenance 
solution offered today based on verifiable data collected by technological means throughout the diamond's path from mine to retail (with no 
necessity for declaratory input). Commercial launch is scheduled for the second half of 2021.
 
Polished Diamond Trade (the “Downstream”)
A key decision taken in 2010 was to expand our product and service offerings into the wholesale and retail trade of polished diamonds, 
the “downstream”, targeting this industry segment as our primary market for strategic expansion and growth. While as the midstream 
typically adds some US$ 5 billion in value, the downstream's added-value is nearly a dozen times that figure – nearly US$ 59 billion in 
2019. And, whereas the average profit margin in the midstream is single-digit percentages, the margins realised by retailers start in the low 
double-digits and are often substantially higher for high-end exclusive jewelers. The downstream overall generates over half of the profits 
realised in the entire industry value-chain. As the downstream portion of the industry comprises much more volume in absolute dollar terms 
and with notably higher profitability, it epitomises a market with considerable growth potential for the Group. The international diamond 
retail jewellery trade in 2019 amounted to some US$ 76 billion, with the U.S. and China being the two key markets, roughly 38% and 19% 
respectively of global sales.

The 19th edition of Bain & Company's Luxury Study, dated 18 November 2020, relating to the Covid-19 pandemic impact on the luxury market, 
notes that the global personal luxury goods retail trade contracted in 2020 for the first time since 2009 and decreased by an unprecedented 
23%. However, as the pandemic's effects dissipate in 2021, Bain forecasts a very strong rebound of between 10-12% to 17-19%, depending on 
the actual macroeconomic conditions. It is projected to continue growing at a more typical 3-5% annually thereafter for a full recovery to pre-
pandemic levels by late 2022 or early 2023. The only bright region globally was China (with the exception of Hong Kong and Macau, which 
contracted by 35%, making them one of the worst hit areas globally), where sales grew in 2020 by 45%. Chinese consumers thus cemented 
their status as the single largest market for personal luxury goods, still on track to account for nearly half of the global luxury market by 2025. 
Europe bore the brunt of the collapse in global tourism with regional luxury item sales imploding by 36%. The Americas fared slightly better 
than Europe with a contraction of 27%, and the rest of the world, Japan, the Middle East, etc. contracted by 21% to 24%. 

Online sales of luxury items expanded dramatically in 2020, by nearly 50%(!), due to the changes in our lifestyles during the pandemic. The 
share of luxury item purchases online almost doubled(!) in 2020 from 12% in 2019 to 23% in 2020. "Brands will need to adjust their footprints 
to the new map of luxury buying, [and] evolve the store role and maximise the customer experience" commented Claudia D'Arpizio, a Bain 
partner and co-author of the study. Online and mobile shopping experiences are putting the role of physical channels at risk. In addition, 
sustainability and environmental issues, as well as diversity and inclusion, have become core considerations, with younger consumers, 
placing an unprecedented emphasis on these issues to alleviate social and racial injustice. "Activist" consumers are seeking brands that can 
demonstrate their alignment with this vision. Federica Levato, a Bain partner and co-author of the report, noted that "By 2030 [the luxury] 
industry will be drastically transformed… In this new enlarged space, the winning brands will be those that build on their existing excellence 
while reimagining the future with an insurgent mindset. Luxury players will need to think boldly and rewrite the rules of the game". 
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As noted in the previous paragraph, retail chains must more than ever reinvent themselves to enhance customers’ in-store experiences and 
create an ongoing engagement with their customers. The challenges faced by the retail diamond trade are:

•  “Branding” – a growing trend in retail to differentiate one’s products from other commoditised ones. Typically, in the retail diamond 
environment this is proffered either by introducing non-standard cuts and shapes or otherwise creating an engaging story around 
the offered stones, e.g., by emphasising their strong light performance, tracing them from mine to consumer, noting their exceptional 
manufacture, the jewellery’s renown designer, etc.

• The “Experience” – today’s internet-savvy consumers surf the internet and query social media before buying. Though actual sales 
are still, predominately, in stores, Bain & Company believe this may not be the case by 2030. By using sophisticated technologies, 
retailers can create a more exciting experience both on their website and subsequently in their stores. 

• The “Sale” – what a retailer needs to do to actually close the sale of a specific stone (jewellery piece) at a specific price. Today, the 
branding and the experience, and the confidence inspired by these, are often no less important than the quality of the goods offered 
and their pricing. 

Non-intuitive, often even cryptic, data, as formulated in the historic 4C’s, no longer connect to, nor convince, the new generations of internet-
savvy buyers. Digitally enhanced experiences based on imaging and video technologies are already being adopted by e-tailers and retailers 
alike as essential marketing and sale tools, as a means of branding and of generating the necessary attention, engagement and passion 
necessary for closing the sale. 

To support this 21st century evolution of retail, we launched the Sarine Profile™ in 2015. Utilising an assortment of various technologies 
further detailed below, the Sarine Profile™ provides precise and expansive image and video information pertaining to the offered diamond's 
origin, manufacture, quality, beauty and other unique characteristics. By providing a wealth of additional information, the Sarine Profile™ 
enables significantly more informative online searches, whether B2B or B2C, at a completely new level of transparency. The Sarine Profile™ 
also enhances the in-store buying experience and empowers the consumer to make a truly informed decision on the offered stone, as the 
varied information is presented in an intuitive and engaging visual format. Sarine Profile™ is specifically designed to cater to the "millennial 
mindset", their engrossment with their mobile devices and their enthusiasm for social media, allowing retailers to connect with them and 
engage them on their media of choice.

The Sarine Profile™ is unique in that it allows each retailer, whether online or brick and mortar, to select its preferred imagery/video 
presentations from a toolbox of options, which are described below in greater detail. These options include imagery at various levels of 
magnification produced by the Sarine Loupe™, light performance grading and video generated by the Sarine Light™, Hearts and Arrows 
graphics, Cut proportions graphics, laser inscription viewing, etc., all as derived from our diverse cutting-edge systems enumerated below. 
Of course, our provenance certification provided by Sarine Diamond Journey™ and our AI-based 4Cs grading are also available as an option 
of the Sarine Profile™ package. We also support the importation of retailer-provided data, such as retailer promotional material, as well as 
the customer's own personalisation message to the intended recipient of the diamond, e.g., his proposal.

The technologies that provide these varied data are:

• The DiaMension® HD / Axiom 3™ proportion and symmetry measuring systems provide geometrical proportions, Cut grade and 
Hearts and Arrows analyses;

• Sarine's Sarine Clarity™ and Sarine Color™ systems and their AI-based algorithms provide objective and consistent Clarity and Color 
grading.

• The Sarine Light™ enables the accurate, consistent and quantified measurement of a polished diamond’s actual light performance 
(appearance), as a new more intuitively meaningful means by which to assess the diamond's beauty:

o Brilliance - the intense bright light that is reflected from the diamond;
o Sparkle - the dramatic flashes that burst out of the diamond as it moves; 
o Fire - the vivid colours of the rainbow that radiate from within the diamond due to its prismatic effect; 
o Light symmetry - the equal distribution of the light that reflects from the diamond.

• The Sarine Loupe™ imaging system creates high quality video imagery, at varying magnifications (from 3 to 40 times) and from 
various perspectives and simulated distances, so that a potential buyer of a polished diamond, whether a qualified wholesale trader 
or a consumer, can truly assess both its beauty and internal features without having the polished diamond physically in hand. 

• The Sarine Connect™ - provides a digital inventory platform that allows retail chains to showcase any stone from their entire inventory, 
regardless of its physically being in a specific outlet or not, as well as create virtual inventory, by reaching back to their suppliers’ 
inventories of stones and settings, pursuant to the necessary authorisations. 

• The Sarine Diamond Journey™ – The Group has an extensive industry-leading presence in the diamond industry's midstream, wherein 
the critical transition from rough to polished stone occurs. In 2020, despite the ~30% reduction in rough stones entering the pipeline, 
some 19 million stones, 5% more than the 18 million in 2019, were scanned for inclusion mapping using our installed base of 631 
Galaxy® family systems. Annually, close to a hundred million rough stones are planned using our DiaExpert® family of platforms, of 
these over 60 million stones are planned using our online Advisor® cloud-based software, from which, optionally, the actual planning, 
cutting and shaping stages can be recorded on our cloud infrastructure. These data allow us to subsequently provide full traceability 
of the stone's transition from rough to polished, using conclusive certified factual imagery. All this is accomplished with no disruption 
to the normal workflow and no meaningful overhead or cost. This augments the stone's provenance origin documentation, provided 
by our growing cooperative arrangements with major diamond producing miners (already Alrosa and Lucara, with others to join in 
2021) to create the only comprehensive solution for provenance and traceability based on actual verifiable data with no need for 
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declaratory complimentary assertions (if the rough stone's source data is not provided by the producer through their technological 
linkup with our cloud database, the information is derived manually from import/export and Kimberly Process documentation). 
Beyond offering consumers insight into the sophisticated technology and painstaking craftsmanship that went into creating their 
unique gem in an engaging visual format, the Sarine Diamond Journey™ is the only solution which provides the consumer with 
factual evidence confirming both its sustainable and socially responsible sourcing as well as its manufacture, issues of growing 
importance to younger "activist" consumers, as noted by Bain & Company.

• 3D-Origin™ - A unique offering, made possible by the data generated by the Sarine Diamond Journey™, provides a realistic 3D-printed 
model of the original rough diamond from which the polished gem was derived. This feature adds to the consumer's experience and 
bolster his/her connection with the purchased gem.

• TruMatch™- Our proprietary technology for “fingerprinting” a polished stone, can be used to augment the Sarine Diamond Journey™ 
report to singularly mark the identity of the polished stone. This allows subsequent verification of the stone for the consumer in the 
retail outlet, whether it is still loose or already mounted in a setting. A so-called digital twin for the authentication of the purchased 
item is readily retrievable, which can be utilised by retailers offering extended warranties, providing cleaning and repair services or 
proposing "buy-up" exchanges, as well as by financial institutions or insurers in need of reliable unequivocal identification of the item.

• Verto™ - an innovative imaging solution that generates high quality video displays, derived from but a handful of images captured by 
any common smartphone. Verto™’s solution enables jewellery manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers to provide their customers 
with exceptionally high-quality video visualisation of offered jewellery items, along with the capability to generate multiple options 
of settings and the types, sizes, and colours of stones set in the piece, etc., with no need for capital investment in high-end devices, 
expensive professional photographers or exhaustive manual finishing. The combination of the imagery’s high quality, the system’s 
ease of use, its attractive cost and fast delivery create an offering that is significantly more cost and time effective than other 
currently available market alternatives. 

The commercialisation of all the aforementioned services for the polished diamond trade is based on recurrent revenue models, based on 
the size of the stone profiled and the scope of the services provided (e.g., grading, imagery, provenance, digital inventory, fingerprinting) as 
is the norm in the industry.

To facilitate the marketing and sales of our polished diamond trade offerings, we opened an office in North America in 2014 on New York’s 
so-called Diamond Way (47th St. between 5th and 6th Avenues), the heart of the U.S.’s polished diamond trade. In 2015 we opened an office 
in Hong Kong, the primary hub of the polished diamond trade in the APAC market. We have since expanded our regional presence in the 
APAC market, and have employed additional staff in Shenzen (HQ), Beijing and Shanghai in China, in India (vis-a-vis both midstream and 
retail segments), in Japan and in Singapore, as a regional sub-hub for neighbouring countries, as well.

Sarine Products by Application and Customer Type

ACTIVITY TARGET CUSTOMER SARINE PRODUCTS

Rough diamond 
evaluation

Producer and Wholesaler Galaxy®, Galaxy®  XL, Galaxy® Tension, DiaExpert®, DiaExpert®  XL, 

DiaScan® S+, DiaMobile® XL / XXL and Advisor®

Planning optimal cutting 
of rough diamonds into 
polished ones

Manufacturer Galaxy®, Galaxy® Ultra, Galaxy®  XL, Galaxy® Tension , Solaris™, Meteor™, 
Meteorite™, DiaExpert®, DiaExpert® Atom, DiaExpert® Nano, DiaExpert® XL, 
DiaExpert® Eye, DiaExpert® Edge, DiaScan® S+,DiaMark® Z and Advisor®

Cutting rough diamonds Manufacturer Quazer®  3 and Strategist®

Shaping rough diamonds Manufacturer Quazer® 3

Optimal polishing of 
diamonds for best Carat / 
Cut trade-offs

Manufacturer DiaMension® HD, DiaMension® Axiom 3, DiaMark® HD and Instructor®

Diamond finishing 
optimisation

Manufacturer DiaMension® HD, DiaMension® Axiom 3, DiaScan® S+ and Instructor®

Polished diamond grading 
according to the 4 Cs and 
light performance

Manufacturer / 
Gemmological 
Laboratory / Polished 
Wholesaler and Retailer

DiaMension® HD, DiaMension® Axiom 3, DiaScan® S+, Sarine Light™, Sarine 
Clarity™, Sarine Color™ 

Polished diamond 
branding and wholesale 
/ retail trade online and 
in-store

Manufacturer / 
Gemmological 
Laboratory / Polished 
Wholesaler and Retailer

DiaScribe®, Sarine Light™, Sarine Loupe™, Sarine Profile™, Sarine Diamond 
Journey™, 3D-Origin™, Sarine Connect™, TruMatch™ and Verto™

Intellectual Property
The products we develop are proprietary in nature. Hence, our ability to remain competitive in the market is also dependent on our ability to 
protect our intellectual property (IP), both hardware and software. To facilitate the protection of our IP rights, we have registered numerous 
patents and trademarks in countries key to our business and additional patent and trademark applications are pending in various phases in 
various countries. As is normal, several of our patents and trademarks have been disputed by competing players in the industry, just as we 
dispute patent applications filed by our competitors. We have initiated litigation in India against certain competitors, who we believe infringe 
our patents on laser marking (as used in the rough planning process), as well as against others, who we allege have infringed on or otherwise 
fraudulently made use of our Galaxy® inclusion mapping technology and Advisor® planning software.
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In addition to our IP copyright and patent applications and enforcement actions, 
we have designed and are continuing to design protective technological features 
into our systems, based on cloud computing technology. The image processing 
software of our Galaxy® family of inclusion scanning systems and components of 
our newer Advisor® rough planning software releases (Advisor® 6.0 and up), our 
Sarine Light™, Sarine Loupe™, Sarine Profile™, Sarine Connect™, Sarine Clarity™ and 
Sarine Color™, are all protected from non-authorised use by having key components 
remotely located on cloud servers. Using proprietary in-house developed cyber 
protection creates a higher level of defence than that provided by using off-the-shelf 
commercially available protection, which is targeted per se by professional hackers. 
Due to this approach, though attempts have been ongoing for over five years to first 
hack our Advisor® 6.0 and now 7.0 planning software releases, success to date has 
been very limited with no discernible impact on our business. Future releases of our 
Advisor® (e.g., Advisor® 8.0 due for release in mid-2021) will have further improved IP 
protection through additional use of cloud-based features.

As mentioned, we are aggressively pursuing legal actions against infringements, 
primarily in India. In addition, we are leveraging our technological advantages, as 
manifested in our newest Advisor® versions and other new developments (e.g., the 
Galaxy® Tension), as well as other commercial benefits, to incentivise customers to 
refrain from using infringing technologies. Very significantly, the Sarine Profile™'s and, 
more importantly, the Sarine Diamond Journey™'s adoption by upstream producers 
and downstream retail customers for the branding and traceability of polished 
diamonds, creates a tangible incentive for midstream manufacturers' loyalty to 
our technological solutions, as the related programmes generate immediate, often 
premium, revenues. 

Objectives
The Group’s main objectives for 2021 are:

• Assertively drive the expanding market penetration of our Galaxy® family of inclusion mapping systems;

• Continue developing advanced features and thus maintain the overall value proposition and our market share of rough diamond 
planning solutions, as embodied in the DiaExpert® platforms and Advisor® software. Together with our Galaxy® family of inclusion 
mapping systems  and our Quazer® 3 high-end green laser for cutting and shaping, we will continue to set the industry standard for 
rough diamond manufacturing technology;

• Continue our aggressive campaigns against IP infringement by legal means, technological innovation and commercial leveraging; 

• Accelerate the market adoption of our unique polished diamond trade supporting products – the Sarine Profile™, Sarine Diamond 
Journey™ and AI-based 4Cs grading, with primary focus on the APAC market. 

o We see growing emphasis on and interest in provenance and traceability solutions, as for key high-end retailers and producers 
issues of sustainability and responsible sourcing and polishing are becoming more important due to the growing awareness of 
today's consumers. As detailed above, due to our systems' near-universal utilisation in the manufacturing midstream, we are 
uniquely positioned to provide actual verifiable solutions to these concerns with minimal disruption and cost to all the players 
across the value chain. 

o Having commenced beta-testing of our unique e-Grading™ paradigm enabling the grading of polished diamonds in-house, 
without necessitating the timely and costly outsourcing of this process to third-party external labs, we will continue with its 
refinement and the implementation of the necessary process monitoring cloud infrastructure, aiming for its broader introduction 
to manufacturers later in 2021.

• Increase our presence in the lab-grown diamond (LGD) segment of the diamond industry (growing at 25% a year), having proven 
the applicability of both our midstream rough polishing optimisation technologies (Galaxy® scanning, planning, laser cutting, etc.) 
and downstream polished diamond grading and marketing solutions to LGD (we are already generating initial revenues from this 
expanding segment).

These objectives will both increase our recurrent revenue stream and balance our business more evenly between the midstream 
manufacturing segment, mostly in India, and downstream trading segment, mostly in the U.S. and APAC regions.

TruMatch™ Diamond Verification System

GALAXY® TENSION MAPPING
ROUGH STONE SCANNED AND PLANNED ACCORDING TO INTERNAL TENSION MAPPING DETECTED BY GALAXY® SYSTEM.
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Strategy
To realise these objectives, the Group plans to execute these strategies:

Focus the Group’s research and development initiatives as follows:

• Midstream products:

o Continue optimising our Advisor® planning proposition and bolster its IP protection features, to be released as Advisor® 8.0;
o Continue refining our e-Grading™ AI-based technology, introducing second generation Clarity and Color grading solutions, and 

implement the necessary cloud-based process management and monitoring infratstructure;
o Enhance our Clarity grading with fine-sorting of a diamond’s inclusion characteristics in accordance with customer-specific 

industry-accepted sub-grades pertaining to the diamond’s actual appearance (e.g., “eye-clean”, “no black inclusions”, “no 
inclusions under the table”, etc.) as well as by its Color in accordance with tinting (brownish, greenish, etc.) and other relevant 
criteria; 

o Develop LGD-friendly derivatives of our systems, to allow their cost-effective application to LGD manufacturing.

• Downstream products and services: 

o Continue refining our provenance (Sarine Diamond Journey™) offering;
o Adapt our AI-based grading solutions to LGD requirements and price points.

Focus the Group’s marketing efforts on:

• Continuing our aggressive marketing campaigns on our Galaxy® family Meteor™ and Meteorite™ models and expand the initiative to 
the Solaris™ model as well;

• The broader adoption of the Group’s Sarine Profile™ and Sarine Diamond Journey™, especially broadening our cooperation with 
additional producers, also through the expansion of the adoption of our digital tenders paradigm;

• The commercial rollout of our e-Grading™ innovation;

• Establishing strategic cooperations with leading players in the LGD segment; 

• Enhancing the Sarine brand recognition at the retail and end-consumer level through targeted social media and similar initiatives.

Performance Indicators

Non-financial Indicators
We use the following non-financial indicators to assess our Group’s performance year-on-year and against our competition’s performance:

INDICATOR PERFORMANCE

Technological 
Leadership

Our technological leadership, as measured by the innovation embodied in our new and enhanced products and 
services, as well as by our existing and pending patents worldwide, remains strong. No other company in our field 
holds a broader portfolio of products and intellectual property for the rough and polished diamond industries.

Estimated 
Market Share*

We have clear indications that we have expanded our market share in the midstream manufacturing segment of the 
diamond industry. In 2020 - we scanned just under 19 million stones, 5% more than the near 18 million in 2019, with 
our inclusion mapping family of systems, and over 60 million were planned on our online Advisor® 6.0/7.0 software 
installations, despite the ~30% reduction in the overall number of rough stones entering the pipeline! We have gained 
traction for our Sarine Profile™ in the APAC region. Notably, our Sarine Light™ has become the most widely accepted 
light performance analysis and grading system in use in the APAC market, and the largest gemmological laboratory 
in China, NGTC (the National Gemstone Testing Centre), has launched their light performance standard based on it. 
We are seeing extensive interest in our Sarine Diamond Journey™ story-telling and provenance/traceability offerings. 
We have established cooperative programmes with Alrosa and Lucara and are in talks with numerous additional 
producers. We have had initial commercial successes and are expanding awareness of the potential benefits of our 
AI-based grading. We have an ongoing initiative with Tiffany & Co. to adapt our technology to their stringent grading 
criteria, and are working with NGTC to derive new technology-based standards for them.

Product 
and Service 
Offerings

During the year in review we continued research and development of new products and services and enhancements 
to existing ones across all our product lines. We will continue this strategy into 2021 and beyond. The thrust in the 
midstream will be the continued enhancement of the rough diamond inclusion scanning and planning processes for 
the manufacturing industry. At the junction of the midstream and downstream segments ongoing R&D will enhance the 
capabilities of our unique AI-based grading solutions and infrastructure to allow commercial rollout of our e-Grading™ 
initiative for grading polished diamonds on-site. We will also continue development of our Clarity and Color fine sorting 
propositions. In the downstream, we will continue enhancing our provenance/traceability capabilities, the Sarine 
Diamond Journey™, as well as our polished stone identification and verification TruMatch™ fingerprinting technology.

Brand Strength Our brand strength allows us to leverage our distribution channels to market and sell complementary products to our 
existing customers, as well as to seek out new customers. We believe our brand continued to strengthen during the 
year in review, especially gaining recognition in the upstream mining and the downstream wholesale/retail industry 
sectors. We intend to continue strengthening our brand in 2021 with additional initiatives with producers and high-end 
global or regional leading retail brands, as well as in social media and by other means to boost consumer recognition 
of our brand.

* Note: The fact that all other players in our industry are privately-held companies hampers our ability to collect and collate accurate sales data; additionally, 
no well-known international analysts regularly cover our market for technological tools for the diamond industry, making accurate assessments hard to 
substantiate.

27

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD. • ANNUAL REPORT 2020



MANAGEMENT'S BUSINESS, 
OPERATION & FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Indicators
During 2020 the Covid-19 pandemic disrupted much of the diamond industry value chain, as it did many other industries. Key effects were 
the preclusion of the historic methods of rough stone sales activities due to travel restrictions, the locking down of major midstream 
manufacturing centres - e.g., in India from late March through June, with lingering limitations in effect into July, and the curtailment of 
retail activity worldwide for much of the year – rolling lockdowns from China during the key Chinese New Year season through Europe to the 
Americas. As a result of travel restrictions impeding the usual rough sales cycles and reduced manufacturing activity for significant periods 
of the year, rough production was reduced and some 30% fewer rough stones entered the pipeline, as compared to 2019, and at discounted 
prices. Ultimately, with renewed retail activity towards the end of the year for the key holiday season, polished stone inventories were 
significantly diminished. This drove polished prices up, concurrent with rough prices having been reduced, enhancing polishers' margins 
significantly. Indeed, the last quarter of 2020 saw a strong recovery in the midstream, with Galaxy® family scans reaching an all-time record 
of daily peaks of 100,000 stones. The run rate of scanning in the fourth quarter of 2020 (and the initial months of 2021) was such that, 
if continued throughout all of 2021, would translate to a 40% growth in the number of stones scanned. Though Covid-19 vaccinations 
have become available, and aggressive inoculation efforts are underway worldwide, Covid-19 related issues are not behind us, as social 
distancing, lockdowns, travel restrictions and other limitations are still affecting the global economy going into 2021. 

We use the following financial indicators to assess our Group’s performance year-on-year.

INDICATOR PERFORMANCE

Revenues Revenues for FY2020 dropped by 20% to US$ 41.0 million from US$ 51.3 million in FY2019 due to the global Covid-19 
pandemic, which dramatically reduced midstream polishing activity during extended periodic lockdowns (~30% fewer 
rough stones entered the pipeline) and impaired capital equipment sales (including Galaxy® family systems). Galaxy® 
family related per-carat usage revenues were down 18%, due to a near dormant second and still weak third quarters, 
affected by full and partial lockdowns, offset by a strong first quarter, before the pandemic hit India, and a strong fourth 
quarter recovery. In FY2020 we delivered only 76 Galaxy® family systems to customers, again due to the pandemic's 
impact after Q1 2020, during which we delivered a record 50 machines. The delivered systems were mostly Meteor™ 
(15) and Meteorite™ (50) models, but also 6 Solaris™ systems and 5 Galaxy® models. As of 31 December 2020, the 
Group had an installed base of 631 Galaxy® family systems. Indeed, despite the reduction in rough stones entering 
the pipeline, we scanned slightly (5%) more stones FY2020 than FY2019 – just under 19 million as compared to just 
under 18 million. Overall recurring revenues, including Galaxy® family related per-carat usage, Quazer® services, annual 
maintenance contracts and the polished-diamond retail-related offerings (i.e., our Sarine Profile™ and Sarine Diamond 
Journey™), constituted approximately half of overall FY2020 revenues (in line with FY2019). Sarine wholesale and retail 
trade related services grew slightly to just over 5% of our reduced revenues as compared to just over 4% in FY2019, 
primarily due to the growing adoption of our digital tenders related services. We expect these revenues will expand 
meaningfully in FY2021 due to:

• The continued expansion of the usage of our digital tenders paradigm to additional producers and its 
application to extended ranges of rough stones;

• The growing interest in our Sarine Diamond Journey™ provenance/traceability solution and our partnering with 
additional producers; and 

• The commercial rollout of our new e-Grading™ offering, along with our specific efforts vis-à-vis the NGTC lab 
in China and leading wholesalers and retailers (e.g., Tiffany & Co. and Japan's QVC). 

Gross Profit Gross profit for FY2020 decreased by 8.5% to US$ 27.1 million, as compared to US$ 29.6 million for FY2019, primarily 
due to lower revenues. For FY2020 the Group recorded a gross profit margin of 66%, significantly more than the 58% 
realised in FY2019, due mainly to the product mix and cost containment measures.

Operational 
Profit

Due to our aggressive cost cutting dictated by the Covid-19 pandemic, our profit from operations for FY2020 grew 
significantly by 333% to US$ 4.8 million, as compared to US$ 1.1 million in FY2019. For FY2020 the Group’s operating 
margin was 11.6% as compared to only 2.1% for FY2019. 

Net Profit For FY2020 the Group reported a net profit of US$ 2.4 million as compared to a net loss of US$ 1.4 million realised in 
FY2019. This was due to our higher operational profitability, despite the pandemic. 

NOTE: The Notes to our Financial Statements provide additional detail.

Operating Review

Opportunities

Market-driven Opportunities:
The global personal luxury goods retail trade contracted in 2020 for the first time since 2009 and decreased by an unprecedented 23% 
due to the Covid-19 pandemic. With vaccinations now available and aggressive inoculation programmes being launched by governments 
worldwide, it is expected that the pandemic's effects will become less acute in 2021. Bain forecasts a very strong rebound in luxury goods 
spending of between 10-12% to 17-19% in 2021, depending on the actual macroeconomic conditions (e.g., success of inoculation rollout vs. 
new mutations). As luxury dollars are not spent on travel or entertainment, due to lingering restrictions, it is forecast that there will be, as 
was witnessed in the last quarter of 2020, a strong rebound in spending on jewellery, in general, and diamond jewellery, in particular. It is 
projected that following 2021 diamond jewellery spending will continue growing at a more typical 3-5% annually, reaching 2019 levels for a 
full recovery to pre-pandemic levels by late 2022 or early 2023.

Due to the changes in our lifestyles during the pandemic, online sales of luxury items expanded dramatically in 2020, by nearly 50%. The 
share of luxury item purchases online almost doubled in 2020 from 12% in 2019 to 23% in 2020. "Brands will need to adjust their footprints 
to the new map of luxury buying, evolve the store role and maximise the customer experience" commented Claudia D'Arpizio, a Bain 
partner and co-author of the study. Online and mobile shopping experiences are putting the role of physical channels at risk. In addition, 
sustainability and environmental issues, as well as diversity and inclusion have become core considerations, with younger consumers 
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placing an unprecedented emphasis on these issues to alleviate social and racial injustice. "Activist" consumers are seeking brands that can 
demonstrate their alignment with this vision.

Our polished diamond retail trade oriented solutions, the Sarine Profile™, Sarine Diamond Journey™, 3D-Origin™, Sarine Connect™, TruMatch™ 
and Verto™, as well as our AI-based grading methodology which generates digital reports integrated into the Sarine Profile™, specifically 
address both these evolving needs – the growing prominence of digital online trade and coincidentally the enabling of an enhanced in-
store experience, on the one hand, and the ability to demonstrate to the younger generation of consumers your brand's alignment with 
sustainability, environmental and social responsibility concerns. All our technologies generate cloud-based data for immediate anytime 
anywhere accessibility on mobile devices, a key factor for appealing to the new 21st century consumer. We intend to leverage this trend, and 
its forecasted growth throughout the upcoming years through 2025, to accelerate our market penetration and broaden our market share. 
We have significantly expanded our sales staff in the key APAC market and are investing in end-market retailer and consumer recognition 
of our Sarine brand. 

Because of the travel restrictions induced by the Covid-19 pandemic, an opportunity has arisen to expand the utilisation of our digital tenders 
paradigm by both producers and wholesale tender houses. We intend to continue leveraging this new awareness of the benefits of all-digital 
tenders (no travel required; immediate broader audience; lower execution costs and participation costs; etc.) to expand our cooperation with 
additional producers, as this also opens doors for cooperation on our Sarine Diamond Journey™ provenance solution.

Lab-grown diamonds (LGD) continued to expand in 2020 with an estimated growth of around 25%. Market studies indicate that fully half 
of U.S. retailers will offer LGD products in their stores or online in 2021, alongside their natural diamond inventories. LGD are no longer 
viewed as a disrupting factor in the retail segment worldwide, but rather as a lower-priced complementing product. The market acceptance 
of lab-grown diamond (LGD) jewellery has created, as we have in the past forecast, a new opportunity for the Group. Having verified the 
adaptability of our various technologies to LGD manufacturing, grading and trade, we will now extend our efforts to penetrate this rapidly 
growing market. We have shown that the Galaxy® inclusion mapping and Advisor® planning technologies can contribute to the optimal 
utilisation of the manufactured LGD raw material. We are now complementing the Galaxy® software with pattern recognition capabilities, in 
order to automatically discern between natural and LGD rough material and adjust the billing for the scanning automatically. Our Quazer® 
3 has proven to be the most cost-effective offering for dicing the LGD wafer into the cubes from which the gems are polished. And our 
AI-based e-Grading™ is especially applicable to LGD grading, as it allows grading of the less expensive finished LGD gem at a much more 
affordable cost than that charged for existing grading services by prevailing gemmological laboratories. In addition, e-Grading™ also lends 
itself conceptually to LGD grading – stones created by technology should naturally be graded by technology.

Company-driven Opportunities:
With deliveries in 2020 of 76 Galaxy® family systems to customers, the Group had an installed base of 631 Galaxy® family systems as of 31 
December 2020. We delivered significantly fewer systems in 2020 than in 2019 (145), due to the impact of the Covid-19 virus on all segments 
of the diamond industry value chain, and particularly so on the manufacturing midstream. Notwithstanding the full-year decrease, the 
first quarter of the year, pre-pandemic impairment, showed exceptionally strong demand for our Galaxy® family systems, with a record 50 
quarterly deliveries. We believe this is indicative of the overall success of our aggressive efforts against the illicit IP-infringing competition 
on the legal front, but even more so from the perspective of our new aggressive marketing. 

Looking forward to 2021 we intend to be even more aggressive in offering attractive terms for acquiring our systems for smaller stones, 
tailoring our offerings to all types and sizes of manufacturers – e.g., a business model specifically for polishers of stones only 10 points 
and less. We intend to focus especially on new business models for our Solaris™ model, where the competition still holds sway. We expect 
significantly stronger sales as a result of these targeted efforts. We will also continue to leverage our technological lead and widen the gap 
between the older planning paradigms, which are those being infringed by the competition, and the new Advisor® 8.0 with enhanced features 
including initial tension mapping utilisation, to be launched during the year. In addition, we are leveraging our best-in-class provenance/
traceability solution, the Sarine Diamond Journey™, and its expanding adoption by producers and retailers, to induce midstream players to 
abandon their use of the illicit solutions.

Marketing programmes utilising the Sarine Profile™ and Sarine Light™ by retailers, primarily in the APAC region, continue to expand, in line with 
the expanding trend of branding and merchandise and experience differentiation. Our Sarine Diamond Journey™ story-telling and provenance 
solution is generating new channels of penetration into the retail markets in APAC, and we expect it will also gain traction in North America. 
As responsible sourcing gains importance amongst high-end retailers catering to concerned consumers, our provenance solution, based 
on actual documented information, garnishes more attention. We believe that our partnering with key producers, such as Alrosa and Lucara, 

Revenue by
Geographic 
Segment 

AFRICA [7%]

EUROPE [4%]

NORTH AMERICA [3%]

ISRAEL [6%]

OTHER [10%]

INDIA [70%]
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has already boosted interest in our Sarine Diamond Journey™ paradigm, and are already in the process of enlisting additional producers 
to our partnering programme. Along with our uniquely extensive online technological presence in the midstream polishing process, these 
partnerships create an exceptional proposition, supplementing our provenance report with actual verifiable traceability documentation, with 
minimal disruption to the polisher's work flow and virtually no indirect additional cost and overhead. We have concluded pilot programmes 
with key high-end retailers with a global presence. Additional pilots have been delayed due to the pandemic outbreak. We expect these other 
test programmes to now move forward. Retailers in Japan, China, other APAC markets and the U.S. have already adopted the Sarine Diamond 
Journey™ traceability for enhancing the consumer's experience, including the 3D-Origin™ option. As a result, midstream suppliers are seeing 
demand for “Journey-ready” stones and are joining our Sarine Journey™ Official Partner Program. They have opted to enable our software 
to collect the appropriate data and imagery during the various stages of manufacture and to store same in our cloud-based database, so 
as to be able to offer their retail customers this option and allow the retailers to handily subscribe to the Sarine Diamond Journey™ service 
based on data already available in our cloud repository. This incurs no direct cost to them, and we are remunerated when the actual Sarine 
Diamond Journey™ report is generated at the retailer's request. Following initial positive market penetration, we have expanded our sales 
staff to support our retail customers, and in 2021 we intend to add additional staff, as warranted (e.g., in west China and the U.S.).

e-Grading™ enables truly objective and consistent grading at a fraction of the time currently required (minutes or hours vs. days or weeks) 
and with none of the indirect costs of shipping, insurance, customs handling, etc. associated with having the grading done at an external 
third-party lab. Furthermore, as our e-Grading™ systems are operated by the polishers' own personnel, most likely the direct cost to the 
polisher will also be less than that commonly paid today to an external lab for the same service, often on a par with the overall cost of 
the actual stone's polishing. e-Grading™ also offers a completely new level of operational flexibility, as well – the polisher can prioritise 
its stones' sequence of grading to best meet delivery schedules. Late in 2020 we began initial beta-testing of this new concept in India. 
The first half of 2021 will be allocated to the ongoing refinement of the solution and implementation of the necessary operational cloud 
infrastructure. Broader introduction to the midstream polishers is scheduled for later in 2021.

Risk Factors

As of this writing, we are still witnessing effects of the global Covid-19 virus pandemic. Though the lingering effects on the APAC market seem 
to be minimal at this time, Europe and the key U.S. market are still facing pandemic-related issues. Notwithstanding the new administration 
in the U.S. having set audacious targets for their inoculation drive, the health infrastructure in the U.S. is less centralised and the population's 
willingness to be vaccinated is less certain, which may slow the process. Notably, the new U.S. government is again taking significant 
steps to stimulate economic activity. A recovery in global consumer demand for luxury goods is expected this year, and China has, indeed, 
experienced a vibrant Chinese New Year season. However, the possibility of mutant strains of the virus emerging is a possibility to be 
considered. 

Our success and ability to compete are substantially dependent on our intellectual property (IP), proprietary patented technology and 
copyrighted software. The steps that we have taken and are taking to protect our IP rights may not be adequate, and we might not prevail and 
be able to prevent others from using what we regard as our technology. If we have to resort to more extensive legal proceedings to enforce 
our IP rights, for instance in the U.S., the proceedings could be significantly more costly, and we may not be able to recover our expenses. 
We may be subject to claims by others regarding infringement of their proprietary technology. In addition to ongoing legal proceedings, as 
noted above under Intellectual Property, we may in the future be involved in additional proceedings, initiated either by us or in response to 
claims by third parties.

We provide retailers with reports and depictions of certain diamond qualities and parameters, including, but not limited to, light performance, 
the diamond's provenance, its 4Cs, Hearts and Arrows, etc. If a retailer's end customer, or another third party, even if we are not contractually 
bound to such end customer or third party, alleges that our report is incorrect, or it is improperly relied upon, and we are held responsible, 
we could be subject to monetary damages.

We are and may continue to be subject to product liability and/or other claims, if people are harmed or their stones or other properties 
damaged by the products we sell or the services we offer.

Disruptions, failures or breaches of our information technology and cloud computing infrastructure could have a negative impact on our 
operations and sales.

As part of our business plan, we are developing new product lines for new industry segments and new products in existing product lines, 
and are expanding our marketing and sales efforts in new and existing market segments and geographical areas. There is no assurance 
that such expansion plans will be commercially successful. If we fail to achieve a sufficient level of revenue, or if we fail to manage our 
costs effectively, we may not be able to recover our expenditures, and our future financial position and performance may be materially and 
adversely affected.

The location of the Company in Israel, and the concentration of its management, research and development and manufacturing activities 
there is a geopolitical risk factor.

Risk Management & Internal Control

The Audit Committee and Management have, through the years, analysed these and many more risk factors and have compiled a matrix of 
risks pertaining to the Group’s business and performance, financial management, information technology (IT) and regulatory compliance 
issues, delineating the severity of their potential negative impairment to the Company and their probability of being realised. Thus, a 
comprehensive weighted prioritised risk factor list has been derived, which is being revisited in 2021. 

The Audit Committee has periodically reviewed the Group’s internal controls and their adequacy at addressing the aforementioned risks in 
general, and has engaged the services of the Internal Auditor for in-depth analyses of key issues on a routine basis. The primary areas that 
were so audited in FY2020, and the internal controls fine-tuned appropriately as per the findings of said audits, were again Galaxy® recurring 
revenue billing cycle and purchasing, in the latter part of the year. In previous years the areas audited were Sarine Technology Lab and 
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Galaxy® service centre procedures, process, security and billing, payment to vendors, payroll, work place safety, collection of receivables, 
IP protection, quality control, customer service, inventory management and purchasing, the sales cycle, payment security and information 
security in Israel, and the Surat building project, Sarine Technology Lab procedures, Galaxy® recurring revenue billing cycle, pre- and post-sale 
standard operating procedures, payment to vendors, collection of receivables, information security, spare parts inventory, customer credits, 
attendance and payroll and the implementation of the ERP system in India, as well as information control and integration between Sarin India 
and Sarine Israel. All the findings of said audits have been reviewed by the Board, with appropriate enhancements to the internal controls 
agreed upon with Management. In many instances (e.g., service centre operations, IT information security and integration, purchasing, 
inventory and attendance and payroll), repeat reviews have been executed to verify the necessary corrective actions’ due implementation.

The Board of Directors of the Company with the concurrence of the Audit Committee is of the opinion that the current internal controls and 
risk management system are adequate and effective in addressing the financial, operational, compliance and IT risks, while noting that no 
system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of errors, cyber-attacks, fraud or other irregularities. A 
renewed assessment of these issues has been scheduled by the Audit Committee to be executed by the Internal Auditor in 2021. The results 
of this effort will be reviewed by the Audit Committee, and the necessary adjustments to the internal controls and risk management system 
will be presented to and adopted by the Board.

The Board of Directors has engaged KPMG to analyse issues pertaining to the sustainability of our business. The Group’s most recent 
Sustainability Report pertaining to FY2019 was published on 25 May 2020. A further update and enhancement pertaining to FY2020 will be 
issued and posted by 31 May 2021, as required by the Listing Rules.

Financial Review

Cash Flow
As at 31 December 2020, cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments (bank deposits) (“Cash Balances”) decreased to US$ 27.6 
million as compared to US$ 29.5 million as of 31 December 2019.  Despite our profitability in FY2020, the negative operating cash flow of 
US$ 1.8 million and the resultant decrease in Cash Balances was primarily due to increased trade receivables of US$ 22.8 million as at 31 
December 2020 (US$15.4 million as at December 31, 2019) driven by extended credit terms provided to certain customers and somewhat 
prolonged collection times associated with the Covid-19 pandemic, reduced trade payables and increased inventory levels associated with 
our continued procurement of parts and subsystems, based on expectations of renewed capital equipment sales in 2021. Cash balances 
also benefited from the receipt of US$ 3.2 million in Covid-19 related Israel government sponsored bank loans (details in Note 30 of the 
financial statements), offset by the payment of a US$ 1.0 million final FY2019 dividend in July 2020.  

Cash Management and Liquidity
Throughout 2020 the Group maintained cash reserves higher than needed for the financing of ongoing operating activities. The policy 
dictated by the Board of Directors for the management of these cash surpluses is to invest them in low-risk short-term interest-bearing 
accounts and instruments with high liquidity, in our working currencies- primarily US Dollars, but also New Israeli Shekels and Indian Rupees. 
Financial instruments held are classified as current assets. When the cash and investment (short-term deposits) balances are analysed and 
compared to the annual cash requirements needed for the financing of the ongoing business activities of the Group, it is apparent that the 
Group has strong liquidity.

Accounting Policies
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards - IFRS. The 
preparation of financial statements, in conformity with the IFRS, requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The financial statements are 
presented in United States Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency, rounded to the nearest thousand. The accounting policies 
set out in our yearly financial reports have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements and 
have been applied consistently to all Group entities.

For more detailed information on our accounting policies and related explanations, please refer to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Shareholder Return

Sarine returned to profitability in FY2020, notwithstanding the extremely challenging global macroeconomic conditions. This was primarily 
due to the higher margin revenue mix and timely and very aggressive cost cutting measures, and also by taking avail of Israeli governmental 
support programmes. Having successfully weathered a very difficult year for all segments of the industry in FY2020, the Group earned US$ 
2.4 million (compared to a US$ 1.4 million loss in FY2019), equivalent to basic profit per share of US cents 0.68 (US cents 0.39 loss per share 
in FY2019) and fully diluted earnings per share of US cents 0.68 (US cents 0.39 loss per share in FY2019).

For FY2020 the Group’s dividend policy provided for the distribution of US cents 1.0 on a semi-annual basis as a dividend to its shareholders. 
In light of the Covid-19 pandemic being at its zenith in the second and third quarters of 2020, the Company paid no interim dividend in 
August 2020, and will pay (subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting on 27 April 2021) a final dividend of US cents 0.5 per share, an 
estimated US$ 1.75 million for the year. This sum is in line with our net profit for the year.

As per the Board of Directors' decision of 28 February 2021, the dividend policy for 2021 will remain US cent 1.0 every six months (subject to 
market conditions and at the Board of Directors’ discretion).
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CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

Being a global leader in our field, Sarine is committed to 
excellence and leadership in research and development, in quality 
manufacturing, in sales ethics and in customer service and support. 
It is our sincerest belief that we can and do contribute to the entire 
industry value chain: the upstream producers, the midstream 
manufacturers and the downstream retail customers as well as to 
the consumer public, by conceiving and producing systems and 
services that optimise the value chain and inspire confidence in the 
quality and value of the polished diamonds produced and offered 
for sale. 

As a responsible member of the modern business environment, 
we have adopted a Code of Ethics to guarantee that we create and 
maintain appropriate relationships with our business partners, 
customers and employees, based on all relevant legal statutes, 
mutual respect, fair play, transparency and sustainable long-term 
business practises. 

Following are the key tenets of our Code of Ethics on which we base 
our everyday business execution: 

• We treat our business partners, customers and employees with 
fairness and dignity. 

• To the best of our ability, we create a safe and protective work 

environment for our employees, and we offer our customers 
safe products, with which to similarly create a safe work 
environment for their employees. 

• In order to ensure operator safety, our products and services 
undergo strict inspections, which are constantly revisited 
by our own engineers and by third-party experts. Operating 
instructions and/or training are provided, as applicable, 
with regard to the proper and safe use of our products and, 
where necessary, built-in safeguards are provided to prevent 
inadvertent unsafe operation. 

• Wherever applicable, we ourselves employ, and we instruct our 
customers as to how to similarly take, all necessary measures 
for the safe and environmentally friendly use and disposal of 
even marginally hazardous materials, as per directions from 
appropriately authorised expert consultants. 

• We believe our business does not impact the ecological 
balance of our environment and does not have any influence on 
the sustainability of the industry or the human/natural fabric in 
which we operate. 

• Our human resources policies protect the rights and interests 
of the Group’s employees, as dictated by all applicable laws in 

SARIN INDIA FOOD STAPLES FOR DONATION TO FURLOUGHED WORKERS DURING COVID 19 PANDEMIC SHUTDOWN
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all the jurisdictions in which we have a permanent established 
presence. Moreover, we go beyond statutory requirements 
to ensure a beneficial employment environment for our 
employees. In India, for example, the Group’s Indian subsidiary 
actively ensures that all its employees and their immediate 
families receive an annual expanded medical checkup, on the 
company’s premises and at its expense, during working hours, 
with a view to promote their healthcare. Additionally, since 
the Covid-19 outbreak, the Group has taken every necessary 
measure and precaution to ensure the employees’ health 
and welfare by enabling employees to work from home or 
by providing a safe and healthy working environment at the 
office, adhering to all applicable government mandates and 
guidelines, in all relevant jurisdictions. 

• We maintain strict policies with regard to equality in the 
workplace, regardless of sex, age, religion, ethnicity, disability 
or other personal traits or beliefs, including the strict and swift 
treatment of any sexual harassment incidents, so as to provide 
a fair, safe and amicable workplace.

o We actively seek to employ individuals living with various 
disabilities in order to promote equal opportunity in the 
workplace. 

o We strive to offer our employees engaging career paths, 
advancing them professionally with appropriate training. 

o We maintain open communication lines between all 
our employees and the various levels of management, 
encouraging our employees to comment on, improve, and 
critique the Company’s activities. We have put in place a 
formal whistleblower policy, encouraging employees and 
business partners to report on any illegal, improper or unfair 
practices they may encounter in their dealings with Sarine. 

o We reward our employees for their contribution to the 
Group’s success, either with cash bonuses, grants of stock 
options or otherwise. 

o The Group organises multiple annual sports and leisure 
activities for the employees and their families, so as to 
enhance the team spirit of our employees and reward them 
for their performance. 

The Group and its employees see great importance in giving back 
to the community. In recent years we have participated in local, 
and national and international programmes for the support of the 
disadvantaged and less privileged segments of our society. 

On the international level, when Covid-19 initially hit China, the team 
at our Sarine Asia Pacific headquarters in Hong Kong coordinated 
the donation of thousands of protective masks and distributed them 
to our Chinese partners and customers.

In India, our most significant market, we have also adopted and 
implemented an active corporate social responsibility policy. In 
2020 we continued our ongoing programme in Lalita Chokadi and 
Katargam localities in Surat, India’s diamond manufacturing centre, 
where we have ‘adopted’ two government primary schools serving 
over 3,950 children.  As part of our ongoing support, over the past 
year, Sarin India has paid the salaries of two teachers in the field of 
Information Technology (IT) and of two cleaning staff. In addition, 
during the Covid-19 lockdown, Sarin India supplied essential food 
packages to indigent workers in the diamond industry.
 
In Israel during 2020, the projects undertaken included:

o Our continued cooperation with the Amal Sharonim High 
School, which consisted of lectures and workshops intended 
to promote active and proactive social involvement among 
the students.

 
o Projects for the Mental Health Center in Safed (the “Clinic”), 

especially for the children's’ wards, have included over 
the years the creation of three extensive gardens and the 
renovation of two clinics. During 2020, we built five large 
outdoor tables and benches for the benefit of the children 
attending the Clinic’s schooling programmes, in order to 
provide additional study areas allowing for better social 
distancing. Furthermore, one of our employees met with 
one of the children at the Clinic on a weekly basis teaching 
him light carpentry and furniture painting and restoration.  

HYGIENIC MASKS PACKED AT HK HEADQUARTERS FOR SHIPPING TO CHINA AT 
OUTBREAK OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

STUDY AND PICNIC TABLE DONATED TO THE CHILDREN'S CLINIC OF THE MENTAL 
HEALTH FACILITY IN SAFED ISRAEL

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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The following chart accurately depicts the Group’s structure at the time of this report.

Sarine Holdings USA Ltd6

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Galatea Ltd1

Sarin Technologies India Pvt Ltd2

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd3

Sarine Polishing Technologies Ltd4

Sarin Hong Kong Ltd5

Sarine North America Inc.7

Sarine IGT 10H Inc.8

Sarine IGT 10I Inc.9

Sarine IGT 10JKL Inc.10

23% IDEX Online SA11

1. Galatea Ltd.  – The developer of proprietary technology for 
the automated detecting and mapping of internal inclusions 
and tension in rough diamonds (the Galaxy®, Galaxy® Ultra, 
Galaxy® XL, Solaris™, Meteor™ and Meteorite™ products).  

 
2. Sarin Technologies India Private Ltd. – The provision 

of pre- and post-sales and technical support for our Group’s 
products in India and Sri Lanka and such other territories as 
may be agreed by our Company and Sarin India from time to 
time. The operation of the service centres in India providing 
customers with inclusion and tension detection and 
mapping for rough diamonds, laser sawing/cutting services 
and the grading of the 4Cs and light performance as well as 
various methods of visualisation of polished diamonds.

 
3. Sarine Color Technologies Ltd. – The development, 

manufacture and marketing of instruments for assessing 
and grading the light performance and for various methods 
of visualisation of polished diamonds. The development of 
artificial intelligence algorithms for the grading of Clarity 
and Color of polished diamonds.

 
4. Sarine Polishing Technologies Ltd. – The operation of 

service centres in Israel providing customers with inclusion 
and tension detection and mapping for rough diamonds and 
4Cs and light performance grading and various methods of 
visualisation of polished diamonds.

5. Sarin Hong Kong Ltd. – The provision of pre- and post-
sales and technical support for our Group’s products in 
the Asia Pacific region, including Australia, China, HK, 
Indonesia, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, Taiwan and 
Thailand.

 
6. Sarine Holdings USA Ltd. – An Israeli holding company 

for the Group’s North American subsidiaries.
 
7. Sarine North America Inc. – The Group’s operating 

company for Sarine’s North American operations.
 
8. Sarine IGT 10H Inc. – A real estate holding company for 

one of the three office units in the International Gem Tower.
 
9. Sarine IGT 10I Inc. – A real estate holding company for 

one of the three office units in the International Gem Tower.

10. Sarine IGT 10JKL Inc. – A real estate holding company 
for one of the three office units in the International Gem 
Tower.

 
11. IDEX Online SA. – A publisher of a leading trade magazine 

and an operator of a web portal for news, analyses and 
polished diamond price indexes, including a business-to-
business (B2B) polished diamond trading e-commerce 
platform and a business-to-consumer (B2C) polished 
diamond web site.

 

GROUP
STRUCTURE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sarine’s shares were listed for trade on the SGX-ST on the 8th of April 2005. 

The Company’s corporate governance practices are described with specific reference to the Code. The Company has exercised its best 
efforts to adhere with the principles and guidelines of the Code. In the few cases, where the Company did not do so, the Company has 
explicitly specified the respective background, circumstances and reasons. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") is entrusted with the responsibility for the overall management of our Company. The 
Board’s primary roles are: to (i) provide entrepreneurial leadership, and set strategic objectives, which should include appropriate focus 
on value creation, innovation and sustainability; (ii) ensure that the necessary resources are in place for the Company to meet its strategic 
objectives; (iii) establish and maintain a sound risk management framework to effectively monitor and manage risks, and to achieve an 
appropriate balance between risks and Company performance; (iv) constructively challenge Management and review its performance; (v) 
instill an ethical corporate culture and ensure that the Company’s values, standards, policies and practices are consistent with the culture; 
and (vi) ensure transparency and accountability to key stakeholder groups. 

All directors are well aware of their professional and fiduciary duties and responsibilities as officers of the Company (including their duties 
of care and duties of trust). In particular, and in accordance with applicable law, directors who may be deemed as having a personal interest 
in any matter related to the Company, disclose such (actual or deemed) conflict of interest and recuse themselves from discussions and 
decisions involving such matters.

The Board is authorised to delegate some of its authorities to permanent or ad-hoc Board committees. The Board has thus established 
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nominating Committee and the Executive Committee (the Executive Committee 
is, basically, an advisory committee and has no executive powers). The Board has also authorised its senior officers (during the period 
commencing as of January 1st, 2018) to issue shares upon the exercise of options under the Company's share option plans. Notwithstanding 
any delegation of powers as aforesaid, the Board remains responsible, at all times, to any acts or omissions of any of the Board committees.  

In line with applicable law, the Board is entrusted with all matters related to the Company's share capital, assumes the responsibility for the 
approval of the Company's financial statements and sets the Company's goals and policies. The Board also appoints the CEO and oversees 
the performance of his duties. 

Within this framework, the Board discusses and resolves any matters, which require the Board’s approval under any applicable law (including, 
without limitation, interested persons’ transactions) and/or any activities conducted pursuant to the guidelines set by the Board. In general, 
any material issue concerning Sarine (e.g. strategic planning, material research and development milestones, risk assessment and risk 
management, material market and/or business development issues, potential material transactions, substantial capital investments, etc.) 
is brought to the attention of the Board.

The Nominating Committee and the Board also consider multiple board representations of members of the Board, so to ascertain that Board 
members have sufficient time and attention necessary for the exercise of their duties as directors (the Nominating Committee and the Board 
have considered the directorship positions of Mr. Lim, Ms. Shine and Mr. Sin and are of the opinion that such do not interfere with their 
service as independent directors of the Company). 

The Board meets regularly and in any event no less frequently than five times every calendar year. The Company's Articles of Association 
(the "Articles") and the Israeli Companies law allow the convening of meetings of the Board using conference calls or any other device 
allowing each director participating in such meeting to hear all the other directors participating in such meeting. Since March 2020 to date all 
Board meetings were held by way of video conference (with management and  certain Israeli directors attending at the Company’s offices). 
Board materials and Committees’ materials are disseminated to the members of the Board and to the members of the respective Board 
Committees in a timely manner, prior to each meeting.

The attendance (in person or by designated alternate) of the directors in the Board meetings held in 2020 was as follows (in addition, a 
written resolution was passed on one occasion):

Board of Directors – 2020

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert 7 7

Mr. Yehezkel Pinhas Blum 
   (until 25 June 2020) 7 5

Mr. Chan Kam Loon (until 25 June 2020) 7 5

Mr. Avraham Eshed 7 7

Mr. Uzi Levami 7 7

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng (since 25 June 2020) 7 2

Ms. Valerie Ong Choo Lin 
   (until 25 June 2020) 7 5

Ms. Varda Shine 7 7

Mr. Sin Boon Ann (since 25 June 2020) 7 2

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai (since 25 June 2020) 7 2
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Audit Committee – 2020

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Yehezkel Pinhas Blum 
   (until 25 June 2020) 3 1

Mr. Chan Kam Loon (until 25 June 2020) 3 1

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng (since 25 June 2020) 3 2

Ms. Valerie Ong Choo Lin 
   (until 25 June 2020) 3 1

Ms. Varda Shine 3 0

Mr. Sin Boon Ann (since 25 June 2020) 3 2

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai (since 25 June 2020) 3 2

Remuneration Committee – 2020

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Yehezkel Pinhas Blum 
   (until 25 June 2020) 1 1

Mr. Chan Kam Loon (until 25 June 2020) 1 1

Mr. Uzi Levami 1 1

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng (since 25 June 2020) 1 0

Ms. Valerie Ong Choo Lin 
   (until 25 June 2020) 1 1

Ms. Varda Shine 1 0

Mr. Sin Boon Ann (since 25 June 2020) 1 0

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai (since 25 June 2020) 1 0

Nominating Committee – 2020

Name of Director No. of Meetings Held Attendance

Mr. Yehezkel Pinhas Blum 
   (until 25 June 2020) 1 1

Mr. Chan Kam Loon (until 25 June 2020) 1 1

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert 1 1

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng (since 25 June 2020) 1 0

Ms. Valerie Ong Choo Lin 
   (until 25 June 2020) 1 1

Ms. Varda Shine 1 0

Mr. Sin Boon Ann (since 25 June 2020) 1 0

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai (since 25 June 2020) 1 0

The Management of the Company provides the Board with interim and periodical (quarterly/annual) financial reports (in line with the SGX 
RegCo’s announcement of 9 January 2020, the Company publishes semi-annual and annual financial statements, but the Board discusses 
the Company’s performance at least on a quarterly basis), budget control reports and additional financial and operational information. 
The Board has separate and independent access to senior Management of the Company. Requests for information from the Board are 
dealt with promptly. The Board is informed on all material events and transactions as and when they occur. Professional advisors (e.g. 
with regard to securities-related matters, compliance, insurance, cyber-security, audit, etc.) may be appointed to advise the Board, or (in 
special circumstances – as provided by Israeli law) any of its members, if the Board or any individual member thereof needs independent 
professional advice (under Israeli law, the retention of an independent counsel by a director is subject to the Board or the court's approval, as 
applicable; when considering a director's request in this regard, the court will consider the adequacy of the advice rendered by the Board's 
counsel/s and the fees charged by an independent counsel, in view of the matter in question and the Company's financial situation).

The Board is involved in the appointment and removal of the Company secretary. The Company secretary (who also serves as an external 
legal counsel to the Company) attends all Board and Board committees' meetings and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are 
followed and for the recording of the minutes. Together with the Chairman and the Management, the Company secretary is responsible for 
compliance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations in this regard.

During 2020 the entire Board was replaced/reelected (three independent directors retired and three new independent directors were elected; 
three non-independent directors and one independent director were re-elected). All but one of the newly elected independent directors had 
prior experience as directors in a publicly traded company listed on the SGX. The new independent director with no such prior experience 
attended the Singapore Institute of Directors’ (SID) LED - listed entity director programme - as required under Rule 210(5) of the SGX Listing 
Rules (Mainboard). All Board members are instructed and advised, on an ongoing basis, with regard to their roles, responsibilities, powers 
and duties. Such orientation includes dissemination of written materials, prepared by the Company and its counsels, periodical updates with 
regard to legal and corporate governance developments affecting the Board and the directors, personal communication with the Company's 
secretary and ongoing discussions at Board meetings.
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During Q1 2020 all new directors (then – candidates) attended an orientation programme conducted at the Company’s premises – which 
programme addressed issues such as  (i) the Group's structure and activities; (ii) the directors' powers and duties; and (iii) accounting, legal 
and other industry-specifics aspects (as required). 

The newly appointed Nominating Committee has started discussing a policy and criteria for directors’ development (please see discussion 
under Principle 4 below). 

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance   

The Nominating Committee of the Board, in its meeting of 5 January 2020, opined that the following general criteria should be applied to the 
Board of Directors composition: 

• The Board should comprise 7 to 9 directors. The current structure (7 directors) is sufficient and effective. The Board may consider 
adding additional directors, on a case by case basis, giving proper weight to the potential contribution of the additional member/s 
vis-à-vis the effects on the effectiveness of the Board. 

• The majority of the Board should be comprised of independent directors. 
• The Board should be comprised of directors having appropriate expertise and experience in areas related to the operations of 

the Group. Specifically, if 7 directors, preferably three from the diamond industry, preferably from the various segments thereof 
(upstream production (mining), midstream polishing and wholesale trade, and downstream retail trade), preferably two with relevant 
technological background, at least one with accounting / financial review and reporting expertise and at least one with corporate 
governance expertise. If 9 directors, an additional one from the diamond industry and an additional one with relevant technological 
background. 

• The Board should be gender diversified.

As of the date of this report, the Board comprises seven directors, the majority of who are independent (two of those directors, namely Ms. 
Neta Zruya-Hashai and Mr. Sin Boon Ann also qualify as “External Directors”, under Israeli law) and six directors out of the seven are Non-
Executive Directors. Thus the Board is able to exercise objective judgment, independently from Management and no individual or small 
group of individuals can dominate the decisions of the Board.

The Board is of the opinion that its current size is adequate. However, the Board may consider the addition of up to two additional directors 
in the future, optimally with strong technological and/or business development record, taking into account the optimal Board's size on the 
one hand, and the benefits of diversity and complementary expertise on the Board on the other hand.

The Board committees reflect an appropriate balance and mix of skills, knowledge, experience, and other aspects of diversity such as 
gender and age, so as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate.

Ms. Varda Shine has been appointed by the Annual General Meeting as the Lead Independent Director.  

The Nominating Committee and the Board have reviewed the independence of each of the Company’s  independent directors and applied 
the Code’s definition (as well as the definitions of Israeli law) of independent director qualifications in its review. 

As noted below (under the discussion re Principle 4), according to the Articles, each director shall serve, unless the Annual General Meeting 
appointing him or her provides otherwise, until the third Annual General Meeting following the Annual General Meeting at which such director 
was appointed, or his or her earlier resignation or removal pursuant to the provisions of the Articles. The current directors were elected in 
2020 and are expected to serve until 2023. Therefore, the Nominating Committee has resolved that succession and Board diversity matters 
shall be discussed in 2021-2022, prior to the retirement of the current members of the Board. 
 
Key information about the directors is detailed in the “Board of Directors” section of the Annual Report.

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Executive Non-Executive Independent

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert Mr. Avraham Eshed Ms. Varda Shine (Lead)

(Chairman) Mr. Uzi Levami Mr.  Lim Yong Sheng

Mr.  Sin Boon Ann 

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai

There are no permanent alternate directors (in the past alternate directors have been appointed in very few cases and only for specific 
meetings; during 2020 no alternate director was appointed).

The Board draws from a broad spectrum of backgrounds, ages, genders, competencies and disciplines: from the diamond and gemstones 
industry (including “upstream”, “midstream” and “downstream” segments of the industry) the high-tech industry, the business community, 
legal practice and management. As noted above, the Company is also considering seeking additional directors who will enrich and diversify 
the Board. 

The Non-Executive Directors participate actively in developing strategy and in reviewing the performance of the Company.

The independent directors also meet without the presence of the Management of the Company, to the extent necessary or advisable. 
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Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

The Executive Chairman and the CEO of the Company are separate individuals. They are not related.

According to the resolution of the Board: 

“The Company is of the view that a distinct separation of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO will indeed ensure an appropriate 
balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making.

As the most senior executive in the Company, the CEO bears executive responsibility for the Company’s day-to-day business according to 
the policies set by the Board and subject to the Board’s directives, and works with the Board on strategic planning, business development 
and generally charting the growth of the Company.

The CEO shall report to the Board on a periodic basis and shall seek the Board's advice and consent.   

The Chairman bears responsibility for the proper functioning of the Board and the Board's committees (and of the Non-Executive Directors 
in particular), maintains on-going supervision over the Management of the Company and over the flow of information from the Company’s 
Management to the Board, and assists in promoting high standards of corporate governance and ensuring compliance with the Company's 
guidelines of corporate governance.

The Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the Board meetings agenda in consultation with the CEO.

The Chairman ensures effective communication between the Board and the Company's shareholders.” 

Mr. Chan Kam Loon has served as the Company’s Lead Independent Director and upon his retirement (in 25 June 2020), Ms. Varda Shine 
has assumed such position.

The Board’s Executive Committee (comprised of Messrs. Glinert and Levami and of Ms. Shine) meets regularly with the CEO to discuss 
strategic matters. As noted above, the Executive Committee serves as an advisory committee only and as an interface between the CEO 
and the Board.

Principle 4: Board Membership

According to the Articles, each director shall serve, unless the Annual General Meeting appointing him or her provides otherwise, until the 
third Annual General Meeting following the Annual General Meeting at which such director was appointed, or his or her earlier resignation or 
removal pursuant to the provisions of the Articles. A director who has completed his or her term of service or has been removed as aforesaid 
shall be eligible for re-election. The directors who qualify as “External Directors” may be removed from office only if they no longer qualify 
to serve as such.  

The Nominating Committee comprises four directors, the majority of whom, including the Chairman, is independent. As at the date of this 
Report, the Nominating Committee members are:

Mr. Sin Boon Ann
Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert
Mr. Lim Yong Sheng
Ms. Varda Shine 

(Chairman and Independent Director) 
(Executive Chairman of the Board)
(Independent Director)
(Lead Independent Director)

Our Nominating Committee is responsible for:

(a) the review of succession plans for directors, in particular the appointment and/or replacement of the Chairman, the CEO and key 
management personnel; 

(b)  the process and criteria for evaluation of the performance of the Board, its board committees and directors; 

(c)  the review of training and professional development programmes for the Board and its directors; and 

(d)  the appointment and re-appointment of directors (including alternate directors, if any). 

In performing its duties, the Nominating Committee considers the considerations set forth in Principles 1 & 2.

The Nominating Committee determined, based on information provided to it by all independent directors, that all directors designated 
as Independent Directors are indeed independent.  The Nominating Committee also determined that all directors have been adequately 
carrying out their duties as directors of the Company.
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Based on the information provided to the Company by the members of the Board, the following directors hold the following directorship 
positions in publicly traded companies and/or other commitments:

Daniel Benjamin Glinert Uzi Levami Avraham Eshed

Interhightech (1982) Ltd., a 
founding shareholder of the 
Group (currently a holding 
company)

Interhightech (1982) Ltd., a 
founding shareholder of the 
Group (currently a holding 
company);
Ayin Lev Ami (2000) Ltd., a 
family-owned
asset holding company;
Yummi Ltd., a family-owned 
private company

Eshed Diam Ltd. (Israel), Eshed 
Diam Inc. (USA), Eshed Diam 
(HK) Ltd., Eshed Designs Ltd., 
Gemstar Ltd., Gem
Selection Inc. (USA) and Bilbao 
Trade and Investment Ltd.  (all 
wholly family-owned private 
firms).

Lim Yong Sheng Varda Shine Sin Boon Ann Neta Zruya-Hashai

SK Jewellery Group Ltd.;
MoneyMax Financial Services 
Ltd.*

Petra Diamonds Ltd.*;
Mineral Development Botswana;
Niron;
Merryck & Co;
Teenage cancer Trust  (charity)

The Trendlines Group Ltd.*;
Healthway Medical Corporation 
Limited*;
TIH Limited*;
HRnetGroup Limited*;
Rex International Holding 
Limited*;
OUE Limited*;
CSE Global Limited*;
Balkan Holdings Pte. Ltd.;
W Capital Markets Pte. Ltd.;
The Farrer Park Company Pte. 
Ltd.;
At-Sunrice (Holdings) Pte. Ltd.;
Esseplore Pte. Ltd.;
Singapore Centre for Social 
Enterprise Ltd.;
Tampines Central Community
Foundation Limited.

Raphael Hospital – CFO
Chairman of the Audit 
committee of two non-profit 
organizations:
• The Association for the 
Advancement of Education in 
Israel – "One of Ours"
• The Big Brother Association 
for Lone Soldiers

* Listed company

The Nominating Committee is of the view that all directors are able to and have adequately carried out their duties as directors of the 
Company, notwithstanding such other directorships and/or principal commitments. With reference to Mr. Sin Boon Ann, the Company 
noted that Mr. Sin retired from his former full-time positions as a Deputy Managing Director of the Corporate & Finance Department and 
the Co-head of the Capital Markets Practice in Drew & Napier LLC. and as member of the Singapore Parliament. Hence, given Mr. Sin’s 
professional record, after having considered all aspects of Mr. Sin’s directorship, e.g., his experience and expertise, his other positions in 
other corporations, the fact that the Company may even benefit from Mr. Sin’s directorship in other corporations,  given Mr. Sin’s exposure 
to additional schools of thought and management, and his ability to share such any general insights gained from such positions (without 
sharing any non-public information, of course) with the Company, the Nominating Committee and the Board are of the opinion that Mr. Sin is 
able to diligently discharge his duties as a member of the Board in general and as an independent director in particular.

Principle 5: Board Performance

Our Nominating Committee decides how the Board's performance is to be evaluated and proposes objective performance criteria, subject to 
the approval of the Board, which are used to assess the degree to which the Board enhances long-term shareholder value. 

Each member of the Board evaluated the performance of the Board as a whole and the aggregate (and anonymized) results were submitted 
to our Nominating Committee, who conducted a discussion based on same. The performance evaluation takes into consideration, among 
other issues, the achievement of the Company's strategic goals and the actual participation and contribution of each director. 

Given the unique Covid-19 effects and the fact that the current Board has been in office less than nine months, the Nominating Committee 
resolved that a personal evaluation of each director shall be conducted in 2021. 
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Principle 6: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The Remuneration Committee comprises 5 directors, the majority of whom is independent. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration 
Committee members are:

Mr. Varda Shine 
Mr. Uzi Levami 
Mr. Lim Yon Sheng
Mr. Sin Boon Ann
Ms. Neta Zruya Hashai

(Chairperson and Lead Independent Director) 
(Non-Executive Director)
(Independent Director)
(Independent Director)
(Independent Director)

Our Remuneration Committee recommends to our Board of Directors a framework of remuneration for our directors and key executives 
and recommends specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director and the CEO. All aspects of directors' and key executives’ 
remuneration, including but not limited to directors' fees, salaries, allowances and bonuses, options and benefits in kind are dealt with by 
our Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee and the Board rely, among other things, on periodical remuneration surveys 
conducted by independent Israeli remuneration experts (such as Zviran Compensation and Benefits Solutions). Each member of our 
Remuneration Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of his/her remuneration package. The remuneration of our 
independent directors, who are deemed also as “External Directors” according to the provisions of the Israeli Companies, is also subject to 
the limitations set by Israeli law.

The Company's overall remuneration policy and specific remuneration packages for the directors and key executives were presented to the 
General Meeting and approved by it at the Annual General Meeting held on 30 April 2019. In this year’s Annual General Meeting the General 
Meeting will be requested to approve the Company’s new remuneration policy and specific remuneration packages for the directors and key 
executives. Please see the Notice of Annual General Meeting for further details.  

Principle 7: Level and Mix of Remuneration 

The Company’s remuneration policy is tailored to the specific role and circumstances of each of the directors and key management personnel, 
so as to ensure an appropriate remuneration level and mix that recognises the performance, involvement, potential and responsibilities of 
these individuals. 

A certain portion of the officers’ and the executive directors’ remuneration is performance-related and takes account of the Company’s 
medium-term and long-term Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

The Company has in place an Employee Share Option Plan that serves to provide a longer-term incentive better aligned with long-term 
performance of the Company and of the directors, officers and employees. 

Since its listing on the SGX-ST, the Company had been granting share options to its employees under its 2005 Share Option Plan (the "2005 
Plan"). The 2005 Plan is described in the Company's prospectus and a copy thereof is attached to the said prospectus. Following the expiry 
of the 2005 Plan, the Company's General Meeting, held on 20 April, 2015 approved a new Share Option Plan, substantially similar to the 2005 
Plan (the "2015 Plan”). The Board of Directors has set guidelines concerning, among other things, eligibility to receive share options (based 
on performance and time of service with the Company), vesting periods (typically over four years from the date of grant) and the minimum 
and maximum amounts of share options to be granted (based on seniority and expertise). Executive Directors, senior officers and key 
employees are also granted performance-based options, to be vested over two-four years, based upon the achievement of business goals. 

The Company’s performance-based equity grants include contractual provisions allowing the reclaiming of incentive components of 
remuneration from executive directors and from officers in cases of misstatement of financial results.

The Executive Directors's remuneration package and the key Management personnel’s remuneration framework are structured in a way that 
links rewards to corporate and individual performance. Cash bonuses and share options are linked, to a great extent, to the achievement of 
the Company's strategic goals. 

The review of remuneration packages also takes into consideration the pay and employment conditions within the industry (in this context 
– the Israeli high-tech industry, which is highly competitive) and the long-term interests of the Group. The review covers all aspects of 
remuneration including salaries, fees, allowances, cash bonuses and share options.

The Remuneration Committee’s recommendations are submitted for endorsement by the entire Board, and, where required under law, are 
also brought to the shareholders' approval.

Remuneration of independent directors is set according to the applicable laws and regulations and at a level commensurate with their prior 
experience and level of responsibility, after taking into account industry benchmarks. 

The Company believes that the current remuneration of independent directors is at a level that will not compromise the independence of 
such directors.

It should be noted, that the two Non-Executive Directors are also shareholders of the Company (holding between 3% to 4% of the Company's 
shares each).

Further information about the Company’s current remuneration policy may be found in the Company’s 2018 Annual Report. Further 
information about the Company’s proposed remuneration policy may be found in the Notice of General Meeting.
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Principle 8: Disclosure of Remuneration

The remuneration (including performance cash-based incentives and non-cash option compensation) paid and accrued by us and our 
subsidiaries to each of our directors, our CEO and our top five (in terms of amount of remuneration) employees (not being directors) for 
services rendered to us in all capacities during 2020, were as follows:

Directors and the CEO:

Name Position Remuneration 
(in S$’000)

Breakdown between Fixed Income 
and Performance Based Incentives

Fixed
Income

Cash Performance 
Based Incentives

Options (Non-Cash, 
Based on Fair Value) 

Mr. Daniel Benjamin 
Glinert

Executive Director 
and Chairman

419 53% 40% 7%

Mr. Yehezkel Pinhas 
Blum

Independent 
Director (until 25 
June 2020)

47 84% -- 16%

Mr. Chan Kam Loon
Independent 
Director (until 25 
June 2020)

40 81% -- 19%

Ms. Valerie Ong 
Choo Lin

Independent 
Director (until 25 
June 2020)

40 81% -- 19%

Ms. Varda Shine
Lead Independent 
Director

95 85% -- 15%

Mr. Avraham Eshed
Non- Executive 
Director

11 100% -- --

Mr. Uzi Levami
Non-Executive 
Director 

24 100% -- --

Mr. Lim Yong Sheng
Non- Executive 
Director (since 25 
June 2020)

28 77% -- 23%

Mr. Sin Boon Ann
Non- Executive 
Director (since 25 
June 2020)

28 77% -- 23%

Ms. Neta Zruya 
Hashai

Non- Executive 
Director (since 25 
June 2020)

33 80% -- 20%

Mr. David Block CEO 688 56% 33% 11%

Top Five Key Management Personnel (Corporate Vice Presidents):

Name Position Remuneration 
(in S$’000)

Breakdown between Fixed Income 
and Performance Based Incentives

Fixed
Income

Cash Performance 
Based Incentives

Options (Non-Cash, 
Based on Fair Value) 

Mr. Roni Ben Ari

Deputy CEO 
and Executive 
VP Product 
Management

2 77% 14% 9%

Mr. William Kessler CFO 2 78% 13% 9%

Mr. Oren Ben-Kohav
VP Global 
Operations

2 83% 8% 9%

Mr. Tzafrir Engelhard
VP New Business 
Development

2 85% 8% 7%

Mr. Abraham Kerner
VP Research & 
Development

2 86% 8% 6%

Notes:
Band 1: remuneration of up to S$ 250,000 per annum.
Band 2: remuneration of between S$ 250,001 to S$ 500,000 per annum.
Band 3: remuneration of between S$ 500,001 to S$ 750,000 per annum.
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The aggregate remuneration paid to the top five key Management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO) for the year ended 31 
December 2020 was S$ 1,787,000 (including the aggregate fair value of non-cash option compensation). 

Any future arrangements concerning the remuneration of our directors and CEO shall be brought to the approval of our Remuneration 
Committee, Board of Directors and General Meeting. The Company’s General Meeting, scheduled for 27 April 2021, will be requested to 
approve the new remuneration policy as well as the remuneration of our directors and CEO for the years 2021 through 2023.

Any future arrangements concerning the remuneration of our key executives shall be brought to the review of the Remuneration Committee 
and Board of Directors. 

Incentive-based compensation which is linked to the Company's business results is based on audited financial results and may be corrected 
after the fact (and duly reimbursed by the beneficiary), if subsequent audits find errors which call for restatements of results.

During 2020, all share options granted under the 2015 Plan were granted at the Market Price (as such term is defined in the 2015 Plan). 
Further details with regard to the options granted by the Company may be found in the "Directors Report" section of the annual report.

The Company has no employees who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO (and by extension, none whose remuneration 
exceeded S$ 100,000 during the year). 

None of the Company's agreements with its Executive Directors and/or key employees include any overly generous termination-related 
clauses. Except as required by law, the Company does not grant long termination notice periods and/or any other termination-related benefits 

No directors participate in decisions on their own remuneration. 

Principle 9: Accountability and Audit, Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders. The Board provides the shareholders with periodical, and to the extent necessary 
and/or required – immediate, reports with regard to the business, financial and other aspects of the Company’s activities.

The Company also invests substantial efforts in maintaining and securing sustainable growth and operations, while serving the interests 
of its Shareholders. The Company integrates sustainability considerations into its strategy and its operations by actively engaging with the 
local communities in which it operates, taking responsibility for the life cycle of the Company’s products and putting its people at the heart 
of its priorities. 

The Audit Committee and Management have mapped and analysed the Group's risks and have compiled a matrix of risks pertaining to the 
Group’s business and performance, financial management, information technology (IT) cyber-security and regulatory compliance issues, 
delineating the severity of their potential negative impairment to the Group and their probability of being realised. Thus, a comprehensive 
weighted prioritised risk factor list has been derived. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s internal controls and their adequacy 
at addressing the aforementioned risks in general. The Audit Committee has engaged the services of the Internal Auditor for in-depth 
analyses of key issues on a routine basis. The Group's matrix of risks will again be revisited by the Internal Auditor in 2021. 

Since 13 November 2018 the Company has commenced releasing annual Sustainability Reports. The Company’s most recent Sustainability 
Report was  released on 25 May 2020 and the current Sustainability Report is in preparation and will be released in May 2021, as required.   

The Board takes adequate steps to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, including requirements under the listing 
rules of the securities exchange.

The Management provides the Board with management accounts regarding the Company's performance. Such accounts are provided on a 
periodical basis (and when needed - as warranted by the circumstances), to enable the Board to make a balanced and informed assessment 
of the Company's performance, position and prospects.

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, reviews, on an ongoing basis and at least annually, the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee and Board are of the opinion, upon consultation with the Company’s CEO, the Company’s CFO, the Company's External 
Auditors and the Internal Auditor of the Company, that:

(a) the Company’s financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Company's operations and finances; and 

(b) the Internal Control procedures and risk management of the Group are adequate.

Principles 10: Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four directors, all of whom are independent. As at the date of this Report, the Audit Committee members 
are:

Ms. Neta Zruya-Hahsai 
Mr. Lim Yong Sheng
Ms. Varda Shine 
Mr. Sin Boon Ann

(Chairperson, Independent Director) 
(Independent Director)
(Lead Independent Director)
(Independent Director)
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The members of our Audit Committee possess vast and diverse accounting, financial, commercial and legal expertise and experience. 
Ms. Netz Zruya-Hashai has served as an Audit Partner at Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) Israel, commencing 2000, of which over 7 
years as a partner, and audited firms from various sectors (biotech and life sciences, industrial, retail, finance and holding companies) in 
accordance with IFRS, US GAAP and US / Israel SOX standards (Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) Israel did not provide any audit services 
to the Company since its listing). She holds a BA in Accounting and Communications and an MBA in Finance Management, both from Tel 
Aviv University, and is a Certified Public Accountant (Israel). Mr. Lim Yong Sheng is the Group Chief Executive Officer of SK Jewellery Group 
Ltd., a leading Singaporean retail jewellery chain with over 60 branches across Singapore, China, Malaysia and Thailand (SK Jewellery Group 
Ltd. was listed on the SGX Main Board until 2020).  Ms. Varda Shine has over 30 years of experience in the production and wholesale trade 
of rough diamonds, as well as in the retail trade of polished diamonds and has been an Independent Director of the Group since 2017 and 
Mr. Sin Boon Ann has retired in 2018 from Drew & Napier LLC, after more than 25 years. Prior to his retirement in 2018, he was the Deputy 
Managing Director of the Corporate & Finance Department and the Co-head of the Capital Markets Practice in Drew & Napier LLC.

Further details with regard to expertise and experience of the members of our Audit Committee may be found in the “Board of Directors” 
section of the Annual Report.

Our Audit Committee assists our Board in discharging its responsibility to safeguard our assets, maintain adequate accounting records 
and develop and maintain effective systems of internal control, with the overall objective of ensuring that our Management creates and 
maintains an effective control environment in our Company, in consultation with the Internal Auditor. Under its terms of reference, our Audit 
Committee may seek any information it requires from any employee, and all employees are directed to co-operate with any requests made 
by our Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee also provides a channel of communications between our Board, our Management and our 
Internal and External Auditors on matters relating to audit.

The Audit Committee meets periodically and performs the following functions:

(a) reviews the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the 
Company and any announcements relating to the Company's financial  performance.

(b) reviews at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's internal controls and risk management systems; 
(c)  reviews the assurance from the CEO and the CFO on the financial records and financial statements; 
(d)  makes recommendations to the Board on: (i) the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment and removal of external auditors; 

and (ii) the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors; 
(e)  reviews the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of the external audit and the Company’s internal audit 

function; and 
(f)  reviews the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters to be safely 

raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed up on. 

Based on the review of the External Auditors’ credentials and their registration with and reporting to the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (PCAOB), a member of the International Forum of Independent Audit Regulators, independent of the accounting profession 
and directly responsible for the system of recurring inspection of accounting firms, the Board and the Audit Committee have confirmed the 
External Auditors’ suitability and their ability to meet their audit obligations. The Board and the Audit Committee further satisfied themselves 
that the external audit firms possess the adequate resources, experience and expertise and that the audit engagement partners and the 
supervisory and professional staff assigned to the particular audit possess the necessary skills and experience required for such task.

Apart from the duties listed above, our Audit Committee communicates and reviews the findings of internal investigation into matters where 
there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any law, rule or regulation which has, or is likely 
to have, a material impact on our Company's operating units and/or financial position.  

The Audit Committee has the authority to investigate any matters within its terms of reference and the discretion to invite any director to 
attend its meetings. The Management fully cooperates with the Audit Committee and provides it with resources to enable it to discharge its 
functions properly.

The Audit Committee meets with the Internal and External Auditors several times annually to review the adequacy of audit arrangements, 
with particular emphasis on the scope and quality of their audits, and the independence and objectivity of the Internal and External Auditors. 
Where necessary, the Audit Committee meets with the External and/or the Internal Auditors without the presence of Management.

The Company supports whistle blowing. Employees may raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters. 
Upon receipt of a concern, independent investigation and appropriate follow up action will be taken. So far no matters were raised by whistle 
blowers.

Based on the recommendations of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors appointed, in August 2009, Mr. Doron Cohen, CPA, CIA, of 
Fahn Kanne Control Management, Ltd., subsidiary of Fahn Kanne and Co., Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) (member firm of Grant Thornton 
International) – a reputable auditing firm, as the Internal Auditor of the Company. The Internal Auditor carries out his functions according 
to the standards set by internationally recognised professional bodies. The role of the Internal Auditor is to independently examine, among 
other things, whether our activities comply with the law and orderly business procedures. Our Internal Auditor submits his work plans to the 
prior approval of the Audit Committee and presents his findings to the Audit Committee and to the Board of Directors. The Internal Auditor 
reports to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. According to Israeli law, the Board appoints 
and removes the Internal Auditor, based on the Audit Committee's recommendations. The Internal Auditor's compensation is set by the 
Audit Committee. The Company cooperates fully with the Internal Auditor in terms of allowing access to documents and information and 
the Internal Auditor has unfettered access to all the Company's documents, records, properties and personnel, including access to the Audit 
Committee.
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The Audit Committee reviews annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function and is of the opinion that the internal 
audit function is independent, effective and adequately resourced.

The External Auditors of the Group are Somekh Chaikin Certifed Public Accountants (Isr.), member firm of KPMG International (partner in 
charge, Guy Anavi, appointed with effect 1 January 2019) and Chaikin, Cohen, Rubin and Company (partner in charge, Dani Aviram, appointed 
with effect 1 January 2017). The Group engages a suitable auditing firm, BSR & Co. LLP, member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International, for the statutory audit of its significant foreign-incorporated subsidiary, namely Sarin 
Technologies India Private Limited.

The Audit Committee is updated periodically (and at least annually) on any changes in accounting standards by the External Auditor.

No former partner or director of the Company’s auditing firm has acted as a member of the Company’s Audit Committee.

The Company has complied with Rule 712 and Rules 715/716 of the Listing Manual.

The Company has paid to its External Auditors an aggregate amount of US$ 301,000 for services rendered in 2020, out of which amount, US$ 
217,000 (approximately 72%) were paid as audit fees, US$ 41,000 (approximately14%) were paid for other audit related services, US$ 43,000 
(approximately 14%) were paid as tax fees and US$ nil (0%) were paid for travel expense reimbursement. 

The Audit Committee confirms that it has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided by the External Auditors and is satisfied 
that given the scope and nature of the non-audit related services, such services should not, in the Audit Committee’s opinion, affect the 
independence of the External Auditors. 

Principles 11, 12 & 13: Shareholder Rights and Engagement; Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings; 
Engagement with Shareholders and Stakeholders

The Company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise shareholders' rights and have the opportunity to 
communicate their views on matters affecting the company. The Company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment 
of its performance, position and prospects. 

All shareholders of the Company are provided with the Annual Report and notice of the convening of the Annual General Meeting. At the 
Annual General Meeting shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and ask directors or Management questions regarding the 
Company. The Company's announcements and policies ensure that shareholders are informed of the rules, including voting procedures, that 
govern general meetings of shareholders and have the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at general meetings of shareholders.

The Company tables separate resolutions at general meetings of shareholders on each substantially separate issue unless the issues are 
interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal. Where the resolutions are “bundled”, the Company explains the reasons 
and material implications in the notice of meeting. 

The Company’s results are published through the SGXNET and news releases. The Company does not practice selective disclosure. 
Price-sensitive information is first publicly released, before the Company meets with any group of analysts. Results and annual reports 
are announced or issued within the mandatory period. The Company also provided corporate presentations with any quarterly financial 
statements which were published.

The Company's Chairman and senior Management meet and discuss results, business conditions, prospects, etc., periodically with analysts 
and investors, and presentations made by the Company in such events are generally shared with the public at large.

The Company has a dedicated investor relations team, composed of an in-house team in Israel and of consultants and service providers in 
Singapore and the USA.

The Company’s dividend policy is communicated to the shareholders in the Company’s Annual Reports
 
The Articles were amended in 2015, so as to allow a member of the Company to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote instead of 
such member. Voting in absentia is also allowed.

Through its meetings with investors, analysts and shareholders, the Company gathers information, views and inputs and addresses 
shareholders' concerns.

The Company’s website offers the Company’s shareholders an abundance of information and means of communication with the Company. 

The Company’s Lead Independent Director is accessible to shareholders, who may also contact her directly (and not through the Company). 

The Board and the Management periodically map and identify the Group’s material stakeholders, as part of the Group’s overall responsibility. 
Such matters are also discussed in the Company’s Annual Report and Sustainability Report. 
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Directors’ Report 

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the shareholders of the Company together with the audited statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020.

The Directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Daniel Benjamin Glinert, Chairman of the Board and Executive Director 
Avraham Eshed, Non-Executive Director 
Uzi Levami, Non-Executive Director
Varda Shine, Lead Independent Director 
Neta Zruya Hashai, Independent Director
Lim Yong Sheng, Independent Director 
Sin Boon Ann, Independent Director

Directors’ Interests

According to the share register kept by the Company for the purposes of Sections 127 and 128 of the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999 (the 
“Law”), and according to the information provided to the Company by our directors, particulars of interests of directors who held office at the 
end of the financial year 2020 (the “Year”) in shares in the Company are as detailed below. Except as listed hereunder, none of our directors 
who held office at the end of the Year had any direct interest in the Company’s shares – neither at the beginning of the Year, nor at the end of 
the Year, nor as at 21 January 2021.

Ordinary Shares of the Company
of no par value each

As at 1
Jan. 2020

As at
31 Dec. 2020

As at
21 Jan. 2021

Daniel Benjamin Glinert1 12,359,156 12,359,156 12,359,156

Avraham Eshed2 15,126,922 15,126,922 15,126,922

Uzi Levami3 12,335,406 12,335,406 12,335,406

Note:
1.  Daniel Benjamin Glinert is deemed a shareholder of the Company by virtue of his and his wife’s (Michal Haya Glinert) indirect ownership 

through Glinert Projects Initiation and Execution, Ltd. of 633,953 shares held on their behalf by Bank Hapoalim (Israel) through HSBC 
Singapore custodians, by virtue of his and his wife’s indirect ownership through Glinert Projects Initiation and Execution, Ltd. of 
10,423,953 shares held on their behalf by UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., by virtue of his indirect ownership of 300,500 shares held on his 
behalf by Eyal Khayat, Option Plan 2005 trustee, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., pursuant to the Plan, and by virtue of the indirect 
ownership of 1,000,750 shares held on his wife’s behalf by UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd. [Note: The above number excludes shares held in 
trust by his wife, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., for his son (an adult, who maintains a separate household, who bought such shares 
with his own resources)].

2.  Avraham Eshed is deemed a shareholder of the Company by virtue of his indirect ownership through Gemstar, Ltd. of 14,335,672 
shares held on his behalf by the Israel Discount Bank through Citibank N.A. Singapore custodians, 562,500 shares held on his behalf 
by Eyal Khayat, Option Plan 2005 trustee, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., pursuant to the Plan, and by virtue of his indirect ownership 
of 228,750 shares held on his behalf by Union Bank of Israel Ltd. 

3.  Uzi Levami is deemed a shareholder of the Company by virtue of his indirect ownership through U. Levami Holdings, Ltd. of 11,622,906 
shares held on his behalf by Bank Hapoalim (Israel) through HSBC Singapore custodians and by virtue of his indirect ownership of 
712,500 shares held on his behalf by Eyal Khayat, Option Plan 2005 trustee, through UOB Kay Hain Pte. Ltd., pursuant to the Plan.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR END 31 DECEMBER 2020
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Outstanding options granted to directors under the Company's 2015 Option Plan

Name of Director
Options

outstanding Options vested
2020 share-based 
payment expenses Years granted

Daniel Benjamin Glinert 1,096,123 346,123 US$23,000 2016 and 2019

Uzi Levami 623,611 623,611 US$0 2016

Varda Shine 700,000 350,000 US$11,000 2017 and 2020

Neta Zruya Hashai 350,000 0 US$5,000 2020

Lim Yong Sheng 350,000 0 US$5,000 2020

Sin Boon Ann 350,000 0 US$5,000 2020

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the Year had interests in shares or debentures of the Company 
or of related corporations, either at the later of the beginning of the Year or the commencement of his service as a director or at the end of 
the Year.

Except as disclosed in this report, the Company was not a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable 
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisitions of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body 
corporate.

Since the end of the last financial year (2020), and except as disclosed in the Company’s audited financial statements for the Year, no director 
has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director 
or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial interest.

The Directors are of the opinion, in concurrence with and based on Audit Committee review that the internal control procedures addressing 
financial, operational and compliance risks of the Group are adequate.

Share options

In 2015 the Company adopted a new share option plan (the “2015 Plan”) and since then granted options to employees and directors at no 
consideration. As of 31 December 2020, a total of 32,699,320 options were granted under the 2015 Plan, with each option being exercisable 
into one ordinary share each (of no par value) in the capital of the Company. The options under the 2015 Plan were granted at an exercise 
price ranging between S$0.221 to S$1.878 per option (according to the date of grant). As of 31 December 2020, there were 21,360,006 
options outstanding under the 2015 Plan, with no options having been exercised to date (the balance, 11,339,314, were forfeited). The 
exercise period for options granted under 2015 Plan is six years from the date of grant, with a vesting period of up to four years.

In 2005 the Company adopted a share option plan (the “2005 Plan”), and since then granted options to employees and directors at no 
consideration. As of 31 December 2020, a total of 39,421,435 options were granted under the 2005 Plan, with each option being exercisable 
into one ordinary share each (of no par value) in the capital of the Company. The options under the 2005 Plan were granted at an exercise 
price ranging between S$0.087 and S$2.858 per option (according to the date of grant, and adjusted for the May 2012 bonus issue). As of 31 
December 2020, there were 100,000 options outstanding under the 2005 Plan, and 23,311,854 options have been exercised under the 2005 
Plan (the balance, 16,009,581, having been forfeited). The exercise period for options granted under 2005 Plan is six years from the date of 
grant, with a vesting period of up to four years. 

SGXNET announcements have been made on the dates of the various grants including details of the grant in accordance with the Listing 
Manual.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR END 31 DECEMBER 2020
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises four independent directors. The members of the Audit Committee are Ms. Neta Zruya 
Hashai (Chairperson), Mr. Lim Yong Sheng, Ms. Varda Shine and Mr. Sin Boon Ann. The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging 
its responsibility to safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain adequate accounting records- and develop and maintain effective systems of 
internal control, with the overall objective of ensuring that the management creates and maintains an effective control environment in the 
Group, in consultation with the internal and external auditors.

Auditors

The auditors, Somekh Chaikin, an Israeli partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee, and Chaikin, Cohen, Rubin & Co., Certified Public Accountants 
(Isr.), have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Daniel Benjamin Glinert
Executive Director, Chairman of the Board

Israel
05 April 2021

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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In the opinion of the Directors,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 51 to 88 are drawn 
up so as to give a true and fair view of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of the results of the business, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and

(b) as at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to assume that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
fall due.

On behalf of the Directors

Daniel Benjamin Glinert     
Executive Director, Chairman 

Israel
5 April 2021

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR END 31 DECEMBER 2020
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We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Sarine Technologies Ltd. (hereinafter the “Company”) and subsidiaries 
(the Company and subsidiaries together referred to hereinafter as the “Group”) as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group, 
for each of the years ended on such dates. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's Board of Directors and of its 
Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including standards prescribed by the Auditors 
Regulations (Manner of Auditor's Performance) - 1973. Such standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by the Board of Directors and by Management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and the 
Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the Group’s results of operations, changes in its equity and cash flows, for each of the years 
ended on such dates, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Somekh Chaikin Chaikin, Cohen, Rubin and Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) Certified Public Accountants

Member firm of KPMG International

Tel-Aviv, Israel Tel-Aviv, Israel

March 24, 2021 March 24, 2021

AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF DECEMBER 31

Group Company

Note 2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 12,279 13,474 1,208 1,241 

Right-of-use assets 24 5,050 6,170 4,439 5,403 

Intangible assets 11 2,563 3,625 206 274 

Long-term trade receivables 13 843 756 8 686 

Investment in subsidiaries 28 — — 44,151 39,648 

Long-term income tax receivable 9 1,168 916 — — 

Deferred tax assets 9 604 874 — — 

Total non-current assets 22,507 25,815 50,012 47,252 

Inventories 12 6,247 5,452 3,277 3,276 

Trade receivables 13 21,966 14,595 5,136 4,813 

Other current assets 14 1,591 1,799 763 840 

Short-term investments 
(bank deposits) 15 6,303 11,190 6,303 9,179 

Restricted short-term investments
(bank deposits) 30 171 — 62 — 

Cash and cash equivalents 16 21,081 18,284 10,146 7,433 

Total current assets 57,359 51,320 25,687 25,541 

Total assets 79,866 77,135 75,699 72,793 

Equity

Share capital* 17 — — — — 

Share premium and reserves 33,149 32,819 33,149 32,819 

Translation reserve (2,699) (2,437) (2,699) (2,437)

Dormant shares, at cost 17 (3,689) (3,576) (3,689) (3,576)

Retained earnings 33,930 32,614 33,930 32,614 

Total equity 60,691 59,420 60,691 59,420 

Liabilities

Long-term bank financing 30 3,141 — 1,149 — 

Long-term lease liabilities 24 5,344 5,716 4,914 5,218 

Employee benefits 20 243 234 232 223 

Total non-current liabilities 8,728 5,950 6,295 5,441 

Trade payables 1,868 3,907 1,828 2,306 

Other payables 19 5,903 6,076 5,869 4,425 

Short-term bank financing 30 280 — 95 — 

Current lease liabilities 24 1,023 1,311 724 972 

Current tax payable 1,083 103 — — 

Warranty provision 22 290 368 197 229 

Total current liabilities 10,447 11,765 8,713 7,932 

Total liabilities 19,175 17,715 15,008 13,373 

Total equity and liabilities 79,866 77,135 75,699 72,793 

* No par value

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

Group

Note 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Revenue 6,7 40,968 51,323 

Cost of sales 29 (13,898) (21,739)

Gross profit 27,070 29,584 

Research and development expenses 29 (6,796) (8,184)

Sales and marketing expenses 29 (9,773) (13,535)

General and administrative expenses 29 (5,738) (6,764)

Profit from operations 4,763 1,101 

Finance income 219 422 

Finance expense (974) (1,084)

Net finance expense 8 (755) (662)

Profit before income tax 4,008 439 

Income tax expense 9 (1,643) (1,811)

Profit (loss) for the year 2,365 (1,372)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan 9 (22)

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (262) (225)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 2,112 (1,619)

Earnings per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share (US cents) 18 0.68 (0.39)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (US cents) 18 0.68 (0.39)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Share 
capital*

Share premium 
and reserves

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Dormant 
shares Total

Group and Company US$ thousands

Balance at January 1, 2019  — 32,199 (2,212) 39,245 (3,576) 65,656 

Loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 — — — (1,372) — (1,372)

Other comprehensive loss                     
for the year ended                             

 December 31, 2019 — (22) (225) — — (247)

Share-based payment expenses — 642 — — — 642 

Dividend paid — — — (5,259) — (5,259)

Balance at December 31, 2019 — 32,819 (2,437) 32,614 (3,576) 59,420 

Profit for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 — — — 2,365 — 2,365

Other comprehensive loss 
for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 — 9 (262) — — (253)

Dormant shares, 
acquired at cost (763,800) — — — — (113) (113)

Share-based payment expenses — 321 — — — 321 

Dividend paid — — — (1,049) — (1,049) 

Balance at December 31, 2020 — 33,149 (2,699) 33,930 (3,689) 60,691 

* No par value

53

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD. • ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

Group

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities

Profit (loss) for the year 2,365 (1,372)

Adjustments for:

Share-based payment expenses 321 642 

Income tax expense 1,643 1,811 

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment and right-of-use assets 2,969 3,076 

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,062 1,319 

Net finance income 251 6 

Revaluation of lease liabilities from exchange rate differences 417 536 

Revaluation of bank financing liabilities from exchange rate differences 202 — 

 

Changes in working capital  

Inventories (795) 1,580 

Trade receivables (7,458) 1,055 

Other current assets 208 229 

Trade payables (2,039) 1,579 

Other liabilities (307) (502)

Employee benefits 9 42 

Income tax paid (645) (2,080)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities (1,797) 7,921 

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (765) (834)

Proceeds from realisation of property, plant and equipment 102 63 

Short-terms investments, net 4,887 831 

Restricted short-term investments (bank deposits) (171) — 

Interest received 219 422 

Net cash from investing activities 4,272 482 

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities

Purchase of Company's shares by the Company (113) — 

Receipt of bank financing 3,220 — 

Dividends paid (1,049) (5,259)

Payment of lease liabilities (1,266) (1,264)

Interest paid (399) (497)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 393 (7,020)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,868 1,383 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 18,284 16,832 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (71) 69 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21,081 18,284 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 1 - General

A. Reporting entity 

Sarine Technologies Ltd. (hereinafter “Sarine” or the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Israel. The address of the 
Company’s registered office is 4 Haharash Street, Hod Hasharon 4524075, Israel. The consolidated financial statements of 
the Company, as at, and for the year ended December 31, 2020, comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) (see Note 28). The Company was incorporated on November 8, 1988. 
On April 8, 2005, the Company was admitted to the Main Board list of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Ltd.

B. Introduction 

The Group is a worldwide leader in the development and manufacturing of advanced evaluation, planning, processing, and 
finishing systems for diamond and gemstone production. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of inclusion mapping 
systems, rough diamond planning optimisation systems, laser cutting and shaping systems, laser-marking and inscription 
machines and polished diamond Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading tools and visualisation systems. Sarine 
systems have become standard tools in every modern manufacturing plant, properly equipped gemmology lab and diamond 
appraisal business, and are essential aids for diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. At the heart of these systems is 
computer software that implements three-dimensional modeling and volume / value optimisation using advanced 
mathematical algorithms, and overall system control (motion, image capture, laser functionality, etc.) paired with various 
proprietary hardware technologies, including electro-optics, electronics, precision mechanics and lasers. 

C. Material events in the reporting period

During 2020 the Covid-19 pandemic disrupted much of the diamond industry value chain, as it did many other industries. 
Key effects were the preclusion of the historic methods of rough stone sales activities due to travel restrictions, the locking 
down of major midstream manufacturing centres - e.g., in India from late March through June, with lingering limitations in 
effect into July, and the curtailment of retail activity worldwide for much of the year, which impacted the Group’s revenues. 
As a result, the Group took steps from late March 2020 to reduce its expenses, which included temporary cuts in various 
activities, such as sales and marketing and manufacturing, temporary reductions in employee compensation, and the 
furlough of certain staff. The Group also availed itself of certain Israeli government sponsored support programs. See also 
Note 17 – Share Capital – The Company, Note 29 – Government Grants and Note 30 – Loans and Borrowings.

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation

A. Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter 
– IFRS). 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on March 24, 2021.

B. Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material items in the 
statement of financial position: 

• liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (see also Note 3); 
• assets and liabilities relating to employee benefits;
• deferred tax assets and liabilities; and 
• provisions.

C. Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in United States (US) dollars, or US$, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
The US dollar is the currency that represents the principal economic environment in which the Company and most Group 
entities operate. All financial information presented in US dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, except where 
otherwise indicated.

D. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses. Certain accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements may require management 
to make assumptions regarding circumstances and events that involve considerable uncertainty. Management prepares 
these estimates on the basis of past experience, known facts, external circumstances, and reasonable assumptions. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d)

D. Use of estimates and judgments  (cont’d)

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

• Note 9 – Income Tax (deferred tax assets) – determination of profit forecast which will be offset by carry forward losses;
• Note 10 – Property, plant and equipment (assessment of estimated useful lives);
• Note 11 – Intangible Assets (measurement of amortisation of intangible assets) – assessment of estimated useful lives;
• Note 21 – Share-Based Payments (measurement of share-based payments) – assumptions used in valuation model; 
• Note 24 – Leases – determination of lease term and discount rate of lease liability; and 
• Note 26 – Contingent Liabilities – probability of claims to have a material impact on the Group.

E. Changes in accounting policies

1. Amendment to IFRS 3, Business Combinations 

The Amendment clarifies when a transaction to acquire an operation is the acquisition of a “business” and when it is 
the acquisition of a group of assets that according to the standard is not considered the acquisition of a “business”. 
For the purpose of this examination, the Amendment added an optional concentration test which determines that if 
substantially all of the fair value of the acquired assets is attributable to a group of similar identifiable assets or to 
a single identifiable asset, this will not be the acquisition of a business. In addition, the minimum requirements for 
definition as a business have been clarified, and examples illustrating the aforesaid examination were added. The 
Amendment is effective for transactions to acquire assets or businesses occurring in annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2020. In the opinion of the Group, application of the Amendment may have a material effect on the 
accounting treatment of future acquisitions of operations.

2. Amendment to IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and to IAS 1, Presentation 
of Financial Statements

The Amendment redefines the term “materiality” so that it be used consistently in the Conceptual Framework and 
in the other various standards. According to the Amendment, information is material if omitting, misstating or 
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users on the basis of the 
financial statements. The Amendments are applicable on a prospective basis for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2020. In the opinion of the Group, application of the Amendments is not expected to have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

F.  Company Statements of Financial Position

The Company’s statements of financial position for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 have been prepared on the 
same basis as the consolidated financial statements. 

Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements, and 
have been applied consistently by Group entities.

A. Basis of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control is lost. The 
accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by 
the Group.

In the reporting entity’s separate financial statements, an investment in subsidiaries is accounted for on an equity 
basis. Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss for subsidiaries are reversed only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

A. Basis of consolidation (cont’d) 

ii. Business combinations

The Group implements the acquisition method to all business combinations. The acquisition date is the date on 
which the acquirer obtains control over the acquiree. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the acquiree and it has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the acquiree. Substantive rights held by the Group and others are taken into account when assessing control. 
The Group recognises goodwill at acquisition according to the fair value of the consideration transferred less the net 
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. On the acquisition date the Group recognises 
a contingent liability assumed in a business combination, if there is a present obligation resulting from past events 
and its fair value can be reliably measured. In addition, the consideration transferred includes the fair value of any 
contingent consideration. After the acquisition date, the Group recognises changes in fair value of the contingent 
consideration classified as a financial liability in profit or loss. Changes in liabilities for contingent consideration in 
business combinations that occurred before January 1, 2010 will continue to be recognised in goodwill and will not 
be recognised in profit or loss.

iii. Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

B. Foreign currency

i. Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates as at the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain 
or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of 
the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency 
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

ii. Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to US dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. 
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to US dollars at the average exchange rate for the 
period. Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign 
currency translation reserve. 

C. Financial instruments 

i. Non-derivative financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets

The Group initially recognises trade receivables issued on the date that they are created. All other financial assets 
are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. A financial asset is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issuance of the financial asset. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is 
initially measured at the transaction price. 

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights of the Group to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or the Group transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. When the Group retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, it continues to recognise the financial 
asset.
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

C. Financial instruments (cont’d) 

i. Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d) 

Classification of financial assets into categories and the accounting treatment of each category

Financial assets are classified at initial recognition to one of the following measurement categories: amortised cost; 
fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income 
as described above, as well as financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. On initial recognition, the Group designates financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The Group has balances of trade and other receivables and deposits that are held within a business model whose 
objective is collecting contractual cash flows. The contractual cash flows of these financial assets represent 
solely payments of principal and interest that reflects consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk. 
Accordingly, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost.

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at amortised cost
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost 
is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised 
in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

ii. Non-derivative financial liabilities

Initial recognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade, other short-term liabilities and loans and borrowings from banks. These liabilities 
are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation of the Group, as specified in the agreement, expires or 
when it is discharged or cancelled. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the 
statement of financial position when the Group currently has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

iii. Share capital

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and 
share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Dormant shares
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased by the Group, the amount of the consideration paid is 
recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as dormant shares. When dormant shares 
are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting 
surplus on the transaction is carried to share premium, whereas a deficit on the transaction is deducted from 
retained earnings. 

D. Property, plant and equipment

i. Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. The cost 
of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of production 
overheads. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net within operating 
expenses in profit or loss.
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D. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 

ii. Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
item if it is probable that future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The cost of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

iii. Depreciation 

Depreciation is a systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. The depreciable 
amount is the cost of the asset less its residual value.

An asset is depreciated from the date it is ready for use, meaning the date it reaches the location and condition 
required for it to operate in the manner intended by management.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Machinery and office equipment 6%-20%

Motor vehicles 15%

Demonstration equipment 20%-33%

Computers and computer equipment 15%-33%

Leasehold improvements Lower of estimated useful lives and the lease term

Building and office improvements Estimated useful lives

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 
appropriate.

E. Intangible assets

i. Know-how and intellectual property 

Acquired know-how and intellectual property are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses.  

ii. Goodwill 

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries or activities is included in intangible assets. Goodwill 
represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. The Group examines the useful life of an intangible asset that is not periodically 
amortised (goodwill) at least once a year in order to determine whether events and circumstances continue to 
support the decision that the intangible asset has an indefinite useful life and it is not impaired.

iii. Research and development

Expenditures on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge 
and understanding, are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
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E. Intangible assets (cont’d) 

iii. Research and development (cont’d)

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes. Development expenditures are capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the 
product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group 
has the intention and sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Expenditures 
capitalised include the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing 
the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditures are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

Capitalised development expenditures are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, during the respective reporting periods.

iv. Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets, including in respect of trade names and customer relationships that are acquired by 
the Group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

v. Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditures are capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures, including expenditures on internally generated goodwill and 
brands, are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

vi. Amortisation 

Amortisation is a systematic allocation of the amortisable amount of an asset over its useful life. The amortisable 
amount is the cost of the asset less its residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible 
assets, from the date they are available for use, since this method most closely reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Goodwill is not systematically amortised but is 
tested for impairment at least once a year. 

Internally generated intangible assets are not systematically amortised until they are available for use, meaning are 
brought to the working condition for their intended use. Accordingly, these intangible assets, such as development 
costs, are tested for impairment at least once a year, until such date as they are available for use. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are approximately as follows:

• Acquired know-how and intellectual property   6-8 years
• Capitalised development costs   6 years
• Trade names     5 years
• Customer relationships    8 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted, if 
appropriate.

F. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. The cost of inventories is 
calculated based on the moving average costing method and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories and 
bringing them to their existing location and conditions.  In the case of manufactured inventories and work-in-progress, cost 
includes an appropriate share of overhead based on normal operating capacity.  Inventories are written-down for estimated 
obsolescence, based on assumptions about future demand and market conditions.
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

G. Impairment

i. Non-derivative financial assets 

Financial assets, contract assets and lease receivables

The Group recognises a provision for expected credit losses in respect of financial assets at amortised cost. The 
Group has elected to measure the provision for expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables at an amount 
equal to the full lifetime credit losses of the instrument.

With respect to other debt assets, the Group measures the provision for expected credit losses at an amount equal 
to the full lifetime expected credit losses, other than the provisions hereunder that are measured at an amount equal 
to the 12-month expected credit losses:

• debt instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
• other debt instruments and deposits, for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, and 
when estimating expected credit losses, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant 
and available with no undue cost or effort. Such information includes quantitative and qualitative information, and 
an analysis, based on the Group’s past experience and informed credit assessment, and it includes forward looking 
information. The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the Group in full.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of 
the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;
• a breach of contract such as a default or payments being past due;
• the restructuring of a loan or payment due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of provision for expected credit losses in the statement of financial position

Provisions for expected credit losses of financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the financial assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group does not have reasonable expectations 
of recovering a financial asset at its entirety or a portion thereof. This is usually the case when the Group determines 
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that may generate sufficient cash flows for paying the 
amounts being written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement 
activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due. Write-off constitutes a de-
recognition event.

ii. Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then 
the assets recoverable amount is estimated. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested 
individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”, or 
“CGU”). The Group estimates the recoverable amount of a CGU that contains goodwill and other intangible assets 
that are not yet available for use, on an annual basis, or more frequently if there are indications of impairment. 
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G. Impairment (cont’d)

ii. Non-financial assets (cont’d)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects of the assessment of market participants regarding the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit, for which the estimated future cash flows from the asset or 
cash generating unit were not adjusted. 

Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which 
goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level 
at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired in a business combination, 
for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect 
of CGUs that included goodwill are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. An 
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

H. Employee benefits

i. Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions 
to defined contribution pension and savings plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in 
the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 

ii. Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net 
obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit 
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset).

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high quality New Israeli Shekels (NIS) denominated corporate 
debentures that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. The calculation is performed 
annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a net asset for 
the Group, an asset is recognised up to the net present value of economic benefits available in the form of a refund 
from the plan or a reduction in future contributions to the plan. 

An economic benefit in the form of refunds or reductions in future contributions is considered available when it can 
be realised over the life of the plan or after settlement of the obligation. This calculation will take into consideration 
any minimum funding requirements that apply to any plan. Furthermore, when as part of a minimum funding 
requirement, there is an obligation to pay additional amounts for services that were provided in the past, the Group 
recognises an additional obligation (increases the net liability or decreases the net asset), if such amounts are not 
available as an economic benefit in the form of a refund from the plan or the reduction of future contributions.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) comprise actuarial gains and losses and the return 
on plan assets (excluding interest). Remeasurements are recognised directly in retained earnings through other 
comprehensive income. Interest costs on a defined benefit obligation and interest income on plan assets that were 
recognised in profit or loss are presented under financing income and expenses, respectively.
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H. Employee benefits (cont’d)

iii. Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, which are based on agreements 
with employees and according to management decisions based on Group performance goals and on individual 
employee performance. The Group recognises a liability where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice 
that has created a constructive obligation. 

iv. Share-based payment transactions 

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees and directors are recognised as an 
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the grantee unconditionally become entitled to 
the awards. The amount recognised as an expense in respect of share-based payment awards that are conditional 
upon meeting service and non-market performance conditions is adjusted to reflect the number of awards that are 
expected to vest, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that 
do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment 
awards with market performance vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment awards 
is measured to reflect such conditions, and therefore the Group recognises an expense in respect of the awards 
whether or not the conditions have been met.

I. Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability (without taking into consideration the Group’s credit risk). The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance expense. 

i. Warranties 

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based on 
historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

ii. Legal claims

A provision for claims is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation and it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount of obligation can be estimated reliably. When the value of time is material, the provision is measured 
at its present value.

J. Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared and approved.

K. Revenue

Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets

The Group recognises revenue when the customer obtains control over the promised goods or services. The revenue is 
measured according to the amount of the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods 
or services promised to the customer, other than amounts collected for third parties. 

Identifying the contract 

The Group accounts for a contract with a customer only when the following conditions are met:

• the parties to the contract have approved the contract (in writing, orally or according to other customary business 
practices) and they are committed to satisfying the obligations attributable to them;

• the Group can identify the rights of each party in relation to the goods or services that will be transferred;
• the Group can identify the payment terms for the goods or services that will be transferred;
• the contract has a commercial substance (i.e. the risk, timing and amount of the entity’s future cash flows are 

expected to change as a result of the contract); and
• it is probable that the consideration, to which the Group is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services transferred 

to the customer, will be collected. 
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K. Revenue (cont’d)

If a contract with a customer does not meet all of the above criteria, consideration received from the customer is recognised 
as a liability until the criteria are met or when one of the following events occurs: the Group has no remaining obligations to 
transfer goods or services to the customer and any consideration promised by the customer has been received and cannot 
be returned; or the contract has been terminated and the consideration received from the customer cannot be refunded.

Identifying performance obligations

On the contract’s inception date the Group assesses the goods or services promised in the contract with the customer and 
identifies as a performance obligation any promise to transfer to the customer one of the following:

• goods or services (or a bundle of goods or services) that are distinct; or
• a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the 

customer.

The Group identifies goods or services promised to the customer as being distinct when the customer can benefit from the 
goods or services on their own or in conjunction with other readily available resources and the Group’s promise to transfer 
the goods or services to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. In order to examine 
whether a promise to transfer goods or services is separately identifiable, the Group examines whether it is providing a 
significant service of integrating the goods or services with other goods or services promised in the contract into one 
integrated outcome that is the purpose of the contract.

Determining the transaction price

The transaction price is the amount of the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for the 
goods or services promised to the customer, other than amounts collected for third parties. The Group takes into account 
the effects of all the following elements when determining the transaction price: variable consideration, the existence of a 
significant financing component, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable to the customer.

Satisfaction of performance obligations

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over promised goods or 
services to the customer. 

L. Government grants

1. Grants from the Israeli Innovation Authority (“IIA”) in respect of research and development projects are accounted 
for as forgivable loans according to IAS 20. Grants received from the IIA are recognised as a liability according to 
their fair value on the date of their receipt, unless on that date it is reasonably certain that the amount received will 
not be refunded. The amount of the liability is reexamined each period, and any changes in the present value of 
the cash flows discounted at the original interest rate of the grant are recognised in profit or loss. The difference 
between the amount received and the fair value on the date of receiving the grant is recognised as a deduction of 
research and development expenses.

2. Government grants are recognised initially at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received 
and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Unconditional government grants are 
recognised when the Group is entitled to receive them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are 
presented as a deduction from the corresponding expense. 

M. Leases

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

On the inception date of the lease, the Group determines whether the arrangement is a lease or contains a lease, while 
examining if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
In its assessment of whether an arrangement conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses 
whether it has the following two rights throughout the lease term:

• the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the identified asset; and
• the right to direct the identified asset’s use.

For lease contracts that contain non-lease components, such as services or maintenance, that are related to a lease 
component, the Group elected to account for the contract as a single lease component without separating the components.
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M. Leases (cont’d)

Leased assets and lease liabilities

Contracts that award the Group control over the use of a leased asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, are 
accounted for as leases. Upon initial recognition, the Group recognises a liability at the present value of the balance of future 
lease payments (these payments do not include certain variable lease payments), and concurrently recognises a right-of-use 
asset at the same amount of the lease liability, adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments, plus initial direct costs 
incurred in respect of the lease.

Since the interest rate implicit in the Group's leases is not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee 
is used. Subsequent to initial recognition, the right-of-use asset is accounted for using the cost model, and depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term or useful life of the asset.

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient by which short-term leases of up to one year and/or leases in which 
the underlying asset has a low value, are accounted for such that lease payments are recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis, over the lease term, without recognising an asset and/or liability in the statement of financial position.

The lease term

The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease plus periods covered by an extension or termination option if it is 
reasonably certain that the lessee will or will not exercise the option, respectively. 

Depreciation of right-of-use asset

After lease commencement, a right-of-use asset is measured on a cost basis less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses and is adjusted for re-measurements of the lease liability. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the useful life or contractual lease period, whichever earlier, as follows:

• Office facilities      2-7 years
• Motor vehicles      3 years

Reassessment of lease liability

Upon the occurrence of a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is under the control of the Group 
and had an effect on the decision whether it is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise an option, which was not 
included before in the lease term, or will not exercise an option, which was previously included in the lease term, the Group re-
measures the lease liability according to the revised leased payments using a new discount rate. The change in the carrying 
amount of the liability is recognised against the right-of-use asset, or recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset was reduced to zero.

Lease modifications

When a lease modification increases the scope of the lease by adding a right to use one or more underlying assets, and the 
consideration for the lease increased by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and 
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the contract’s circumstances, the Group accounts for the 
modification as a separate lease.

In all other cases, on the initial date of the lease modification, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract 
to the contract components, determines the revised lease term and measures the lease liability by discounting the revised 
lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

For lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Group recognises a decrease in the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset in order to reflect the partial or full cancellation of the lease, and recognises in profit or loss a profit 
(or loss) that equals the difference between the decrease in the right-of-use asset and re-measurement of the lease liability. 

For other lease modifications, the Group re-measures the lease liability against the right-of-use asset.

N. Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested.  Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or 
loss, using the effective interest method. Interest income on bank deposits is accrued on a time apportioned basis on the 
principal outstanding and at the rate applicable.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on contingent consideration from a business combination, interest expense on 
tax liabilities and bank fees recognised in profit or loss. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance expenses depending 
on whether the foreign currency movement was in a net gain or net loss position. In the statements of cash flows, interest 
received and dividends received are presented as part of cash flows from investing activities. Interest paid and dividends 
paid are presented as part of cash flows used in financing activities.
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

O. Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in equity or 
in other comprehensive income, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted 
as at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of prior years.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and there is intent to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or the tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

A provision for uncertain tax positions, including additional tax and interest expenses, is recognised when it is more probable 
than not that the Group will have to use its economic resources to pay the obligation.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at 
the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax benefits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised. 

Deferred tax assets that were not recognised are reevaluated at each reporting date and recognised if it has become probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.

The Group may be required to pay additional tax if a dividend is distributed by companies within the Group. This additional 
tax was not included in the financial statements, since it is the current practice of the Group companies not to distribute a 
dividend which creates an additional tax liability for the recipient in the foreseeable future. 
 

P. Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for dormant shares. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding (after adjustment for dormant shares) for the effects of all potentially 
dilutive ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees, directors or other eligible parties.

Q. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

There are a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year 
ended December 31, 2020, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. 

1. Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

The Amendment replaces certain requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. Thus for example, 
according to the Amendment, a liability will be classified as non-current when the entity has the right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period, and it "has substance" and is in existence at the end 
of the reporting period, this instead of the requirement that there be an "unconditional" right.  According to the 
Amendment, a right is in existence at the reporting date only if the entity complies with conditions for deferring 
settlement at that date. Furthermore, the Amendment clarifies that the conversion option of a liability will affect 
its classification as current or non-current, other than when the conversion option is recognised as equity. The 
Amendment is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application being 
permitted. The Amendment is applicable retrospectively, including an amendment to comparative data. The Group 
has not yet commenced examining the effects of applying the Amendment on the financial statements.
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Q. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (cont’d) 

2. Amendment to IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

According to the Amendment, when assessing whether a contract is onerous, the costs of fulfilling a contract that 
should be taken into consideration are costs that relate directly to the contract, which include a) incremental costs 
and b) an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling a contract (such as depreciation expenses for 
fixed assets used in fulfilling that contract and other contracts). The Amendment is effective retrospectively for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, in respect of contracts where the entity has not yet fulfilled 
all its obligations. Early application is permitted. Upon application of the Amendment, the entity will not restate 
comparative data, but will adjust the opening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application, by the 
amount of the cumulative effect of the Amendment. The Group has not yet commenced examining the effects of the 
Amendment on the financial statements.

3. Amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment

The Amendment annuls the requirement by which in the calculation of costs directly attributable to fixed assets, the 
net proceeds from selling certain items that were produced while the Company tested the functioning of the asset 
should be deducted (such as samples that were produced when testing the equipment). Instead, such proceeds 
shall be recognised in profit or loss according to the relevant standards and the cost of the sold items will be 
measured according to the measurement requirements of IAS 2, Inventories. The Amendment is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Early application is permitted. The Amendment shall be applied on a 
retrospective basis, including an amendment of comparative data, only with respect to fixed asset items that have 
been brought to the location and condition required for them to operate in the manner intended by management 
subsequent to the earliest reporting period presented at the date of initial application of the Amendment. The 
cumulative effect of the Amendment will adjust the opening balance of retained earnings for the earliest reporting 
period presented. The Group has not yet commenced examining the effects of the Amendment on the financial 
statements.

4. Amendment to IFRS 3, Business Combinations

The Amendment replaces the requirement to recognise liabilities from business combinations in accordance with 
the conceptual framework, the reason being that the interaction between those instructions and the guidance 
provided in IAS 37 regarding recognition of liabilities was unclear in certain cases. The Amendment adds an 
exception to the principle for recognising liabilities in IFRS 3. According to the exception, contingent liabilities are to 
be recognised according to the requirements of IAS 37 and IFRIC 21 and not according to the conceptual framework. 
The Amendment prevents differences in the timing of recognising liabilities that could have led to the recognition of 
gains and losses immediately after the business combination (day 2 gain or loss). The Amendment also clarifies that 
contingent assets are not to be recognised on the date of the business combination. The Amendment is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Group has not yet commenced examining the effects of 
the Amendment on the financial statements.

Note 4 - Determination of Fair Values 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the 
following methods.  When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the 
notes specific to that asset or liability.

When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses observable market data as much as possible. There are three 
levels of fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy that are based on the data used in the measurement, as follows:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
• Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Information about assumptions made by the Group with respect to the future and other reasons for uncertainty with respect to 
estimates that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next 
financial year are included in the following notes:

A. Property, plant and equipment

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values. 
The market value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had 
each acted knowledgeably and willingly. The fair value of items of property, plant and equipment is based on the market 
approach and cost approaches using quoted market prices for similar items when available and replacement cost when 
appropriate.
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Note 4 - Determination of Fair Values (cont’d)

B. Intangible assets

The fair value used in impairment tests of development activities which were capitalised is based on the discounted cash 
flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of the assets.

C. Trade receivables and other current assets

The fair value of trade receivables and certain other current assets is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. Trade receivables and certain other current assets with no 
stated interest are measured at their original amount as the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

D. Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

E. Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of the options granted is measured using a lattice-based valuation, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, expected volatility, 
expected employee turnover rate, employee exercise behaviour, risk free interest rate and expected dividend. Services and 
non-market performance conditions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

Note 5 - Financial Risk Management

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The 
Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, so to maintain investor and market confidence and to sustain future development 
of the business. The Group has exposure to credit risk and market risk from its use of financial instruments. This note presents 
information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial 
statements.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and 
obligations.

The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management complies with the Group’s risk management policies and reviews the 
adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers (see also Note 23).

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group does not 
require collateral in respect of financial assets. The Group has established credit limits for customers and monitors their balances 
regularly. Cash and deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions, which are regulated. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, management 
also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which 
customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk, particularly in deteriorating economic circumstances.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade receivables, 
certain other current assets and investments. The main components of this allowance are specific loss component that relates to 
individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that 
have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics 
for similar financial assets. The Group employs reasonable measures to mitigate credit risk such as customer-specific enquiries 
prior to the extension of credit.

At the date of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were mainly held with two 
banks in Israel, thereby exposing the Group to significant concentrations of credit risk. However, management considers that the 
credit rating of the banks reduces the risk to the Group to an acceptable level.

In addition, the Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
no guarantees were outstanding. 
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Note 5 - Financial Risk Management (cont’d)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Group’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. This is achieved by not investing in equities and by investing 
in either US dollars, New Israeli Shekels (NIS) and Indian Rupees quoted financial assets only, in ratios which reflect the exposure of 
the Group to these currencies. 

The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and expenses that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional 
currencies of Group entities. The Group is mainly exposed to movement in exchange rates of the US dollar in relation to the NIS with 
regard to salaries paid in NIS and to movement in exchange rates of the US dollar in relation to the Indian Rupee with respect to 
services provided in India by Sarin India.  

Note 6 - Operating Segments 

The Group is a worldwide leader in the development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of precision technology products for 
the planning, processing, evaluation and measurement of diamonds and gems. India is the principal market for these products. 
In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is provided 
internally to the CEO, who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker. The measurement of operating segment results is generally 
consistent with the presentation of the Group’s Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. The 
Group operates in only one operating segment. Presented below are revenues broken out by geographic distribution (India, Africa, 
Europe, North America, Israel and Other). 

Group Revenues

India Africa Europe
North 

America Israel Other1 Consolidated

US$ thousands

2020 28,561 3,108 1,471 1,396 2,340 4,092 40,968 

2019 35,980 3,850 1,300 2,433 2,930 4,830 51,323 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, one customer accounted for approximately 33% of Group revenue. For the year ended 
December 31, 2019, one customer accounted for approximately 19% of Group revenue.

Information on the assets of each geographical region is detailed below. The information includes non-current assets data, of which 
the depreciated cost of property, plant and equipment is allocated to each of the geographical regions. All of the Group’s intangible 
assets are located in Israel.

Group Property, plant and equipment

India Africa Europe
North 

America Israel Other1 Consolidated

US$ thousands

December 31, 2020 5,607 30 1 4,813 1,738 90 12,279 

December 31, 2019 6,254 8 2 5,023 2,133 54 13,474 

1 Other territories represent sales to the rest of the world, primarily Asia, excluding India.

Note 7 - Revenue

Composition

Group

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Revenue from sale of products1 34,097 42,855 

Revenue from maintenance and services 6,871 8,468 

40,968 51,323 

1 Includes GalaxyTM family revenues associated with customer-owned machines. 
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Note 8 - Net Finance Expense

Group

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Interest income on financial assets and bank deposits 194 422 

Net interest income (expense) - income taxes* 25 (92)

Interest expense on lease liabilities (399) (405)

Bank charges (75) (120)

Revaluation of lease liabilities from exchange rate differences (429) (536)

Other net foreign exchange gain (loss) (71) 69 

(755) (662)

* See also Note 9A.

Note 9 - Income Tax

A. Details regarding the tax environment of the Group

i. Israeli tax rates applicable to income not derived from approved enterprises 

The statutory corporate tax rate in Israel in 2020 and 2019 was 23%. Current taxes for the reported periods are 
calculated according to the tax rates presented above. Deferred taxes were calculated at the tax rate expected to 
apply on the date of reversal.

According to various amendments to the ordinance, IFRS shall not apply when determining the taxable income for 
the 2007 through 2020 tax years, even if IFRS was applied when preparing the financial statements. 

ii. Tax benefits under the Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969 

The Company qualifies as an “Industrial Company” under the above law. As such, it is entitled to certain tax benefits, 
mainly the right to deduct share issuance costs for tax purposes in the event of a public offering, and to amortise 
know-how acquired from third parties.

iii. Amendment to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments – 1959 

The Company is subject to Amendment No. 68 to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments – 1959 
(hereinafter – “the Amendment to the Law”). The Amendment to the Law’s provisions apply to Preferred Income 
derived or accrued in 2011 and thereafter by a Preferred Enterprise, per the definition of these terms in the Amendment 
to the Law. 

The Amendment to the Law provides that only companies in Development Area A will be entitled to the grants track 
and that they will be entitled to receive benefits under this track and under the tax benefits track at the same time. 

In addition, a Preferred Enterprise was introduced which mainly provides a uniform and reduced tax rate for all the 
company’s income entitled to benefits. As part of the Law for Changes in National Priorities, as from the 2017 tax 
year the tax rate on preferred income was set to 7.5% for Development Area A and 16% for the rest of the country. 
The Amendment to the Law also provides that no tax will apply to a dividend distributed out of Preferred Income to a 
shareholder that is an Israeli company. A tax rate of 20% shall apply to a dividend distributed out of Preferred Income 
to an individual shareholder or foreign resident, subject to double taxation prevention treaties. The Company and 
one of its wholly owned subsidiaries met the conditions provided in the Amendment to the Law for inclusion in the 
scope of the tax benefits track. The Company and its subsidiary implemented the Amendment to the Law as from 
the 2011 tax year.

The benefits will be awarded to a “preferred company” that has a “preferred technological enterprise” or a “special 
preferred technological enterprise” with respect to taxable “preferred technological income” per its definition in the 
Encouragement Law.

Preferred technological income that meets the conditions required in the law, will be subject to a reduced corporate 
tax rate of 12%, and if the preferred technological enterprise is located in Development Area A to a tax rate of 7.5%. 
The Amendment was effective as from January 1, 2017.  Deferred taxes were computed accordingly.
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Note 9 - Income Tax (cont’d)

A. Details regarding the tax environment of the Group (cont’d)

iv. Final tax assessments 

The Company has received final tax assessments (including assessments which are considered final under the tax 
laws) for all tax years up to December 31, 2015. Galatea Ltd. (“Galatea”), an Israeli subsidiary of the Company, has 
final tax assessments (including assessments which are considered final under the tax laws) for all tax years up to 
December 31, 2017. The Company’s other wholly owned Israeli consolidated subsidiaries have received final tax 
assessments (including assessments which are considered final under the tax laws) for all tax years up to December 
31, 2015.

v. Foreign tax 

1) The foreign subsidiaries are taxed according to tax rules in their jurisdictions.
2) Sarin India received final tax assessments for all fiscal tax years through March 31, 2016. Sarin Hong 

Kong Ltd. received final tax assessments for all fiscal tax years through December 31, 2019. Other foreign 
subsidiaries have not been assessed since their incorporation.  

3) Tax assessments related to Galatea in India:

A dispute has arisen between Galatea and the Indian tax authorities, over Galatea's classification of certain payments 
received from its Indian customers as being not liable for tax in India. 
 
In 2015, the Indian tax authorities passed the assessment orders for the years ended March 31, 2011 and March 31, 
2012, thus creating an aggregate net tax liability (net of tax deducted at source) of approximately US$ 0.6 million. 

Following the order of earlier years, in 2016, the Indian tax authorities passed a similar assessment order for the year 
ended March 2013 raising a tax demand (net of tax deducted at source) of approximately US$ 2 thousand and an 
additional interest liability of approximately US$ 7 thousand. Galatea had appealed against all these decisions to the 
Tribunal, a higher Indian tax authority. In 2016 and 2019, respectively, the assessment orders for all the said years 
were deleted by the Tribunal, and the issue of non-taxability of business income in India was decided in Galatea’s 
favor. The Indian tax authorities have filed an appeal against the order of the Tribunal before the Bombay High Court 
for the respective years. 

In the years 2018, 2019 and 2020, the Indian tax authorities passed assessment orders for the Indian tax years 
ended March 31, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 raising an aggregate tax demand (net of tax deducted at source) of 
approximately US$ 0.27 0.41 million and an additional interest liability of approximately US$ 0.44 million. Galatea 
has appealed against these assessment orders before the next level of appellate authority. Based on the Tribunal’s 
prior decisions for the financial years ended March 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively, the Group believes that it is 
likely that the demands made in the assessment orders will be reversed.

Galatea’s legal tax counsel in Israel has opined that any tax payments made or withheld in India may be offset in 
Galatea’s Israeli tax returns for a period of five years from the date of payment. Therefore, Galatea has not made a 
provision for the net tax liability and interest of financial years ended March 31, 2013 to March 31, 2017.

B. Composition of income tax expense

Group

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Current tax expense 1,420 1,663 

Taxes in respect of previous years (40) 32 

Deferred tax expense  263 116 

Total income tax expense 1,643 1,811 
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Note 9 - Income Tax (cont’d)

C. Reconciliation between the theoretical tax on the profit before income tax and the tax expenses

Group

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Profit before income tax expense 4,008 439 

Income tax using Israel tax rate of 23% 922 101 

Non-deductible expenses 74 206 

Effects of lower tax rates arising from “Approved and 
Beneficiary Enterprise” status (2,559) (2,144)

Current year tax losses and benefits for which deferred 
taxes were not created 2,963 3,442 

Taxes in respect of previous years (40) (32)

Reassessment of utilisation of deferred asset 270 — 

Different tax rate of foreign subsidiaries 4 192 

Other differences 9 46 

1,643 1,811 

D. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred taxes are calculated according to the tax rate anticipated to be in effect on the date of reversal. Recognised deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Other payables and employee benefits 146 135 — — 

Allowance for doubtful receivables 38 25 — — 

Know-how 54 45 — — 

Research and development expenses 66 84 — — 

Losses for tax purposes 112 402 — — 

Fixed assets 188 183 — — 

604 874 — — 

The deferred tax balances as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were calculated at the tax rate expected to apply on the date 
of reversal. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, Group deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses in the amount of 
US$ 81.2 million and US$ 65.7 million, respectively, have not been recognised. Those tax losses are available for offsetting 
against future taxable income of the applicable Company’s Israeli subsidiaries subject to compliance with the relevant tax 
regulations. 

Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

As at December 31, 2020 a deferred tax liability for temporary differences in the amount of US$ 28.0 million (2019 - US$ 22.2 
million) related to an investment in a subsidiary was not recognised because the Group controls whether the liability will be 
incurred and it is satisfied that it will not be incurred in the foreseeable future.

Changes in deferred taxes from prior years were all recognised in profit or loss.
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Note 10 - Property, Plant and Equipment

Group

Computers and 
equipment

Demonstration 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Machinery and 
office 

equipment

Building, land, 
and leasehold 

improvements* Total

US$ thousands

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2019 3,069 3,076 143 7,490 14,312 28,090 

Additions 248 307 30 153 96 834 

Disposals (285) (415) — (60) — (760) 

Effect of changes in 
exchange rates (12) — (1) (94) (138) (245)

Balance at December 31, 2019 3,020 2,968 172 7,489 14,270 27,919 

Additions 196 453 — 78 38 765 

Disposals (130) (279) (70) (329) — (808)

Effect of changes in 
exchange rates (15) — (1) (110) (169) (295)

Balance at December 31, 2020 3,071 3,142 101 7,128 14,139 27,581 

Depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2019 2,573 2,716 98 5,824 2,238 13,449 

Depreciation 332 257 19 467 727 1,802 

Disposals (284) (356) — (57) — (697)

Effect of changes in 
exchange rates (11) — (1) (76) (21) (109)

Balance at December 31, 2019 2,610 2,617 116 6,158 2,944 14,445 

Depreciation 308 260 14 374 731 1,687 

Disposals (130) (182) (69) (325) — (706)

Effect of changes in 
exchange rates (13) — (1) (87) (23) (124)

Balance at December 31, 2020 2,775 2,695 60 6,120 3,652 15,302 

Carrying amounts 

At December 31, 2019 410 351 56 1,331 11,326 13,474 

At December 31, 2020 296 447 41 1,008 10,487 12,279 

* Includes Group’s wholly owned facilities in New York, United States and in Surat, India.
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Note 10 - Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

Company

Computers and 
equipment

Demonstration 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Machinery and 
office 

equipment

Building, land, 
and leasehold 
improvements Total

US$ thousands

Cost

Balance at January 1,  2019 1,832 2,207 70 843 767 5,719 

Additions 133 200 30 52 — 415 

Disposals (243) (291) — (34) — (568)

Balance at December 31, 2019 1,722 2,116 100 861 767 5,566 

Additions 131 331 — 19 8 489 

Disposals (107) (195) (69) (11) — (382)

Balance at December 31, 2020 1,746 2,252 31 869 775 5,673 

Depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2019 1,576 1,953 53 555 201 4,338 

Depreciation 186 163 13 63 77 502 

Disposals (243) (241) — (31) — (515)

Balance at December 31, 2019 1,519 1,875 66 587 278 4,325 

Depreciation 157 166 9 58 77 467 

Disposals (107) (144) (69) (7) — (327)

Balance at December 31, 2020 1,569 1,897 6 638 355 4,465 

Carrying amounts 

At December 31, 2019 203 241 34 274 489 1,241 

At December 31, 2020 177 355 25 231 420 1,208 
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Note 11 - Intangible Assets 

Group

Goodwill
Development 

costs

Know-how and 
intellectual 

property Other Total

US$ thousands

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2019 1,868 6,979 17,584 152 26,583 

Additions — — — — — 

Balance at December 31, 2019 1,868 6,979 17,584 152 26,583 

Additions — — — — — 

Balance at December 31, 2020 1,868 6,979 17,584 152 26,583 

Amortisation

Balance at January 1, 2019 — 5,554 16,028 57 21,639 

Amortisation for the year — 595 701 23 1,319 

Balance at December 31, 2019 — 6,149 16,729 80 22,958 

Amortisation for the year — 399 640 23 1,062 

Balance at December 31, 2020 — 6,548 17,369 103 24,020 

Carrying amount

At December 31, 2019 1,868 830 855 72 3,625 

At December 31, 2020 1,868 431 215 49 2,563 

Company

Goodwill
Development 

costs

Know-how and 
intellectual 

property Other Total

US$ thousands

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2019 — 411 — — 411 

Additions — — — — -- 

Balance at December 31, 2019 — 411 — — 411 

Additions — — — — — 

Balance at December 31, 2020 — 411 — — 411 

Amortisation

Balance at January 1, 2019 — 69 — — 69 

Amortisation for the year — 68 — — 68 

Balance at December 31, 2019 — 137 — — 137 

Amortisation for the year — 68 — — 68 

Balance at December 31, 2020 — 205 — — 205 

Carrying amount

At December 31, 2019 — 274 — — 274 

At December 31, 2020 — 206 — — 206 

The amortisation of know-how, intellectual property, development costs and other intangible assets is recognised in cost of sale 
(see also Note 3E). The cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount was based on fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value less 
costs of disposal was estimated using the discounted cash flow method. The fair value measurements are classified at level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy (for a definition of the various hierarchy levels, see Note 4).
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Note 12 – Inventories 

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Raw materials and consumables 4,406 3,450 2,135 2,055 

Work in progress 1,143 1,607 601 1,012 

Finished goods 698 395 542 209 

6,247 5,452 3,278 3,276 

In 2020 the write-down of Group inventories to net realisable value amounted to US$ 515 thousand (2019 - US$ 239 thousand). In 
2020 the write-down of Company inventories to net realisable value amounted to US$ 511 thousand (2019 - US$ 92 thousand) (see 
also Note 3F).

Note 13 - Trade Receivables 

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Short-term

Trade receivables 22,946 15,224 5,432 5,046 

Allowance for doubtful receivables (980) (629) (296) (233)

21,966 14,595 5,136 4,813 

Long-term

Trade receivables 843 756 8 686 

Allowance for doubtful receivables — — — — 

843 756 8 686 

The Group's and Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade receivables is disclosed 
in Note 23.

Note 14 - Other Current Assets 

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Government institutions 310 595 183 327 

Advances to suppliers 152 28 113 12 

Prepaid expenses 710 842 417 501 

Other 419 334 50 — 

1,591 1,799 763 840 

The Group's and Company's exposure to credit and currency risks is disclosed in Note 23.

Note 15 - Short-Term Investments 

Group short-term investments are comprised of bank deposits having weighted average interest rates of 0.44% at December 31, 
2020 (December 31, 2019 – 2.45%). Company short-term investments are comprised of bank deposits having weighted average 
interest rates of 0.45% at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 – 2.46%)(see also Note 23).
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Note 16 - Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Bank balances 12,856 12,198 2,871 3,231 

Bank deposits 8,225 6,086 7,275 4,202 

21,081 18,284 10,146 7,433 

Group bank deposits denominated in US dollars have weighted average interest rates of 0.26% at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 
2019 – 1.14%). Company bank deposits denominated in US dollars have weighted average interest rates of 0.22% at December 31, 
2020 (December 31, 2019 – 0.86%).  The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is disclosed in Note 23.

Note 17 – Share Capital – The Company

As at December 31

2020 2019

Number of shares

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of no par value 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of no par value 353,672,126 353,672,126 

Dormant shares (out of the issued and fully paid share capital):

Ordinary shares of no par value (3,840,200) (3,076,400)

Total number of issued shares:

(excluding dormant shares) 349,831,926 350,595,726 

The following are the changes in the issued shares of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

2020 2019

Number of shares

Issued ordinary shares at January 1 350,595,726 350,595,726 

Share options exercised — — 

Dormant shares purchased (763,800) — 

Issued ordinary shares at December 31 349,831,926 350,595,726 

On October 21, 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved a share buyback mandate of up to 10% of the Company’s then issued 
and fully paid up shares. On June 25, 2020 and on April 30, 2019, the Company’s shareholders renewed the share buyback mandate 
of up to 10% of the Company's then issued and fully paid up shares. Under the share buyback mandate, share buybacks may be made, 
at any time and from time to time up to the earliest of: (a) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held 
or required by law to be held; (b) the date on which the authority conferred by the share buyback mandate is revoked or varied by the 
Company in general meeting; or (c) the date on which share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company purchased 763,800 ordinary shares, at a cost of US$ 113 thousand.  For the 
year ended December 31, 2019, the Company did not purchase any of its ordinary shares in the market. In accordance with Israeli 
Companies Law, Company shares that have been acquired and are held by the Company are dormant shares as long as they are held 
by the Company, and as such they do not bear any rights until they are transferred to a third party.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019, no options were exercised and therefore no shares were issued in respect of the 
exercise of options (see also Note 21).

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company declared and paid dividends in the amount of US$ 1.0 million and 
US$ 5.3  million per year, respectively, amounting to US cents 0.3 and US cents 1.5 per year, respectively. 

In August 2020, as a result of the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the diamond industry value chain in general and the Group’s 
operation in particular, the Board of Directors of the Company temporarily suspended the payment of an interim dividend. See Note 
31 – Subsequent Events re the planned resumption of Dividend payments, subject to approval of the shareholders at the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting.
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Note 18 – Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2020 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of US$ 2,365 thousand (versus the loss in 2019 attributable to ordinary shareholders of US$ – US$ 1,372 thousand) and 
a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 350,057,449 (2019 –350,595,726), calculated as follows:

2020 2019

Issued ordinary shares at January 1 350,595,726 350,595,726 

Effect of share options exercised — — 

Effect dormant shares purchased (538,277) — 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at December 31 350,057,449 350,595,726 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2020 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of US$ 2,365 thousand (versus the loss in 2019 attributable to ordinary shareholders of US$ – US$ 1,372 thousand) and 
a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares 
of 350,057,449 (2019 -350,595,726), calculated as follows:

2020 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 350,057,449 350,595,726 

Effect of share options on issue — —

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at December 31 350,057,449 350,595,726 

The average market value of the Company’s ordinary shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was 
based on quoted market prices for the period that the options were outstanding.

Note 19 – Other Payables

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Employees and institutions 2,713 3,193 1,262 1,665 

Deferred revenue 992 1,400 138 244 

Advances from customers 1,038 685 813 527 

Accrued expenses 982 657 674 391 

Subsidiaries — — 2,859 1,474 

Related parties 123 124 123 124 

Other 55 17 — — 

5,903 6,076 5,869 4,425 

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to currency risk related to other payables are disclosed in Note 23. See also Note 27 – 
Related Parties.
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Note 20 – Employee Benefits 

A. Defined benefit plan

Israeli labour laws and agreements require the Company and its Israeli subsidiaries to pay severance pay to dismissed 
or retiring employees (and those leaving their employment under certain other circumstances). The calculation of the 
severance pay liability was made in accordance with labour agreements in force and based on salary components, which, in 
management’s opinion, create entitlement to severance pay.

The Group’s severance pay liabilities to its Israeli employees are funded partially by regular deposits with recognised pension 
and severance pay funds in the employees’ names and by purchase of insurance policies. 

Employee benefits consist of the following:

Group

As at December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Present value of the obligation 1,226 1,153 

Less fair value of assets 983 919 

Recognised liability for defined benefit obligation 243 234 

The Group makes contributions to defined benefit plans that provide pension benefits for employees upon retirement or 
post-employment. Most of the above assets and obligations relate to the employees of the Company.

Movement in net defined benefit liabilities (assets) and in their components:

Defined benefit 
obligation

Less
Fair value of plan assets

Net defined benefit
liability 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Balance as at January 1 1,153 1,118 919 926 234 192 

Included in profit or loss 31 (112) 25 36 6 (148)

Included in other 
comprehensive income 42 147 39 (43) 3 190 

Balance as at December 31 1,226 1,153 983 919 243 234 

Principal actuarial assumptions:

2020 2019

Discount rate (1) 0.87% 0.65%

Future salary nominal increases (2) 3.00% 3.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables.

(1)  The discount rate used in 2020 and 2019 is based on the yield of fixed-interest NIS high quality corporate bonds with duration 
approximating the duration of the gross liabilities.

(2)  Based on management assessment. 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions 
constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below:

As at December 31, 2020

One percentage
point increase

One percentage
point increase

US$ thousands

Future salary growth 48 (41)

Discount rate (37) 44 
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Note 20 – Employee Benefits (cont’d)

B. Defined contribution plan 

The Group provides post-employment benefits under which it pays fixed sums into a provident fund in respect of employee 
savings plans. The amounts deposited in the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to US$ 506 thousand (2019 - US$ 559 
thousand) and are recognised as personnel expenses in profit or loss. In addition, the Group has a defined contribution plan 
for employees who are subject to Section 14 of the Severance Pay Law – 1963.

Note 21 - Share-Based Payments 

In April 2015, the Company adopted a share option plan to allot options to directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(the “2015 Plan”). The aggregate number of ordinary shares which may be granted as options on any date, when added to the number 
of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under all of the Company’s Plans then in force shall not exceed 15% of 
the issued share capital of the Company on the date preceding the date of the relevant grant. As at December 31, 2020, 32,699,320 
options have been granted under the 2015 Plan, of which 21,360,006 options are currently outstanding, with no options having been 
exercised to date (with the balance having been forfeited). The vesting periods of the options granted under the 2015 Plan range 
from one year following the date of grant (as such term is defined in the 2015 Plan) and up to four years following the date of grant. 

In March 2005, the Company adopted a share option plan to allot options to directors and employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “2005 Plan”). As at December 31, 2015, no new options may be granted under the 2005 Plan. The vesting periods 
of the options granted under the 2005 Plan range from one year following the date of grant (as such term is defined in the 2005 Plan) 
and up to four years following the date of grant. As at December 31, 2020, a total of 39,421,435 options have been granted under the 
2005 Plan of which 100,000 options are currently outstanding and 23,311,854 options have been exercised to date (with the balance 
having been forfeited).

Under the terms of the 2005 Plan and the 2015 Plan (hereinafter the “Plans”), options shall expire at the end of six years commencing 
on the date of grant (or any earlier date, if such was mentioned in the grant instrument) or on cessation of employment, at the earlier 
of the two. Unexercised vested options can generally be exercised within 90 days of cessation of employment.

The Income Tax Authorities have recognised the Plans as a “share allotment through a trustee” plan according to Section 102 to 
the Tax Ordinance using the "capital gain track." As a result, the benefit to the Israeli employee from the option plan shall be either 
classified as ordinary income or capital gain, all in accordance with the provisions of Section 102(b)(3) to the Tax Ordinance.

Ordinary shares which shall be issued by the Company pursuant to exercise of options granted under the Plans, entitle their holders 
with any and all rights attached to the Company's ordinary shares, inter alia, the right to receive dividends, the right to participate in 
the distribution of the Company's assets upon liquidation, voting rights in the Company's General Meetings (provided that as long 
as the ordinary shares are being held by the trustee, such voting rights will be exercised by the trustee, according to instructions 
provided by the holders, and if no such instructions are provided – as per the trustee’s discretion).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company granted 4,550,320 options to employees and directors under the 2015 
Plan, with vesting conditions of one to four years and a contractual life of six years. The options will vest subject to service-based 
conditions and performance based conditions, relating to sales targets. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company 
granted 7,070,000 options to employees and directors under the 2015 Plan, with vesting conditions of two to four years and a 
contractual life of six years. The options will vest subject to service-based conditions and performance based conditions, relating to 
sales targets (also see Note 27). Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise 
prices are as follows:

2020 2019

Weighted 
average exercise 

price in US$
per share Options

Weighted 
average exercise 

price in US$
per share Options

Outstanding at January 1 0.88  22,431,992 1.11  19,876,884 

Granted 0.16  4,550,320 0.27  7,070,000 

Forfeited 1.07  (5,522,306) 0.96  (4,514,892)

Exercised —  — — —

Outstanding at December 31 0.68  21,460,006 0.88  22,431,992 

The number of share options vested at December 31, 2020 and 2019 was 6,635,053 and 7,165,325, respectively.
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Note 21 - Share-Based Payments (cont’d) 

The Company measured the fair value of the share options granted using a lattice-based valuation model. The following assumptions 
under this method were used for the share options granted during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: weighted average 
expected volatility of: 43.83% and 38.04%, respectively; weighted average risk-free interest rates (in US dollar terms) of 0.65 % and 
2.07 %, respectively; dividend yield of 3.30% and 2.59%, respectively. The weighted average fair value of the share options granted 
during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 using the model was US$ 0.05 and US$ 0.08 per share option, respectively.

The average share price in 2020 was US$ 0.21 (2019 – US$ 0.25).

The following table summarises information about share options outstanding at December 31, 2020:

Options outstanding                         Options exercisable             

Range of
exercise prices
US$ per share

Number
outstanding

Weighted-
average

remaining
contractual
life (years)

Weighted-
average
exercise

price
US$ 

Number
Exercisable

Weighted-
average
exercise

price
US$

0.16 – 0.28 9,482,440 4.8 0.23 —     —

0.82 – 0.88 6,600,000 3.1 0.87 1,307,487 0.87

1.03 – 1.99 5,377,566 1.6 1.26 5,327,566 1.26

21,460,006 3.5 0.68 6,635,053 1.19

The expenses derived from share-based payment transactions are as follows:

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Cost of sales 41 75 

Research and development expenses 66 60 

Sales and marketing expenses 45 200 

General and administrative expenses 169 307 

321 642 

Note 22 - Warranty Provision 

The provision for warranty relates mainly to product sales during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The provision is 
based on estimates made from historical warranty data associated with similar products and services. The Group expects to incur 
the liability over the next year.

The movement in the warranty provision is as follows:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Balance at the beginning of the year 368 315 229 226 

Provisions made during the year 276 349 234 199 

Provisions used during the year (354) (296) (266) (196)

Balance at the end of the year 290 368 197 229 
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Note 23 - Financial Instruments 

Exposure to credit risk 

The majority of the Group’s and Company’s cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are in Israel-based banks.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables (current and long-term) at the reporting date by geographic region was:

Group Company

Carrying amount

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

India 17,851 11,782 2,985 3,031 

Europe 575 129 44 26 

North America 187 112 352 940 

Africa 1,609 1,277 19 305 

Israel 942 574 238 629 

Other 1,645 1,477 1,506 568 

22,809 15,351 5,144 5,499 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, a single customer comprised approximately 47% and 28%, respectively, of the 
Group’s outstanding trade receivables. For the year ended December 31, 2020, a single customer comprised approximately 52% of 
the Company’s outstanding trade receivables. For the year ended December 31, 2019, a single customer comprised approximately 
35% of the Company’s outstanding trade receivables.

Impairment losses

The aging of trade receivables (current and long-term) at the reporting date was:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Not past due 17,295 12,218 3,759 4,697 

Past due 0-30 days 1,051 846 90 68 

Past due 31-90 days 1,600 543 403 60 

More than 90 days* 3,843 2,373 1,188 907 

23,789 15,980 5,440 5,732 

Allowance for doubtful receivables (980) (629) (296) (233)

22,809 15,351 5,144 5,499 

* The majority of the non-impaired balances over 90 days as at December 31, 2020 were paid subsequent to December 31, 2020.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Balance at January 1 629 677 233 231 

Movement 351 (48) 63 2 

Balance at December 31 980 629 296 233 
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Note 23 - Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Exposure to currency risk

The Group’s and Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts translated into US$ 
thousands as at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Group

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

NIS Rupee NIS Rupee

Cash and cash equivalents 3,268 4,416 5,054 3,946 

Restricted short-term investments (bank deposits) 171 — — — 

Trade receivables — 1,064 — 715 

Other current assets 595 399 1,060 470 

Current and long-term lease liabilities (5,983) (243) (6,623) (264)

Current and long-term bank financing (3,421) — — — 

Trade payables (1,161) (48) (3,332) (42)

Income tax payable (943) (138) — (103)

Other payables (1,906) (1,660) (2,315) (1,737)

Net balance sheet exposure (9,380) 3,790 (6,156) 2,985 

Company

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

NIS Rupee NIS Rupee

Cash and cash equivalents 1,589 — 2,558 — 

Restricted short-term investments (bank deposits) 62 — — — 

Trade receivables — — — — 

Other current assets 367 — 692 — 

Current and long-term lease liabilities (5,638) — (6,191) — 

Current and long-term bank financing (1,244) — — — 

Trade payables (689) — (1,673) — 

Other payables (1,319) — (1,536) — 

Net balance sheet exposure (6,872) — (6,150) — 

The following significant US dollar exchange rates applied during the year:

Average rate As at December 31

2020 2019 2020 2019

NIS 1 3.437 3.565 3.215 3.456

Rupee 1 74.03 70.42 73.05 71.27

The Group is mainly exposed to changes in the exchange rates of the US dollar in relation to the NIS with regards to employee 
compensation and other expenses paid in NIS. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group maintained its portion of cash and 
cash equivalents held in NIS (equivalent to US$ 3.4 million at December 31, 2020 (US$ 5.1 million in 2019)) to match anticipated NIS 
linked expenses. An appreciation/depreciation of 10% of the NIS and Rupee relative to the US dollar will not result in any material 
loss/gain in the Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Fair values

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, certain other current assets, short-term investments, trade and 
other payables are not materially different from their carrying amounts because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these 
instruments.
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Note 24 – Leases 

The Group has lease agreements with respect to office facilities mainly in Israel and India. The Group also has lease agreements 
in respect to vehicles in Israel. In measurement of the lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using the nominal 
incremental borrowing rate as at the lease inception, or at January 1, 2019 for leases in effect prior to December 31, 2018. The 
discount rates used to measure the lease liability range between 1.5% and 11.1%. This range is affected by differences in the length 
of the lease term, differences between the various groups of assets, different discount rates of Group companies, and so forth. 

A. Information regarding material lease agreements

The Group leases motor vehicles for three-year periods from several leasing companies and from time to time changes 
the number of leased vehicles according to its current needs. The leased motor vehicles are identified by means of license 
numbers and registration, with the leasing companies not being able to switch vehicles, other than in cases of deficiencies. 
The leased vehicles are used by certain of the Group's Israel staff, including employees whose employment agreements 
include an obligation of the Group to put a vehicle at their disposal. The Group accounted for the arrangement between it and 
the leasing companies as a lease arrangement in the scope of IFRS 16 and for the arrangement between it and its employees 
as an arrangement in the scope of IAS 19. The agreements with the leasing companies do not contain extension and/or 
termination options that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise.
 
A lease liability and right-of-use asset in the amount of US$ 122 thousand and US$ 144 thousand, respectively, have been 
recognised in the statement of financial positon as at December 31, 2020 in respect of leases of motor vehicles.

The Group leases office facilities for periods ranging between 2 - 5 years, with options to extend the lease agreements for 
additional years at similar terms as those of the existing agreements. A lease liability and right-of-use asset in the amount of 
US$ 6,245 thousand and US$ 4,906 thousand, respectively, have been recognised in the statement of financial positon as at 
December 31, 2020 in respect of those leases.

B. Right-of-use assets

Group

Office facilities Motor vehicles Total

US$ thousands

Balance at January 1, 2019 6,590 426 7,016 

Additions 339 121 460 

Disposals — (32) (32)

Depreciation (1,069) (205) (1,274)

Balance at December 31, 2019 5,860 310 6,170 

Balance at January 1, 2020 5,860 310 6,170 

Additions 179 75 254 

Disposals (52) (40) (92)

Depreciation (1,081) (201) (1,282)

Balance at December 31, 2020 4,906 144 5,050 

Company

Office facilities Motor vehicles Total

US$ thousands

Balance at January 1, 2019 6,009 245 6,254 

Additions — 121 121 

Disposals — (32) (32)

Depreciation (820) (120) (940)

Balance at December 31, 2019 5,189 214 5,403 

Balance at January 1, 2020 5,189 214 5,403 

Additions — 14 14 

Disposals — (40) (40)

Depreciation (819) (119) (939)

Balance at December 31, 2020 4,370 69 4,439 
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Note 24 – Leases (cont’d)

C. Lease liabilities

Maturity analysis of the Group's and Company’s lease liabilities as at December 31, 2020.

Group Company

US$ thousands

Less than one year 1,023 724 

One to five years 4,981 4,551 

More than five years 363 363 

Balance at December 31, 2020 6,367 5,638 

D. Additional information on leases

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Interest expense on lease liabilities 399 405 

Revaluation of lease liabilities from exchange rate differences 417 536 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,282 1,274 

Total 2,098 2,215 

Note 25 – Commitments

A. Operating lease commitments (less than 1 year)

The Group has entered into certain short-term leases for office facilities. The future minimum non-cancellable lease 
payments relating to those leases are in the amount of approximately US$ 46,000. 

B. The Group is committed to pay royalties at the rate of 3%-3.5% to the IIA on sales proceeds from products for which it 
received grants up to an amount not exceeding the grants received (linked to the exchange rate of the US dollar). The total 
grants received, net of royalties paid to the IIS, excluding Galatea, which was repaid in 2013, was approximately US$ 1.1 
million through December 31, 2020. As the technology related to these grants was not commercially successful, future 
sales connected to the research and development of this technology are still dependent on the result of further successful 
research and development and market acceptance. 

C. On December 2, 2010, a subsidiary of the Company acquired light performance technology. Under the terms of the agreement, 
the subsidiary may be required to pay additional contingent consideration due in the form of royalties of approximately 5% 
on certain revenue for a period of up to 14 years following the date of such acquisition, based on ‘net sales’ as defined in the 
agreement. 

D. On November 9, 2011, a subsidiary of the Company acquired polished diamond imaging technology. Under the terms of 
the agreement, the subsidiary may be required to pay additional contingent consideration due in the form of royalties of 
approximately 5% on sales for a period of not less than 7 years following the date of acquisition and up to the life of the 
patents, capped at US$10 million. No royalties were due for the period ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

Note 26 – Contingent Liabilities 

The Group is currently a party to various civil litigation proceedings in different jurisdictions in which it does business. These 
proceedings include, among other matters, patent and intellectual property infringement litigation in India, Belgium and Israel which 
were initiated either by us or third parties, commercial debt collection suits for non-payment by customers, and a claim for wrongful 
termination by a former employee in Israel. Based on the opinions of the Group’s legal advisors, the Group believes that all pending 
claims against the Group are without merit and its exposure to these disputed claims will not have a material impact on its business 
nor on its financial position or results of operation. Accordingly, except for an accrual of US$47,000 relating to one of the matters, no 
provision has been made in the Group’s financial statements for such claims. As to tax disputes, see Note 9.
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Note 27 – Related Parties

The following significant related party transactions between the Group and related parties were carried out in the normal course of 
business on terms agreed between the parties:

Remuneration of key management personnel

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Remuneration of CEO and directors

Fixed income-based 679 698 

Share-based payments 125 225 

Other performance based incentives 296 138 

1,100 1,061 

Pursuant to an Annual General Meeting and an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company’s shareholders held on June 25, 
2020, the four independent directors were granted 1,400,000 options to purchase ordinary shares of the Company, exercisable upon 
the payment of S$0.223 per share (at no discount of the then Market Price – as such term is defined in the 2015 Plan), with vesting 
conditions of one to three years and a contractual life of six years. The options will vest subject to service based conditions. The fair 
value of the options granted was US$ 0.047 per share at the grant date.

Pursuant to an Annual General Meeting and an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company’s shareholders held on April 30, 
2019, the Company’s Chairman of the Board and the Group’s CEO were granted 2,500,000 options to purchase ordinary shares of the 
Company, exercisable upon the payment of S$0.368 per share (at no discount of the then Market Price – as such term is defined in 
the 2015 Plan), with vesting conditions of two to four years and a contractual life of six years. The options will vest subject to service 
based conditions and performance based conditions, relating to sales targets. The fair value of the options granted was US$ 0.079 
per share at the grant date.

Note 28 – Group Entities

A. Details in respect of subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated financial statements:

Place of
Incorporation

Effective equity interest
held by the Group as

at December 31,
2020 and 2019

%

Galatea Ltd. Israel 100%

Sarine Color Technologies Ltd. Israel 100%

Sarine Polishing Technologies Ltd. Israel 100%

Sarine Holdings USA Ltd. Israel 100%

Sarin Technologies India Pvt. Ltd. India 100%

Sarin Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong 100%

Sarine North America Inc. Delaware, USA 100%

Sarine IGT 10H Inc. Delaware, USA 100%

Sarine IGT 10I Inc. Delaware, USA 100%

Sarine IGT 10JKL Inc. Delaware, USA 100%
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Note 28 – Group Entities (cont’d)

B. Movements in investments in subsidiaries:

Company

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Balance at beginning of year 39,648 44,437 

Movements during the year:

Loans and credit granted to subsidiaries 6,652 6,455 

The Company’s share of profits 7,851 4,756 

Dividend (10,000) (16,000)

Balance at end of year 44,151 39,648 

Note 29 – Government Grants

In 2020 the Group received several grants for participation in fixed expenses in the total amount of US$ 496 thousand. These grants 
were provided to the Group following its compliance with the terms of the economic safety net program issued by the Government 
of Israel, following the economic effects of the coronavirus pandemic and its impact on Group revenues thereof. The grants were 
recognised as a deduction from expenses, as outlined below.

Group

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

US$ thousands

Cost of sales, gross 14,109 21,739 

Less: grants in respect of fixed expenses (211) — 

Cost of sales, as reported 13,898 21,739 

Research and development, gross 6,973 8,184 

Less: grants in respect of fixed expenses (177) — 

Research and development expenses, as reported 6,796 8,184 

Sales and marketing expenses, gross 9,850 13,535 

Less: grants in respect of fixed expenses (77) — 

Sales and marketing expenses, as reported 9,773 13,535 

General and administrative expenses, gross 5,769 6,764 

Less: grants in respect of fixed expenses (31) — 

General and administrative expenses, as reported 5,738 6,764 
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Note 30 - Loans and Borrowings 

This note provides information regarding the contractual terms of the Group’s interest bearing loans and borrowings measured at 
amortized costs as at December 31, 2020 and 2019. Further information on the Group’s exposure to interest, foreign currency and 
liquidity risks is included in Note 23 on financial instruments.

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

US$ thousands

Short-term bank financing 280 — 95 — 

Long-term bank financing 3,141 — 1,149 — 

3,421 — 1,244 — 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group obtained Covid-19 support bank loans under an Israeli government guaranteed 
loan scheme to support companies’ cash flow and mitigate uncertainties following the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic. The 
loans, which are unsecured, were granted in New Israel Shekels for a period of 5 years, bearing an annual interest rate currently of 
3.1% (being 1.5% plus Israeli prime) per year. There is a restriction on the distribution of dividends to Company shareholders relating 
to US$1,866 thousand of these loans. Principal and interest will be paid by the Group beginning from the second year, on a monthly 
basis. The government bears the cost of the first year’s interest. The Group at its option can repay the loans at any time. As at 
December 31, 2020 the Group is in compliance with all the loan conditions and covenants. 

As at December 31, 2020, the Group and Company have provided collateral in the form of bank deposits in the amount of US$ 171 
thousand and US$ 62 thousand, respectively, for these Covid-19 support bank loans. The deposits are denominated in NIS and bear 
interest at rate of 0.01% on an annualised basis.

Note 31 – Subsequent Events 

On February 28, 2021, the Board of Directors recommended the Annual General Meeting approve a final dividend of US 0.5 cent per 
ordinary share for the full year ended December 31, 2020. Pursuant to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of the Company’s 
shareholders to be held in April 2021, the Company expects to pay a US$ 1.75 million dividend on May 14, 2021, with record date on 
May 4, 2021.
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SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS
AS AT 16 MARCH 2021

Issued and fully paid-up  -  353,672,126 
No. of Treasury Shares   -  3,840,200
Class of shares           -  ordinary shares of no par value  
Voting rights          -  on a show of hands, by written ballot or by any other means : 1 vote for each ordinary share

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Range of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 – 99 17           1.02 460 0.00 

100 – 1,000 119           7.11 85,600 0.02 

1,001 - 10,000 770         46.02 4,603,255 1.30 

10,001 - 1,000,000 746         44.59 47,302,646 13.38 

1,000,001 and above 21           1.26 301,680,165 85.30 

1,673  100.00 353,672,126  100.00

Shareholdings Held in Hands of Public

Based on information available to the Company as at 13 March 2020, approximately 61.52% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company is 
held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited is complied with.

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholder No. of Shares %*

1 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd          93,957,230 26.86 

2 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd  79,861,869 22.83 

3 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 27,288,044 7.80 

4 Raffles Nominees (Pte) Limited 17,237,750 4.93 

5 BPSS Nominees Singapore (Pte.) Ltd. 14,394,300 4.11 

6 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd          13,638,903 3.90 

7 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 9,040,500 2.58 

8 Eyal Avraham Khayat 7,986,227 2.28 

9 Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte.Ltd 7,571,800 2.16 

10 DBSN Services Pte Ltd         5,588,292 1.60 

11 BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd    3,800,000 1.09 

12 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 3,757,950 1.07 

13 28 Holdings Pte. Ltd. 3,350,200 0.96 

14 San Tai Construction (S) Pte Ltd 3,000,000 0.86 

15 Khoo Wooi Chee 2,399,800 0.69 

16 Cheng Heng Seng 2,245,000 0.64 

17 Diana Sng Siew Khim 1,637,300 0.47 

18 Soh Cheng Lin 1,400,000 0.40 

19 ABN Amro Clearing Bank N.V. 1,377,000 0.39 

20 Chow Kwok Hong 1,100,000 0.31 

300,632,165 85.93

* The percentage of shareholdings was computed based on the issued share capital of the Company as at 16 March 2021 of 349,831,926 shares (which excludes 
3,840,200 shares which are held as treasury shares representing approximately 0.88% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name No. of Shares %* No. of Shares %*

Axxion S.A — —  32,193,900 9.20

Ehud Harel1 — — 25,796,348 7.37

*The percentage of issued ordinary shares is calculated based on the number 349,831,926 of issued ordinary shares of the company as at 16 March 2021 

(excluding 3,840,200 treasury shares). 

1  Ehud Harel is deemed a shareholder of the Company by virtue of his indirect ownership through Hargem, Ltd. of 25,608,848 shares held on his behalf 

by the Israel Discount Bank through Citibank N.A. Singapore custodians and, by virtue of his indirect ownership of 187,500 shares held on his behalf 
by Eyal Khayat, Option Plan 2005 trustee, through UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd., pursuant to the Plan.

Directors’ Interests in Shares of the Company

Name of Director Shareholdings in the name of the Director
Shareholdings in which the Director is deemed 

to have an interest

As at
1 January

2020

As at
31 December

2020

As at
21 January

2021

As at
1 January

2020

As at
31 December

2020

As at
21 January

2021

Daniel Benjamin Glinert — — — 12,359,156 12,359,156 12,359,156

Yehezkel Pinhas Blum 
 (until 25 June 2020) — NA NA — NA NA

Chan Kam Loon 
 (until 25 June 2020) 569,000 NA NA 24,000 NA NA

Avraham Eshed — — — 15,126,922 15,126,922 15,126,922 

Uzi Levami — — — 12,335,406 12,335,406 12,335,406

Lim Yong Sheng 
 (since 25 June 2020) NA — — NA — —

Valerie Ong Choo Lin 
 (until 25 June 2020) — NA NA 575,000 NA NA

Varda Shine — — — — — —

Sin Boon Ann 
 (since 25 June 2020) NA — — NA — —

Neta Zruya-Hashai 
 (since 25 June 2020) NA — — NA — —
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting ("AGM") of Sarine Technologies Ltd. (“Company”) will be convened and held 
by way of electronic means only on Tuesday, 27 April 2021 at 3:00 p.m. (Singapore time) (10:00 a.m. Israel time; 08:00 a.m. GMT) by Live 
Webcast and Audio Only Means.

The AGM shall transact the business as follows:

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and consider the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the reports of the directors and auditors 
thereon.

2. To declare a final dividend of US cent 0.5 (gross) per share less tax (as applicable) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

3. To re-appoint Somekh Chaikin Certified Public Accountants (Isr.), Member firm of KPMG International and Chaikin, Cohen, Rubin and 
Co., Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) as external auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

4. To approve the Remuneration Policy 2021 as detailed in Appendix A attached hereto [see Explanatory Note (c)].

5. To approve the remuneration package delineated in Appendix B attached hereto for Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, the Executive 
Chairman of the Board [see Explanatory Note (c)].

6. To approve the remuneration package delineated in Appendix B attached hereto for Mr. David Block, the CEO [see Explanatory Note 
(c)].

7. To approve the grant of 300,000 options under the 2015 Plan to Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, the Executive Chairman of the Board, to 
vest over a period of three years as detailed in Explanatory Note (a) [also see Explanatory Note (c)].

8. To approve the grant of 700,000 options under the 2015 Plan to Mr. David Block, the CEO, to vest over a period of three years as 
detailed in Explanatory Note (b) [also see Explanatory Note (c)].

Special Business

9. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following shareholders’ resolutions with or without amendments:-

9.1 Authority to issue shares [see Explanatory Note (d)]

 That authority be given to the directors of the Company to issue and allot shares in the Company whether by way of 
rights, bonus or otherwise (including but not limited to the issue and allotment of shares at any time, whether during the 
continuance of such authority or thereafter, pursuant to offers, agreements or options made or granted by the Company 
while this authority remains in force) by the directors, or otherwise disposal of shares (including making and granting offers, 
agreements and options which would or might require shares to be issued, allotted or otherwise disposed of, whether during 
the continuance of such authority or thereafter) by the directors of the Company at any time to such persons (whether or 
not such persons are shareholders), upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit PROVIDED THAT:

(i) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to such authority shall not exceed 30% of the issued shares in 
the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (ii) below), of which the aggregate number 
of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders must not be more 
than 10% of the total issued shares in the capital of the Company; 

(ii) subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) for the 
purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under paragraph (i) above, the total 
number of issued shares shall be based on the number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time this 
resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities 
or new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time 
this resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company's shares;

(iii) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in full force until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier. 
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9.2 Authority to offer and grant options and issue shares pursuant to the 2015 Plan and to issue shares upon the exercise of 
options, which were previously granted under the Sarin Technologies Ltd 2005 Share Option Plan. [See Explanatory Note (e)] 

That the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant options in accordance with the provisions 
of the 2015 Plan and to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be 
required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options under the 2015 Plan and/or under the Sarin Technologies Ltd 2005 
Share Option Plan (the "2005 Plan"), provided always that the aggregate number of such shares to be issued pursuant to the 
2015 Plan and the 2005 Plan and any other share option schemes of the Company for the time being in force shall not exceed 
15% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) from time to time. 

10. To transact any other business, which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

This Notice has been made available on the SGXNet and on the Company’s website at: https://sarine.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/2021_
AGM_notice.pdf. A printed copy of this Notice will NOT be despatched to members.
  

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

AMIR JACOB ZOLTY
Company Secretary

Israel,
05 April 2021
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IMPORTANT NOTE REGARDING THE CONDUCT OF THE COMPANY’S AGM 

Please note the special meeting arrangements in light of:

(a) the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) Act 2020 passed by Parliament on 7 April 2020 which enables the Minister for Law by 
order to prescribe alternative arrangements for listed companies in Singapore to, inter alia, conduct general meetings, either 
wholly or partly, by electronic communication, video conferencing, tele-conferencing or other electronic means; 

(b) the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, 
Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020 which was gazetted on 13 April 2020 and is deemed to have 
come into operation on 27 March 2020, and which sets out the alternative arrangements in respect of, inter alia, general 
meetings of companies; 

(c) the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, 
Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) (Amendment No. 3) Order 2020 which extended the application of 
alternative arrangements in respect of, inter alia, general meetings of companies in the relevant order up to 30 June 2021; 
and 

(d) the joint statement by the Accounting Corporate and Regulatory Authority, Singapore Exchange Regulations and the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore on 13 April 2020 (and subsequently updated on 27 April 2020, 22 June 2020 and 1 October 2020) 
which provide additional guidance on the conduct of general meetings during the period when elevated safe distancing 
measures are in place,

The Company will arrange for:

(e) A live webcast of the AGM (via Zoom), which allows Shareholders to view, hear and participate in the proceedings (i.e, pose 
questions to directors, management, the secretary and/or the auditors) of the AGM contemporaneously (“Live Webcast”); 
and

(f) Audio participation in the AGM (via telephone), which only allows Shareholders to listen to the proceedings of the AGM 
contemporaneously (“Audio Only Means”). 

Please note that Shareholders will not be able to attend the AGM in person. Shareholders can ONLY participate in the AGM via the Live 
Webcast or Audio Only Means.

Shareholders should note the following procedures and/or instructions to participate in the AGM via the Live Webcast or Audio Only Means:

1.  Proxy Voting

(a) Voting at the AGM shall be done by way of proxy ONLY. Shareholders who wish to vote on any or all of the resolutions at the 
AGM must appoint the Chairman of the AGM as their proxy to vote on their behalf by completing the proxy form attached to 
the Notice of AGM or by downloading the proxy form from the Company’s announcement on SGXNet or on the Company's 
website at URL https://sarine.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/2021_AGM_proxy.pdf and completing it. Shareholders 
(whether individual or corporate) appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy must give specific instructions as to his 
manner of voting, or abstentions from voting, in the proxy form, failing which the appointment will be treated as invalid.

(b) Shareholders must submit the completed and signed proxy form appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy:

(i) by email to the Company, addressed to IR@sarine.com; or
(ii) by post to the registered offices of the Company, at 4 HaHarash Street (3rd Floor), Hod Hasharon, Israel 4544075, 

Attention IR-Proxy Vote; or 
(iii) by email to the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, addressed to Gpb@mncsingapore.com; or
(iv) by post to the office of the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, at 112 Robinson Road #05-01 Singapore 

068902,

in any case, no later than 3.00pm (Singapore time) on 26 April 2021, being not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the 
time fixed for the AGM. 

(c) In view of the current COVID-19 situation which may make it difficult for members of the Company to submit completed proxy 
forms by post, Shareholders of the Company are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via 
email, as noted above.

(d) SRS investors, if any, who wish to vote should approach their respective Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes at least 
seven (7) working days before the AGM (i.e. by 3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 15 April 2021) in order to allow sufficient time 
for their respective relevant intermediaries to in turn submit a proxy form to appoint the Chairman of the AGM to vote on their 
behalf by the cut-off date. 

(e) Please note that shareholders will not be able to vote through the Live Webcast and can only vote with their proxy forms 
which are required to be submitted in accordance with the foregoing paragraphs.
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2.  Shareholders’ Questions and Answers (Q&A)

(a) Shareholders with any queries in relation to any item of the agenda of the AGM, as detailed above, may send their queries to 
the Company in advance before 3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 20 April 2021, by email to IR@sarine.com.

 
(b) Shareholders should state their question(s), full name, NRIC/Passport No./Company Registration No., as applicable, the 

number of shares held in the Company, and whether they are a shareholder or a corporate representative of a corporate 
shareholder. Any question omitting such identification details will be disregarded. 

(c) All substantial questions and relevant comments from shareholders will be addressed by the Company either prior to 
the AGM on SGXNet, if deemed appropriate by the Company (e.g., a clarification to the agenda deemed of interest to all 
shareholders) or at the AGM via the Live Webcast and Audio Only Means. 

(d) The Company shall also address any subsequent clarifications sought, or follow-up questions at the AGM in respect of 
substantial and relevant matters. The responses from the Board, management, secretary or auditors of the Company, as 
applicable, shall thereafter be published on the SGXNet and on the Company’s website, together with the minutes of the 
AGM, as soon as practical and no later than one month after the conclusion of the AGM.

3.  Registration to attend the Live Webcast or by Audio Only Means

(a) Shareholders who wish to attend the AGM by either the Live Webcast or Audio Only Means must pre-register by submitting 
their particulars (comprising emails, full names, NRIC/Passport No./Company Registration No., as applicable, and number 
of shares held) by email to Gpb@mncsingapore.com no less than 72 hours before the time fixed for the AGM, i.e., by 3.00 p.m. 
(Singapore time) on 24 April 2021 (the “Registration Deadline”) to enable the Company to verify their shareholder's status. A 
registration form has been posted along with this Notice on the SGXNet and can be found on the Company’s website at URL 
https://sarine.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/2021_AGM_EGM_registration.pdf

(b) After the verification process, a unique link and password, if applicable, will be sent to authenticated shareholders by 
3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 25 April 2021. The link will be used by shareholders using smart phones, tablets or laptops/
computers to participate in the proceedings of the AGM via Live Webcast. In order to pose questions during the Live Webcast, 
an operational microphone is a prerequisite. 

(c) Verified shareholders who wish to attend the AGM by listening only via Audio Only Means will receive an email confirmation 
containing the details of the Audio Only Means by 3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 25 April 2021. Shareholders are reminded 
that the details contained in the email confirmations are ONLY to be used by shareholders to participate in the proceedings 
of the AGM by either Live Webcast or Audio Only Means, and that the AGM is private. Invitations to attend the Live WebCast 
or Audio Only Means may not be forwarded to anyone who is not a shareholder of the Company or who is not authorised to 
attend the Live Webcast or Audio Only Means. Recording of the Live Webcast and Audio Only Means by any form of method 
shall strictly be prohibited.

(d) Shareholders who register by the Registration Deadline but do not receive an email response by 4.00 p.m. on 25 April 2021 
should contact the Company by email to Gpb@mncsingapore.com or by phone at +65-62280530, if calling from Singapore, 
or to IR@sarine.com or by phone at +972-9-7903500. In the case of the latter, kindly select ‘English menu’ (dial 8), followed 
by ‘Management and Reception’ (dial 9).
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Explanatory Notes:-

(a) Daniel Benjamin Glinert will be granted 300,000 options to vest over three years as follows:

• 150,000 options will vest in three equal lots over three years – 50,000 options after year 1, 50,000 options after year 
2 and 50,000 options after year 3.

• 150,000 options will vest provisionally upon the completion of the three year period, conditional upon meeting 
Board specified targets pertaining to the rollout of the new e-GradingTM offering (pro-rata vesting between a Board 
determined threshold and the full target goal).

(b) David Block will be granted 700,000 options to vest over three years as follows:

• 450,000 options will vest in three equal lots over three years – 150,000 options after year 1, 150,000 after year 2 and 
150,000 after year 3.

• 250,000 options will vest provisionally upon the completion of the three year period, conditional upon meeting 
Board specified targets pertaining to the rollout of the new e-GradingTM offering (pro-rata vesting between a Board 
determined threshold and the full target goal).

(c) A shareholders’ resolution shall be deemed adopted if approved by the holders of a majority of the voting power represented 
at the meeting in person or by proxy and voting thereon. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, according to the Israeli Companies 
Law, the approval of the Remuneration Policy, the remuneration packages and the grants of options to Mr. Daniel Glinert, 
the Executive Chairman of the Board, and to Mr. David Block, the CEO of the Company (resolutions No. 4 through 8) on 
the agenda of this AGM, require a majority of the shareholders attending and voting (abstaining votes notwithstanding), 
provided that: (i) such majority shall consist of the majority of the participating and voting shareholders who are not the 
controlling shareholders of the company, or otherwise having a personal interest in such resolution; or (ii) the non-interested 
shareholders who voted against such resolution hold not more than 2% of the company's share capital. According to the 
Israeli Companies Law, a “personal interest” is: "a personal interest of any person in an act or transaction of a company, 
including a personal interest of his relative or of a corporate body in which such person or a relative of such person has a 
personal interest, but excluding a personal interest stemming from the fact of a shareholding in the company, including a 
personal interest of the person voting according to a proxy given to him by another person, even if the appointer does not 
have a personal interest, and including a personal interest of the appointer, even if the appointee does not have a personal 
interest, all whether or not the appointee is granted any discretion with regard to the subject matter of the voting”.

Please Note: according to an Israeli court ruling, a shareholder must positively inform the Company whether or not 
such shareholder has a personal interest in a proposal which is subject to approval by a majority vote of disinterested 
shareholders, as in the case of resolutions 4 through 8. Your failure to check the box on the proxy form indicating 
that you have no personal interest will therefore require the Company to assume that you have a personal interest in 
Resolutions 4 through 8 and disqualify your vote on such proposals.

We may no longer assume that a shareholder who signs and returns a proxy form without a specific indication as to the lack 
of personal interest of such shareholder has no personal interest with respect to resolutions 4 through 8. If you believe that 
you, or a related party of yours, is a controlling shareholder or possesses a personal interest and you wish to participate in 
the vote on resolutions 4 through 8, you should not indicate in the appropriate box that there exists no personal interest on 
the enclosed proxy form. If you hold your shares through a bank, broker or other nominee and believe that you possess a 
personal interest in the approval of either resolution, you may also contact the representative managing your account, who 
could then contact us on your behalf.

(d) The shareholders’ resolution set out in item 9.1 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above 
meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to issue shares in the Company. The maximum number of shares 
which the Directors may issue under this resolution shall not exceed the quantum set out in this resolution. 

(e) The shareholders’ resolution set out in item 9.2 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to offer and grant options and 
to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the exercise of the options granted under the 2005 Plan 
and the 2015 Plan.

Personal Data Privacy: 

By submitting a proxy form appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment 
thereof, a member of the Company consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its 
agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of the appointment of the Chairman of the 
AGM as proxy for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and 
other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any 
applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines.
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Appendix A - Remuneration Policy 2021 – 2023
(“the Policy”)

1. Background and General Provisions
 

Amendment No. 20 to the Israeli Companies Law, 1999 (the "Israeli Companies Law") was enacted on December 12th, 2012.  This 
amendment mandates the adoption of a remuneration policy for officers ("Nosei Misra" – as such term is defined in the Israeli 
Companies Law: i.e. any member of the board of directors, a general manager, a Chief Executive Officer, a deputy Chief Executive 
Officer, any person effectively holding such position in the company, irrespective of his or her title, and also any manager who reports 
directly to the Chief Executive Officer) in publicly-traded companies, and defines a special procedure for authorizing employment 
terms for office holders.
 
The purpose of this remuneration policy (the "Remuneration Policy" or the "Policy") is to describe Sarine's overall remuneration 
strategy for Officers and Directors (as such terms are defined hereinbelow) and to provide guidelines for setting remuneration of its 
Officers and Directors.
 
The Remuneration Policy is a multi-year policy, which shall be in effect for a period of three years from the date of its approval.

This Policy is not intended to affect current agreements nor affect obligating customs (if applicable) between the Company and its 
Officers or Directors as such may exist prior to the approval of this Remuneration Policy.
 
Nothing in this Remuneration Policy shall obligate the Company to grant any particular type or amount of remuneration to any Officer 
or Director, unless expressly stated otherwise, nor shall it derogate from approval procedures mandated by the Israeli Companies 
Law.
 
In the event that the appropriate decision makers of the Company determine that a certain Officer of the Company is entitled to 
compensation lesser than such specified in this Policy, such lesser compensation shall not be deemed a deviation from this Policy.

Any amendment to this Remuneration Policy shall require the approvals as set forth in the Israeli Companies Law.
 
The Company has constituted and established a Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) with the authority, 
responsibility and specific duties described in a Remuneration Committee Charter that was approved by the Company’s Board of 
Directors (the “Board”). Pursuant to the Remuneration Committee Charter, the Remuneration Committee shall be composed of at 
least three directors, all of the External Directors (as such term is defined in the Israeli Companies Law) shall be members of the 
Remuneration Committee and such External Directors shall form the majority in such committee. The Remuneration Committee will 
be chaired by an External Director.
 
The Remuneration Committee and the Board shall review this Remuneration Policy from time to time, as required by the Israeli 
Companies Law. This Remuneration Policy shall be brought for reconsideration as required (currently, every three years) by the 
Israeli Companies Law.

2. The Company

Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and manufacturing of advanced evaluation, planning, processing 
finishing and grading systems for diamond production, as well as products and services aimed at assisting the wholesale and retail 
trade of same. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of inclusion mapping systems, rough diamond planning optimisation 
systems, laser cutting and shaping systems, laser-marking and inscription machines and polished diamond Clarity, Color, Cut and light 
performance grading tools and visualisation systems. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern manufacturing 
plant, properly equipped gemmology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are essential aids for diamond polishers, dealers and 
retailers.
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3. Sarine’s Vision and Major Goals

Sarine believes in growth and expansion through innovation by developing and introducing revolutionary technologies and products 
aimed at redefining the gold standard of the diamonds value chain. Accordingly, the Company's goals are: 

•  To constantly increase value for our shareholders.

• To continue developing at high growth rates by meeting our business objectives.
 
• To maintain our leadership position in the diamond industry, as a technological and impartial innovator, providing value and 

adding certainty and visibility to all stakeholders in the industry: miners, manufacturers, retailers and consumers.

• To participate in formalising the diamond "language" and setting the industry's standards, while sustainably optimising the 
value derived from the rough diamond material, whether extracted or produced, to the benefit of our customers and the 
general public.

• To provide our employees a rewarding, challenging and dynamic working environments with continuous learning and 
improvement processes, in order to attract and retain talent.

• To improve our business while contributing to the betterment of our people and communities, based on the Company’s four 
point vision on which our business is based; Innovation, Value, Employees and Community.

4. Definitions

For the purposes of this Policy:
 
"Chairman" shall mean the executive Chairman of the Board.
 
"Director" shall mean any member of the Board.

"Officers" or “Office Holders” shall mean:  Director, CEO, and any senior executive subordinate to the CEO all as defined in section 1 
of the Israeli Companies Law.

“US$” shall mean US Dollars

5. Remuneration Objectives
 
Strong and effective leadership is fundamental to Sarine’s continued growth and success in the future. This requires the ability to 
attract, retain, reward and motivate highly-skilled Officers [Reminder – the term Officers, as defined above, includes Directors in all 
references throughout this document] in competitive labour markets.
 
The Remuneration Policy is intended to align the Company's objectives and work plans with appropriate goals and objectives of 
Officers and ensure that the overall financial and strategic objectives of the company and its shareholders are met.
 
In support of this goal, remuneration practices for Sarine's Officers are designed to meet the following objectives:
 
• Improve business results and strategy implementation, and underpin the Company’s work-plans, with a long-term perspective.
 
• Create a clear correlation between Officers’ remuneration and both Company and individual performance.
 
• Align Officers’ interests with those of the Company and its shareholders and incentivise Officers to create long-term 

economic value for the Company.
 
• Create fair and reasonable incentives, considering the Company's size, characteristics, and business activities, in relation to 

the positions held by the Officers.
 
• Create an appropriate remuneration plan for Officers taking into account, inter alia, the Company’s risk management policy.
 
• Create the right balance between fixed and variable pay components and balance rewards for both short-term and long-term 

results to ensure sustained business performance over time.
 
• Consider market benchmark remuneration data to ensure our Officers are compensated fairly and best practices are 

implemented.
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6. General Considerations

The compensation of Officers shall be set (or updated, as the case may be) with reference to the follow-ing considerations:

• Role and business responsibilities.

• Professional experience, education, expertise and qualifications.

• Previous compensation paid to the Officer.

• The Company’s financial circumstances .

• Internal comparables: (a) compensation packages of comparable Company’s Officers; (b) the relationship between the 
Officer’s compensation package and the salaries of the Company’s other employees and specifically the median and average 
salaries of the Company and the effect of such rela-tionship on work relations in the Company.

• External comparables: Market value based on a comparative salary survey, taking into account relevant market practice as 
a benchmark for the specific role using a peer-group of companies. The peer-group companies will be selected to provide 
an appropriate comparative model and will be selected based on appropriate similarities taking into account factors such 
as market capitalisation, type of industry, location of listing, level of revenues, number of employees, location of operations, 
relevance of such factors to the particular executive role being compared and any other factors that may be deemed 
appropriate by the Company.

• When deciding on increasing an Officer’s Base Salary (as such term is defined below), the following considerations, in 
addition to the above mentioned, may be applied: changes to the Officer’s scope of responsibilities and business challenges, 
the need to retain the Officer, inflation since the last remuneration update and updated market rate (based on a comparative 
salary survey). In addition, his or her full compensation package including any bonus and options will be considered to 
provide a comprehensive perspective.

• Adjustments to Base Salary may be periodically reviewed, considered and approved by the Remuneration Committee and the 
Board    

7.         Remuneration Policy

 7.1.  Officers’ Remuneration Package Components
 

Officers’ remuneration packages will generally be composed of the following elements:
 

 a. Base Salary – a fixed monetary remuneration paid on a monthly basis.
 
 b. Benefits– supplements aimed at supplementing cash remuneration, based on local market practice for comparable 

positions.
 
 c. Cash Bonus (Short Term Incentive (STI)) – variable monetary bonus paid annually (or at the end of such longer 

periods for which targets may have been set as part of a multi-year plan), aimed at rewarding Officers based on both 
the Company’s and individually set targets and stretch targets.

 
 d. Equity-based Remuneration (Long Term Incentive (LTI)) – variable equity-based remuneration designed to retain 

Officers, align Officers’ and shareholders’ interests and incentivise achievement of medium and long-term goals.
 
 e. Termination Payments - retirement and termination of service arrangements.

 
The “mix” of the elements that will be provided to each Officer will be structured in order to support the Company’s 
philosophy of compensating Officers for Company and individual performance and aligning their interests with shareholders' 
interests, while recognising that the mix may vary from period to period and from Officer to Officer. Further details about the 
remuneration structure of the Company's Officers may be found in Sections 7.4 and 7.5 below.

7.2. Base Salary
 
Base salary is a fixed remuneration element, which provides remuneration to an Officer for performance of his or her 
standard duties and responsibilities and reflects the Officer's role, skills, qualifications, experience and market value (the 
“Base Salary”).

The Base Salary for newly hired Officers will be set based on the following considerations:
 
• Role and business responsibilities.
 
• Professional experience, education, expertise and qualifications.
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• The Company’s financial circumstances.
 
• Internal equity: (a) Base Salary and the total remuneration package of comparable Sarine Officers; 
 (b) The relationship between the Officer’s remuneration package and the salaries of the Company’s other employees 

and specifically the median and average salaries and the effect of such relationship on work relations in the Company.

• The size of the Company and the nature of its operations. In connection with the determination of the Base Salary of 
each Officer and its ongoing reassessment, appropriate attention should be given to the particular circumstances 
and challenges, which such Officer faces, given the dynamic and fluctuating environment in which he or she operates.

• Any requirements or restrictions prescribed by the Israeli Companies Law, the SGX Listing Rules, and any other 
applicable law from time to time, and evolving best practices among shareholder advisory and institutional investor 
groups.

When deciding on increasing an Officer’s Base Salary, the following considerations, in addition to the abovementioned, shall 
be applied: changes to the Officer’s scope of responsibilities and business challenges, the need to retain the Officer, inflation 
since the last Base Salary update and updated market rate (based on a comparative salary survey).
 
Adjustments to Base Salary may be periodically reviewed, considered and approved by the Remuneration Committee and 
the Board.
 
In the event that the services of the Officer are provided via a personal management company and not by the Officer directly 
as an employee of Sarine, the fees paid to such personal management company (or unincorporated legal person) shall 
reflect, to the extent determined by Sarine in the applicable service agreement, the base salary and other benefits (plus 
applicable taxes such as Value Added Tax), in accordance with the guidelines of the Remuneration Policy.

The Base Salaries of the Company’s Officers shall not exceed:

Title Maximum Base Salary1

CEO US$ 35,000

EVP/CFO/Chairman of the Board/Executive Directors US$ 24,000

VPs US$ 18,000

7.3. Benefits 
 
The following benefits may be granted to the Officers in order, among other things, to comply with legal requirements under 
Israeli law: 

•  Pension and savings – subject to applicable law, Officers can choose between any combinations of executive 
insurance, a pension fund, or any other program, permitted under applicable law. The Company’s contribution 
towards such  plans amounts to 5%-6% of the Officer’s monthly salary.

• Disability insurance – the Company will purchase disability insurance for Officers; except in special cases, premium 
will not exceed 2.5% of the monthly salary, or as may be required by applicable law.

• Study fund – Officers are entitled to a study fund provision at the expense of the Company at a rate of 7.5% of the 
monthly salary, or as may be required by applicable law.

• Convalescence pay - Officers are entitled to convalescence pay according to applicable law.
• Vacation – Officers are entitled to annual vacation days pursuant to their employment agreement, up to a cap of 26 

days per annum.
• Sick days – Officers are entitled to paid sick days, according to applicable law.  However, the Company may cover 

sick days from the first day (while as the law requires only partial coverage for days 2 and 3 and full coverage only 
thereafter).

• The Company may offer additional benefits to the Officers, which will be comparable to customary market practices, 
such as, but not limited to: Company car benefits, including tax payments incurred in connection with the car, or, in 
lieu of a Company car, reimbursement of the Officer's expenses in relation to his/her own personal car; Company 
cellular phone; reimbursement of business travel expenses (according to seniority and length of flight), including a 
daily payment (per-diem) and other business related expenses; meals; etc.; provided however, that such additional 
benefits shall be determined in accordance with the Company's policies and procedures. 

Non-Israeli Officers may receive similar, comparable or customary benefits as applicable in the jurisdiction in which they are 
employed. 

1  As the payments to the Officers of the Company may be effected (in whole or in part) in New Israeli Shekels (NIS), the amounts specified herein were computed 
based on the applicable exchange rate as of the Last Practicable Date (LPD), being 28 February 2021 (being 3.28NIS to US$1), and may be subject to increase in 
case of fluctuations in the applicable exchange rate.  
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7.4. Cash Bonus (STI)
 
Sarine’s short-to-medium term incentive scheme will be based on a variable monetary bonus paid either upon the achievement 
of pre-designated milestones (set either annually or for a longer, multi-year, period) designed to reward Officers based on the 
Company and his/her individually-defined results or based on measurement of the Officer’s and the Group’s performance 
by the Remuneration Committee and the Board, based on a list of quantifiable and measurable targets (the “Target Bonus”). 
The Target Bonus will be set at two tiers – the Basic Tier and the Stretch Tier. The Basic Tier will remunerate the Officers for 
achieving goals as proposed by the Company's Management and accepted by the Remuneration Committees of the Board, 
and as further approved by the Board. The Stretch Tier will remunerate the Officers for achieving goals set by the Executive 
and Remuneration Committees of the Board and approved by the Board

Title Maximum Cash Bonus Basic Tier

CEO 12 Months’ Salary

EVP/CFO/Chairman of the Board/Executive Directors 12 Months’ Salary

VPs 4 Months’ Salary

Title Maximum Cash Bonus Stretch Tier

CEO 6 Months’ Salary

EVP/CFO/Chairman of the Board/Executive Directors 6 Months’ Salary

VPs 4 Months’ Salary

During the fourth calendar quarter of each calendar year the Executive and/or the Remuneration Committee will determine 
the Basic and Stretch Tier Target Bonuses for each Officer, based on the relevant inputs from the CEO as pertaining to 
his subordinates, for the following year (or the relevant target period), which will be approved by the Board at the annual 
budgeting meeting in the first quarter of the relevant year.

During the first quarter of each calendar year the Remuneration Committee and the Board will consider the performance of 
the Company and the Officers and shall ascertain the actual Target Bonuses payable per the Basic and Stretch Tiers for the 
previous year (if and to the extent payable) to the Officers.

The Board, at the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, may set targets for a period of more than one year. In 
such instances, the Officer shall be eligible for the Target Bonus (per each year included in such multi-year period) either 
upon achieving such targets (whether at the end of such period or before) or, at the sole discretion of the Board, on a partial 
(e.g., pro-rata) basis for partially achieving targets at interim (typically annual) periods.

Objectives: The Company objectives and Officers' objectives will be determined based on pre-defined either qualitative or 
quantifiable considerations.
 
These objectives may include (but are not limited to) any one or more of the following criteria:

 
- Innovation objectives such as: introducing new products and developing future pipeline products.
 
- Operating plan targets such as manage corporate operations to the approved annual budget and meet human 

resources objectives.
 
- Financials objectives such as revenue, operational profit, EBITDA, net profit cash balance etc.
 
- Business development objectives such as maintaining and expanding market share, entrance into new fields.

- Human Resources objectives such as recruiting and retaining top talent to provide for the business ongoing and 
long-term success.

Both Company objectives and individual objectives may combine quantitative and qualitative goals, provided that there is a 
clear and measurable index for each goal 

Thresholds: The Remuneration Committee and the Board may, with respect to any period or Officer, determine one or more 
minimal thresholds for the payment of the annual cash Target Bonuses or any components thereof, in such a manner that, if 
the minimal threshold is not achieved, the annual Target Bonus Basic Tier, or a particular component thereof, with respect to 
which the minimal threshold was not achieved, will not be paid.

The Stretch Tier Bonuses may be awarded on a pro-rated basis, in case of partial achievement of the Stretch Tier Target(s).
 
The Company may determine that, with respect to any specific year, all or any particular Officer or Officers shall not be 
entitled to any Target Bonus.
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7.5. Equity-based Remuneration (LTI)
 
Sarine’s medium-to-long term (typically 2-4 years, incentive includes variable, equity-based remuneration that is designed 
to retain Officers, align Officers and shareholders' interests and incentivise the achievement of medium-to-long term goals.
 
The Company shall be entitled to grant Officers share options, or any other securities-based or securities-related grants 
which are duly approved by the Company (collectively: “Equity-Based Awards”).

The Equity-Based Awards shall be both time-based and performance-based (measured against the achievement of goals set 
by the Company, in the manner specified in Section 7.4 above), according to the following breakdown:

Title Time-Based Awards
Performance-Based 
Awards

Cost to the Company (over a 
Three-Year Peri-od) (up to)

CEO Up to 75% of the grant At least 25% of the grant US$ 500,000

EVP/CFO/Chairman of the 
Board/Executive Directors Up to 75% of the grant At least 25% of the grant US$ 300,000 (per person)

VPs Up to 75% of the grant At least 25% of the grant US$ 200,000 (per person)

General guidelines for the grant of Equity-Based Awards:
 
• Equity Based Awards basic goal is "to retain Officers, align Officers and shareholders' interests and incentivise 

the achievement of medium-to-long term goals". In order to avoid volatility and to continue incentivising officers. 
Therefore, the options will be approved by the appropriate Company organs (the Board or the Annual General 
Meeting, as applicable) but will be actually granted, and thus priced, in proportioned annual quantities (typically a 
third/quarter of the approved grant), This, it is expected, will smooth the effect of any single year's possible share 
price variance, which will allow fairer chance for Officers to benefit from their options and allow the Board to adapt 
targets to market changes 

 
• The Equity-Based Awards shall be individually determined and granted according to the performance, skills, 

qualifications, experience, role and the personal responsibilities of the Officer.
 
• Vesting schedule - the Equity-Based Awards will vest and, if applicable, become exercisable annually over a period 

of between 2 to 4 years.

 In case of termination not-for-cause, resignation or change in the Company’s control, prior to vesting, a pro-rated 
portion of the Equity-Based Awards shall be automatically vested.

• Exercise price –the exercise price shall be determined according to the average closing price of the Company’s 
share on the five (5) days of trade prior to the grant date (the “Market Price”).

• Expiry date - the term of the options shall not exceed six (6) years from the date of the issuance.

7.6        Remuneration Recovery 

Cash and Equity Bonuses to Officers shall be subject to claw-back provisions that allow for the recovery of any bonus 
payment(s) made to an Officer, if such bonus payment was based on incorrect financial statements which were later 
corrected (i.e. a restatement). The claw-back limit will be applied only in respect of restatements made up to three years 
from the applicable bonus payment and will not exceed, for any Officer, the amount of the bonus payment received by such 
Officer. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the remuneration recovery will not be triggered in the event of a financial restatement 
required due to changes in the applicable financial reporting standards. The Officer shall repay to the Company the balance 
between the original bonus and any bonus due to the Officer based on the restated financial statements, pursuant to terms 
that shall be determined by the Remuneration Committee and the Board.

7.7. Termination of Service Arrangements; Severance
 
Unless approved otherwise by the Remuneration Committee and the Board (and where applicable – the shareholders) and 
defined in the Officer’s employment agreement, he or she shall be entitled to an advance notice prior to termination for a 
period of up to 30 days (the “Notice Period”).

During the Notice Period the Officer is required to keep performing his or her duties pursuant to his or her agreement with the 
Company, unless the Company releases the Officer from such obligation. During the Notice Period an Officer will be entitled 
to full payment of compensation (unless the Company has waived his or her services, in which case he or she shall be paid 
an amount equivalent only to his/her Base Salary).
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7.8.  Inter-Company Remuneration Ratio

In determining the remuneration terms of each Officer and of the Officers as a group, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Board will examine, among other things, the ratio between overall remuneration of Officers and the average and median 
remuneration of other employees in Sarine, as well as the possible ramifications of such ratio on the work environment in 
Sarine.

The possible ramifications of the ratio on the work environment will continue to be examined from time to time.

The following table indicates the ratio between total cash remuneration of Officers and the
 

Position Average Median

CEO / EVP/ CFO 3.0 3.0

VPs 2.6 2.7

These ratios may fluctuate, and the Company is not committed to maintaining or reducing them, but the Remuneration 
Committee will continue monitoring them annually as an additional parameter assisting it in the evaluation of Officers’ 
overall and individual remuneration.

7.9.  Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration2

The remuneration packages of Non-Executive Directors will generally be composed of a balanced mix of cash and equity to 
allow Directors to align their interests with those of the Company and its shareholders while discouraging high-risk strategies 
that drive short-term performance.

Non-Executive Directors (who are not Independent Directors)

The cash remuneration shall be paid based on actual participation in Board and committee meetings, not to exceed US$1,100 
(per meeting) for participation in person, 60% of same, i.e., US$660, for participation over the phone and 50% of same, i.e., 
US$550, for a written resolution.

As the directors are elected for three year terms, the equity remunerations shall consist of a grant of three year options (a 
third vesting each year) to purchase the Company’s shares at the Market Price (on day of grant), granted no more frequently 
than once every three years. The estimated cost to the Company of such grant shall not exceed US$150,000 (per each Non- 
Executive Director) over three years. Such grants may be made no more frequently than once every three years.

Non-Executive Directors (who are Independent Directors)

1.  Maximum annual fixed remuneration of US$50,000, provided that the annual fees of the Independent Directors, 
who were also designated as External Directors shall not exceed the maximum amount allowed under the Israeli 
Companies Law and under the applicable Israeli regulations (currently NIS 147,095 for Expert External Directors and 
NIS 110,235 for other External Directors).

2.  Additional remuneration based on actual participation in Board and committee meetings, not to exceed US$1,100 
(per meeting) for participation in person, 60% of same, i.e., US$660, for participation over the phone and 50% of same, 
i.e., US$550, for a written resolution, provided that the participation fees of the Independent Directors, who were also 
designated as External Directors shall not exceed the maximum amount allowed under the Israeli Companies Law 
and under the applicable Israeli regulations (currently NIS 4,240).

3.  As the directors are elected for three year terms, the equity remunerations shall consist of a grant of three year 
options (a third vesting each year) to purchase the Company’s shares at the Market Price (on day of grant) granted 
no more frequently than once every three years. The estimated cost to the Company shall not exceed US$150,000 
(per Independent Director) over three years, all subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law [according to 
the Israeli Companies Law and the applicable regulations, Independent Directors, who are also External Directors, 
are appointed for a three-year term and their remuneration, as well as the grant of options to such External Directors, 
should be defined upon their appointment and remain in effect throughout such three-year period, and may be 
subject to certain other restrictions].

The Company shall also bear the Directors' travel-related expenses (including flights, accommodation, etc.) incurred in the 
performance of their duties, based on the Company's general policy.

Directors’ remuneration shall be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on an annual basis to ensure that 
it aligns with the “Remuneration Objectives” described in Section 5 of this Policy and conforms to local and industry best 
practices.

2 As the payments to Israeli directors may be effected (in whole or in part) in New Israeli Shekels (NIS), the amounts specified herein were computed based on
the applicable exchange rate as of the Last Practicable Date (LPD), being 28 February 2021 (being 3.28 NIS to US$1), and may be subject to increase in case of
fluctuations in the applicable exchange rate.
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7.10  Insurance, Indemnification and Release

The Company will release all current and future Directors and Officers from liability for actions taken in the performance of 
or related to the Director’s or Officer’s duties and provide each of them with indemnification to the fullest extent permitted 
by law and its Articles of Association.

In addition, subject to any applicable laws, until otherwise determined, the Company will purchase and periodically renew, at 
the Company’s expense, insurance coverage in respect of the liability of its Directors and Officers to the amount reasonably 
determined by the Board. Currently coverage is US$ 30 million.

The annual premium payable by the Company for such insurance policy shall not exceed US$ 0.5 million.

The Company, may from time to time, increase the coverage of such insurance policy (and the premium paid therefor) if the 
Remuneration Committee and the Board are of the opinion that such increase is required, in view of any expansion and/or 
change in the Company’s activities, its business environment, its listing venue(s) or due to any other relevant considerations.

In addition, such insurance coverage may include “run-off” provisions covering the Directors’ and Officers’ liability following 
termination of service or employment.

The Company shall award, and shall continue to award, indemnification undertakings to Directors and Officers, subject to the 
approvals required in accordance with the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law.

8.  Supervision, Reporting and Amendments

8.1  The Board is responsible for the management and implementation of the Policy in the Company and it shall be entitled to 
take all actions necessary to achieve such purpose, including interpreting the provisions of the Policy, as may be required.

8.2.  Subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, any deviation from the Policy shall be brought to discussion in the 
Remuneration Committee and shall be approved by the Board of the Company.

8.3.  Every year, before the approval of the Company’s annual financial reports, the Remuneration Committee will review the Policy 
and its compatibility to the status of the Company and the manner in which the Policy is implemented by Company.

8.4  The CFO of the Company will be responsible for the implementation of the Policy and shall alert the Remuneration Committee 
and the Board upon any deviation and/or non-compliance in the implementation of the Policy.

8.5.  During the term of the Policy an internal audit shall be performed at least once, with respect to the manner of its 
implementation.
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Appendix B - Remuneration Packages 2021 – 2023

•  All costs are given in annualised terms.
•  Illustrative options costs are estimated as per share price (S$0.56) and currency conversion rates (US$1 = NIS 3.28 and US$1 = 

S$1.3279) as per the Last Practicable Date (LPD) being 28 February 2021, and are based on IFRS guidelines using a lattice-based 
valuation model applying management assumptions (e.g., share volatility).

1.  Directors

a.  Daniel Benjamin Glinert – Executive Chairman of the Board

o  Monthly compensation NIS 56,250 plus out-of-pocket expenses according to current practice (~ US$800 a month in 
2020). Estimated monthly cost to Sarine as of LPD currency conversion rates - US$17,950,

o  Annual bonus as derived by the Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors, as per criteria enumerated 
below, capped at 18 monthly salaries annually (US$308,700).

o  Annual bonus of US$1,000 per every S$0.01 added to share price (at end of year), capped at US$100,000 annually.
o  Time based options – up to a total of 450,000 options over the three years from 2021 through 2023, to be granted in 

three annual grants up to a third each time, each grant to be approved by the appropriate Annual General Meeting, 
with each grant vesting over the subsequent 3 years from the time of grant in equal annual portions. Estimated total 
five year cost - US$63,000. Estimated average annual cost (actual accounting rules frontload costs to earlier years 
based on closing share price on LPD) - US$12,600.

o  Target based options – up to a total of 450,000 options over the three years from 2021 through 2023, to be grantedin 
three annual grants up to a third each time, each grant to be approved by the appropriate Annual General Meeting, 
with each grant provisionally vesting upon the lapse of the 3 year period subsequent to the grant, conditional upon 
meeting Board specified targets (to be set as a range with a minimal threshold and pro-rata vesting for achieving 
results between threshold and full target). Estimated total five year cost assuming ALL targets are met - US$63,000.
Estimated average annual cost (actual accounting rules frontload costs to earlier years based on closing share price 
on LPD) - US$12,600.

o  Estimated average annual expense, excluding cash bonus, if any - US$240,600.
o  Comparatives:

•  To Israeli benchmark (Tzviran Israeli Public Company Remuneration Survey) – less than the 25th percentile, 
below par

•  To Sarine median compensation – N/A
•  To Sarine average compensation – N/A

Note: The number of options noted above is the cap in each category over the three year term of the Remuneration Policy. 
It is not the number of options to be granted at the current AGM (see agenda item 7) and there is no commitment to grant 
these numbers of options over the three year period. The Board will recommend and the AGM will approve each year a grant
of options, if any, within these limits.

b.  Non-Executive Directors –

•   Payment for participation in person in meeting – US$1,100 ((60% for participation over the phone – US$ 660, 50% for 
signing a written resolution – US$550).

c.  Varda Shine, Lim Yong Sheng, Sin Boon Ann and Neta Zruya – Independent Directors:

•   Payment for participation in person in meeting – similar to the payment to Non-Executive Directors.
•   No change to the fixed annual payment (as set in 2020) [according to the Israeli Companies Law and the applicable 

regulations, Independent Directors, who are also External Directors, are appointed for a three-year term and their 
remuneration, as well as the grant of options to such External Directors, should be defined upon their appointment 
and remain in effect throughout such three-year period. Mr. Sin and Ms. Zruya are considered both Independent 
Directors and External Directors].

2.  CEO - David Block

o  Monthly salary NIS 71,000 (~US$21,646 as of LPD currency conversion rates) plus benefits as per the Policy. Estimated cost 
to Sarine in 2021 - US$381,000.

o  Annual bonus as decided by the Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors, as per criteria enumerated in Policy, 
capped at 18 monthly salaries annually. Estimated cost of cap as of LPD currency conversion rates - US$390,000.

o  Time based options – – up to a total of 950,000 options over the three years from 2021 through 2023, to be granted in three 
annual grants up to a third each time, each grant to be approved by the appropriate Annual General Meeting, with each 
grant vesting over the subsequent 3 years from the time of grant in equal annual portions. Estimated total five year cost - 
US$133,000. Estimated average annual cost (actual accounting rules frontload costs to earlier years based on closing share 
price on LPD) - US$26,600.
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o  Target based options – up to a total of 750,000 options over the three years from 2021 through 2023, to be granted in three 
annual grants up to a third each time, each grant to be approved by the appropriate Annual General Meeting, with each grant 
provisionally vesting upon the lapse of the 3 year period subsequent to the grant, conditional upon meeting Board specified 
targets (to be set as a range with a minimal threshold and pro-rata vesting for achieving results between threshold and full 
target). Estimated total five year cost assuming ALL targets are met - US$105,000. Estimated average annual cost (actual 
accounting rules frontload costs to earlier years based on closing share price on LPD) - US$21,000. o Estimated average 
annual expense, excluding cash bonus, if any - US$430,000.

o  Comparatives on salaries, benefits and non-cash option compensation:

•   To Israeli benchmark (Tzviran Israeli Public Company Remuneration Survey) – just over the 25th percentile, below 
par

•   To Sarine median compensation – 4.0
•   To Sarine average compensation – 3.6

Note: The number of options noted above is the cap in each category over the three year term of the Remuneration Policy. It is not 
the number of options to be granted at the current AGM (see agenda item 8) and there is no commitment to grant these numbers of 
options over the three year period. The Board will recommend and the AGM will approve each year a grant of options, if any, within 
these limits.

3.  Cash Bonuses Criteria

The Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors will approve annual Base Target and Stretched Target bonuses not to exceed 
18 monthly salaries (with regard to the Executive Director and the CEO) or 8 monthly salaries (with regard to VPs), cumulatively, as 
derived from performance vis-à-vis the following quantitative and qualitative criteria:

1.  Financial performance, as determined by the revenues, gross margin, operating profit, EBITDA net profit and cash flow, or any 
combination thereof.

2.  Strategic Goals:

a.  Retention or increase in Legacy products sales, derivation of new recurring revenue streams from new applications 
of Legacy products and the introduction of completely new or significant new derivations of Legacy products, or a 
combination of the above.

b.  Increase in revenues from the Galaxy family of products by way of accelerated sales and the expansion of the 
installed base of systems, broader penetration, an increase in the number of rough stones scanned, growth of the 
recurring revenues from rough stones scanned and containment of illegal competition, or a combination of the 
above

c.  Expansion of the Group's business related to the wholesale or retail trade of rough and polished diamonds, the 
traceability of their provenance, their grading, etc., as measured by the revenues generated, the reports issued, the 
number of customers in general, and high-end and/or opinion/market leaders in particular, using our technologies, 
geographic expansion, strategic alliances with producers or existing gem labs, etc., or a combination of the above.

d.  Creation of an appropriate pool of talented management and other staff, so as to protect against attrition of key 
personnel and provide for long term succession plans.

Note: A discretionary bonus equivalent to up to one quarter of the maximum cash bonus may be payable based on the general 
evaluation of the Company’s and Officer’s performance by the Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors.
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SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD. 
(Incorporated in Israel)
Israel Registration No. 51 1332207

PROXY FORM - ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

This form of proxy has been made available on SGXNet and the Company’s website at the URL https://sarine.com/wp-content/
uploads/2021/2021_AGM_proxy.pdf

IMPORTANT
1. The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is being convened, and will be held, by electronic means only pursuant to (i) the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures)

(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020; 
and (ii) the Additional Guidance on the Conduct of General Meetings During Ele-vated Safe Distancing Period jointly issued by the Accounting and
Corporate Regulatory Authority, the Monetary Authority of Singapore, and Singapore Exchange Regulation on 13 April 2020 and updated thereafter on 
27 April 2020, 22 June 2020 and 01 October 2020.

2. Alternative arrangements relating to amongst others, (i) registration and attendance at the AGM via electronic means (including arrangements by which 
the meeting can be electronically accessed via Live Webcast and Audio Only Means); (ii) submission of questions to the Company in advance of the 
AGM; (iii) addressing of substantial and relevant questions at the AGM; and (iv) voting by appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy at the AGM, are 
set out in the Company’s Notice of Annual General Meeting (“Notice”) which has been uploaded together with this proxy form on the SGXNet and on the 
Company’s website on the same day at the https://sarine.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/2021_AGM_notice.pdf

3. A member will not be able to attend the AGM in person. If a member (whether individual or corporate) wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the 
AGM, he/she/it must appoint the Chair-man of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM. In appointing the Chairman of the 
AGM as proxy, a member (whether individual or corporate) must give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in the form of proxy, 
failing which the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

4. SRS investors, if any, who wish to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy should approach their respective SRS Operators to submit their votes by 
3.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 15 April 2021.

5. By submitting an instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out 
in the Notice dated 5 April 2021.

6. Please read the notes overleaf which contain instructions on, inter alia, the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as a member’s proxy to vote on 
his/her/its behalf at the AGM.

I/We_____________________________________________________________________________, NRIC/Passport no.______________________________________

of _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

being a member/members of Sarine Technologies Ltd. (the “Company”), hereby appoint the Chairman of the AGM as my/our proxy/proxies 
to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM to be held electronically on the 27th day of April 2021 at 3:00 p.m. (Singapore 
time) (10:00 a.m. Israel time; 8:00 a.m. GMT) and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an "X" in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for, against or in abstention on the resolutions 
as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions in respect of a resolution, the appointment of the 
Chairman of the AGM as your proxy for that resolution(s) will be treated as invalid.

No. Resolution For Against Abstain

1 Adoption of reports and audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 To declare a final dividend of US cent 0.5 (gross) per share less tax (as applicable) for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

3 Re-appointment of Somekh Chaikin Certified Public Accountants (Isr.), Member firm of KPMG 
International and Chaikin, Cohen, Rubin and Co., Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) as external 
auditors

4 To approve the Remuneration Policy 2021
* I hereby declare that (check the applicable circle):
o I/we am/are a controlling shareholder and/or I/we have a personal interest in the approval 

of Resolution No. 4 (Approval of the Remuneration Policy 2021)
o I/we do not have a personal interest in the approval of Resolution No. 4 (Approval of the

Remuneration Policy 2021)

5 To approve the remuneration package for Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, the Executive Chairman
of the Board.
* I hereby declare that (check the applicable circle):
o I/we am/are a controlling shareholder and/or I/we have a personal interest in the approval 

of Resolution No. 5 (Approval of the remuneration package for Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, 
the Executive Chairman of the Board)

o I/we do not have a personal interest in the approval of Resolution No. 5 (Approval of the
remuneration package for Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, the Executive Chairman of the 
Board)

6 To approve the remuneration package for Mr. David Block, the CEO
* I hereby declare that (check the applicable circle):
o I/we am/are a controlling shareholder and/or I/we have a personal interest in the approval 

of Resolution No. 6 (Approval of the remuneration package for Mr. David Block, the CEO)
o I/we do not have a personal interest in the approval of Resolution No. 6 (Approval of the

remuneration package for Mr. David Block, the CEO)
7 To approve the grant of 300,000 options to Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, the Executive Chairman

of the Board
* I hereby declare that (check the applicable circle):
o I/we am/are a controlling shareholder and/or I/we have a personal interest in the approval 

of Resolution No. 7 (Approval of grant of options Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, the Executive 
Chairman of the Board)

o I/we do not have a personal interest in the approval of Resolution No. 7 (Approval of grant
of options to Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert, the Executive Chairman of the Board)



No. Resolution For Against Abstain

8 To approve the grant of 700,000 options to Mr. David Block, the CEO
* I hereby declare that (check the applicable circle):
o    I/we am/are a controlling shareholder and/or I/we have a personal interest in the approval 

of Resolution No. 8 (Approval of grant of options Mr. David Block, the CEO)
o    I/we do not have a personal interest in the approval of Resolution No. 8 (Approval of grant 

of options Mr. David Block, the CEO)
9.1 Authority to issue shares

9.2 Authority to grant options pursuant to the Sarine Technologies Ltd 2015 Share Option Plan
and issue shares pursuant to the Sarine Technologies Ltd 2005 Share Option Plan and the
Sarin Technologies Ltd 2015 Share Option Plan

Dated this _________ day of ______________ 2021 

______________________________________________
Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

Important: Please Read Following Notes:

1.  Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register, you 
should insert that number. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert 
that number. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the 
Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate 
to all the shares held by you.

2.  A member will not be able to vote through the Live Webcast or Audio Only Means, and voting is only through submission of a proxy 
form. If a member (whether individual or corporate) wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the AGM, he/she/it must appoint 
the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM. In appointing the Chairman of the AGM as 
proxy, a member (whether individual or corporate) must give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in the form 
of proxy, failing which the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

3.  A member must submit the completed and signed proxy form appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy:

(i)  by email to the Company, addressed to IR@sarine.com; or
(ii)  by post to the registered office of the Company, at 4 HaHarash Street (3rd Floor), Hod Hasharon, Israel 4544075, Attention 

IR-Proxy Vote; or
(iii)  by email to the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, addressed to Gpb@mncsingapore.com; or
(iv)  by post to the office of the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, at 112 Robinson Road #05-01 Singapore 068902, 

in any case, no later than 3.00pm (Singapore time) on 26 April 2021, being not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time fixed 
for the AGM.

In view of the current COVID-19 situation which may make it difficult for members of the Company to submit completed proxy 
forms by post, Shareholders of the Company are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via email, 
as noted above.

4.  The instrument appointing the proxy must be under the hand of the appointor or of his/her/its attorney duly authorised in writing. 
Where the instrument appointing the proxy is executed by a company or other body corporate, it must be executed under its common 
seal or stamp or under the hand of its duly authorised agent or attorney on behalf of the corporation.

5.  Where an instrument appointing the proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney or other authority, the power of attorney 
or authority or a notarially certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument of proxy 
may be treated as invalid.

6.  The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the 
true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the instrument of proxy. 
In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject an instrument of proxy if the member, 
being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Total Number of Shares Held
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AGM/EGM PRE-REGISTRATION FORM

PRE-REGISTRATION FORM FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND THE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING OF SARINE 
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, 27 APRIL 2021 AT 3:00 PM AND 4:00 PM (OR SUCH TIME IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING 
THE CONCLUSION OR ADJOURMENT OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING), RESPECTIVELY.

Details of Shareholder

Name :

NRIC / FIN / Passport No.
(in the case of individual shareholder) :

Company Registration No.
(in the case of corporate shareholder) :

Address :

Contact number :

Email Address :
(Please provide email address of corporate
representative in the case of corporate
shareholder)

□ * I / We will be attending the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) *and/or the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) via electronic means.
□ * I / We will be appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our proxy to attend the AGM *and/or EGM on *my/our behalf.

* Delete as applicable

Questions for the Directors or Management (if any):

Signature :
Company stamp
(in the case of corporate shareholder)

Notes:

1.  Shareholders who wish to attend the “live” webcast or “live” audio feed of the AGM and/or the EGM are to submit the completed and 
signed pre-registration form to the Company as directed in the Notice of the AGM / EGM.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting this pre-registration form, the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM 
and Notice of EGM dated 05 April 2021.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

COMPANY SECRETARY

Amir Jacob Zolty (Adv.)

SHARE REGISTRAR

M&C Services Private Limited 
112 Robinson Road #05-01,
The Corporate Office 
Singapore 068902
Singapore

JOINT AUDITORS OF THE GROUP

Somekh Chaikin Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)
Member firm of KPMG International 
KPMG Millennium Tower
17 Ha’arba’a Street
Tel Aviv 6473917 Israel
Partner-in-charge: Guy Anavi
(appointed with effect from 1 January, 2019)

Chaikin, Cohen, Rubin and Co. 
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) 
Kiryat Atidim Building No. 4
Tel Aviv 6158002 Israel
Partner-in-charge: Dani Aviram
(appointed with effect from 1 January, 2017)

INTERNAL AUDITOR

Doron Cohen (CPA, CIA)
Fahn Kanne Control Management Ltd. 
Subsidiary of Fahn Kanne and Co.
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)
Member firm of Grant Thornton International
Hamasger 32
Tel Aviv 6721118 Israel

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank Leumi Le-Israel Ltd. 
Dan Business Center
7 Menachem Begin Street
Ramat Gan 5268102 
Israel

Bank Hapoalim Ltd.
Herzliya Business Center
15 Hamenofim Street
Herzliya 4672566
Israel

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Daniel Benjamin Glinert
Executive Director and Chairman of the Board

Avraham Eshed
Non-Executive Director

Uzi Levami
Non-Executive Director 

Varda Shine
Lead Independent Director

Neta Zruya Hashai
Independent Director

Lim Yong Sheng
Independent Director

Sin Boon Ann
Independent Director

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Neta Zruya Hashai – Chairperson
Lim Yong Sheng
Varda Shine
Sin Boon Ann

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Sin Boon Ann - Chairperson 
Daniel Benjamin Glinert 
Lim Yong Sheng
Varda Shine

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Varda Shine – Chairperson
Neta Zruya Hashai 
Uzi Levami 
Sin Boon Ann 

REGISTERED OFFICE

Sarine Technologies Ltd.
4 Haharash Street
Hod Hasharon 4524075 
Israel
Tel: +972-9-7903500
Fax: +972-9-7903501
www.sarine.com
Israel Registration Number: 51-133220-7
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5/10/2021 Extraordinary/ Special General Meeting::Voluntary

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/0CFP2QLVUG90LIVA/77908f3f39c8800be750530cb3e04ed71afdd730e385d8a7c98de56a… 1/2

Issuer & Securities

Issuer/ Manager

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

Security

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD - IL0010927254 - U77

Announcement Details

Announcement Title

Extraordinary/ Special General Meeting

Date &Time of Broadcast

05-Apr-2021 17:55:36

Status

New

Announcement Reference

SG210405XMETPW6V

Submitted By (Co./ Ind. Name)

Amir J. Zolty

Designation

Company Secretary

Financial Year End

31/12/2020

Event Narrative

Narrative Type Narrative Text

Additional Text Please see attached an Extraordinary General Meeting Notice as well as a Circular.

Event Dates

Meeting Date and Time

27/04/2021 16:00:00

Response Deadline Date

26/04/2021 16:00:00

Event Venue(s)

Place

Venue(s) Venue details

EXTRAORDINARY/ SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING::VOLUNTARY



5/10/2021 Extraordinary/ Special General Meeting::Voluntary

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/0CFP2QLVUG90LIVA/77908f3f39c8800be750530cb3e04ed71afdd730e385d8a7c98de56a… 2/2

Meeting
Venue

The meeting will be held by way of electronic means only. See circular and EGM Notice and
the Circular for further details.

Attachments

Total size =543K MB

Sarine Circular 2021 Final.pdf

Sarine EGM Notice.pdf

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/0CFP2QLVUG90LIVA/654752_Sarine%20Circular%202021%20Final.pdf
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/0CFP2QLVUG90LIVA/654753_Sarine%20EGM%20Notice.pdf


5/10/2021 Annual General Meeting::Voluntary

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/NMITM93W4DHWSWJL/713f699682aa268b5d2690cb2e67ef2da903161e59b015e99e622f… 1/2

Issuer & Securities

Issuer/ Manager

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

Security

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD - IL0010927254 - U77

Announcement Details

Announcement Title

Annual General Meeting

Date &Time of Broadcast

05-Apr-2021 17:59:01

Status

New

Announcement Reference

SG210405MEETKFON

Submitted By (Co./ Ind. Name)

Amir J. Zolty

Designation

Company Secretary

Financial Year End

31/12/2020

Event Narrative

Narrative Type Narrative Text

Additional Text Please see attached an AGM Notice.

Event Dates

Meeting Date and Time

27/04/2021 15:00:00

Response Deadline Date

26/04/2021 15:00:00

Event Venue(s)

Place

Venue(s) Venue details

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING::VOLUNTARY



5/10/2021 Annual General Meeting::Voluntary

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/NMITM93W4DHWSWJL/713f699682aa268b5d2690cb2e67ef2da903161e59b015e99e622f… 2/2

Meeting Venue The meeting shall be held by electronic means only.

Attachments

Total size =293K MB

Sarine AGM Notice.pdf

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/NMITM93W4DHWSWJL/654760_Sarine%20AGM%20Notice.pdf


19.5.2021 ::REPL::Annual Reports and Related Documents

ks.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/2RFP39QLB43SVH5V/8247ba35a7c787dbbcd58caeaaf163b8c42b6dc838621cf2724833b7a6c69d03… 1/2

Issuer & Securities

Issuer/ Manager

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

Securities

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD - IL0010927254 - U77

Stapled Security

No

Announcement Details

Announcement Title

Annual Reports and Related Documents

Date &Time of Broadcast

08-Apr-2021 17:33:26

Status

Replacement

Report Type

Annual Report

Announcement Reference

SG210405OTHRBDXW

Submitted By (Co./ Ind. Name)

Amir J. Zolty

Designation

Company Secretary

Effective Date and Time of the event

05/04/2021 17:00:00

Description (Please provide a detailed description of the event in the box below - Refer to the Online help for the format)

Please note that the proxy form which was included in the Company's annual report included few clerical
errors. Shareholders are kindly advised to use the amended proxy form attached hereto.

Additional Details

Period Ended

31/12/2020

Attachments

REPL::ANNUAL REPORTS AND RELATED DOCUMENTS::

Sarine AR2020 - Final.pdf

Sarine AR2020 - Amended Proxy Form 8Apr2021.pdf

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/2RFP39QLB43SVH5V/657553_Sarine%20AR2020%20-%20Final.pdf
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/2RFP39QLB43SVH5V/657554_Sarine%20AR2020%20-%20Amended%20Proxy%20Form%208Apr2021.pdf


19.5.2021 ::REPL::Annual Reports and Related Documents

ks.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/2RFP39QLB43SVH5V/8247ba35a7c787dbbcd58caeaaf163b8c42b6dc838621cf2724833b7a6c69d03… 2/2

Total size =5987K MB

Related Announcements

Related Announcements

 
13/04/2021 15:22:39
05/04/2021 17:39:37
 



19.5.2021 ::REPL::Annual Reports and Related Documents

ks.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/CG4QVR34VDCL65EE/9fb9d81de21f0406bd661ebcb676ec2c2372eeb11713924995263a7faa84af4b… 1/2

Issuer & Securities

Issuer/ Manager

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

Securities

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD - IL0010927254 - U77

Stapled Security

No

Announcement Details

Announcement Title

Annual Reports and Related Documents

Date &Time of Broadcast

13-Apr-2021 15:22:39

Status

Replacement

Report Type

Annual Report

Announcement Reference

SG210405OTHRBDXW

Submitted By (Co./ Ind. Name)

Amir J. Zolty

Designation

Company Secretary

Effective Date and Time of the event

05/04/2021 17:00:00

Description (Please provide a detailed description of the event in the box below - Refer to the Online help for the format)

Please note that, further to our announcement of 5 April 2021, and to the correction of a clerical mistake in
the proxy form which was included in the Company's annual report, we discovered an additional clerical
mistake (in page 52 of the Company's annual report for the year 2020, "consolidated statements of pro�t or
loss and other comprehensive income", the headings mistakenly referred to the years 2019 and 2018,
instead of 2020 and 2019).
We therefore attach herewith, in addition to the revised proxy form, a corrected version of the Company's
annual report for the year 2020 (except as aforesaid, no other changes were made).
 
We apologize for any inconvenience caused.

Additional Details

Period Ended

REPL::ANNUAL REPORTS AND RELATED DOCUMENTS::



19.5.2021 ::REPL::Annual Reports and Related Documents

ks.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/CG4QVR34VDCL65EE/9fb9d81de21f0406bd661ebcb676ec2c2372eeb11713924995263a7faa84af4b… 2/2

31/12/2020

Attachments

Total size =5923K MB

Related Announcements

Related Announcements

 
08/04/2021 17:33:26
05/04/2021 17:39:37
 

Sarine AR2020 - Amended Proxy Form 8Apr2021.pdf

Sarine AR2020 - 13Apr2021.pdf

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/CG4QVR34VDCL65EE/660372_Sarine%20AR2020%20-%20Amended%20Proxy%20Form%208Apr2021.pdf
https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/CG4QVR34VDCL65EE/660373_Sarine%20AR2020%20-%2013Apr2021.pdf


 

Sarine Technologies Ltd 
(Incorporated in Israel) 

(Israel Registration No. 51 1332207) 

 
RESPONSES TO THE QUERIES FROM SINGAPORE EXCHANGE 

SECURITIES TRADING LIMITED ON ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 
Sarine Technologies Ltd (the “Company) wishes to respond to the following queries 
raised by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 16 April 
2021, with reference to the Company’s annual report for the financial year ended 31 
December 2020 (the “Annual Report”), as follows:   
 
SGX's Query: 

 

Provision 9.2 of the Code of corporate governance 2018 (the “Code”) states that, “The 
Board requires and discloses in the company’s annual report that it has received 
assurance from: (a) the CEO and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) that the financial 
records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the company's operations and finances; and (b) the CEO and other key 
management personnel who are responsible, regarding the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the company's risk management and internal control systems.” 
 
Listing Rule 710 requires issuers to explicitly state, when deviating from the provisions 
prescribed in the Code, the provision from which it has varied, explain the reason for 
variation and provide an explanation on how the practices it had adopted are consistent 
with the intent of the relevant principle. We note that the Company had not complied 
with Provision 9.2 of the Code with regard to the receipt of assurance from (a) the CEO 
and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) that the financial records have been properly 
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the company's 
operations and finances; and (b) the CEO and other key management personnel who 
are responsible, regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the company's risk 
management and internal control systems. 
  
Please disclose whether and how the recommendations of provision 9.2 have been 
complied with. 
 
Company's response: 
 
Such statement appears, verbatim, in page 42 of the Company’s Annual Report for the 
year 2020: 
 
“The Board has received assurance from the Company's CEO and CFO: 
1. that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the Company's operations and finance; and 
2. regarding the effectiveness of the company's risk management and internal control 
systems.” 

 
Please note also the following statements: 



 
Page 29: 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company with the concurrence of the Audit Committee 
is of the opinion that the current internal controls and risk management system are 
adequate and effective in addressing the financial, operational, compliance and IT risks, 
while noting that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against 
the occurrence of errors, cyber-attacks, fraud or other irregularities. 
 
Page 41: 
 
indeed, the Audit Committee and Board are of the opinion, upon consultation with the 
Company's External Auditors and the Internal Auditor of the Company (who conducted 
a follow up review, based on previous findings) and based on ongoing discussions with 
the Management, that the Internal Control procedures of the Group are adequate. 
 
Page 43: 
 
The Audit Committee and Board are of the opinion, upon consultation with the 
Company’s CEO, the Company’s CFO, the Company's External Auditors and the 
Internal Auditor of the Company, that: 
 
(a) the Company’s financial records have been properly maintained and the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the Company's operations and finances; and 
(b) the Internal Control procedures and risk management of the Group are adequate. 
 
Page 45: 
 
The Directors are of the opinion, in concurrence with and based on Audit Committee 
review that the internal control procedures addressing financial, operational and 
compliance risks of the Group are adequate. 
 

 

SGX's Query: 
 

Provision 2.4 of the Code states that, “The Board and board committees are of an 
appropriate size, and comprise directors who as a group provide the appropriate balance 
and mix of skills, knowledge, experience, and other aspects of diversity such as gender 
and age, so as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate. The board diversity 
policy and progress made towards implementing the board diversity policy, including 
objectives, are disclosed in the company’s annual report.” 
 
Listing Rule 710 requires issuers to explicitly state, when deviating from the provisions 
prescribed in the Code, the provision from which it has varied, explain the reason for 
variation and provide an explanation on how the practices it had adopted are consistent 
with the intent of the relevant principle. We note that the Company had not complied 
with Provision 2.4 of the Code as you have not disclosed your board diversity policy 
and progress made towards implementing the board diversity policy, including 
objectives, and there were no explanations were provided for in your FY2020 annual 
report on how it is consistent with the intent of Principle 2 of the Code. Please state if 



the Company has a formal board diversity policy and clarify how the practices the 
Company had adopted are consistent with the intent of Principle 2 of the Code, which 
requires the Board to have an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought 
and background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interest of 
the Company. 
 

Company's response: 
 
We believe that such subject has been adequately discussed and disclosed in the 
Company’s Annual Report for the year 2020. The Company discussed and disclosed 
the general criteria formed by the Company’s Nominating Committee in January 2020, 
and the actual composition of the Board (as elected in June 2020, based on such 
criteria). The Company also noted, that as the current members of the Board were 
elected in 2020 for a three-year term, the Board composition and diversity matters shall 
be revisited later on – prior to the re-election/replacement of the current Board 
members. 
 
See, for example, the following statement: 
 
Page 38: 

 
“The Nominating Committee of the Board, in its meeting of 5 January 2020, opined 
that the following general criteria should be applied to the Board of Directors 
composition: 
 
• The Board should comprise 7 to 9 directors. The current structure (7 directors) 

is sufficient and effective. The Board may consider adding additional directors, 
on a case by case basis, giving proper weight to the potential contribution of the 
additional member/s vis-à-vis the effects on the effectiveness of the Board. 

• The majority of the Board should be comprised of independent directors. 
• The Board should be comprised of directors having appropriate expertise and 

experience in areas related to the operations of the Group. Specifically, if 7 
directors, preferably three from the diamond industry, preferably from the 
various segments thereof (upstream production (mining), midstream polishing 
and wholesale trade, and downstream retail trade), preferably two with relevant 
technological background, at least one with accounting / financial review and 
reporting expertise and at least one with corporate governance expertise. If 9 
directors, an additional one from the diamond industry and an additional one 
with relevant technological 
background. 

• The Board should be gender diversified. 
 

As noted below (under the discussion re Principle 4), according to the Articles, each 
director shall serve, unless the Annual General Meeting appointing him or her provides 
otherwise, until the third Annual General Meeting following the Annual General 
Meeting at which such director was appointed, or his or her earlier resignation or 
removal pursuant to the provisions of the Articles. The current directors were elected 
in 2020 and are expected to serve until 2023. Therefore, the Nominating Committee 
has resolved that succession and Board diversity matters shall be discussed in 2021-
2022, prior to the retirement of the current members of the Board. 



The Board draws from a broad spectrum of backgrounds, ages, genders, competencies 
and disciplines: from the diamond and gemstones industry (including “upstream”, 
“midstream” and “downstream” segments of the industry) the high-tech industry, the 
business community, legal practice and management. As noted above, the Company is 
also considering seeking additional directors who will enrich and diversify the Board.” 
 
 

SGX's Query: 
 

Provision 8.2 of the Code states that, “The company discloses the names and 
remuneration of employees who are substantial shareholders of the company, or are 
immediate family members of a director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the 
company, and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 during the year, in bands no 
wider than S$100,000, in its annual report. The disclosure states clearly the employee's 
relationship with the relevant director or the CEO or substantial shareholder. 
 
Listing Rule 710 requires issuers to explicitly state, when deviating from the provisions 
prescribed in the Code, the provision from which it has varied, explain the reason for 
variation and provide an explanation on how the practices it had adopted are consistent 
with the intent of the relevant principle. We note that the Company had not complied 
with Provision 8.2 of the Code with regard to the disclosure of names and remuneration 
of employees who are substantial shareholders of the company, or are immediate family 
members of a substantial shareholder of the company and whose remuneration 
exceeded S$100,000 during the year. Please clarify how the practices the Company had 
adopted are consistent with the intent of Principle 8 of the Code, which requires 
transparency on the Company’s remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, 
the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, 
performance and value creation. 
 

Company's response: 
 

Please note that during 2020 the Company had no  employees who are substantial 
shareholders of the company, or are immediate family members of a director, the CEO 
or a substantial shareholder of the company, and whose remuneration exceeds 
S$100,000 during the year.  
 
 
SGX's Query: 
 

Listing Rule 1207(19) states that the annual report must contain enough information for 
a proper understanding of the performance and financial conditions of the issuer and its 
principal subsidiaries, including a statement whether and how the issuer has complied 
with the following best practices on dealings in securities:— 
 
(a) A listed issuer should devise and adopt its own internal compliance code to provide 
guidance to its officers with regard to dealing by the listed issuer and its officer in its 
securities; 
(b) An officer should not deal in his company's securities on short-term considerations; 
and 
(c) A listed issuer and its officers should not deal in the listed issuer's securities during 
the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the company financial 



statements for each of the first three quarters of its financial year and one month before 
the announcement of the company's full year financial statements (if the issuer 
announces its quarterly financial statements, whether required by the Exchange or 
otherwise), or one month before the announcement of the company's half year and full 
year financial statements (if the issuer does not announce its quarterly financial 
statements). 
 
Please disclose whether and how Listing Rule 1207(19) has been complied with. 
 

Company's response: 
 

 

The following statement was erroneously omitted from the Company’s Annual 
Report.  We hereby confirm as follows: 
 
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES 
The Company has complied with the following best practices on dealings in securities: 
(a) The Company has adopted its own internal compliance code to provide guidance to 
its officers with regard to dealing by the Company and its officers in its securities; 
(b) According to such code an officer of the Company should not deal in the Company's 
securities on short-term considerations; and 
(c) According to such code the Company and its officers and employees do not deal in 
the Company's securities during the period commencing one month before the 
announcement of the Company's half year and full year financial statements. 
 

By order of the Board 
 
Amir Zolty 
 
Company Secretary 



 

 

 

Sarine Technologies Ltd 

(Incorporated in Israel) 

(Israel Registration No. 51 1332207) 

 

RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS RECEIVED FROM SHAREHOLDERS FOR ANNUAL GENERAL 

MEETING TO BE HELD ON 27 April 2021  

 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Sarine Technologies Ltd. (the “Company”) refers to 
the announcement dated 5 April 2021 on the Live Webcast of Annual General Meeting on 27 

April 2021 (the “Announcement”). Further to the Announcement, the Board and Management 

have received questions from shareholders during the period between 5 April 2021 to 20 April 

2021 (“Questions”). The Company and the Board wishes to provide its responses to those 

questions as set out in the Appendix A. The Company would like to thank all shareholders for 

questions submitted in advance.  

 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD  

Daniel Benjamin Glinert, Chairman of the Board 

22 April 2021 

 

  



APPENDIX A 

AGM QUESTIONS 

I. TASE Dual Listing 

a. How is Sarine going to generate investors (both institutional and 

retail) interest in Sarine shares traded in TASE?    
 
The Company intends to conduct an NDR (Nob-Deal Roadshow) in Israel 

commencing late-May. Such NDR will be based on publicly available data 

about the Company. 

b. How does Sarine provide the liquidity such that there is trading 

activities in TASE instead of it being just a “seldom traded” ticker? It 

is estimated that there will be liquidity in Israel due to interest already being 

expressed and the existence of indices into which we expect Sarine to be 

added, due to its field of activity (technology) and market cap. Also – as 

Sarine is an Israel-based company, it may be assumed that it will attract 

Israeli investors (institutional investors and otherwise).  

c. The way I see it, only existing shareholders who are Israel based will 

want to transfer their shares to TASE and sell there. The vast majority 

of these are the founding shareholders and their associates.  

The shares are not transferred to TASE at all. TASE trades are executed via 

Euroclear by CDP itself, so that traders in Tel-Aviv can buy shares from and 

sell shares to Singapore (or any other locality) based traders. 

d. Will the company be issuing new shares for this dual listing? No 

e. What's the time line for the dual listing? May 2021 

f. Singapore shareholders are unfamiliar with the TASE. For similar small cap 

stocks like Sarine, what are the general valuations like on the TSE vs Sarine 

valuation in SGX?   

By Israeli standards Sarine is a medium-size company and is expected to be 

included in several leading indices. Valuation shall be set according to actual 

supply and demand. The share price may be affected due to increased 

exposure to investors. We do not expect substantial arbitrage between TASE 

and SGX.  . 

g. Post Covid, will we still have AGMs held in Singapore after this dual listing for 

Singapore investors to interact with the board members.  

Yes, as SGX will remain our primary listing venue. 

 

II. Other 

a. Please allow me to go back to a few years ago. We know in 2017-

2018, there was a major fraudulent scandal involving big diamond 

traders Gitanjali Gems and Firestar Diamond. Has Sarine now written 

off all its liabilities and cut all ties with the fraudulent entities in the 

case?  

Sarine had no exposure to and no liabilities from these entities and therefore 

nothing to write off. Sarine has no current business with them. 



SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD  
(Israel Registration No. 51 1332207)  

 
Disclosure In Compliance With Rule 704(29) - Grant of Employee Share Options  
 
Sarine Technologies Ltd. (the “Company”) hereby discloses in accordance with 
Rule 704(29) the details of the grant of employee share options as follows:  
 
 
1.  Date of grant  27 April 2021 

2.  Exercise price of options granted  
S$ 0.60 

3.  Number of options granted  
1,000,000 

4.  Market price of its securities on the 
date of grant  

 

S$ 0.62 

5.  Number of options granted to 
directors and controlling shareholders 
(and their associates), if any  

    
 
300,000    

6.  Validity period of the options  27 April 2021 –     26 April 
2027 

 
 

By Order of the Board  
 
Sarine Technologies Ltd.  
 
Submitted by Amir Jacob Zolty, Company Secretary, on 27.4.2021 to the SGX 



 
Sarine Technologies Ltd. 

(Israel Registration No.511332207) 

 

RESOLUTIONS PASSED AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

 
Pursuant to Clause 704(16) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited, the Board of Directors of Sarine Technologies Ltd. (the “Company”) wishes 
to announce that the following resolutions put to the Annual General Meeting of the 

Company held on 27 April 2021 were duly passed:-  

 

 

Resolution No. and 

Details 

Total 

Number of 

Shares 

represented 

by voted for 

and against 

the relevant 

resolution 

For Against 

  Number of 

shares  

As a 

percentage 

of total 

number of 

votes for 

and 

against the 

resolution 

(%) 

Number of 

shares  

As a 

percentage 

of total 

number of 

votes for 

and against 

the 

resolution 

(%) 

1. Adoption of reports 

and accounts 

135,233,827 135,233,827 100.00% 0 0.00% 

2. Declaration of final 

dividend for the year 

ended 31 December 

2020 

135,233,827 135,233,827 100.00% 0 0.00% 

3. Re-appointment of  

Somekh Chaikin 

Certified Public 

Accountants (Isr.), 

Member firm of 

KPMG  

International and 

Chaikin, Cohen, Rubin 

and Co., Certified 

Public Accountants 

(Isr.) as external 

auditors 

135,233,827 135,233,827 100.00% 0 0.00% 

4. Approval of the 

Cpmpany’s 2021 

Remuneration Policy 

     

 i) All 

participating 

shareholders 

 

135,233,827 135,233,827 100.00% 0 0.00% 

 ii) Independent 

participating 

shareholders 

121,099,575 121,099,575 100.00% 0 0.00% 



Resolution No. and 

Details 

Total 

Number of 

Shares 

represented 

by voted for 

and against 

the relevant 

resolution 

For Against 

 

5. Approval of the 

remuneration package 

for the Executive 

Chairman, Mr. Daniel 

Benjamin Glinert  

     

 i) All 

participating 

shareholders 

 

135,233,827 135,232,627 100.00% 1,200 0.00% 

 ii) Independent 

participating 

shareholders 

 

121,099,575 121,098,375 100.00% 1,200 0.00% 

6. Approval of the 

remuneration package 

for the Chief Executive 

Officer, Mr. David 

Block 

     

 i) All 

participating 

shareholders 

 

135,233,827 135,232,627 99.99% 1,200 0.00% 

 ii) Independent 

participating 

shareholders 

 

121,099,575 121,098,375 99.99% 1,200 0.00% 

7. Approval of grant of 

300,000 options to the 

Executive Chairman, 

Mr. Daniel Benjamin 

Glinert 

     

 i) All 

participating 

shareholders 

 

132,531,278 132,530,078 100% 1,200 0.00% 

 ii) Independent 

participating 

shareholders 

 

121,099,575 121,098,375 100% 1,200 0.00% 

8. Approval of grant of 

700,000 options to the 

Chief Executive 

Officer, Mr. David 

Block 

     

 i) All 

participating 

shareholders 

 

132,531,278 132,530,078 100.00% 1,200 0.00% 

 ii) Independent 121,099,575 121,098,375 100.00% 1,200 0.00% 



Resolution No. and 

Details 

Total 

Number of 

Shares 

represented 

by voted for 

and against 

the relevant 

resolution 

For Against 

participating 

shareholders 

 

9.1 Authority to issue 

shares 

135,233,827 90,047,927 66.59% 45,185,900 33.41% 

9.2 Authority to grant 

options pursuant 

to the Sarine 

Technologies Ltd 

2015 Share 

Option 

and issue shares 

pursuant to the 

Sarine 

Technologies Ltd 

2005 and 2015 

Share Option 

Plans 

132,531.278 131.530,078 100.00% 1,200 0.00% 

 

TS TAY Public Accounting Corporation (Central Management Services Pte Ltd) was 

appointed as scrutineer for the purpose of the poll taken in the aforesaid Annual General 

Meeting. 

 

 

Amir Jacob Zolty  

Company Secretary  

27 April 2021  

 



 
Sarine Technologies Ltd. 

(Israel Registration No.511332207) 

 

RESOLUTIONS PASSED AT EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL GENERAL 

MEETING 

 
Pursuant to Clause 704(16) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited, the Board of Directors of Sarine Technologies Ltd. (the “Company”) wishes 
to announce that the following resolutions put to the Extraorinary General Meeting of the 

Company held on 27 April 2021 were duly passed:-  

 

 

Resolution No. and 

Details 

Total 

Number of 

Shares 

represented 

by voted for 

and against 

the relevant 

resolution 

For Against 

  Number of 

shares  

As a 

percentage 

of total 

number of 

votes for 

and 

against the 

resolution 

(%) 

Number of 

shares  

As a 

percentage 

of total 

number of 

votes for 

and against 

the 

resolution 

(%) 

1. To approve the 

proposed renewal of 

the Share Buy-Back 

Mandate 

62,223,707 62,223,707 100.00% 0 0.00% 

 

 

  
1. The members of the "New Concert Party Group" (as such term is defined in the 

Company's circular of 5 April, 2021) abstainED from voting on the above resolution. 

The holdings of such members are detailed in the aforesaid circular.  

 

2.  The trustee under the Company's Share Option Plan holds 7,886,827 shares of 

the Company on behalf of directors and employees of the Company.  
 

 

 

TS TAY Public Accounting Corporation (Central Management Services Pte Ltd) was 

appointed as scrutineer for the purpose of the poll taken in the aforesaid Annual General 

Meeting. 

 

 

Amir Jacob Zolty  

Company Secretary  

27 April 2021  

 



 
 

           27 April 2021 

 

 

Taxation of the Dividend Payable on 14 May 2021 

 

Further to the Company's announcement made on 28 February 2021, with respect to the 

contemplated payment of final dividend for the year 2020, we would like to elaborate 

about the new procedure which shall apply the deduction of taxes from such dividend 

payment subject to the new instructions issued by the Israeli tax authorities (the "ITA 

Instructions"): 

 

1. The Company has appointed IBI Trust Management from Ehad Ha’am 9 Tel 
Aviv (Shalom Tower); e-mail address IBI-CM@IBI.co.il; phone number +972 

506 209 410 (the "Tax Trustee"), in compliance with the ITA Instructions. 

2. At the payment date of any dividend from now and on, the Company shall 

deduct at source from any payment made through the CDP 20% (twenty 

percent) of the gross amount of such dividend and shall transfer such amount to 

the Tax Trustee. The remaining amount of such dividend (80%) shall be 

transferred to the shareholders through the CDP. 

3. Any shareholder of the Company who is a resident of a country which is a party 

to a treaty for the avoidance of double taxation with Israel (An "Eligible State") 

and who has an equitable right to receive such dividend from the Company (an 

"Applicant"), may apply to the Tax Trustee, within 30 days from the date of 

the dividend payment, and request that the tax rate which shall apply to such 

payment shall be lower than 20% (the "Application"). 

4. In order to establish such Application, the Applicant shall submit to the Tax 

Trustee the following documents: 

a. A bank statement relating to the bank account to which such dividend 

was to be paid (the "Designated Account"), as of the Books Closure 

Date, specifying the name of the bank, the name of the branch of the 

bank, the account number, the name of the registered owner of such bank 

account and the number of the Company's shares held through such 

account. 

b. A bank statement relating to the Designated Account, as of the date of 

payment of such dividend, specifying the name of the bank, the name of 

the branch of the bank, the account number, the name of the registered 

owner of such bank account and the amount of dividend which was 

actually paid to such account. 

c. A copy of the Applicant's certificate of identity: 

i. If the Applicant is an individual – a clear scanned copy of the 

Applicant's passport or formal national identity card  issued by 

the respective Eligible State. 

ii. If the Applicant is a corporate entity – a copy of the Applicant's 

certificate of incorporation, issued by the Eligible State. 

d. A letter issued by the tax authorities of the Eligible State, confirming 

that the Applicant is a resident of such Eligible State. 

e. The Applicant shall state in the form attached as Appendix A that: 

i. he/she/it is not a resident of Israel. 

mailto:IBI-CM@IBI.co.il


 
 

ii. he/she/it is the equitable owner of the dividend and any other 

fruits of the shares of the Company. 

iii. he/she/it has not invested in the Company's shares through 

his/her/its permanent establishment in Israel. 

f. A shareholder who is a corporate entity shall attach its shareholders' 

register updated as of the Books Closure Date and shall attach a 

statement of at least 75% of its direct shareholders who are individuals 

and residents of the same Eligible State. 

5. The Tax Trustee shall review all of the Applicant's documents, as well as any 

other document which may be required in order to establish the Applicant's 

eligibility to a reduced tax rate. 

6. Upon the completion of the Tax Trustee's review, the Tax Trustee shall either 

transfer to the Designated Account any tax refund due to the Applicant under 

the applicable tax regime and/or pay the balance amount to the Israeli tax 

authorities. Such payments shall be made within 30 days from the original 

payment date of the dividend. 

  



 
 

x AAppendi 

 
Sarine Technologies Ltd.  

Dividends Distribution 

 

CLAIM FOR REDUCED RATE OF WITHHOLDING TAX 

IN ISRAEL ON DIVIDEND PAYMENTS TO A NON-ISRAELI TAX 

RESIDENT 

 

You are receiving this "Declaration of Status for Israeli Income Tax Purposes" form 

as a holder of ordinary shares of no par value (the "Shares") of Sarine Technologies 

Ltd. Ltd., in connection with the payment of dividends to the shareholders of Sarine 

Technologies Ltd. 

 

By completing this form in a manner that would substantiate your eligibility for a 

reduced rate of Israeli withholding tax with respect to this dividend distribution, you 

will allow Shrine Technologies Ltd. and its Israeli tax agent, to withhold tax in Israel 

from the dividend distribution made to you at a reduced tax rate. 

 

This form should be completed and signed by the recipient of the dividend or by an 

authorized officer or representative of the recipient. 
 

This claim is made pursuant to the Double Tax Convention between Israel and the 

country of residence of the recipient of the dividend. 

 

PART A: RECIPIENT DECLARATION 
 

RECIPIENT INFORMATION 

Full name of the recipient: For Individuals: 

Identity Number, Social 

Security No., or Passport 

No./ 

For Legal Entities: 

Registration No. 

/Corporation No. 
 

 

Type of Investor: 

Legal Entity  Individual  

Trust Beneficiary  

 

With respect to an individual With respect to a legal entity 

Date of birth: 

 

The country in which it was 

incorporated: 

 

The country in which control and 

management are conducted: 

Country of residence: 

Country of citizenship: 

Country issuing passport: 

 

Income Tax File number of recipient in place of residence: __________________________ 
 



 
 

Address of local income tax assessing office in recipient’s place of residence: _____________ 
 

The recipient is a fiscal resident of (insert country)  _____________ since (insert 

date)._________ . 
 

 

Permanent Address (country, city, street, house or apartment number): 

 

 

Mailing Address: Investor's Telephone number: 

 

Telephone number of authorized 

signatory: 

 

 

With regard to an Individual: 
I declare that I am not an Israeli resident because (please mark all applicable boxes): 
 1. The State of Israel is not my permanent place of residence. 

 2. The State of Israel is neither my place of residence nor my family's place of residence. 

 3. My ordinary or permanent place of activity is not within the State of Israel, and I do not have a 

permanent establishment in the State of Israel. 

 4. I do not engage in any occupation within the State of Israel. 

 5. I do not own a business or part of a business within the State of Israel. 

 6. This year, I did not stay and I do not intend to stay in Israel for 183 days or more. 

 7. This year, I did not stay in Israel and I also do not intend to stay in Israel for 30 days or more 

and my total stay in Israel this year and in the two preceding years will not reach 425 days. 

 8. I am not insured with the National Insurance Institute in the State of Israel. 

 9. I am the sole beneficial owner of the dividend income. 

 

With regard to a Legal Entity: 
 

I declare that the Legal Entity is a non - Israeli resident because (please mark all applicable 

boxes): 
 1. Over 75% of the shareholders are individuals with the same residency as the Legal Entity (attached 

declaration of shareholders) 

 2. It is not registered /incorporated with the Registrar of Companies in Israel. 

 3. It is not registered with the Registrar of  non profit organizations in Israel. (Amutot) 

 4. The control of the legal entity is not in Israel. 

 5. The management of the legal entity is not in Israel. 

 6. The legal entity does not have a permanent enterprise in Israel and the entity does not have  



 
 

a permanent establishment in the State of Israel 

 7. No Israeli resident holds, directly or indirectly via shares or through a trust or in any other 

manner, alone or with another who is an Israeli resident, one or more of the means of control 

of the legal entity, as specified below, at a rate exceeding 25%. The term "means of control" 

refers to the following: 

(a) the right to participate in profits; 

(b) the right to appoint a director; 

(c) the right to vote; 

(d) the right to share in the assets of the entity at the time of its liquidation; 

(e) the right to direct the manner of exercising one of the rights specified above. 

 8. The legal entity is the sole beneficial owner of the dividend income. 

 

 

 

DETAILS OF INCOME RECEIVED 
Place of receipt (country, city, bank account number, Amount) 

 

Country City Bank name and 

account number 

Amount  

 

    

 

 

 

The recipient declares that all the information provided above is 

accurate and complete. 
 

 

   

Date of Signature  Signature of Recipient 

 

  



 
 

PART B: CERTIFICATION OF FOREIGN INCOME TAX 

AUTHORITY 
This part shall be completed and signed by the income tax authorities of the 

recipient’s place of residence 

 

1. I certify that: 

a. the recipient of the income is a fiscal resident of (insert country) 

____________; 

b. the recipient regularly reports his income as required, the most recent 

income tax return filed being for the year _____________; 

c. the income concerned   ❏ is/ ❏ is not    subject to tax in (insert the 

recipient’s country of residence)___________. 

 

     

Date of 

Signature 

 

 Signature  Official 

Stamp 

 

 

2.Address of certifying official:_______________________ 

 

3.Position or Title of certifying official: ____________________ 

 

4.Name of Income Tax Authority official making this certification: ______________ 
 

 

  



 
 

PART C: DOCUMENTATION 
 

With regard to an Individual - List all documents attached –: 
1. Copy of passport or identity card issued by the country of tax residency of 

shareholder 

 

2. Bank statement from the date of entitlement to the dividend including bank account 

details of the account holder, bank name and account number and the number of 

listed shares held by the shareholder.  

3. Bank statement from the date of payment of the dividend, including bank account 

details of the account holder, bank account number and the amount of the dividend 

received. 

 

With regard to a Legal Entity - List all documents attached: 
1. Copy of Certificate of Incorporation issued by the country of tax residency of 

shareholder 

2. List of shareholders of the Legal Entity and declarations regarding their state of 

residency for tax purposes. 
3. Bank statement from the date of entitlement to the dividend including bank account 

details of the account holder, bank name and account number and the number of 

listed shares held by the shareholder.  
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 

Update on Covid-19 Outbreak in India 

-Currently no material impact on Group's business activities 

 

Hod Hasharon (Israel), 29 April 2021 - Singapore Exchange Mainboard listed Sarine 

Technologies Ltd (“Sarine” and along with its subsidiaries “the Group”) (U77:SI), a worldwide 

leader in the development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of precision technology products and 

services for the evaluation, planning, processing, measurement, grading and trading of diamonds 

and gems, wishes to update its investing public on the ramifications of the current Covid-19 

outbreak in India.  

 

The latest outbreak of Covid-19 in India has not yet had any material effect on our business. Though 

Mumbai, the centre of the polished diamond trade in India, is currently under lockdown, the diamond 

trade and bourse have been exempted. As for Surat, where the diamond cutting and polishing 

operations are located, there have not yet been any new official directives pertaining to the diamond 

industry, beyond the nighttime curfew, which has been in force from before the current outbreak. 

The curfew has had little to no effect, as the manufacturers' night shifts typically start before the 

curfew and end afterwards. The only marginal impact on our business has been the very minor 

absence (around 5%) of workers who are either ill or in quarantine, having been exposed to sick or 

possibly sick persons. There is no impairment to our global operations due to these absent 

employees, beyond the effect on their local responsibilities, which are, essentially, support of our 

local Indian customers. During May there is a seasonal shutdown in India for the summer vacation, 

which typically lasts 2-3 weeks. Thus, we currently do not foresee any significant impact on our 

business going forward into May, as well. We note that if the current health situation is not alleviated, 
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the May summer break may be extended for the entire month's duration, or, possibly, beyond.  

 
The current situation in India is very dynamic and, though we follow developments closely on a 

daily basis, we have little insight into how or what future developments will be. There is, however, 

an ongoing global response underway to assist the Indian authorities control the outbreak. We are 

strictly adhering to all health directives issued by the authorised Indian local, state and federal 

authorities. We are, of course, curtailing all travel by our staff to or from India and are utilising, to 

the utmost possible, online support measures implemented last year to support our customers, so 

as to minimise the exposure of our staff to possible contagion. We would like to emphasise that, 

contrary to last year, when the entire industry came to a virtual standstill due to global lockdowns 

and the cessation of retail activities essentially worldwide, the current crisis, from the diamond 

industry perspective, is limited to India, as the appetite for diamond jewellery remains strong in key 

consumer markets in the U.S. and the Asia-Pacific region (together roughly two thirds of total global 

demand). 

 

 

About Sarine Technologies: 

Established in 1988, Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and 

manufacturing of advanced modeling, analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, grading 

and trading systems for diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of inclusion and 

tension mapping systems, rough diamond planning and optimisation technologies, laser cutting 

and shaping tools, laser-marking, inscription and finger-printing equipment, automated (AI-derived) 

Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, visualisation and 

retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern manufacturing 

plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are essential aids for 

diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. For more information about Sarine and its products and 

services, visit http://www.sarine.com. 

 

 

Contact: 

APAC IR 

Mr. Lee Teong Sang 

Tel:+65-96339035 

teongsang@cyrus.com.sg  

North America IR 

   Ms. Miri Scharia-Segal 

Tel: +1-917-607-8654 

msegal@ms-ir.com 

 

Sarine Technologies Ltd. 

Ms. Romy Gakh-Baram 

Tel:+972-9-7903500 

romy.gakh-baram@sarine.com 
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Sarine Technologies Ltd 
(Incorporated in Israel) 

(Israel Registration No. 51 1332207) 

 
RESPONSES TO ADDITIONAL QUERIES FROM SINGAPORE EXCHANGE 

SECURITIES TRADING LIMITED ON ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE 

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 

Sarine Technologies Ltd (the “Company) wishes to respond to the follow-up queries 

raised by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 28 April 

2021, with reference to the Company’s annual report for the financial year ended 31 
December 2020 (the “Annual Report”) and to the Company’s response (dated 20 April 

2021) to the SGX-ST’s queries of 16 April 2021 (the “Announcement”), as follows:   

 
SGX-ST’s Query: 

 

Provision 9.2 of the Code of corporate governance 2018 (the “Code”) states that, “The 
Board requires and discloses in the company’s annual report that it has received 
assurance from: (a) the CEO and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) that the financial 

records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the company's operations and finances; and (b) the CEO and other key 

management personnel who are responsible, regarding the adequacy and effectiveness 

of the company's risk management and internal control systems.” 

 

With regard to the Company's response to query (a) as set out in the Announcement, 

please clarify as to whether the Board has received assurance from the Company's CEO 

and other key management personnel who are responsible, regarding the adequacy of 

the company's risk management and internal control systems. 

 
Company's response: 

 

We hereby confirm that the Board has received assurance from the Company's CEO 

and other key management personnel who are responsible, regarding the adequacy of 

the company's risk management and internal control systems. 

 

SGX ST's Query: 
 

With regard to the Company's response to query (b) as set out in the Announcement, 

please state if the Company has a formal board diversity policy and disclose the 

progress made towards implementing the board diversity policy, including objectives. 

 

Company's response: 

 

The Company views the recommendations of the Nominating Committee as of 5 

January 2020 (as described in page 38 of the Annual Report) as its formal diversity 

policy. Such policy was implemented in the Board’s recommendations with regard to 

the election of the Board members in 2020 (eight candidates were submitted for the 

shareholders’ approval – 5 men and 3 women, 2 Singaporean candidates, 5 Israeli 

candidates and one UK candidate, of different age groups (2 below 50, 2 below 60 and 



4 above 60) and with diverse professional and academic background – as specified in 

the Company annual report for the year ended on 31 December 2019 and in the 

Announcement). Indeed – the Board’s current structure reflects such diversity as well. 

As noted the Announcement, as the current members of the Board were elected in 2020 

for a three-year term, the Nominating Committee and the Board have resolved that the 

Board composition and diversity matters (as such shall be addressed in the Company’s 

diversity policy)  shall be revisited later on (in 2021-2022)– prior to the re-

election/replacement of the current Board members. 

 

By order of the Board 

 

Amir Zolty 

 

Company Secretary 

 

30 April 2021 



5/10/2021 REPL::Cash Dividend/ Distribution::Mandatory

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/U3CMXNESQ8K0NYPS/134a12fc6313c03f17f1ebcdc1dfb1b31962f888b79e21be87764c5b… 1/2

Issuer & Securities

Issuer/ Manager

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

Security

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD - IL0010927254 - U77

Announcement Details

Announcement Title

Mandatory Cash Dividend/ Distribution

Date &Time of Broadcast

03-May-2021 21:15:13

Status

Replacement

Corporate Action Reference

SG210228DVCA1SIN

Submitted By (Co./ Ind. Name)

Amir J. Zolty

Designation

Company Secretary

Dividend/ Distribution Number

Not Applicable

Dividend/ Distribution Type

Final

Financial Year End

31/12/2020

Declared Dividend/ Distribution Rate (Per Share/ Unit)

USD 0.005

Event Narrative

Narrative
Type

Narrative Text

Additional
Text

Please see attached an announcement with regard to the procedure of submitting a request
for applying for a lower tax rate.

Event Dates

Record Date and Time

REPL::CASH DIVIDEND/ DISTRIBUTION::MANDATORY



5/10/2021 REPL::Cash Dividend/ Distribution::Mandatory

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/U3CMXNESQ8K0NYPS/134a12fc6313c03f17f1ebcdc1dfb1b31962f888b79e21be87764c5b… 2/2

04/05/2021 17:00:00

Ex Date

03/05/2021

Dividend Details

Payment Type

Payment Rate in Gross

Taxable

Yes

Tax Rate (%)

20

Gross Rate (Per Share)

SGD 0.006632

Net Rate (Per Share)

SGD 0.005305

Pay Date

14/05/2021

Currency Pair

USD/SGD

Issuer Declared Exchange Rate

1.3263

Gross Rate Status

Actual Rate

Country of Income

Israel

Attachments

Total size =178K MB

Related Announcements

Related Announcements

 
28/04/2021 01:30:55
28/02/2021 23:40:28
 

Applicable for REITs/ Business Trusts/ Stapled Securities

Announcement_re_Dividend_Taxation_27_April_2021.pdf

https://links.sgx.com/1.0.0/corporate-announcements/U3CMXNESQ8K0NYPS/664803_Announcement_re_Dividend_Taxation_27_April_2021.pdf
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ELEASE                       FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 

 

 

Sarine Technologies to Present at the 16th Annual 
Needham Virtual Technology & Media Conference 

 
 

Hod Hasharon (Israel), 5 May 2021 – Singapore Exchange Mainboard listed Sarine 

Technologies Ltd (U77:SI), a worldwide leader in the development, manufacturing, marketing and 

sale of precision technology products for the evaluation, planning, processing, measurement and 

grading of diamonds and gems, is pleased to announce that David Block, the Group’s Chief 

Executive Officer, will present virtually at the 16th Annual Needham Virtual Technology & Media 

Conference on Wednesday, May 19, 2021 at 8:00 am ET.  

 

Mr. Block will be available for one-on-one investor meetings during the conference. To schedule a 

meeting, please contact your Needham salesperson or Miri Segal at msegal@ms-ir.com.  

 

 

About 16th Annual Needham Virtual Technology & Media Conference: 

The 16th Annual Needham Virtual Technology & Media Conference (NTMC) is scheduled for May 

17-20, 2021 and will feature presentations from over 350 public and private company 

management teams, arranged in the following formats: 1-on-1 meetings, small group meetings, 

fireside chats, general presentations, and keynote addresses. Meetings will be scheduled for 

qualified institutional, private equity, and venture capital investors throughout the week, based on 

company availability and investor interest. For more information, please contact your Needham 

Sales Representative or contact conferences@needhamco.com. 
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About Sarine Technologies: 

Established in 1988, Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and 

manufacturing of advanced modeling, analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, 

grading and trading systems for diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of 

inclusion and tension mapping systems, rough diamond planning and optimization technologies, 

laser cutting and shaping tools, laser-marking, inscription and finger-printing equipment, 

automated (AI-derived) Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, 

visualization and retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern 

manufacturing plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are 

essential aids for diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. For more information about Sarine and 

its products and services, visit http://www.sarine.com. 

 

Contact: 

APAC IR 

Cyrus Capital Consulting 

Mr. Lee Teong Sang 

Tel:+65-96339035 

teongsang@cyrus.com.sg  

North America IR 

MS-IR LLC 

Ms. Miri Segal 

Tel: +1-917-607-8654 

msegal@ms-ir.com 

 

Sarine Technologies Ltd. 

Marketing & Communications 

Ms. Romy Gakh-Baram 

Tel:+972-9-7903500 

romy.gakh-baram@sarine.com 
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Disclaimer

This presentation may contain statements regarding the business of Sarine Technologies Ltd and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) that are of a forward looking nature and are therefore based on management’s assumptions about
future developments. Such forward looking statements are typically identified by words such as ‘believe’,
‘estimate’, ‘expect’, ‘intend’, ‘may’, and ‘project’ and similar expressions as they relate to the Group. Forward
looking statements involve certain risks and uncertainties as they relate to future events. Actual results may vary
materially from those targeted, expected or projected due to numerous factors. The reader is cautioned to not
unduly rely on these forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any duty to publish any update or revision of
any forward looking statements.

Potential risks and uncertainties include such factors as general economic conditions, foreign exchange
fluctuations, interest rate changes and regulatory developments. Such factors that may affect the Group’s future
financial results are detailed in our listing prospectus / circulars, listed in this presentation, or in the management
discussion and analysis section of the company’s result report and filing with the SGX. We will announce all
material information about the Group on the SGXNET in accordance with the rules of the SGX-ST Listing Manual.

The information contained in this presentation has not been independently verified. No representation or warranty
expressed or implied is made as to, and no reliance should be placed on, the fairness, accuracy, completeness or
correctness of the information or opinions contained in this presentation. Neither Sarine Technologies nor any of
its affiliates, advisers or representatives shall have any liability whatsoever for any loss arising, whether directly or
indirectly, from any use or distribution of this presentation or its contents.

This presentation is for information only and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase or
subscribe for shares in Sarine Technologies.
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Diamond Industry Value Chain

$14.4
billion

$15.0
billion

$20.0
billion

$78.1
billion

Rough
Diamond
Mining
Output

Rough
Diamond

Sales

Polished
Diamond
Output

Retail Sales
of Diamond

Jewelry

Our products increase profits at 
all stages of the diamond trade from purchase 
of rough stones to sale of polished diamonds

Value of Market Segments in USD (2019)
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Our Technologies Span Entire Value Chain

Sarine Technologies, through its application of patented solutions (proprietary mechanics, 
electronics, optics, lasers and sophisticated software) is a global leader in the development 
of systems used throughout the entire diamond value chain, from mine to retail, from rough 
diamonds evaluation, planning and polishing to polished diamonds grading and trade.

Established in Israel in 1988 and listed on the Main Board of the Singapore

Inclusion 
Mapping

Planning
Sawing & 
Shaping

Polishing & 
Cut 

Finishing

Laser 
Inscription

Visualisation 
&  Grading Trade

Galaxy / Solaris / 
Meteor

DiaExpert Eye /
DiaExpert Atom

DiaMark-Z

Advisor

Strategist & 
Quazer III Green

Laser System

Instructor 3.0 

DiaScribe

Sarine Light

Sarine Loupe

Axiom

Profile, 4Cs and 
Diamond Journey

Inclusion Mapping

DiaScan S+

Allegro Inscription 
Viewer Sarine Clarity

Sarine Color
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Our Revolution of Diamond Polishing

◆ Traditionally based on worker skill and 
experience: long training process and 
inconsistent results from different workers

◆ Low utilization of valuable material: ~35%

◆ Typically limited to simple solutions: single 
sawing plane with two polished stones

◆ Significant human error in execution of planned 
solutions

Traditional Diamond 
Planning
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Revolution – Phase I

6

1999 - 2009◆ Computerized planning 
eliminates most 
guesswork and risk and 
enables better utilization 
of rough diamond material ◆ Multiple polished 
diamonds from a single 
rough diamond (manually 
almost never more than 
two)◆ From 2006 initial use of 
manually indicated 
inclusions (very 
rudimentary diamond 
Clarity solution)
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Phase II - Advisor® Meets Galaxy ®

◆ Optimal planning is enabled by integrating with 
Galaxy® inclusion scanning as it enables planning 
including Clarity criteria for true best value.

◆ Advisor® is the most widely used rough planning 
software - over 25,000 installations processed 
some 100 million stones in 2019. 

◆ Super fast analyses of single-point sizes to high 
accuracy multi-stone planning of large complicated 
diamonds up to 200 carats, based on real-time market 
trend data.

◆ Optimal use of rough stone weight increased by 
more than 25% from 35-40% to over 50%.

◆ Integration with inclusion mapping creates higher 
penetration barrier; also integrated with our best-in-
class Quazer® laser cutting system.

Multiple Diamonds Planning

Galaxy “CT” of Rough Internals
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Galaxy® Family

◆ Introduced in 2010 with Galaxy® 1000◆ Subsequent Galaxy® models provide solutions for 
higher clarities (VVS), for extra large diamonds up 
to 200 carats and for optimal processing of small 
and very small sizes to achieve cost-effective 
operations◆ Price Per Carat model with ~80% gross margin; 
recurring revenue drives today ~45% of Group 
top line!◆ Total installed base of 643 systems (as of end Q1 
2021)◆ No meaningful legitimate competition for Group’s 
patented technology. ◆ Stone scanning run rate in Q1 2021 indicates
annual increase in 2021 of >40% over 2019; 
2020 scans were just over those of 2019 despite 
Covid-19 and ~30% fewer stones in pipeline.
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Trade & Retail Downstream Revolution

◆ What are the challenges?

◆ B2B challenges – current manual Clarity and Color grading 
subjective, dictating necessity for actual visual inspection at 
sourcing and leading to significant rejection of delivered polished 
diamonds.

◆ Consumer transparency – 4C’s primarily define rarity; consumers 
want additional information pertaining to beauty and quality of 
workmanship as well as documentation of sustainable and socially 
responsible mining, sourcing and polishing of stones.

◆ Today’s consumer wants information presented in intuitive and 
engaging digital formats enabling support of social media for peer-
to-peer communications.

◆ Lab-grown diamonds creating entire new market of lower valued 
goods, dictating need for differentiation and requiring 
documentation of quality and sustainability at a completely different 
cost level.

9
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Traceability with Diamond JourneyTM

◆ Provides captivating visualization of the entire history of the rough stone – from mine to 
polished gem. Actual real-time generated imagery tracks stone through key stages from 
modeling at mine through polishing, culminating in its final polished form; captivates 
consumer with insight into painstaking craftsmanship of creating his/her unique gem.◆ Documents the responsible sourcing and manufacture of the diamond – key to concern 
of consumers and other industry players (governments, banks, insurers and social 
groups – e.g. Human Rights Watch) for tracing of diamonds’ sources; not based on 
declaratory information but on actual data collected throughout the process.◆ Leverages our extensive presence in the midstream to implement solution with 
minimal overhead, disruption or cost to manufacturers based on existing installed 
base of Sarine’s aforementioned industry-leading technologies.◆ Supported by Alrosa, world’s largest diamond producer by carats and Lucara, Canadian 
miner operating in Botswana renown for large stones; additional key miners running pilot 
tests. ◆ Leading polishers in India and Israel have adopted paradigm to be “Journey-ready” for 
retail demand; High-end sustainability-minded retailers among probable early adopters.◆ As a benefit to miners, adding Galaxy® derived information to source scan enables 
digital e-tenders of rough stones. Adopted by Alrosa, Lucara and Grib, as well as 
Stargems, a leading rough secondary wholesaler in Dubai. 1

0
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e-GradingTM Revolution: Clarity and Color 
by Artificial Intelligence Technology

◆ Groundbreaking Artificial Intelligence (AI) - based Clarity technology provides automated, 
objective Clarity grading – a first for the diamond industry. More consistent than manual 
process, refines Clarity grading and enhances polished diamond sorting by manufacturers 
and sourcing by retailers. Similarly, AI-based Color evaluation technology provides 
automated, objective and more precise Color grading.

◆ The integration of these new technologies with in-process control and verification software 
enables polished diamonds grading on site at suppliers, wholesalers and major retailers –
e-GradingTM. The shift from manual grading in diamond labs to automated technology-
based grading on-site significantly reduces time (hours vs. weeks) and eliminates indirect 
costs (e.g. shipping and insurance). Also significantly reduces direct costs as lowers both 
quantity and skill levels of manpower required for grading. In initial beta-testing in India.

◆ Business model for e-grading will be industry-standard per-carat charge (optionally 
packaged with light performance grading and Sarine Diamond JourneyTM traceability). 
Should significantly expand the Group’s recurring income and improve margins. 
Addresses over US$500M annual market of diamond grading. A successful rollout 
of e-Grading should result in gross margins similar to Galaxy ® margins - ~80%. 

◆ Working with Tiffany & Co. and signed with NGTC* to adapt to each’s respective criteria.

• (*) National Gemstone Testing Centre – China’s largest gemmological laboratory
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Lab-Grown Diamonds

◆ Growing market acceptance of lab-grown diamonds (LGD) with ~50% of US retailers 
expected to be offering LGD in 2021.

◆ Shutdown of key Argyle mine, historically major producer of low-quality smaller diamonds, 
to contribute to expansion of LGD demand. 

◆ Lab-grown diamonds are thus poised for rapid growth creating a new expanded market 
concurrently with and beyond today’s US$ ~80 billion natural diamond jewellery market. 

◆ Have demonstrated applicability of our manufacturing technologies to LGD and already 
generating revenues from this evolving market segment. Entered into technology-based 
processing-related service partnership. 

◆ Due to prohibitive direct and indirect costs of third-party lab grading for LGD goods, e-
GradingTM evolving as natural alternative. Also addresses 21st century technology factor –
“diamonds produced by technology - graded by technology”.

1

2
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Q1 2021 –Recovery Drives Business

◆ Revenues US$ 17.3M; best first quarter since 2014.◆ Gross margin unusually high at 76.9%, due to product mix including 
sale of inventory previously written-off.◆ Operational expenses in R&D and G&A nearly back to pre-pandemic 
levels, but S&M still lagging 25% due to travel restrictions and trade-
show cancellations. Operating margin over 40% with Profit from 
Operations of US$ 7.3M.◆ Preferential tax rates drive Net Profit to US$ 6.7M.◆ Cash and short term deposits back to US$ 35.1M against which US$ 
3.3 M outstanding pandemic-related Israeli government-subsidized 
loans.◆ Receivables increased modestly to US $24.9 million, with most due 
receivables having been collected.

1

3
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Going Forward◆ Continued market domination of inclusion scanning and mapping, rough planning and 
related manufacturing products and services. 2021 will see launch of Advisor ® 8.0 with 
enhanced features, widening technological gap with piracy. ◆ The Group remains confident in expanding its market penetration of the Galaxy® family of 
inclusion mapping systems to smaller and smaller stones, as evidenced by record setting 
50 deliveries in Q1 of 2020, prior to pandemic, ongoing record setting usage and a 
significant backlog of orders delayed due to lingering pandemic-related logistical issues.◆ Digital tenders due to Covid-19 obstacles opening doors for cooperation with key miners 
(Alrosa, Lucara, etc.) as well as with wholesale rough traders. Driving significant growth in 
Galaxy® per-stone revenues from high-end 10+ carat diamonds. Paradigm to remain after 
pandemic as it reduces costs, improves margins and enables nimbler moving of inventory. 
Key indirect benefit is enabling Sarine to establish critical anchors for traceability.◆ Sarine Profile™, Sarine Diamond Journey™, light performance grading and AI-derived 
4Cs e-Grading™ address the wholesale and retail trade of polished diamonds – the 
segments of the diamond value chain with highest margins. Optimally, these combined 
offerings should capture double-digit share of US$ 500M+ market with high ~80% 
gross margins. Currently still only less than 3% of revenues.◆ Our manufacturing-related, grading and retail/branding technologies are all applicable to 
LGD. Already generating revenues. Being evaluated and adopted by key players in 
midstream and downstream segments of LGD pipeline.
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 

Recovery in Last Quarter of 2020 Continued into 2021 

US$ 17.3M Revenues and High Gross Margin of 76.9%  

Generated Net Profit of US$ 6.7M 
 

Hod Hasharon (Israel), 09 May 2021 - Singapore Exchange Mainboard listed Sarine Technologies 

Ltd (“Sarine” and along with its subsidiaries “the Group”) (U77:SI), a worldwide leader in the 

development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of precision technology products and services for 

the evaluation, planning, processing, measurement, grading and trading of diamonds and gems, 

wishes to update its investing public on business conditions during the initial months of 2021.  

 

As previously reported, the global diamond industry started on a path of recovery in the second half 

of 2020 driven by the reopening of diamond jewellery retail activities. The recovery culminated in a 

stronger than expected end-of-year holiday season in the crucial U.S. market, as well as a strong 

Chinese New Year season in early 2021 throughout most of the Asia-Pacific market. On the 

backdrop of reduced inventories stemming from the curtailed and diminished polishing capacities 

during the Covid-19 pandemic lockdowns and restrictions in India for most of the first half of 2020, 

the renewed demand propelled a strong resumption of diamond manufacturing activities. This trend 

continued in the first quarter of 2021. Appropriately, DeBeers' initial four sights in 2021 included its 

strongest selling cycle in three years in January, totaling US$ 650 million, followed by a higher than 

average sight of US$ 550 million in February, US$ 440 million in March and an estimated US$350-

400 the first week of May. May's selling cycle numbers have not yet been formally released, but 

DeBeers commented that demand was stronger (by some estimates by as much as 20%) than the 

offered supply, which was limited due to only half as many carats having been mined as sold in the 

first quarter of 2021, production having been hampered by operational issues at various sites. 

 

This strong resurgence in manufacturing activities has driven the utilisation of our inclusion mapping 

systems to averages approaching 95,000 stones daily, 40% higher than 2019 volumes. However, 

logistical issues stemming from the still lingering Coronavirus pandemic restricted our deliveries of 

Galaxy®-family systems in the first quarter to only 12 systems. The breakdown by model was 3 

Galaxy® Ultras, 2 Galaxy® models, 2 Solarises™ and 4 Meteors™, the latter six sold under the one-

off business model with no follow-on per-use revenues, and a single Meterorite™. As of 31 March 

2021, our installed base was 643 Galaxy®-family systems. We are continuing aggressive sales 
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programmes of our systems for smaller stones, the Solaris™, Meteor™ and Meteorite™ models, and 

currently have numerous customers interested in taking avail of the offered terms. However, it 

should be noted that the current pandemic conditions in India have created immediate-term 

uncertainties. 

 

On the backdrop of these overall positive business conditions, the Group realised revenues of 

US$17.3 million in the first quarter of 2021, its best first quarter since 2014. Due to the product mix 

including the sale of inventory previously written-off, as well as a relatively high number of high-end 

and one-off Galaxy® systems, our gross margin was unusually high – 76.9%. Our Research and 

Development and General and Administrative activities are nearly back to pre-pandemic levels, but 

we are still spending some 25% less than previously on Sales and Marketing, as pandemic-related 

restrictions still hamper travel, trade shows have not yet re-commenced and we are still ramping up 

our Marcom activities. With still lower than fully operational activities and commensurately lower 

expenditures, our Operational Profit was US$ 7.3 million, and, with beneficial tax rates, our Net 

Profit was US$ 6.7 million. Cash and short-term deposits tallied some US$ 35.1 million at quarter's 

end, against which the Group has pandemic-related Israeli-government-subsidised bank loans of 

US$ 3.3 million. Receivables increased modestly to US $24.9 million, with most due receivables 

having been collected. 

 

We are continuing to gain recognition across all industry segments for our Sarine Diamond 

Journey™ provenance and traceability solution. We are working both with additional producers and 

several leading global luxury brands (as well as with additional APAC retailers) on pilot runs, which 

should, upon successful completion, lead to commercial fruition. Hopefully, as the year unfolds we 

will be able to announce significant developments. Both the story-telling and the 

sustainability/responsibility aspects of the Journey concept are driving its adoption, with miners, 

wholesalers and retailers captivated by differing aspects of the offering.  

 

Our on-site E-Grading™ is currently in beta-testing with two leading Indian manufacturers, and we 

are on track for its introduction to the market later in 2021, with contribution to our top-line revenues 

expected to commence in 2022. The Japanese television retailer QVC has adopted our AI-based 

grading paradigm, and the Antwerp-based HB initiative has integrated these technologies into their 

innovative mine-to-retail supply ecosystem, as recently announced. Pilot tests are being initiated 

with additional leading global brands, often in conjunction with their evaluation of our Sarine 

Diamond Journey™, as the two offerings are mutually complementary. 

 

In the sub-market of Lab-grown diamonds (LGD) we are also gaining traction with our various 

technologies. We are entering a partnership integrating our various technological solutions into a 

manufacturing facility that will, on a contract basis, process LGDs from rough to finished gems. Our 

e-Grading solution will, optionally, be an added-value offering. These initiatives, although not yet 

expected to significantly generate income this year, give us exposure to and an entry into the 

expanding LGD market.  

 

  

http://www.sarine.com/


4 Haharash St., Neve Neeman 

Hod Hasharon, Israel 4524075 

Tel. +972-9-7903500 

www.sarine.com 

 

 

As noted in our announcement of 29 April 2021, we are closely monitoring the ongoing outbreak of 

Covid-19 in India and the challenging conditions arising from it. Currently, the midstream 

manufacturing segment of the diamond industry value chain centred in Surat, India, is continuing 

to operate, for the most part, normally, as a result of strong global demand for polished diamonds. 

Polishing has declined somewhat due to absences of ill or quarantined workers, more so for the 

producers of smaller stones, whose facilities are less conducive to the required social distancing. 

The situation is very dynamic and the Indian epidemic is definitely creating uncertainties, which 

may affect the value chain over the next 2-3 months. Sarine is, of course, standing by its employees 

and extending essential support to them and their families during these challenging times. 

 

 

About Sarine Technologies: 

Established in 1988, Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and 

manufacturing of advanced modeling, analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, grading 

and trading systems for diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of inclusion and 

tension mapping systems, rough diamond planning and optimisation technologies, laser cutting 

and shaping tools, laser-marking, inscription and finger-printing equipment, automated (AI-derived) 

Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, visualisation and 

retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern manufacturing 

plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are essential aids for 

diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. For more information about Sarine and its products and 

services, visit http://www.sarine.com. 
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6ELEASE                       FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 

 

HB Antwerp and Sarine Enter into a Unique Partnership for 
Technology Solutions 

 
Sarine integrates multiple technologies into HB’s innovative ecosystem 

 
 

Hod Hasharon, (Israel), 6 May 2021 – Singapore Exchange Mainboard-listed Sarine 

Technologies Ltd (“Sarine” or "the Company" and together with its subsidiaries "the Group") 

(U77:SI), a worldwide leader in the development, manufacture and sale of precision technology 

products for the evaluation, planning, processing, grading and trading of diamonds and gems, is 

pleased to announce that it has joined with HB Antwerp as a technology partner. 

 

HB is a company based in Antwerp focused on technology driven sourcing, analysing, cutting and 

polishing of diamonds. HB is applying an innovative methodology designed to simplify the 

complexities and challenges of the global diamond supply chain and enhance transparency. HB 

Antwerp authenticates each stage of its value chain, made in Antwerp, using its own unique block 

chain and traceability proprietary technologies combined with Sarine’s traceability solution. This 

allows HB to offers luxury brands and private consumers a customised product. 

 

Under this new partnership with HB Antwerp, Sarine will also be providing its industry-leading 

Galaxy® scanning, planning and AI-grading technologies, which will be fully integrated with HB’s 
proprietary technologies throughout the process, from rough sourcing to the final polished result.  

 

The partnership aims to demonstrate that transperancy and open collaboration can benefit all the 

stakeholders throughout the value-chain. In addition, the two companies have also agreed to 

explore co-development of new technologies based on their R&D centers in Israel and Belgium.  

 

HB Antwerp will remunerate Sarine based on a percentage of the value of the produced polished 

diamonds.  

 

Mr. Rafael Papismedov, HB Antwerp's Strategy Director, commented, "HB Antwerp and Sarine 

have a solid foundation for cooperation, given Sarine's advanced technology and solutions, which 

synergize with HB Antwerp's unique capabilities and vision for streamlining the value-chain and 
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providing the end consumers with the quality products they desire, along with the transparency 

and confidence they now demand. We welcome Sarine into our ecosystem and are looking 

forward to leverage on our combined capabilities".  

 

David Block, Sarine Group CEO, remarked, "HB Antwerp's ecosystem is a significant step 

towards the much-needed optimisation of the diamond industry value chain. This new paradigm 

combining producers, manufacturers and retailers underpinned by the latest technologies has the 

potential to revolutionise our industry. We are proud to be a partner in this new paradigm and are 

very excited about the potential of this new and innovative ecosystem." 

 
 

About HB Antwerp: 

HB Antwerp is a technology company focused on diamonds. HB Antwerp turns the diamond 

supply chain upside down starting with the customer. Using technology, HB Antwerp brings 

simplicity and transparency to a typically complex supply chain. Everything happens in a closed 

loop called Signum in Antwerp, backed with the latest technologies and tracked with blockchain, 

making it 100% transparent from diamond mine to market, whilst also significantly reducing the 

carbon footprint. For more information about HB visit https://hbantwerp.com and 

https://www.diamonds.net/news/NewsItem.aspx?ArticleID=65526 

 

 

About Sarine Technologies: 

Established in 1988, Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and 

manufacturing of advanced modeling, analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, 

grading and trading systems for diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of 

inclusion and tension mapping systems, rough diamond planning and optimisation technologies, 

laser cutting and shaping tools, laser-marking, inscription and finger-printing equipment, 

automated (AI-derived) Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, 

visualisation and retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern 

manufacturing plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are 

essential aids for diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. For more information about Sarine and 

its products and services, visit http://www.sarine.com. 
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SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD  
(Israel Registration No. 51 1332207)  

 
Disclosure In Compliance With Rule 704(29) - Grant of Employee Share Options  
 
Sarine Technologies Ltd. (the “Company”) hereby discloses in accordance with 
Rule 704(29) the details of the grant of employee share options as follows:  
 
 
1.  Date of grant  9 May 2021 

2.  Exercise price of options granted  
S$ 0.577 

3.  Number of options granted  
890,000 

4.  Market price of its securities on the 
date of grant  

 

S$ 0.575 

5.  Number of options granted to 
directors and controlling shareholders 
(and their associates), if any  

    
 
---   

6.  Validity period of the options  9 May 2021 –     8 May 2027 

 
 

By Order of the Board  
 
Sarine Technologies Ltd.  
 
Submitted by Amir Jacob Zolty, Company Secretary, on 9.5.2021 to the SGX 
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Note: Welcome to our 2020 Corporate Sustainability Report. As our objective is to 

provide readers with pertinent information in a concise non-tedious manner, we have 

referenced, where applicable, specific information already publicly available in 

Sarine’s Annual Report and on its website. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS STATEMENT  

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is my pleasure to present our fourth Sustainability 

Report for Sarine Technologies Ltd. (“Sarine” or the “Company” and along with its 

subsidiaries the "Group"), for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

This report sets forth our perceptions relating to sustainability issues and their integration into 

our activities and efforts that we, as a company, make for continuous improvement of our 

impact on customers, employees and the community around us. We encourage all 

stakeholders to share their ideas and concerns with us regarding these issues and hope to 

continue our efforts over time to further enhance sustainability in our business. 

Daniel Benjamin Glinert 

Executive Chairman of the Board 
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ABOUT THIS REPORT  

This is our Group's fourth year of issuing a sustainability report. This report is in compliance 

with the requirements of the SGX Listing Rules 711A and 711B and in accordance with the 

GRI Standards: Core Option. 

In defining the scope of the data disclosed in this report, we focused on the sustainability and 

performance of entities and assets over which we have financial and operational control. All 

data contained in this report, unless specifically stated otherwise, refers to the Sarine Group, 

including operations at sites in Israel, India, Hong-Kong and North America,  and does not 

apply to any independent service or sales representative locations or activities outside the 

Sarine Group.  

This report reflects Sarine's performance for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020, 

and the data is updated as of its reference date – 31 December 2020 (note: as for financial 

information included in this report, the information is as published in Sarine's Annual Report 

for 2020). 

Relevant targets and goals of the Company are addressed below including the status of their 

respective achievements.   

The material issues covered in this report are the result of analyses summarised in the final 

matrix presented herein. The relative effect of each material issue set forth therein is subject 

to its significance to the Company's various internal and external stakeholders. 

We welcome all feedback to help us improve our sustainability practices.  

Please send your comments or feedback by e-mail to sustainability@sarine.com 

ABOUT SARINE  

Sarine is a world leader in the development and manufacturing of advanced modelling, 

analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, grading and trading systems for 

diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of inclusion and tension mapping 

systems, rough diamond planning and optimisation technologies, laser cutting and shaping 

tools, laser-marking, inscription and finger-printing equipment, automated (AI-derived) 

Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, visualisation and 

retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern manufacturing 

plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are essential 

aids for diamonds polishers, dealers and retailers.  
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SARINE'S RESPONSE TO THE COVID-19 CRISIS 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared the Coronavirus outbreak (Covid-19) 

as a global pandemic. Since then, the virus has continued to spread across the world at varying 

rates, introducing significant business and economic uncertainty and instability to global 

markets. 

At the beginning of the year, the world was forced into preventative lockdowns. This resulted 

in a standstill of the diamond industry in general and in India in particular, which is the global 

hub for rough to polished diamond manufacturing. This ultimately affected the Group, since 

business with India generates approximately 70% of our revenues.  

The Group has taken the Covid-19 crisis seriously and has endeavored to actively support our 

employees, customers and suppliers to better weather the pandemic. We have adhered to 

applicable government mandates and guidelines in relevant jurisdictions, including the 

suspension of operations at our facilities. We also enabled our employees to work from home 

or provided them a safe and healthy working environment at our facilities. Throughout the 

year, our routines changed and underwent the necessary adjustments to better manage the 

complex situation.  

Sarine updates its products and its services on an ongoing basis. During 2020 we adapted part 

of our solutions and services in order to provide our customers ongoing and continuous 

support worldwide regardless of travel restrictions and social distancing requirements. This 

included, among others: (i) the offering of improved remote maintenance capabilities; and (ii) 

improvements to our Galaxy services in order to accommodate Alrosa’s and others' 

expanding utilisation of digital tenders. The capability to sell diamonds via digital tenders 

based on our technologies has enabled our customers to reach more buyers and continue 

trading rough diamonds during these difficult times.  

As we look back on 2020, Sarine remained committed to achieving its long-term product 

development and innovation objectives and was able to successfully navigate the Covid-19 

crisis, with minimal impact on our research and development activities. The Group did not 

suspend its research and development activities during this time and remained committed to 

achieving its long-term objectives. 

Additional information on Sarine’s actions and activities during the Covid-19 crisis are 

discussed throughout this report.  
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GROUP STRUCTURE  

Headquartered in Hod Hasharon Israel, below is Sarine’s structure as of December 31, 2020: 

 

 

For further details regarding the Sarine Group's entities and operations, we invite readers to 

refer to our 2020 Annual Report "Group Structure" section.  
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KEY MANAGEMENT  

Below is a diagram of Sarine Group’s key management as of December 31, 2020. 

 

Further information about key management and remuneration is detailed in the "Key 

Management" and “Corporate Governance” sections of the 2020 Annual Report.  

*As at 31 December 2020, the percentage of senior management hired from the relevant local communities is as 

follows: 100% in Israel and 50% in India.  

** Mr. Yoav Efrat’s contractual employment as Sarin India’s Managing Director ended year-end 2020. Mr. Ben 

Finkelstein will assume Mr. Efrat’s responsibilities in 2021 upon receipt of the necessary authorisations from the 

appropriate authorities in India.  
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OUR VISION  

Sarine’s sustainability efforts are aligned with our Company's vision and strive to nurture 

success through long-term sustainable growth.  
 

 

 
 

 

1. Innovation — Most diamonds over 0.1 carat in weight are touched by our innovative 

technologies at different stages of their processing. Sarine sees its mission as participating 

in setting the industry standards, optimising the utilisation of rough diamond material, 

enhancing the beauty and value of polished diamonds and providing confidence building 

21st century solutions for polished diamond grading and their trade, to benefit our 

customers and the public. We are committed to leadership through an ongoing passion 

for innovation and excellence.  

 

2. Employees — We view our employees as the major factor enabling our success. We strive 

to nurture our employees and provide them with a supportive working environment that 

will motivate them to excel individually and as a team. Our employees share, through 

various bonus and options schemes, in the Company’s success. 

 

3. Value — We endeavour to generate and maintain long term revenue and profit growth to 

increase the Group’s value. 

 

4. Community — We are involved in and contribute to the communities in which we 

operate. 

These four key values are the basis of our sustainability efforts as is discussed throughout this 

report. Sarine’s vision served as the basis for our Materiality Analysis as described in the next 

chapter. 

Innovation

Employees

Value

Community
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS  

 

Sarine conducted a systematic assessment of sustainability issues that are material to our 

business, its operations and stakeholders, and issues we consider relevant to our communities, 

the economy and the environment. We have taken into account issues that we believe are most 

relevant, such as: 

• sustainability practices and processes throughout our organisation; 

• regulatory requirements; 

• sector comparables; 

• our industry partnerships; and 

• the diamond industry in general.  

 

The outcome of this assessment enabled us to define the report’s content in alignment with 

the GRI Sustainability Reporting Standards (GRI-SRS). As we further develop our dialogue 

with our stakeholders in the coming years, Sarine will conduct an annual review to reassess 

and revalidate these issues for materiality. 

No material issues (as identified on page 12) previously reported upon in Sarine's 2019 

sustainability report were found to require changes for this year's report. Nevertheless, this 

year we faced numerous changes to the work environment due to the outbreak of Covid-19, 

and accordingly we found some material issues receiving more attention during the year, as 

detailed in this report. 
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THE PROCESS 

As detailed at length in our first sustainability report, our materiality analysis was conducted 

by management using a methodological four-step process. Each step was conducted in 

accordance with the uniqueness of Sarine’s business and its environment. Further review, 

evaluation and approval were executed in consultation with our Board of Directors (the 

“Board”). 

Below is a presentation of the four steps we conducted: 

 

 
 

For further information regarding our four-step materiality analysis, please see our 2017 

Sustainability Report pages 12-13.  

The results of the materiality analysis are used as a basis for current and future activities and 

procedures that are put in place. We will continue to evaluate our material issues while taking 

into consideration global developments. 

 

 

  

Identification 
of potential 

material issues Material issues 
ranking

Materiality 
Matrix 

presentation

Result 
review, 

validation 
and approval
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MATERIAL ISSUES 

The material issues identified in this matrix form the basis of the Company's sustainability 

activities and targets and this report. 

 

 Material Issues GRI Standard Topic Pages 

1 Cyber and Data Security Customer Privacy  26-27 

2 Product and Process Innovation 
Customer Health and Safety 

Marketing and Labelling 
38-39 

3 Intellectual Property Governance, Ethics and Integrity 25-26 

4 Customer Trust and Reputation 

Customer Health and Safety 

Marketing and Labelling 

Customer Privacy 

37-42 

5 External Market Impact on The Company 
Economic Performance 

Market Presence 
28-29 

6 Business Ethics and Governance 
Anti-Corruption 

Anti-Competitive Behaviour 
20-25 

7 Economic Performance Economic Performance 16-17, 28-29 

8 Product Quality Management Customer Health and Safety 37-41 

9 Recruitment and Retention of Skilled Employees 

Employment 

Market Presence  

Economic Performance 

29-33 

10 
New Business Development, Challenges and 

Opportunities 

Indirect Economic Impacts 

Economic Performance  
28-29, 37-39 

11 Lifecycle Impacts of Products and Services 
Customer Health and Safety 

Marketing and Labelling 
39-40 

12 Risk Management Governance 20-23 

13 
External Economic Impact from Company 

Activities 
Indirect Economic Impacts 28-29, 38-39 

14 Employees Compensation and Benefits 
Employment 

Market Presence 
32-36 

15 Customer Health and Safety 
Customer Health and Safety 

Marketing and Labelling 
40-41 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11
12

13

14
15

Materiality Matrix

Importance for company 
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In addition to the materiality matrix, due to their importance to sustainability issues, we 

included in our report specific references to community relations and environmental 

footprint. These issues were addressed in the report, even though they were not found to be 

material.  

TRANSPARENCY AND STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE 

As a leading company in its sphere of operations, Sarine has a wide range of stakeholders that 

include investors, employees, business partners (e.g. suppliers and distributors) and 

customers, as well as consumers and governmental authorities. 

Although many of the topics pertaining to sustainability are global by nature, each category 

of stakeholder is characterised by its specific interests relating to Sarine. The Company 

recognises the importance of its stakeholders and their interests, and therefore, we invest 

significant resources to maintain transparent and open communications with them. 

Open communication was especially important to the Group during the period of uncertainty 

that prevailed for much of 2020. During the year, the Group updated its investors, employees, 

business partners and customers with timely updates on the impact, challenges and 

opportunities presented by Covid-19. Further information about our Covid-19-related 

activities is detailed in the "Management’s Business Operation & Financial Review” section of 

the 2020 Annual Report.  

Below is a list of methods and the frequency in which we communicate with our stakeholders:  
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- Immediate publication of any material news relating to our business on the SGX 
network (SGXNet)

- Company publication of semi-annual financial reports on the SGX network

- Publication on our website and on the SGX network (SGXNet) of information 
related to investor relations

- Ongoing communications with investors who have queries concerning various 
aspects of the Company

- Publication of an Annual Report 

- Holding of Annual and Extraordinary General Meetings of Shareholders

- Open door policy for employees with frank employee dialogue

- Recreational and wellness activities

- Career development and annual performance reviews

- Annual organisational approach survey

- Anonymous complaints box and upkeep for our employees' 
working environment

- Ongoing regular dialogue with key vendors and suppliers, 
including meetings with suppliers, in 2020 mostly through 
online communication channels 

- Continuing relationship and ongoing communication with 
authorised sales representatives worldwide

- Periodic  customer satisfaction surveys

- Maintaining an open customer service platform

- Advertisements

- Marketing and sales promotion activities

- Regular communication with customers

- Charitable and donation activities

- Taking part in community projects and charity work

- Open feedback channels for the communities in which we operate

- Regular communication with governmental authorities

- Meeting mandatory reporting and compliance requirements

Investors 

Employees 

Business 

Partners 
(Suppliers, Vendors, 

Sales Partners, etc.) 

Customers 
(Manufacturers, 

Retailers, Wholesalers, 

Laboratories, etc.) 

Local 

Communities 

Government 
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United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 

Sarine recognises the SDGs and understands the impact they are making on a global scale. 

With operations in various countries, we realise our activities might have impact on multiple 

goals. We take the SDGs into consideration and adjust our sustainability performance in the 

future as we continue to develop our sustainability strategy.  
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SARINE AT A GLANCE 

No significant changes to the organisation were implemented in 2020 in regards to group 

structure, ownership, supply chain, locations or operations. All relevant changes with regards 

to employee base, financial performance and sustainability figures are detailed elsewhere 

throughout the report. Full detail of our financial results can be found in our 2020 Annual 

Report.  

OUR NUMBERS  

Description of Operations:  

 

 

Revenue, gross profit, profit from operations and net profit (loss): 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 

 2019 2020 

 US$'000 

Revenues 51,323 40,968 

Gross profit 29,584 27,070 

Profit from operations 1,101 4,763 

Net profit (loss) (1,372) 2,365 
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Just under 19 million stones were scanned through Sarine's inclusion mapping 

products worldwide in 2020, surpassing our previous record once again.   
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OUR VALUES  

Our Core Values have guided and shaped our Company over the years. We stand by these 

values every day and endeavour to implement them in our work and our relationships with 

our colleagues, customers and suppliers.  

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Innovation and Creativity 

We consistently strive to be at the forefront of 

technology and creativity, to produce cutting 

edge products and solutions with the highest 

standards of quality and workmanship. 

Teamwork 

We share ideas and support and respect each 

other with a strong team ethos and a 

commitment to common goals.  

 Customer Orientation 

We believe that things should be made 

simple, but not simplistic. We produce 

technologically advanced products and 

solutions, which are customer-oriented.  

Honesty and Fairness 

We are honest and fair in our work and in our 

treatment of employees, suppliers and 

customers.  

 Commitment and Integrity 

We are committed to our stakeholders’ 

continuous satisfaction and provide 

worldwide support to ensure optimal usage 

of our products.  
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BUSINESS  

Sarine’s business can be primarily categorised into five separate market segments of the 

diamond industry: 

 
 

Rough Stone Evaluation (The “Upstream”)

Sarine assists the diamond mining producers to evaluate their rough
stones as per their varied qualities using our revolutionary Galaxy®
and DiaExpert® families of platforms. These technologies provide high
resolution mapping of a rough stone's external geometry and internal
inclusions and tension.

Rough Stone Polishing (The “Midstream”)
Sarine has revolutionised this segment of the industry, by introducing
computer-based technologies to automate internal inspection,
planning, sawing/cutting, shaping, polishing (faceting) and fine
polishing in order to turn diamonds into retail-ready polished gems.

Polished Diamond Trade (The “Downstream”)

A strategic decision taken in 2010 was to expand our product and
service offerings into the wholesale and retail trade of polished
diamonds, referred to as the “downstream”. We have launched the
Sarine ProfileTM, Sarine JourneyTM, TruMatchTM and VertoTM to support
branding and merchandising efforts.

Diamond Grading

Commencing  2018, Sarine offers comprehensive polished diamond 
4Cs (Carat, Cut, Color, and Clarity) grading utilising artificial-
intelligence (AI) based technology.

Sarine Diamond Journey™

Every diamond journey is unique and fascinating. At every stage of
diamond manufacturing – Sarine’s innovative technologies are used to
achieve the most valuable polished gem. As 100 million rough
diamonds pass through Sarine systems, we are uniquely positioned to
provide an industry-wide traceability solution, with verifiable data at
every stage of the stone’s journey.
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In 2020 some 19 million stones were scanned for inclusion mapping using our systems and 

close to 100 million stones were planned using our platforms. Of these, over 60 million stones 

were planned using our online Advisor® cloud-based software, which, optionally, records the 

actual planning stages. At the end of the year we saw a strong recovery in the midstream, with 

Galaxy® family scans reaching an all-time record of daily peaks of 100,000 stones. 

Further information about the Sarine Group's products is detailed in the “Management's 

Business, Operation & Financial Review” section of the 2020 Annual Report. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

Sarine is committed to practicing proper corporate governance. This commitment includes 

the oversight of various aspects of our business such as company strategy, fiscal 

accountability, ethical corporate behaviour, sustainability and fairness to our stakeholders. 

We recognise and place strong emphasis on our corporate responsibility to our stakeholders 

and are committed to managing our business in ways that lead to sustainable growth, while 

balancing current and future needs. We are committed to doing this by fulfilling all regulatory 

and moral dictates and adopting all relevant guidelines.  

Sarine is incorporated in Israel. Sarine is listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange. 

Therefore, we comply with various corporate governance requirements under the Israeli 

Companies Law, 1999, and the SGX Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Company has adopted, 

and will continue to adopt as necessary, voluntary rules to ensure transparency towards all 

our stakeholders, as well as enforcement procedures that ensure strict compliance with both 

the law and internal control processes. We have internal controls, legal advisors, internal and 

external auditors and we consult with independent experts to evaluate economic, social and 

environmental issues to ensure compliance. 
 

2020 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Bring the drafts of our Code of Conduct and Anti-

Corruption Policy to the approval of our Board.  

Completed 

• Appoint a new Board of Directors comprised of certain of 

the current directors and new Independent Directors. 

Completed 

To read more about the ongoing measures taken by the Board of Directors, please see the 

Corporate Governance section in our 2020 Annual Report. 

Targets and Goals for 2021 

• Periodic corporate risk assessment analysis.  

• Upgrade parameters for evaluating the Board and the director effectiveness.  

• Review and update the remuneration policy drawing on the broader experience of the 

new independent directors. 
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SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT 

Sarine is aware of the ongoing need to properly address and manage sustainability in our 

business. Therefore, the Company's Board of Directors appointed our CEO, CFO and General 

Counsel to manage our sustainability strategy and they report periodically to the Board of 

Directors on these issues. Accordingly, we have developed procedures, targets and goals to 

properly manage our sustainability efforts.  

Our sustainability reports together with our materiality analysis are led by our appointed 

sustainability management individuals and have been reviewed and authorised by the Board 

accordingly.  

 

RISK MANAGEMENT  

In the previous report, Sarine published its organisational enterprise risk management activity 

that addresses strategic, financial and operational risks. The risk management system relates 

to strategic, operational, statutory and economic risks in all aspects of the organisation's 

operations, including potential impacts from the Company’s activities. Through this 

structured process, which identifies risks and opportunities, Sarine continued to apply 

precautionary principles to relevant issues in 2020. The Board, with the assistance of the Audit 

Committee, reviews, on an ongoing basis and at least annually, the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems. Sarine intends 

to conduct an in-depth bottom-up and top-down risk assessment in 2021. 

Further information regarding Sarine's risk factors and risk management process is detailed 

in the “Management's Business, Operation & Financial Review” section of the 2020 Annual 

Report. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

As of 31 December 2020, the Board is comprised of seven directors, four of who are 

independent. In 2020 a new Board was put in place. Three new independent directors were 

elected, and three non-independent directors and one independent director were re-elected. 

Two of the newly elected directors, namely Ms. Neta Zruya-Hashai and Mr. Sin Boon Ann, 

also qualify as “External Directors” under Israeli law. Thus, the Board is able to exercise 

independent and objective judgment, and no individual or small group of individuals can 

dominate the decisions of the Board. 

Mr. Daniel Benjamin Glinert is Sarine’s sole Executive Director and Chairman of the Board.  

Ms. Varda Shine was re-elected in June 2020 and is the Lead Independent Director. 

In 2020 three independent directors retired and three new independent directors were elected 

following due examination of their professional credentials and backgrounds, in accordance 

with the Nomination's Committee assessment of the optimal Board composition and diversity 

objectives. We are very pleased with the addition of Ms. Neta Zruya Hashai, Mr. Lim Yong 

Sheng and Mr. Sin Boon Ann to the Board and we are confident that their extensive experience 
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and knowledge in their relevant fields of expertise, namely accounting and audit, the retail 

diamond trade and corporate governance, respectively, will be an asset to the Company. We 

express our gratitude and appreciation to the retired board members for their past services. 

 

The breakdown of our directors holding office as of the date of this report are: 

 
 

The Board meets regularly, and in any event no less than five times each calendar year. During 

the pandemic, the Board met regularly by digital means, while upholding social distancing 

and maintaining Covid-19 guidelines. The Board members have been instructed and undergo 

periodic training with regard to their roles, responsibilities, powers and duties. Such 

orientation includes dissemination of written materials prepared by the Company and its 

counsels, periodic updates with regard to legal and corporate governance developments 

affecting the Board and the directors, and personal communication with the Company 

Secretary and ongoing discussions at Board meetings. New Board members with no prior 

publicly-listed company board experience also attend the Singapore Institute of Directors 

(SID) listed entity director programme.  

At the beginning of 2020, all new directors (then still candidates) attended an internal 

orientation programme addressing issues such as the Group's structure and activities; the 

directors' powers and duties; and accounting, legal and other industry-specifics aspects (as 

required). 

Details of the Board and its committees and number of meetings held, are shown below:  

 

Board of Directors Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nominating Committee 

7 Meetings 3 Meetings 1 Meeting 1 Meeting 

 

The Independent and Non-Executive Directors actively participate in developing strategy and 

in reviewing the performance of the Company. 

5

2

Director Breakdown - Gender

Men Women

3

4

Director Breakdown -

Independence

Non-Independent Independent
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The Independent Directors may meet outside the presence of the Executive Directors and/or 

Company management to the extent necessary or advisable. 

The Board is involved and oversees the sustainability activities as described in this report, 

including sustainability strategy, annual review and approval of the materiality analysis 

process and Board sustainability statement, and it provides comments to and approval of our 

sustainability report. Relevant market and company developments pertaining to 

sustainability issues are shared with Board members and, based upon the materiality of the 

matter, discussed in Board meetings.  

Further key information about the Directors, including compensation details is detailed in the 

“Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” sections of the 2020 Annual Report. 

BUSINESS CULTURE          

Sarine’s corporate culture rests on core values that include innovation, integrity, commitment 

and teamwork.  

These values, together with the Company’s commitment to comply with all laws, regulations, 

compliance programmes and procedures, are vital for our sustainable growth and success. 

As a responsible member of the modern business environment, Sarine complies with 

applicable regulations in all its countries of operations and maintains a Code of Ethics in order 

to guarantee that we create and maintain appropriate relationships with our business 

partners, customers and employees, based on all relevant legal statutes, mutual respect, fair 

play, transparency and sustainable long-term business practises.  

CODE OF ETHICS  

Sarine's Code of Ethics is authorised by the Board of Directors, and is disseminated in our 

orientation process for new employees. When necessary, we conduct formal follow-up 

training on these matters. The Code of Ethics was updated in 2020 to accommodate the 

Group's current needs and with an emphasis on communications’ routes that are in line with 

global developments. 

Following are the key tenets of our Code of Ethics, on which we base our everyday business 

execution: 

 

 We treat our business partners, customers and employees with fairness and dignity.  

 

 To the best of our ability, we create a safe and protective work environment for our 

employees, and we offer our customers safe products, with which to similarly create a 

safe work environment for their employees.  

 

 In order to ensure operator safety, our products and services undergo strict 

inspections, which are constantly revisited by our own engineers and by third-party 

experts. Operating instructions and/or training are provided, as applicable, with 

regard to the proper and safe use of our products and, where necessary, built-in 

safeguards are provided to prevent inadvertent unsafe operation.  
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 Wherever applicable, we ourselves employ, and we instruct our customers as to how 

to similarly take, all necessary measures for the safe and environmentally friendly use 

and disposal of even marginally hazardous materials, as per directions from 

appropriately authorised expert consultants.  

 

 We believe our business does not impact the ecological balance of our environment 

and does not have any influence on the sustainability of the industry or the 

human/natural fabric in which we operate.  

 

Additional aspects of our Code of Ethics relating to Sarine Group approach to our employees, 

can be seen in the ’Our People’ chapter below. Further information may be found in the 

Corporate Social Responsibility section of our 2020 Annual Report. 

PROFESSIONAL AND INDUSTRY-RELATED INVOLVEMENT  

Sarine sees great importance in belonging to industry-affiliated associations through which it 

can have a voice and exercise influence so as to have an impact on our industry, while creating 

shared value.  

As of 2020, we are members of or have an ongoing discourse with a number of industry 

associations, such as:  

• American Gem Society (AGS) 

• The World Jewellery Confederation (CIBJO) 

• Diamond Dealers Club New York 

• Diamond Empowerment Fund  

• Dubai Diamond Exchange (DDE) at the Dubai Multi Commodities Centre (DMCC) 

• Guangzhou Diamond Exchange (GZDE) 

• India’s Gem Jewellery Export Promotion Council (GJEPC) 

• Jewellers of America (JA)  

• Jewellers Vigilance Committee (JVC) 

• Shenzhen Rough Diamond Exchange (SRDE)  

• Responsible Jewellery Council (RJC) 

• The Belt and Road Jewellery Extended Fashion Industry Alliance (JFIA) 

PREVENTING BRIBERY, CORRUPTION AND FRAUD  

Diamonds possess a number of characteristics, which make them vulnerable to utilisation for 

corruption, fraud and bribery such as: 

 High value  

 Low weight/mass and small size 

 High durability with stable pricing and an ability to retain value over long periods of 

time 

 Ability to go undetected (non-metallic and odourless) 

 Untraceable and unmarked 
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 Easily bought and sold outside the formal banking system 

Due to this, Sarine is committed to running its business with integrity, fairness, reliability, and 

professionalism. 

We maintain a zero tolerance approach to all forms of corruption, including bribery, theft and 

fraud. We also give special attention to preventing other forms of criminal activity, including 

conflicts of interest and extortion, as well as issues such as embezzlement and misuse of 

Company assets. Sarine has effective controls in place at every stage of its business.  

No claims or allegations of corruptive practices or actions, including bribery, were brought 

against any member of the Group or its employees during 2020.  

Measures to prevent corruption within the organisation have been put in place, such as; 

• An updated Code of Ethics, which addresses corruption issues. 

• The policy that all payments are conducted through traceable transactions. Cash 

payments are strictly prohibited in this regard.  

• We have a whistle blower policy that encourages employees and business partners to 

report on any illegal, improper or unfair practices that they encounter in their dealings 

with any member of the Group. 

 

No fines or non-monetary sanctions were imposed on the Group in 2020 in regard of non-

compliance with anti-corruption legislation and regulations. 
 

LEGAL PROTECTION AGAINST ANTI-COMPETITIVE ACTIONS AND INTELLECTUAL 

PROPERTY INFRINGEMENT  

The products we develop are proprietary in nature. Hence, our ability to remain competitive 

in the market is also dependent on our ability to protect our intellectual property (IP) in both 

hardware and software. To facilitate the protection of our IP rights, we have registered and 

maintain numerous patents, copyrights and trademarks in countries key to our business, and 

additional patent and trademark applications are pending in various phases in diverse 

jurisdictions. 

In 2020, six patent applications regarding three inventions were filed on behalf of the Sarine 

Group, in Israel, India and the US: 

1. Evaluating Color in Gemstones – for automated evaluation of colors in diamonds for 

grading and traceability purposes.  

2. System for Accurate 3D Modeling of Gemstones – for more accurate measurement of 

diamonds for grading and traceability purposes.  

3. Locating Stress in Diamonds – to assist in the planning of cutting and polishing of 

diamonds from raw stones.  

 

The Sarine Group maintains a zero tolerance policy towards the infringement of its intellectual 

property. We take proactive and aggressive actions aimed at protecting such rights, including 

taking legal action against those who are engaged in the offering and/or use of infringing 

products and services or any other fraudulent use of our technologies.  
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As a leading technology company in our field, the Group invests substantial resources to 

maintain such leadership and to patent, copyright, trademark and otherwise protect the 

Group’s proprietary assets. Nonetheless, the Group is exposed to ongoing attempts to steal 

and otherwise misappropriate its technology and products and to violations of its intellectual 

property rights. 

In addition to our IP copyright and patent applications and enforcement actions, we have 

designed and are continuing to design protective technological features into our systems, 

based on cloud computing technology, using proprietary in-house developed cyber 

protection. 

In 2020 we continued our zero-tolerance policy and pursued legal actions against a number 

of copyright and patent infringers, primarily in India. Due to the Covid-19 situation, our 

ongoing litigations were briefly paused with the temporary closing of the courts in India. 

Despite this, we continued with our enforcement activities regarding existing litigation and 

initiated three new lawsuits against infringers for unauthorised use of our technology.  

 

2020-2021 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Continue to expand and protect our intellectual property 

portfolio, including patent, copyright, trademark and 

trade secret protection. 

Ongoing 

• Continue our aggressive campaigns against IP 

infringement by legal means, technological innovation and 

commercial leveraging. 

Ongoing 

 

To read more about the ongoing efforts taken by us, please see our 2020 Annual Report 

"Management's Business, Operation & Financial Review" section. 

DATA SECURITY AND CYBER 

Sarine protects its data and systems with the highest levels of security. As a leading 

technology company in the market, we continuously verify that our information is secure. We 

invest extensively in cyber security and in creating our own proprietary in-house cyber 

protection. This creates a higher level of defense than that provided by using off-the-shelf 

commercially available protection, which is targeted per se by professional hackers. 

We continually strive to provide the most efficient data security and cyber protection 

customised for our needs. During 2020, we took further measures by engaging leading experts 

in the field of information security, and together we further broadened the process for creating 

tailored products and enhancing IT security. 

The main objectives determined during this process: 

• Enhancing the security of our line of products  

• Strengthening the internal  network infrastructure against external threats 
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• Creating a work plan for further refining the corporate culture for safeguarding 

information 

This year, following an overall pandemic-related decrease in our activity, we focused on the 

maintenance of existing infrastructure.  

• We continued to improve and strengthen our common infrastructure and servers. In 

addition, we reviewed and strengthened the services, which are running on our common 

infrastructure and servers. 

• We continued our use of tools to protect our web applications and APIs from web exploits. 

• We engaged with a third-party service provide to back up our mailboxes, which improved 

our recovery capabilities. 

• The extensive compatibility process we made to our infrastructure towards the end of 

2019, which provided for a secure methodology for working remotely, enabled a smooth 

transition to working remotely from home when the Covid-19 crisis broke out in 2020, 

requiring only minor adjustments during the year. 

 

2020 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Enhance and strengthen Sarine's cyber security for our global 

operations. 

Completed 

• Appoint a Group-level Information Security expert to create 

holistic and regulated Data Security and Cyber activities in 

the Company. 

Completed 

• Develop additional layers of security for our servers and end 

stations in order to protect our products and users' data. 

Completed 

• Version updates of our servers and system to enable security 

updates. 

Completed 

• Strengthen security of the Galaxy® platform.  Ongoing 

• Strengthen security of the Advisor® software. Ongoing 

 

Targets and Goals for 2021 

• We wish to further expand our previous goal and to hire a security expert and provide 

a wider security net for our assets. 

• Update the Company's procedures and infrastructure in a methodical manner and in 

accordance with regulatory developments in the years to come. 
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ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE  

 

 Year   2019 2020 

    US$ ‘000 

Direct economic value generated Revenues 51,323 40,968 

Economic value distributed Operating expenses* (28,483) (22,307) 

  Income tax expense (1,811) (1,643) 

  Dividends paid (5,259) (1,049) 

Economic value retained 15,770 15,969 
*  Includes research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses (including 

wages and benefits and other direct and indirect costs).  

 

The Sarine Group is in compliance with all relevant taxation rules and regulations. As detailed 

in the Annual Report, the Company's basic export-oriented tax rate is a preferential 12%. Our 

key subsidiary, Galatea Ltd., pays a 7.5% tax rate, being also in a national preferred 

development zone. Sarine received assistance on favourable terms from Israeli government 

Covid-19 support programmes in the form of government-sponsored loans and grants, as 

provided to eligible businesses in Israel.  

 

2020-2021 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Increase recurring revenue and profitability by honing our 

competitive edge and increasing Galaxy® penetration and 

usage in industry midstream (manufacturing).  

Ongoing 

• Increase recurring revenue and profitability by increasing 

penetration and adoption of revolutionary services — AI-

derived technology-based 4Cs grading and provenance 

tracing (Sarine Diamond JourneyTM) for the industry retail 

downstream. 

Ongoing 

 

For further information about our economic performance, please see the “Management's 

Business, Operation & Financial Review” and the “Financial Statements” sections in our 

Annual Report.  

ECONOMIC IMPACT  

The cost of rough diamonds is high and are paid for upon receipt. Yet it typically takes six to 

twelve months to sell the polished output, often on credit terms. The cost of financing this 

cycle, along with all the other complexities of the process, and the errors and accidents 

incurred along the way, drive polishers’ margins to be low. Hence, any yield increases, cost 

savings or cycle shortening benefits are critical and have significant impact on the 

manufacturers’ profits. 

As a leading developer of technologies for the diamond industry, we strive to develop and 

improve efficiency and productivity in the sector. Over the years, the Group has managed to 
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revolutionise the diamond polishing/manufacturing industry. We introduced various 

reliable, efficient, yield-increasing, cost/risk-reducing and time-saving technologies. 

The global diamond industry has adopted our innovative technologies, many of which have 

become de-facto industry standards, improving the optimally achieved yield of the polished 

stone(s) weight over time by over 25%. 

Our introduction of technology to the industry also contributed to the transition of 

manufacturing from historic diamond polishing centres in developed countries (e.g., Belgium, 

Holland, Israel and the United States) to lower cost centres (such as India, South Africa, China 

and others). Today, the diamond industry midstream is concentrated in India.  

OUR PEOPLE  

Our people are our greatest asset and are at the heart of everything we do. We believe and 

pursue continuous investment in and development of our personnel, so that they can realise 

their full potential and help the organisation achieve the highest levels of excellence. 

The nurturing of our employees is a major priority for the Group. Sarine encourages and 

promotes improvements in various fields involving our human resources including talent 

attraction and retention, work environment, equal opportunity and health and safety in the 

workplace. 

This commitment has been reflected in our Code of Ethics, which has been previously 

addressed in our ‘Business Culture’ chapter above. Additional commitments stated in the 

Code of Ethics regarding our human resources are stated as follows:  

 

 Our human resources policies protect the rights and interests of the Group’s employees, 

as dictated by all applicable laws in all the jurisdictions in which we have an established 

presence. Moreover, we go beyond statutory requirements to ensure a beneficial 

employment environment for our employees. In India, for example, the Group’s Indian 

subsidiary actively ensures that all its employees and their immediate families receive an 

annual expanded medical checkup, on the Company’s premises and at its expense, in lieu 

of working time, with a view to promote their health.  

 

 We maintain strict policies with regard to equality in the workplace, regardless of sex, 

sexual orientation, age, religion, ethnicity, disability or other personal traits or beliefs, 

including the strict and swift handling of any sexual harassment incidents, so as to provide 

a fair, safe and amicable workplace. 

 

 We actively seek to employ individuals living with various disabilities in order to promote 

equal opportunity in the workplace.  

 

 We strive to offer our employees engaging career paths, advancing them professionally 

with appropriate training.  

 

 We maintain open communication lines between all our employees and the various levels 

of management, encouraging our employees to comment on, improve, and critique the 
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Company’s activities. We have put in place a formal whistleblower policy, encouraging 

employees and business partners to report on any illegal, improper or unfair practices 

they may encounter in their dealings with the Group.  

 

 We reward our employees for their contribution to the Group’s success, either with cash 

bonuses, grants of stock options or otherwise.  

 

 The Group organises multiple annual sports and leisure activities for the employees and 

their families, to enhance the team spirit of our employees and reward them for their 

performance.  

Sarine's employees are employed under personal employment agreements. None of the 

employees are under collective bargaining agreements. The Group's employees are all hired 

with salary agreements above minimum wage compensation. All of our employees are 

remunerated and enjoy benefits according to the applicable labour laws of each jurisdiction 

in which we engage employees.  

Over 99% of our employees are employed on a full-time basis. Several employees are 

employed on a part-time basis, including university students. All significant activity of the 

Company is either conducted by or supervised by employees who are directly employed by 

the Group. 

Breakdown of employees per company: 

  
Male Female Total 

Israel 86 30 116 

India 270 16 286 

USA & Hong Kong 8 2 10 

Total 364 48 412 
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Breakdown of employee turnover by region and gender for 2020: 

  Employees Added Employees Subtracted  
Male Female Male Female 

Israel 5 5 23 14 

India 13 1 54 13 

USA & Hong Kong - - 2 2 

Total 18   6 80 28 

In 2020, due to the pandemic, Sarine was forced to place approximately 25% of our employees 

on unpaid leave. This situation was unfavorable for both the Company and the employees. 

The Company went to great lengths, as stipulated by the Board, to prevent, as much as 

possible, employee dismissals during 2020.  

 

EMPLOYEE EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 

Sarine believes in the importance of having employees from all sectors of the community. We 

believe that a diverse body of employees improves the Company's operations, products and 

capabilities to support various customers all over the world. We have set a goal to recruit 

more female employees and encourage women to join a very male-oriented industry.   

We also support the employment of individuals with various disabilities in order to promote 

equal opportunity in that regard. Sarine actively seeks to hire employees with disabilities and 

furthermore offers concessions and support to others with disabled family members, such as 

flexible working hours. 

Equal opportunity in employment is a fundamental principle in the Sarine Group. We 

maintain strict policies with regard to equality in the workplace regardless of sex, sexual 

orientation, age, religion, ethnicity, disability or other personal traits or beliefs, as well as strict 

and swift handling of any sexual harassment incidents, so as to provide a fair, safe and 

amicable workplace. All aspects of employment are based upon personal capabilities and 

qualifications without regard to gender, age, race or religion, as established by law. 

We strive to recruit our senior management from our local communities. 50% of senior key 

management in Sarin India are from local communities. These employees are fully part of the 

Company’s senior management and are vital to the Group’s success. Senior management 

relates to the key management personnel stated in the diagram in our 'Key Management' 

chapter while 'local' refers to employees whose origin is from the geographical area of the 

entity. The Group's significant locations of operations are in Israel and India.  

In a country in which only a quarter of the women participate in the workforce, and in an 

industry in which women make up only 10% of diamond technologists, Sarin India is proud 

that 25% of its senior management is female. Notably, during 2020, fully 50% of our new 

recruits in Israel were female.  

To protect employees in general, and female employees explicitly, against sexual harassment 

or the abuse of power in the workplace, Sarine has implemented a prohibition against 

harassment in the entire Group and established a Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy. 
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Furthermore, the Company conducts training on the prevention of sexual harassment for 

employees.  

No complaints or accusations were made towards any Group employee in 2020, in relation to 

sexual harassment. 

 

2020-2021 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Reduce the percentage of voluntary staff turnover. Ongoing 

• Increase the percentage of internal promotions and 

recruitments to managerial positions. 

Ongoing 

• Continue employee development with fair and competitive 

remuneration based on merit. 

Ongoing 

• Strive for higher gender diversity. Ongoing 

• Implementation of mid-level management development 

programme.  

Ongoing 

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 

We believe that investing in our people and maintaining a skilled and passionate team is key 

to sustaining our competitive advantage, and it is our goal to provide quality jobs with 

meaningful work, and a supportive and healthy working environment.  

Sarine makes significant efforts on attracting the best professionals and providing them with 

the best work environments possible, with the aim of fostering their professional 

development. The Group strives to maintain a competitive advantage by strengthening its 

most important asset – our talented people.  

Employees are sent for specialised training as needed. In December 2020, following the easing 

of Covid-19 restrictions and state-of-the-art solutions adopted by the academic community, 

the Company offered a professional gemmology course to employees interested in expanding 

their already outstanding knowledge, and three employees were sent to participate in such a 

course. 

At the beginning of 2020, we launched a managerial development workshop for mid- to 

senior- level employees in Israel. The workshop consists of six meetings, three of them held 

throughout the year in accordance with the Covid-19 guidelines and lockdowns. It is expected 

to be completed in 2021. 

Towards the end of 2020, following the initial phase of the managerial development 

workshop, a steering committee comprised of several managers was established. The purpose 

of this committee is to support cross-organisational processes and ongoing managerial 

development after completion of the initial training phase. The first activity of this committee 

in 2021 was to redefine the employee performance evaluation guidelines and process. The 

next planned action of the committee is to establish a structured organisational dialogue in a 
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process referred to as a “walk2talk”. The idea is that once every few weeks managers will pair 

up to consult, share knowledge and discuss challenges they face in their daily work.   

Throughout the year, Sarine offered online training to help employees transition to working 

remotely from home and to help adjust to an appropriate work life in the midst of social 

distancing. This included tutorials on how to use our online meeting and knowledge sharing 

platforms.  

We maintain open communication lines between all our employees and the various levels of 

management, encouraging our employees to comment on, improve and critique the Group’s 

activities. Sarine holds various types of functions in order to encourage open communication, 

including ongoing personal meetings of employees with the CEO throughout the year, 

departmental meetings, monthly company-wide gatherings for various occasions and a 

general open-door approach to management of all levels.  

In January 2020 we began the process of identifying outstanding employees through 

employee surveys. Eight employees were selected— six were chosen by their department 

peers, one by management, and another exclusively by the CEO. These employees were 

recognised in a ceremony, resulting in improved morale and motivation. 

REWARDS AND BENEFITS  

Sarine considers issues of employee remuneration and benefits cardinal. We take into account 

various considerations to calculate employee compensation and benefits, such as 

qualifications and relevant work experience, the performance of the employee, the relative 

value of each individual's position to the Company, as well as comparatives to parallel 

positions and in the competitive work marketplace.   

The Company reviews compensation and benefits programmes regularly to ensure that we 

are on par with the market. The Company believes in providing targeted incentives and 

rewards to employees that are consistent with their performance and contribution to business 

results.  

We have continuously granted share options to our employees. The Board of Directors has set 

guidelines concerning, among other things, eligibility to receive share options (based on 

performance and time of service with the Company), vesting periods (typically over three to 

four years from the date of grant) and the minimum and maximum amounts of share options 

to be granted (based on seniority and expertise). Executive Directors, senior officers and key 

employees are also granted performance-based options, to be vested over multiple years, 

based upon the achievement of business goals – as discussed in greater detail in the 

Company’s Remuneration Policy appended to the Annual Report for 2020. 

Sarine complies with relevant pension laws by contributing to its employees' pension funds, 

as required under applicable law and country practice. 

Further details with regard to employee share options granted by the Company are included 

in the “Directors Report” section of the Annual Report. Sarine employee benefit plans and 

pensions are reported in the 2020 Annual Report section "Financial Statements", Note 20. 



 

34 | P a g e 

WELFARE AND WELL-BEING  

Sarine places great importance on occupational health and safety in the workplace and is 

committed to the safety of all employees at every site. In March 2020, due to the outbreak of 

Covid-19, all employees that were not essential for on-site processes began working and 

holding meetings remotely from home. This resulted in approximately 30% physical 

attendance at our Israeli sites. We developed best practices for working remotely from home 

based on various factors including input derived from roundtable discussions between 

employees and members of management.  

We conduct various programmes to foster and achieve work-life harmony for our employees. 

A team of committed, productive and motivated employees facilitates and supports our 

corporate vision, mission, values and culture.  

Our human resources policies protect the rights and interests of the Group’s employees as 

required by applicable laws and regulations, and often exceeds them. 

In March 2020, we performed an organisational survey in Israel with an 84% response rate. 

The results identified both the Group’s strengths and areas that needed improvement. The 

survey exhibited our employees’ overall satisfaction with the Group’s involvement in the 

community and its environmental responsibility, the team’s commitment to professionalism 

and cooperation, and the presence of a good working environment. 80% of our employees 

stated they are proud of being Sarine employees, and 84% stated they are satisfied with the 

positioning of our brand in the market.  

The main issues identified by the survey to be addressed are the need to: (i) increase 

cooperation between departments; (ii) work according to clear-cut targets and goals; (iii) 

improve cross-organisational communications and transparency; (iv) provide more 

opportunities for professional development; and (v) enhance employee retention and 

recognition.  The survey also showed that, compared to other companies from various sectors 

that performed similar surveys, Sarine scored higher than average in all categories - i.e., 

employees are proud to be part of the Group and would recommend working for the Group. 

The main results of the survey were broadly shared with employees, and during 2020 

management began to introduce certain policy changes in line with its findings with the goal 

to increase employee satisfaction and provide a more productive and effective working 

environment. 

Further information of our efforts can be found under the “Employee Development” section 

in this report. 

Due to the pandemic, our employee well-being programmes were adjusted to conform with 

social distancing and lockdown mandates. To help meet the challenges that arose as a result, 

we offered a number of online activities and lectures designed as a social outlet and to keep 

employees connected, and to provide updates, advice and moral support. These included: 

• A list of suggested activities for parents and children during lockdowns. 

• An online lecture with a psychotherapist and parental counselor offering hands-on 

advice on how to cope with the challenges of Covid-19 while combining working from 
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home and family commitments, including interacting with children during education 

system shutdowns.  

• An online video-chat party event featuring a DJ. 

• An exercise competition between groups of employees during lockdown – the Steps 

Challenge was a prize-winning competition in which groups of employees strived to 

reach a record amount of steps during the period of the challenge. 

• Happy hour food truck for an interactive lunch break at the Israeli site – in accordance 

with the Covid-19 restrictions. 

• A lecture on the development of and importance of Covid-19 vaccinations.  

• Periodic updates by management to employees regarding the effects of Covid-19 

specifically on the business and on the diamond industry at large. 

• An uplifting comics campaign for social media – see below.  

 

Our Comic Relief  

During 2020 we issued a series of short images of how, and what, our trusty gems were doing 

during lockdowns. The featured gems playfully presented what the general population was 

experiencing – acquiring new skills, spending time with family, and adjusting to the “new 

normal” in light of Covid-19.  
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MEDICAL CARE AND COVERAGE 

Sarine provides a number of medical insurance options such as supplemental private 

insurance for employees and their families in Israel (national medical coverage is universal), 

and medical insurance for employees in North America. Sarin India contributes towards 

health related accident insurance premiums for non-management employees (approximately 

90% of employees). During 2020, Sarine continued to provide ongoing medical coverage for 

all furloughed employees. 

 

WORKING MOTHERS 

Sarine complies with all applicable legal mandates regarding maternity and parental leave as 

per country of operation. In 2020, five Sarine Group employees took maternity leave. As part 

of our policy and recognition of the importance for work-life balance, we allow, as far as 

possible, flexibile hours and working conditions to enable working mothers to take an active 

role in Company activities. 
 

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY  

Sarine appreciates the importance of giving back to the local communities in which it operates. 

Key management and numerous employees regularly participate in social activity and 

community actions. Our efforts and participation in local and national programmes support 

the disadvantaged and less privileged segments of our society. 

Due to the Covid-19 crisis, we revised some of our planned activities for 2020, and contributed 

to the rapidly growing needs for food parcels and hygienic masks. Our main activities in 2020 

included: 

o Contribution to the safety of our customers, colleagues, partners and employees in 

Hong Kong by providing thousands of protective hygienic masks. 

o Along with our local partners, we were able to distribute over 9,000 kilograms of food 

parcels in three areas in Namibia, helping roughly 200 families and households. 

o Food distribution also took place in Surat, India where we have a significant presence. 

Our local workers, along with Sarine's key management, distributed 500 food parcels 

over two days, to help the local population affected by the pandemic. 

o Our e-training programme was published on social media. The programme offered 

training by our team, for free, which assisted our customers in their day-to-day tasks. 

o Cooperation with the Amal Sharonim High School in Israel to establish a programme 

consisting of lectures and workshops intended to promote active and proactive social 

involvement among the students.  

o Projects for the Mental Health Centre in Safed (the “Clinic”), especially for the 

children's wards, have included over the years the creation of three extensive gardens 

and the renovation of two clinics. During 2020, we built large outdoor tables and 

benches for the children attending the Clinic’s schooling programmes in order to 

provide additional study areas allowing for easier social distancing. Furthermore, one 

of our employees met with one of the children at the Clinic on a weekly basis teaching 

him light carpentry and furniture painting and restoration. 
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To demonstrate our commitment to these additional functions, the Company permits all staff 

to participate in these activities during working hours in order to highlight the importance of 

employee participation. 

In India, our most significant market, Sarin India has an active Corporate Social Responsibility 

(CSR) Committee with 10 members, which has adopted and implemented an active CSR 

policy. The CSR Committee actively focuses on different areas that ultimately help students 

get a better education. 

In 2020 we continued our ongoing programme in the Lalita Chokadi and Katargam localities 

in Surat, India’s diamond manufacturing centre, where we have ‘adopted’ two government 

primary schools serving over 3,950 children. Over the past year, Sarin India paid the salaries 

of two teachers in the field of Information Technology (IT) and of two cleaning staff.  

Further details may be found in the "Corporate Social Responsibility" section of the 2020 

Annual Report. 

 

MARKETPLACE AND CUSTOMERS  

Sarine is attentive to the needs of its customers. We manage this commitment through our 

operations and sales departments, which address the ongoing challenges of today’s diamond 

industry. 

As the market evolves, whether due to social, environmental or geopolitical developments, or 

technological advances, we continue to search for ways to expand our product offerings and 

services to new and existing global markets. In 2020, this was also demonstrated by the 

following: 

• Shortly after the signing of the peace and normalisation agreements between Israel and 

the United Arab Emirates, Sarine collaborated in the opening of a Galaxy® service centre 

in Dubai, a leading centre for commerce, design and polished aesthetics. Dubai is a hub 

for trading in rough diamonds and is a key player in the market of polished diamonds.  

• Sarine expanded the Sarine Diamond Journey™ solution to diamonds sourced from 

Alrosa and Lucara. This provides global retailers end-to-end traceability from mine to 

consumer, documenting the sustainable supply chain throughout the process from rough 

to polish for Alrosa/Lucara-sourced diamonds, however traded and polished by multiple 

midstream entities. 

• Sarine launched a co-branded light performance report with the National Gemstone 

Testing Centre (NGTC) of China, China’s largest gemmological Lab, for Yuanuymei 

Jewelry (Y & M), a leading Chinese jewellery designer, manufacturer and wholesaler.  
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PRODUCT AND PROCESS INNOVATION 

We believe that product development and innovative processes are essential for Sarine to 

continue to lead the industry in technological breakthroughs and creating new opportunities 

for the industry throughout the diamond value chain. 

In 2020, Sarine’s research and development teams continued to innovate, develop and 

introduce new products despite the difficulties stemming from the pandemic. These teams 

are continuously turning to Artificial Intelligence and other solutions for new and improved 

innovations in the field. 

In the “Upstream” we assist diamond mining companies, also termed "producers", to evaluate 

their rough stones. The Group’s relationships with producers grew throughout 2020 with the 

expansion of digital tenders. Alrosa, the Russian producer, which is the largest miner of 

diamonds worldwide in carat terms, Lucara, a Canadian-based producer operating in 

Botswana, and Grib, a smaller Russian producer, have adopted Sarine’s technologies for 

certain categories of rough diamond production, and have offered diamonds for sale via 

digital tenders or other focused sale paradigms. 

In 2020, we expanded the Sarine Diamond Journey™ solution to diamonds sourced from 

Alrosa. This provides global retailers end-to-end traceability from mine to consumer, 

documenting the sustainable supply chain throughout the process from rough to polish for 

Alrosa sourced diamonds. We also broadened, in 2020, our cooperation with Clara Diamond 

Solutions Corporation (“Clara”), a subsidiary of Lucara Diamond Corp., to extend provenance 

traceability to Clara’s diamonds through the Sarine Diamond Journey™. Sarine expects to 

expand its cooperation with additional producers. 

The Group has an extensive industry-leading presence in the diamond industry's midstream, 

wherein the critical transition from rough to polished stone occurs. In 2020 just under 19 

million stones were scanned for inclusion mapping using our installed base of Galaxy® 

systems, and again, close to 100 million rough stones were planned using our pervasive 

installed base (over 25,000 systems) of the DiaExpert® planning platforms. Of these, over 60 

million stones were planned using our online Advisor® cloud-based software which, 

optionally, records the actual planning stages for the Sarine Diamond Journey™. 

Sarine’s Diamond Journey™ provides today’s ethically- and sustainability-minded 

consumers and retailers with full transparency of their natural diamond’s amazing odyssey 

from mine to store. Thanks to Sarine’s advanced technologies, diamond consumers can view 

a verifiable report that traces their diamond’s unique journey from its rough form all the way 

through the diamond manufacturing chain, to its final destination in the jewellery showroom 

or online store – so they can make their precious purchase with unprecedented peace of mind.  

Sarine is implementing new technologies to develop solutions to provide even better and 

more accurate diamond information. The e-Grading process is all about digitising and making 

the diamond experience more efficient by providing objective and consistent grading at a 

fraction of the time and cost currently required. The 4Cs grading results will be derived 

without any human intervention and will be immediately made available for online B2B 

access and subsequent B2C consumer report generation. Our aim is to assist the manufacturer 
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to grade its output in a flexible and reliable manner in-house, without the inefficient, time 

consuming and costly process of sending diamonds offsite to a third-party grading facility.  

Further details with regard to Sarine's products and innovation processes can be found in the 

“Management's Business, Operation & Financial Review” section of the Annual Report.  

 

2020 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Continue with the process of conducting a Hackathon week 

in which the R&D team divides into groups to present a proof 

of concept/prototype of a new innovation. 

Sarine has re-evaluated 

the effectiveness of this 

activity and it has been 

discontinued. 

 

Targets and Goals for 2021 

• To finalise and launch our AI-driven cloud linked e-Grading™ initiative that will provide 

a time-saving cost cutting in-house automated solution for the 4Cs grading of polished 

diamonds. 

• Continue to upgrade and strengthen the cyber-security of our products. 

 

CREATING SHARED VALUE WITH CUSTOMERS 

A long-term approach to business has always been part of Sarine’s DNA. The Company’s 

long-term success will be ensured by our creating value for both our shareholders and the 

industry as a whole. This approach, called Creating Shared Value (CSV), remains a 

fundamental guiding principle on how we do business by creating new shared value for our 

customers. It enables us to strive for customer satisfaction and to remain a leading innovative 

and sustainable force in our industry. Sarine’s innovative solutions provide customers with 

the safety and peace of mind that comes with highly reliable products. 

Our technology enables the better use of raw materials, efficient production and increased 

output from a rough diamond. This also contributes to reducing environmental damage 

through proper utilisation of natural resources and minimising energy use. Furthermore, 

using our technology in third world countries, such as the southern African countries and 

India, adds to the economic development of diverse communities by contributing to increased 

employment and to the overall betterment of employees' conditions. 

PRODUCT STEWARDSHIP AND LIFECYCLE 

We adhere to high standards to ensure proper safety and usage of our products. This includes 

properly marking any relevant potentially hazardous elements, such as lasers, and ensure that 

all our customers receive proper guidance and training regarding the operation of the 

systems. We consider the safety of our products from their research and development through 

production and customer installation. We work continuously to ensure that our products are 

safe for people and the environment when they are used responsibly and in the manner 

intended. 
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Sarine's products are marked to show the Company’s compliance with the European Union 

directive WEEE. The WEEE directive applies to recycling products and components and 

provides that no electrical or electronic equipment may be discarded into a city’s normal waste 

disposal system. Sarine accepts requests for assistance from end users on the proper and safe 

disposal of any of our products or their components or consumable materials. Further to our 

on-site training and detailed user manuals, customers are encouraged to request help from 

Company technicians and support teams with discarding products.  

During 2020, Sarine produced a new protocol for customer safety. Any machine sold as of 

2020 is provided with a protocol that contains safety instructions for operation of the machine. 

The safety protocols are in conformity with Sarine’s technical guidelines and instructions, and 

are complementary with our online support. 

All Sarine products meet European CE standards, and our initiatives go beyond legal 

requirements as we monitor the compliance to guidelines and standards through regular 

audits and check-ups. Sarine’s technical and safety support was available during 2020 

notwithstanding the challenges caused by the pandemic.  

Sarine did not have any incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a fine, 

penalty or warning in 2020.  

CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY  

Sarine continually seeks to enhance products by incorporating cutting-edge technologies and 

educating employees and customers about quality and safety. This proved to be a challenge 

during the pandemic, which the Group overcame through expanded remote communications 

between our teams and customers, which enabled customers to seamlessly continue their 

operations. Sarine supports laser safety training for all customer employees who work on or 

around any of our laser systems. Our machines have built-in safety mechanisms, which halt 

laser operation when the sensors detect a problem. Sarine-trained engineers are instructed to 

comply with all applicable safety requirements regarding the use of laser devices. None of our 

machines were reported to have any discharge of Rutherfordium (RF) radiation in their usage 

in 2020.  

The Group follows health and safety requirements at all its locations of operations, including 

the provision of employee updates and training on Covid-19 related safety issues. It has also 

installed plastic partitions at its visitor reception areas at all of its sites.  

There were no reported injuries to any of the Group’s customers, clients or suppliers as a result 

of using our products and no legal actions or complaints were made in this regard in 2020.  
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2020-2021 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Ensuring that every installation encompasses 

maintenance and safety procedure training for 

customers.  

Completed 

• Completion of a safety management plan in 

accordance with the requirements and regulations 

in Israel. 

Completed 

• Conduct a safety risk survey. Completed 

• Equip relevant employees with advanced 

protective equipment. 
Completed 

• Maintain the goal of zero casualties. Completed for 2020 

Ongoing for 2021 

• Zero substantial findings in 2020 by the internal 

auditor on safety issues. 

Completed for 2020 

Ongoing for 2021 

• Successfully pass external surveys on environment 

protection, equipment safety assessments, etc.  

Partially completed and ongoing- 

completed for Galaxy® machines; 

ongoing for legacy machines. 

The radiation audit at our Israeli 

facility was passed. 

 

Targets and Goals for 2021 

• Provide a digitised and convenient method for communication with customers. 

• Make on-site visits at our suppliers' facilities for health and safety inspections and 

surveys. 

CUSTOMER PRIVACY  

Sarine takes the necessary precautions to protect all types of customers' information.  

The Company established a policy for the proper use of Company systems including privacy 

issues and rules for the protection of information privacy. In accordance with this policy, the 

Company established a system for protecting personal information and properly manages the 

personal information in our possession that includes procedures in the event a security breach 

takes place. 

Sarine successfully implemented the principles of the General Data Protection Regulation 

("GDPR") standard during the years 2018-2019. The GDPR implementation process was 

completed in 2019 and refined in 2020, including the review and updating of Company 

standards, procedures and policies in this matter, and an audit process was conducted in 

order to comply with the GDPR. 
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As mentioned above, during 2020 Sarine initiated a process re-examining and updating the 

Company’s policies according to the latest legislation and regulatory requirements.  

Policies examined in 2020 to be updated in 2021: 

— Our Code of Ethics was updated during 2020 and will be approved in 2021, to support our 

conducting our business ethically. 

— Our Cookies Policy was reviewed in 2020 and is being updated to better accommodate 

revised regulatory developments and Sarine’s data privacy guidelines  

— Our Privacy Policy was reviewed in 2020 and is being updated to better comply with 

global developments. 

In 2020, there were a number of phishing and cyber hacking attempts, but no information was 

compromised or harm done.  

 

2020 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• To conduct an internal audit of Sarine’s GDPR compliance. Completed 

Targets and Goals for 2021  

• Complete update of Sarine’s policies and procedures in accordance with evolving 

regulations on an ongoing basis. 

RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN  

Sarine is committed to being a responsible and innovative leader in the diamond industry. 

Our strategy is also underpinned by embracing responsible business practices across our 

operations and supply chain. Our entire supply chain consists of over 700 active suppliers 

with the majority of our operations and business conducted with about 50 of them. In 2020 we 

successfully maintained open communications with our suppliers throughout our supply 

chain. 

At the beginning of 2020, some of our key suppliers were evaluated as part of our annual 

review and they were offered an opportunity to provide feedback based on our evaluation. 

We plan to continue such evaluations during 2021. These evaluations assist us in maintaining 

fruitful and productive relations with our key suppliers. Our new “Know Your Supplier” 

questionnaires enables us to better familiarise ourselves with a supplier’s activities, and in 

addition, by requesting suppliers to commit to all necessary regulatory requirements, it 

ensures that all products provided to us are of the required standards.  

Beyond that, we promote and foster relationships with suppliers who promote shared 

environmental and social values, such as employment of workers with disabilities. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Sarine aims to be a responsible company that has little or no material negative impact on the 

environment by complying with industry-wide standards. We conduct our day-to-day 

business with a clear commitment to fully comply with corporate and industry standards, 

applicable laws, regulations and best practice.  

We believe our business does not significantly impact the ecological balance of our 

environment and does not have any material influence on the sustainability of the industry or 

the human/natural fabric in which we operate.  

Our sustainability initiatives establish an environmental plan that includes recycling and 

'green' initiatives, including: 

• Energy saving - automatic shutdown of air conditioning and lighting 

• Using recycled paper 

• Encouraging two-sided printing  

• Battery recycling  

In previous years we promoted the use of multiple-use kitchen utensils in Israel. Due to 

Covid-19 requirements and our efforts to safeguard our employees’ health, we have 

temporarily suspended our activities in this regard. 

We are pleased to report on a reduction in our environmental metrics. This includes a decrease 

in energy used, fuel usage and CO2 emissions as a result.  

 

2020-2021 Targets and Goals Status 

Target/Goal Status 

• Where possible, utilise recycled paper Partially implemented. 

Ongoing for 2021 

• Where possible, transition to multi-use kitchenware Paused due to Covid-19 

Ongoing for 2021 

ENERGY  

As part of our efforts to improve our performance and measure our environmental impact, 

we measure energy consumed in performing our activities and are pleased to report that for 

2020 we have lowered our energy consumption. This was achieved due to both our efforts to 

minimise energy consumption, and the impacts of the global pandemic on our operational 

activities. 

The Group’s electricity consumption in most of its facilities in 2020 was lowered by 

approximately 18-25%, mostly due to employees working from home. The consumption was 

approximately 1,600 MWh, comparatively 410 MWh lower than in 2019 and an overall 20% 

reduction in consumption. This includes all Sarine facilities in Israel, India and the US. Sarine 

did not sell any energy during 2020.  
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The Group’s total fuel consumption during 2020 was lowered due to lockdowns and reduced 

driving for business requirements, as can be seen below. This amounted to 50,035 litres, of 

which 99% were petrol and 1% was diesel fuel. The fuel consumption includes company-

issued employee cars and company cars in Israel and India. The Group has neither company 

cars nor participates in employees' car expenses in other locations. 

 

 

 
 

  

 

CARBON FOOTPRINT  

Sarine is glad to report on an overall 22% reduction in CO2 emissions as a result of the reduced 

consumption of energy elaborated above, due to the reduction of operations under the Covid-

19 pandemic.   

Our Scope 1 emissions consist of transportation fuels only, including petrol and diesel, where 

the data is gathered from the Company cars’ transport records. 

The Group's Scope 2 emissions include electricity consumption within facilities and 

operations of the Group. 
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Source Company total 

20181 ton CO2 

equivalent 

emissions 

Company total  

2019 ton CO2 

equivalent 

emissions 

Company total  

2020 ton CO2 

equivalent 

emissions 

Change % 

2019>2020 

Scope 1: Direct 

emissions 

    

Transportation fuels 188.03 173.04 108.71 -37.2% 

Scope 2: Indirect 

emissions 

    

Electricity consumption 1,673.89 1,585.2 1,257.53 -20.7% 

Total emissions (scope 

1 & 2) 

1,861.92 1,759.18 1,366.23 -22.3% 

Source used for data unit conversion: 

• Israeli Ministry of Environmental Protection- Israel emissions.  

• US Environmental Protection Agency- US emissions. 

• GHG Inventory report for Electricity generation and consumption in India- India emissions. 

• DEFRA conversion factors for fuels- Transportation fuels.  

                                                                 

1 2018 data has been updated due to changes in conversion factors. 
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GRI INDEX 

GRI Standard Disclosure  Page  Omission  

GRI 101: Foundation 

General Disclosures: Organisational Profile 

GRI 102:  

General Disclosures  

102-1 Name of the organisation 5  

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services 5, 19-20  

102-3 Location of headquarters 7  

102-4 Location of operations 7, 16-17  

102-5 Ownership and legal form 7-8  

102-6 Markets served 7, 16-17  

102-7 Scale of the organisation 16-17  

102-8 Information on employees and other 

workers 

17, 29-31 Employee data 

from 2019 have 

been updated in 

light of re-

examination of 

previous data. 

102-9 Supply chain 42  

102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and 

its supply chain 

5, 16, 42  

102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach 21, 24-25  

102-12 External initiatives 24  

102-13 Membership of associations 24  

General Disclosures: Strategy 

GRI 102:  

General Disclosures  

102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker 4  

General Disclosures: Ethics and Integrity 

GRI 102:  

General Disclosures  

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of 

behaviour 

9, 18, 23-24  

General Disclosures: Governance 

GRI 102:  

General Disclosures  

102-18 Governance structure 16, 20-23  

102-30 Effectiveness of risk management processes 21-23  

General Disclosures: Stakeholder Engagement 

GRI 102:  

General Disclosures  

102-40 List of stakeholder groups 14  

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements 30  

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 13-14  

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 13-14  

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 12-14  

General Disclosures: Reporting Practice 

GRI 102:  

General Disclosures  

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial 

statements 

7  

102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries 10-13  

102-47 List of material topics 12  

102-48 Restatements of information None 2018 emission 

data has been 

updated due to 

changes in 

conversion 

factors 

102-49 Changes in reporting None  

102-50 Reporting period 5  

102-51 Date of most recent report 5  

102-52 Reporting cycle 5  

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the 

report 

5  

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the 

GRI Standards 

5  

102-55 GRI content index 46-48  

102-56 External assurance None   

 



 

47 | P a g e 

Material Topics 

GRI 103: 

Management 

Approach 

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 

boundary 

28-29  

103-2 The management approach and its 

components 

28-29  

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 28-29  

GRI 201: 

Economic 

Performance 2016 

201-1 Direct economic value generated and 

distributed 

16-17, 28-29  

201-3 Defined benefit plan obligations and other 

retirement plans 

33  

201-4 Financial assistance received from 

government 

28  

GRI 202: 

Market Presence 

2016 

202-1 Ratios of standard entry level wage by 

gender compared to local minimum wage 

30  

202-2 Proportion of senior management hired from 

the local community 

8  

GRI 203: 

Indirect Economic 

Impact 2016 

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts 28-29  

GRI 103: 

Management 

Approach 

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 

boundary 

24-25  

103-2 The management approach and its 

components 

24-25  

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 24-25  

GRI 205: 

Anti-Corruption 2016 

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to 

corruption 

21, 24-25  

205-2 Communication and training about anti-

corruption policies and procedures 

24-25  

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and 

actions taken 

24-25  

GRI 206: 

Anti-Competitive 

Behaviour 2016 

206-1 Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, 

anti-trust, and monopoly practices 

25-26  

GRI 103: 

Management 

Approach 

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 

boundary 

43  

103-2 The management approach and its 

components 

43  

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 43  

GRI 302: 

Energy 2016 

302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation 43-44  

GRI 305: 

Emissions 2016 

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 44-45  

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 44-45  

GRI 103: 

Management 

Approach 

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 

boundary 

29-30  

103-2 The management approach and its 

components 

29-30  

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 29-30  

GRI 401: 

Employment 2016 

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover 31  

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees 

that are not provided to temporary or part-

time employees 

33-36  

401-3 Parental leave 36  

GRI 413: 

Local Communities 

2016 

413-1 Operations with local community 

engagement, impact assessments, and 

development programmes 

36-37  

GRI 103: 

Management 

Approach 

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 

boundary 

39-40  

103-2 The management approach and its 

components 

39-40  

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 39-40  
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GRI 416:  

Customer Health and 

Safety 2016 

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts 

of product and service categories 

40-41  

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the 

health and safety impacts of products and 

services 

40-41  

GRI 417: 

Marketing and 

Labelling 2016 

417-1 Requirements for product and service 

information and labelling 

40-41  

GRI 103: 

Management 

Approach 

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 

boundary 

41-42  

103-2 The management approach and its 

components 

41-42  

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 41-42  

GRI 418: 

Customer Privacy 

2016 

418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning 

breaches of customer privacy and losses of 

customer data 

42  

 

 

 



Sarine Technologies Ltd ("Sarine") 
(Israel Registration No. 51 1332207) 

 

 

SARINE'S ACTIVITIES ARE NOT AFFECTED BY CURRENT CONFLICT 

 

 

In response to various queries made by Sarine's customers, investors and friends in 

India, Singapore and elsewhere, Sarine would like to clarify that the Sarine Group's 

business activities throughout Israel have not been affected by the recent rocket attacks 

into Israel or by the sporadic domestic unrest. 

 

Sarine would like to take this opportunity to thank its customers, investors and friends 

for their genuine interest and support during these times. 

 

 
Amir Jacob Zolty 

Company Secretary 

 

21 May 2021 
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ELEASE                       FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 

 

Sarine Technologies and Constell Group Announce 

Strategic Collaboration 
 

Will provide diamond pipeline best-in-class technology-based services  
  
Hod Hasharon (Israel), 25 May 2021 – Singapore Exchange Mainboard listed Sarine 

Technologies Ltd (“Sarine” and along with its subsidiaries “the Group”) (U77:SI), a worldwide 

leader in the development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of precision technology products for 

the evaluation, planning, processing, measurement, grading and trading of diamonds and gems, is 

pleased to announce it has entered a strategic collaboration agreement with the Constell Group.   

 

The Constell Group has operations in India and Southern Africa, employing more than 4,000 people 

worldwide. Constell focuses on serving the entire diamond industry, primarily focused on aiding the 

midstream seamlessly transform raw materials to desirable finished gems in the most cost-effective 

way, realising the best possible value for their clients. Constell offers a broad range of services 

including sorting of rough stones, polishing and other logistical services. 

 

Constell’s strategy is to utilise the most advanced technologies available in order to provide first 

rate services to the market. This strategy has naturally led  to past cooperation between Constell 

and Sarine, cooperation which has benefitted both parties for many years. The parties have now 

decided to proceed to the next level by establishing this strategic cooperation, which will initially 

focus on the rapidly growing segment of lab grown diamonds (LGD). The aim of the joint effort is to 

forge a closer cooperation that will quickly and efficiently provide technological solutions for the 

current and evolving needs of the rapidly expanding LGD segment. The cooperation will allow 

customers to benefit from more competitive pricing. The business model will remunerate Sarine 

based on each stone processed, regardless of the specific technologies applied in the processing. 

 

Meir Boukris, Executive Chairman of Constell, said: “Sarine’s technological leadership combined 

with our diamond expertise and experience in many varied fields will enable our customers to 

benefit from a premium service at a beneficial price. We believe that the application of Sarine's 

advanced technological solutions to many of the currently manual processes will increase the 

realised value significantly, and we are fully commited to bringing this evolution to the burgeoning 

LGD market.”  
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David Block, CEO of Sarine Technologies, commented: "Having worked together for many years, 

we are honored to collborate with Constell, which shares our vision for the diamond industry value 

chain.The rough-to-polished pipeline is rapidly changing, and to adapt to market developments 

significant technological developments are needed, which we have been and continue to 

passionately develop. In addition to our innovations directly contributing to the optimisation and 

streamlining of the polishing process, we see significant added-value in our groundbreaking 

Traceability and e-Grading solutions, which can be applied to LGD equally as to natural diamonds, 

to ensure a verifiably sustainable supply of diamonds to a rapidly changing consumer environment.” 

 

About Sarine Technologies: 

Established in 1988, Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and 

manufacturing of advanced modeling, analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, grading 

and trading systems for diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of inclusion and 

tension mapping systems, rough diamond planning and optimisation technologies, laser cutting 

and shaping tools, laser-marking, inscription and fingerprinting equipment, automated (AI-derived) 

Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, visualisation and 

retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern manufacturing 

plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are essential aids for 

diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. For more information about Sarine and its products and 

services, visit http://www.sarine.com. 

 

Contact: 

APAC IR 
Cyrus Capital Consulting 
Mr. Lee Teong Sang 
Tel:+65-96339035 
teongsang@cyrus.com.sg  

North America IR 
MS-IR LLC 
Ms. Miri Scharia-Segal 
Tel: +1-917-607-8654 
msegal@ms-ir.com 

 

Sarine Technologies Ltd. 
Marketing & 
Communications 
Ms. Romy Gakh-Baram 
Tel:+972-9-7903500 
romy.gakh-
baram@sarine.com 

 

http://www.sarine.com/
http://www.sarine.com/
mailto:teongsang@cyrus.com.sg
mailto:msegal@ms-ir.com


























4 Haharash St., Neve Neeman 

Hod Hasharon, Israel 4524075 

Tel. +972-9-7903500 

www.sarine.com 

 

 

ELEASE                       FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 

 

Grib Diamonds Adopts The Sarine Diamond Journey™ 

Traceability Program 

 
Offering rough diamonds' birth registration at source 

 
  
Hod Hasharon (Israel), 2 June 2021 – Singapore Exchange Mainboard listed Sarine 

Technologies Ltd (“Sarine” and along with its subsidiaries “the Group”) (U77:SI), a worldwide 

leader in the development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of precision technology products 

for the evaluation, planning, processing, measurement, grading and trading of diamonds and 

gems, is pleased to announce that Grib Diamonds, a Belgian rough diamond company owned by 

AGD Diamonds with mining operations in Russia, is joining the Sarine Diamond Journey™ 

traceability program and will offer customers stones with "birth-registrations" authenticating their 

origin.   

 

Grib Diamonds is an independent privately-owned company that has been selling rough 

diamonds in Antwerp since 2014. The stones sold are from the Grib diamond pipe operated by 

AGD Diamonds, located in the northwestern part of Russia, approximately 130 km from the 

regional capital of Arkhangelsk. It is one of the largest diamond mines developed over the past 10 

years. The pipe's development phase was initiated in 2008 and diamond production commenced 

in 2014. The mine currently has an estimated reserve of 60 million carats. 

Grib sell their stones through an efficient online auction system also utilising Sarine's 

technologies. By providing their customers with comprehensive data pertaining to the quality of 

the offered assortments, Grib achieves a high level of transparency relating to the auctioned 

goods. For the higher value stones, Grib provides an external modelling created by Sarine's 

DiaExpert® system,  an internal inclusion map created by the Galaxy® system and a Sarine 

Advisor® planning file allowing potential buyers to assess possible optimal polishing solutions. 

Grib will now augment these data with another layer of valuable information- the registration of the 

diamond's origin and other pertinent information, as derived at source. This will enable their 

midstream manufacturing customers to provide their downstream retail clients with fully 

documented traceable diamonds from the mine and throughout the polishing process.  
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Igor Prokhorenko, Managing Director of Grib said: “We are continuously searching for ways to 

provide our customers with additional value. The consumer demand for sustainably sourced 

traceable diamonds is increasing rapidly, and we believe that the transperancy provided by 

technology-based tracking is the best solution to respond to this challenge and enable our 

industry to continue prospering. The Sarine Diamond Journey™ solution is the optimal tool to 

achieve this aim, due to its extensive scope of data, its factual accuracy and that it is derived from 

typically deployed systems with no need to acquire additional capital equipment and implement 

process changes, which means minimal operational effort and cost. In addition we plan to 

implement some of Sarine's technologies into our existing internal traceability efforts at the mine.” 

  

David Block, CEO of Sarine Technologies, commented: ”It is an honor to have Grib/AGD 

Diamonds join the growing list of producers that have adopted the Sarine Diamond Journey™ 

solution. Grib Diamonds is proving once again that their commitment to transperancy and to their 

customers is their first priority. Expanding the list of rough producers implementing our traceablity 

paradigm at source is important as it is the enabling prerequisite to facilitate the growing number 

of retailers complying with consumer demand for verifiable traceability information. I expect the 

Grib brand, empowered by their core values of transperancy, fairness and responsability, will be 

further enhanced by its thus gaining exposure and recognition by the downstream segment of the 

industry and the consumer market. I am certain that other significant producers will also soon be 

embracing the Sarine Diamond Journey™, which will similarly benefit their brand, as well as the 

entire diamond pipeline.” 

 

About Sarine Technologies: 

Established in 1988, Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and 

manufacturing of advanced modeling, analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, 

grading and trading systems for diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of 

inclusion and tension mapping systems, rough diamond planning and optimisation technologies, 

laser cutting and shaping tools, laser-marking, inscription and fingerprinting equipment, 

automated (AI-derived) Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, 

visualisation and retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern 

manufacturing plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are 

essential aids for diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. For more information about Sarine 

and its products and services, visit http://www.sarine.com. 

 
Contact: 

APAC IR 
Cyrus Capital Consulting 
Mr. Lee Teong Sang 
Tel:+65-96339035 
teongsang@cyrus.com.sg  

North America IR 
MS-IR LLC 
Ms. Miri Scharia-Segal 
Tel: +1-917-607-8654 
msegal@ms-ir.com 

 

Sarine Technologies Ltd. 
Marketing & Communications 
Ms. Romy Gakh-Baram 
Tel:+972-9-7903500 
romy.gakh-
baram@sarine.com 
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 

Further Update on Effects of Indian Covid-19 on Group  

 

 

Hod Hasharon (Israel), 16 June 2021 - Singapore Exchange Mainboard listed Sarine 

Technologies Ltd (“Sarine” and along with its subsidiaries “the Group”) (U77:SI), a worldwide 

leader in the development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of precision technology products 

and services for the evaluation, planning, processing, measurement, grading and trading of 

diamonds and gems, wishes to update its investing public on developments pertaining to the 

Covid-19 pandemic in India.  

 

Further to our announcement of 29 April 2021, we would like to update that the Covid-19 

pandemic in India is seemingly past its most acute outbreak. The lockdown that had been in effect 

in Mumbai as of our previous announcement, from which the diamond bourse had mostly been 

exempted, has been lifted. Restrictions, which have been put in place in lieu of said lockdown, 

have and have had no material effect on our operations there. As for Surat, where the diamond 

cutting and polishing activities and hence our major site of operations are located, most 

restrictions, beyond social distancing and wearing masks, have been lifted. Most manufacturers' 

operations are running at capacities approaching normal levels. Furthermore, due to the 

uncertainty existing as of the date of our previous update, and the concern of possible pending 

government-mandated lockdowns, the seasonal May summer vacation shutdown in India, which 

typically lasts 2-3 weeks, was, in fact, cancelled by many of the midstream entities, thus allowing 

near continuous work throughout May and June.  
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The situation in India is still dynamic. However, consumer demand for diamond jewellery remains 

robust in all major markets, including the U.S., China, other APAC countries, etc. (US jewellery 

sales in May were reportedly 30% higher than those in May 2019), and hence the demand for 

polished diamonds remains strong, with an uptick in prices reported by Rapaport. For the most 

part manufacturing volumes remain high, even though DeBeers sights have declined from the 

January record of US$ 650 million to a more normal level of around US$ 400 million. This 

reduction in quantities stems from actual shortages of rough diamonds, due to various problems 

at some of the mines along with reduced mining in 2020, which lowered rough inventories overall. 

Notwithstanding this drop in volumes, our Galaxy®-family scanning operations, which are first and 

foremost on the larger more-valuable goods, remain at levels similar to those reported upon in our 

09 May 2021 update on business conditions. To note, there are reported shortages of polished 

diamonds in various categories in the wholesale markets, which are mostly due to backlogs 

created by the GIA's grading cycles having become longer than usual and approaching two 

months. This is yet another indication as to the benefits manifest in our e-Grading paradigm, to be 

more broadly introduced in the second half of the year.  

 

 

About Sarine Technologies: 

Established in 1988, Sarine Technologies Ltd. is a worldwide leader in the development and 

manufacturing of advanced modeling, analysis, evaluation, planning, processing, finishing, 

grading and trading systems for diamonds. Sarine products include the Galaxy® family of 

inclusion and tension mapping systems, rough diamond planning and optimisation technologies, 

laser cutting and shaping tools, laser-marking, inscription and finger-printing equipment, 

automated (AI-derived) Clarity, Color, Cut and light performance grading systems and traceability, 

visualisation and retailing services. Sarine systems have become standard tools in every modern 

manufacturing plant, properly equipped gemology lab and diamond appraisal business, and are 

essential aids for diamond polishers, dealers and retailers. For more information about Sarine 

and its products and services, visit http://www.sarine.com. 
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Mr. Lee Teong Sang 

Tel:+65-96339035 

teongsang@cyrus.com.sg  

North America IR 
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Issuer & Securities

Issuer/ Manager

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

Securities

SARINE TECHNOLOGIES LTD - IL0010927254 - U77

Stapled Security

No

Announcement Details

Announcement Title

Share Buy Back - Daily Share Buy-Back Notice

Date &Time of Broadcast

21-Jun-2021 18:51:21

Status

New

Announcement Sub Title

Daily Share Buy-Back Notice - 21 June 2021

Announcement Reference

SG210621OTHR63XR

Submitted By (Co./ Ind. Name)

Amir J. Zolty

Designation

Company Secretary

Effective Date and Time of the event

21/06/2021 17:00:00

Description (Please provide a detailed description of the event in the box below)

Daily Share buy-back by way of market acquisition.

Additional Details

Start date for mandate of daily share buy-back

21/06/2021

Section A

Maximum number of shares authorised for purchase

17,491,596

SHARE BUY BACK - DAILY SHARE BUY-BACK NOTICE::DAILY SHARE BUY-BACK NOTICE - 21 JUNE
2021
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Purchase made by way of market acquisition

Yes

Singapore Exchange Overseas Exchange

Date of Purchase 21/06/2021

Total Number of shares purchased 350,000

Number of shares cancelled 0

Number of shares held as treasury shares 350,000

Highest/ Lowest price per share

Highest Price per share SGD 0.615

Lowest Price per share SGD 0.61

Total Consideration (including stamp duties, clearing changes etc) paid or payable for the
shares

SGD
214,292.78

Section B

Purchase made by way of off-market acquisition on equal access scheme

No

Section C

Cumulative No. of shares purchased to date^ Number Percentage#

By way of Market Acquisition 350,000 0.1

By way off Market Acquisition on equal access scheme 0 0

Total 350,000 0.1

#Percentage of company's issued shares excluding treasury shares as at the date of the share buy-back resolution

^From the date on which share buy-back mandate is obtained

Section D

Number of issued shares excluding treasury shares after purchase

349,575,676

Number of treasury shares held after purchase

4,190,200
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	החברה התאגדה על פי חוקי מדינת ישראל וכפופה לחוק החברות, השתנ"ט-1999 (להלן: "חוק החברות") והתקנות על פיו.
	להלן תיאור עיקרי הזכויות הנלוות למניות הרגילות של החברה על פי תקנון החברה ותזכיר ההתאגדות שלה (להלן ביחד: "מסמכי ההתאגדות").
	האמור להלן הינו תיאור כללי, שאינו מתיימר להיות תיאור ממצה או פרשנות מוסמכת של הדין ואינו מהווה תחליף לעיון במסמכי ההתאגדות של החברה ו/או לקבלת ייעוץ מקצועי אחר, לרבות ייעוץ משפטי בנוגע לדין הישראלי ו/או כל דין אחר. בנוסף, תקציר זה אינו מתאר את כלל החו...
	12.1 שוויון בזכויות ובחובות: כל המניות הרגילות הינן זהות בזכויותיהן ובחובות המוטלות עליה. החברה היא חברה בעירבון מוגבל ובהתאם ההתחייבות של כל אחד מבעלי המניות כלפי החברה מוגבלת לתשלום הערך הנקוב של המניות המוחזקות על ידי בעל מניות כאמור, בכפוף להוראות...
	12.2 חלוקת דיבידנד: החלטת החברה בדבר חלוקת דיבידנד תתקבל על ידי האסיפה הכללית של בעלי מניות החברה, בכפוף להמלצת דירקטוריון החברה ולעמידת החברה במבחני החלוקה בהתאם להוראות חוק החברות. כל בעל מניה יהיה זכאי להשתתף בחלוקת דיבידנד באופן יחסי למספר המניות ...
	12.3 פירוק: מקרה של פירוק החברה יחולקו נכסיה בין בעלי המניות באופן יחסי למספר המניות המוחזקות על ידם.
	12.4 מנגנון למניעה או עיכוב של השתלטות עוינת: תקנון החברה קובע כי הדירקטוריון יהיה רשאי, בכל עת ועל-פי שיקול דעתו הבלעדי, לאמץ מנגנונים לעיכוב או מניעה של השתלטות עוינת (גלולת רעל). החברה התחייבה כלפי הבורסה כי היה ובעת אימוץ מנגנונים כאמור על-ידי הדי...
	12.5 אסיפה כללית
	12.5.1 סמכויות האסיפה הכללית: החלטות מסוימות של החברה תתקבלנה באסיפה הכללית, ובכלל זה שינוי תקנון החברה (לרבות הזכויות הצמודות למניות החברה), מיזוג (כהגדרתו בחוק החברות), מינוי והפסקת כהונתו של רואה החשבון המבקר של החברה, שינויים בהון החברה, חלוקת דיב...
	12.5.2 זכויות הצבעה: כל בעל מניה זכאי לקול אחד עבור כל מניה רגילה המוחזקת על ידו בכל אסיפה כללית.
	12.5.3 זימון לאסיפה הכללית: החברה תפרסם זימון לאסיפה הכללית בהתאם להוראות חוק החברות והוראות הבורסה שבה רשומות ניירות הערך שלה למסחר, לא תימסר הודעה פרטנית לבעלי המניות. הזימון יכלול, בין היתר, פרטים בנוגע לסדר יום האסיפה, ההחלטות המוצעות והסדרי הצבעה...
	אסיפה כללית שנתית תתקיים אחת לכל שנה קלנדארית בתוך תקופה שלא תעלה על חמישה עשר חודשים (15) ממועד קיום האסיפה הכללית האחרונה במועד ובמקום, בין אם בתוך או מחוץ למדינת ישראל, כפי שעשוי לקבוע הדירקטוריון. סדר היום באסיפה הכללית השנתית יכלול דיון בדוחות ה...
	12.5.4 המועד הקובע: המועד הקובע לעניין הזכאות להשתתף ולהצביע באסיפה הכללית ייקבע על ידי דירקטוריון החברה בהתאם להוראות חוק החברות.
	12.5.5 מניין חוקי ואסיפה נדחית: שני בעלי מניות או יותר, הנוכחים באופן אישי או באמצעות מיופה כוח, והמחזיקים במצטבר לפחות עשרים וחמישה אחוז  (25%) מכוח ההצבעה בחברה, בתוך שעה מהזמן שנקבע לאסיפה. לא נכח בתום שעה מהמועד שנקבע לתחילת האסיפה מניין חוקי, אזי...
	12.5.5 מניין חוקי ואסיפה נדחית: שני בעלי מניות או יותר, הנוכחים באופן אישי או באמצעות מיופה כוח, והמחזיקים במצטבר לפחות עשרים וחמישה אחוז  (25%) מכוח ההצבעה בחברה, בתוך שעה מהזמן שנקבע לאסיפה. לא נכח בתום שעה מהמועד שנקבע לתחילת האסיפה מניין חוקי, אזי...
	12.5.5 מניין חוקי ואסיפה נדחית: שני בעלי מניות או יותר, הנוכחים באופן אישי או באמצעות מיופה כוח, והמחזיקים במצטבר לפחות עשרים וחמישה אחוז  (25%) מכוח ההצבעה בחברה, בתוך שעה מהזמן שנקבע לאסיפה. לא נכח בתום שעה מהמועד שנקבע לתחילת האסיפה מניין חוקי, אזי...
	12.5.6 הצבעה בכתב: בהתאם להחלטת דירקטוריון החברה או להוראות חוק החברות, בעל מניה יהיה רשאי להצביע באסיפה באמצעות כתב הצבעה.
	12.5.7 הרוב הנדרש לקבלת החלטות: החלטות האסיפה הכללית תתקבלנה ברוב רגיל של בעלי זכויות ההצבעה, אשר נוכחים באסיפה בעצמם או באמצעות שלוח או באמצעות כתב הצבעה, אלא אם נדרש רוב מיוחד לפי חוק החברות או לפי התקנון. ליו"ר האסיפה לא יהיה קול מכריע או נוסף במקר...

	12.6 דירקטוריון החברה
	12.6.1 מבנה הדירקטוריון: מספר הדירקטורים בחברה לא יעלה על 9 דירקטורים ולא יפחת מ-4 דירקטורים.
	12.6.2 מינוי והפסקת כהונה: הדירקטורים בחברה (למעט דירקטורים חיצוניים, כהגדרתם בחוק החברות) ימונו וכהונתם תופסק על ידי בעלי המניות באסיפה הכללית השנתית של בעלי המניות. תקופת הכהונה של דירקטור תפקע במועד האסיפה הכללית השלישית הבאה לאחר האסיפה הכללית בה ...


	13. אישור הבורסה לניירות ערך בתל אביב בע"מ
	הבורסה נתנה את אישורה לרישום למסחר של המניות והמניות שתנבענה ממימוש האופציות (כמפורט בסעיף 6 לעיל) הנרשמות על פי מסמך רישום זה, כאמור לעיל.
	אין לראות באישור כאמור של הבורסה אישור לפרטים המובאים במסמך רישום זה או לשלמותם, ואין בו משום הבעת דעה על החברה או על טיבם של ניירות הערך הנרשמים על פי מסמך רישום זה.

	14. שונות
	14.1 הצבעה באסיפות כלליות: הצבעה באסיפות כלליות של החברה תיעשה בדרך של קבלת כתבי הצבעה ואישורי בעלות למועד הקובע להצבעה באסיפה מבעלי מניותיה. בסמוך לקביעת מועד לאסיפה כללית של בעלי מניות החברה, תפנה החברה למסלקת הבורסה (להלן: "המסלקה") בבקשה לקבלת הית...
	14.2 דיבידנד
	14.2.1 תשלום דיבידנד: הדיבידנד ישולם על-ידי החברה ויחולק לבעלי המניות במטבע דולר סינגפורי, באמצעות חשבון המסלקה בבנק יורוקליר ובהתאם להוראות חוקי העזר של המסלקה.
	14.2.2 ניכוי מס במקור במקרה של חלוקת דיבידנד: בהתאם להסכמה עם רשות המיסים בישראל, החברה תנכה במקור 20% מכל דיבידנד שיחולק לבעלי מניותיה (בכפוף לכל דין), ותפקידו אצל אי.בי.אי ניהול נאמנויות אשר תשמש כנאמן עבור בעלי המניות (להלן: "נאמן המס"), והיתרה תוע...

	לחץ כאן לפרטים לעניין ניכוי מס במקור בעת חלוקת דיבידנד
	14.3 העברת מניות בין הבורסות: העברת מניות בין הבורסה לבין בורסת סינגפור ולהיפך תעשה בהתאם להוראות חוקי העזר של מסלקת הבורסה. יצוין כי המניות יועברו מ- The Central Depository (CDP) (המסלקה של בורסת סינגפור) לחשבון מסלקת הבורסה ב-Euroclear Bank SA/NA (ל...
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